.0

2/26/86

National Criminal Justice Reference Service



This microfiche was produced from documents received for inclusion in the NCJRS data base. Since NCJRS cannot exercise control over the physical condition of the documents submitted, the individual frame quality will vary. The resolution chart on this frame may be used to evaluate the document quality.



MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A



Microfilming procedures used to create this fiche comply with the standards set forth in 41CFR 101-11.504.

Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the author(s) and do not represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice.

National Institute of Justice United States Department of Justice Washington, D. C. 20531



<u>Trends in the Effectiveness of</u> <u>Correctional Intervention</u> Genevie, Margolies & Muhlin National Criminal Justice Reference Service



This microfiche was produced from documents received for inclusion in the NCJRS data base. Since NCJRS cannot exercise control over the physical condition of the documents submitted, the individual frame quality will vary. The resolution chart on this frame may be used to evaluate the document quality.



MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A



Microfilming procedures used to create this fiche comply with the standards set forth in 41CFR 101-11.504.

Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the author(s) and do not represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice.

National Institute of Justice United States Department of Justice Washington, D. C. 20531

U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Justin

97719

This document has been reproduced exactly as received from the person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the National Institute of

Permission to reproduce this copyrighted material has been granted by

TRENDS IN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF CORRECTIONAL INTERVENTION

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS).

Further reproduction outside of the NCJRS system requires permission of the environt owner

TRENDS IN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF CORRECTIONAL INTERVENTION

by

Louis Genevie Eva Margolies Gregory Muhlin

Foreward by Daniel Glaser

Critique by David Greenberg

This research was prepared under contract #80ICJX0012 from the National Institute of Justice, United States Department of Justice, Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the United States Department of Justice.

© 1983 Louis Genevie, Eva Margolies, Gregory Muhlin All rights reserved. No part of this manuscript may be copied by any means without the express written permission of the authors.

, .

3

and the

DEDICATED TO

10

ROBERT MARTINSON AND JUDITH WILKS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u></u>	age
FOREWORD		ix
PREFACE	···NCJRS····	xiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	MAY 8 1985	xvi
	ACQUISITIONS	

ABSTRACT. .

CHAPTER 1 -	A SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH
	BACKGROUND
<i>u</i>	Synthesis of the Literature
	ADULT FINDINGS 1-5 MANDATED INTERVENTION 1-5 Parole vs. Probation 1-5 Parole and Mandated Alternatives 1-6 Probation and Mandated Alternatives 1-8 INNOVATIVE INTERVENTION PROGRAMS 1-8 RECOMMENDATIONS 1-10
)} 	JUVENILE FINDINGS.1-12MANDATED INTERVENTION1-12Parole vs. Probation1-12Parole and Mandated Alternatives1-13Probation and Mandated Alternatives1-14INNOVATIVE INTERVENTION PROGRAMS.1-14RECOMMENDATIONS1-17
	DISCUSSION
	RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS
	SUMMARY CHART: ADULTS
	SUMMARY CHART + UNVENTLES

iv

Page CHAPTER 3 - PROBATION, PAROLE AND THEIR ALTERNATIVES . . . 3-1 Distribution of Groups Within the Correctional Groups Serving Maximum Sentence and Re-ADDENDUM - REGRESSION EQUATIONS IN THE ANALYSIS . . 3-24 Groups Serving Maximum Sentence and Re-ADDENDUM - REGRESSION EQUATIONS IN THE ANALYSIS . . . 3-48

CHAPTER 4 -	INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS	. 4-1
	Distribution of Treatment Modalities	. 4-1
· ••	Analytic Procedure	4-5
	ANALYSIS OF INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS FOR ADULTS	. 4-8
	RESOURCE INTERVENTIONS	. 4-9
	Financial Assistance	.4-12
	Job Training	.4-14
	Job Placement	.4-16
	Vocational Training	.4-18
	Education	• 4-20
•	SOCIAL WORK INTERVENTIONS	.4-22
	Non-Professional Group Counseling	.4-24
	Specialized Supervision	•4-26
	Contract Programming	.4-28
	Non-Supervisory Assistance	.4-30
	PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS	.4-32
	Individual Psychotherapy	.4-34
	Group Therapy	•4-36
	ADMINISTRATIVE INTERVENTIONS	.4-38
	Intensive Supervision	.4-40
	Reduced Supervision	.4-42
	RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS	.4-44
	Special Prisons	• 4-46
	Permissive Residential Programs	.4-48
	Non-Permissive Residential Programs	• 4-50
	MEDICAL METHODS	. 4-52
	ANALWOLD OF THNOMATUR INTERVENTIONS FOR INVENTIES	1-55
0	ANALISIS OF INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS FOR JOVENILES .	1-56
	REDURCE INTERVENTIONS	4-58
	Job Discoment	1-60
	Job Flacement.	1-62
	Fducation	4-64
	SOCTAL HOPE INTERVENTIONS	.4-67
	Non-Professional Group Counseling	.4-69
	Specialized Supervision.	.4-71
	Contract Programming	.4-73
	Non-Supervisory Assistance	.4-75
0 	PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS	4-78
•	Individual Psychotherapy	.4-80
	Group Therapy	.4-82
	Behavior Modification	.4-84
анан сайтаан айтаан айтаан айтаан айтаан	ADMINISTRATIVE INTERVENTIONS	. 4-86
	Intensive Supervision	. 4-86
	RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS	.4-89
	Special Prisons	.4-90
	Permissive Residential Programs	.4-92
	Non-Permissive Residential Programs	.4-94
	\sim	· · · ·

vi

Page

vii Page APPENDIX A - STUDIES SUMMARIZED IN THIS RESEARCH. A-1 APPENDIX B - CODEBOOK FOR JUVENILE AND ADULT GROUPS.... B-1 APPENDIX C - DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES AND PROFILE Investigation of Sources and Identification of A Profile of Selected Data Characteristics. C-6 APPENDIX D - FACTORS AFFECTING INTERPRETATION OF THE RATE OF RECIDIVISM.....D-1 The Operational Definition of Recidivism D-4 Other Factors Affecting the Magnitude of the Rate of Recidivism. D-9 Length of Time of Follow-Up. D-9 Geographic Regions of the United States. D-12 APPENDIX E - AVAILABILITY OF AGGREGATE BACKGROUND DATA . . E-1 APPENDIX F - PROFILE OF SELECTED GROUP CHARACTERISTICS . . F-1

Page APPENDIX G - DIFFERENCES IN AGGREGATE BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS BETWEEN PROBATIONERS Differential Assignment to Criminal Justice Relationship of Background Characteristics APPENDIX H - DIFFERENCES IN AGGREGATE BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS BETWEEN TREATED AND APPENDIX I - T-TESTS FOR AGGREGATE CHARACTERISTICS. . . . I-1 APPENDIX J - COMPLETE REGRESSION EQUATIONS J-1 PROBATION AND PAROLE VS. THEIR ALTERNATIVES FOR EACH DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM. J-5 ANALYSIS OF OVERALL IMPACT OF INNOVATIVE APPENDIX L - CRITIQUE OF TECI BY DAVID GREENBERG. L-1

viii

FOREWORD

In the history of science it is well established that each major gain in knowledge provides conceptual and informational resources with which the next advances can be made. The last published landmark in surveying the evaluation of corrections was Lipton. Martinson and Wilks' The Effectiveness of Correctional Treatment (1975). That book's impact, however, seems to have been predominantly negative. Its implication that "nothing works" discouraged many persons in both practice and research from trying either to reform offenders or to enhance our knowledge on this subject.

Now Louis Genevie, Eva Margolies and Gregory Muhlin have used innovative methods and diligence to move us forward to a new landmark. Their analysis of Trends in the Effectiveness of Correctional Intervention should be tremendously constructive in its influence. It demonstrates that some correctional practices indeed work, often those which are least costly, and sometimes those that are traditional rather than new. Furthermore, its data show that certain types of reformative endeavor, especially those relying almost exclusively on talk to reduce recidivism of advanced offenders, frequently have a negative impact and increase post-treatment crime rates.

Although their survey will also not be "the last word" forever, further progress may long require that this work be studied carefully. They not only provide new answers, but they evoke important questions. The most important, in my opinion, is: What additional types of data not generally available in studies thus far would significantly modify their conclusions? To answer "this question well we must first know what kind of theory would markedly advance our understanding of correctional effectiveness and its achievement.

ix 🖗

A useful general theory on the causes of all crime or of all recidivism is no more likely in criminology than is a general theory for all ailments in medicine. What can be developed instead, from considerable groundwork already completed, are verifiable theories on various types of offenders or aspects of crime and recidivism. Such theories are most likely to be valid if they are deduced from widely confirmed general principles of the behavioral sciences. But successful application of these theories to recidivism reduction also requires some familiarity with the usual administration of corrections, as well as common sense.

х

A basic principle in the psychology of learning (called "The Law of Effect" by Thorndike and a law of reinforcement by Skinner) is that behavior which proves gratifying tends to be repeated in circumstances like those in which it was gratifying. A second principle (especially identified with Skinner) is that when such behavior is suppressed by punishment, it will probably recur whenever the punishment ceases or can be tolerated unless, in the meantime, alternative conduct proves as gratifying.

The implication of these principles for correction is simply that those who have had much success in lawbreaking and little in legitimate pursuits require both prolonged removal from crime and appreciable success in legitimate conduct to alter their recidivism rates greatly. The fact that the juvenile parolees in this survey had much more extensive prior crime and narcotics records than the probationers probably explains their higher recidivism rate. The contrast in prior record between adult parolees and probationers was less pronounced, which may account for their more similar outcomes under supervision. However, we can infer from relevant theory and research that the incarceration experience that makes parolees differ from probationers may enhance the recidivism of some parolees and reduce that of others.

In Beyond Probation, a study by Charles Murray and Louis Cox published too recently to be included in this survey, a distinctive index of recidivism reduction was used. The subjects were male delinquents in Chicago who averaged eight prior arrests. When the impacts of various types of penalties given them were evaluated by a one-year followup, about the same 20 percent nonarrest rate was found for each type of punishment. However, the researchers also calculated what they call the suppression rate for each offender, defined as the percentage reduction in his arrests as determined by comparing his total arrests during his last year of freedom before the penalty to his number of arrests during a one-year followup period. This index of success varied directly with the length of the offender's incarceration or other removal from the Chicago area; there was least suppression of lawbreaking for those released on probation to the neighborhoods of their prior delinquency. This study by Murray and Cox has been criticized, but I believe that the authors answer their critics well. Its conclusions are consistent with those of several other followups of advanced offenders, as well as with the

elementary psychological principles stated above, on behavior which proves gratifying tending to be repeated. Especially comparable is Ted Palmer's finding on enculturated and manipulative delinquents: They had lower recidivism rates both during parole and in a four-year postparole followup if they were confined for an average of about eight months instead of being paroled in about a month to intensive supervision. However, he found the reverse was true of so-called neurotic delinquents, those with appreciable ties with noncriminals. (These crucial differences for contrasting types of offenders and the postparole confirmation of this study's parole-period results are ignored in Lerman's 1975 critique.) A penal confinement adds proportionately less criminalization to youths who already have long arrest records than to those

xi

with less prior enculturation in crime. Also, there is apparently a decriminalizing effect from interrupting runs of success at crime; this may often reguire removal of advanced offenders from the settings of their delinguent lifestyles. On the other hand, the mere threat of confinement seems to stop crime by youths with less prior lawbreaking success and more bonds with conventional persons.

xii

These conclusions on contrasting impacts of correctional confinement according to prior delinquent enculturation might also be derived from the fundamental principle of sociology and anthropology (which I call "The Law of Sociocultural Relativity") that social separation causes cultural differentiation. This tenet accounts not only for the variety of languages and customs in the world, but also for delinquent and criminal subcultures. Thus, future research should be designed to test hypotheses from elementary behavioral science on the probable different impacts of correctional treatments on offenders who contrast on theoretically relevant variables.

A second lesson from elementary theory (and common sense) is that any training or other potentially influential intervention can be effective only if it is extensive enough to counter the prior experience of offenders. Thus, in a study not included in this volume because it focused on cost-effectiveness rather than recidivism, economist Gilbert McKee (1972, 1978) found that the state's investment in training prisoners paid for itself in their increased postrelease tax payments and their decreased need for unemployment compensation and family support, but only on two conditions: They had to receive at least 1,000 hours of training, and the training had to be in auto repair, welding or other mechanical or construction trades, rather than in the laundry and shoe repair fields that officials promoted to serve the institution's needs. McKee also found that the longer the time between the end

£.

of the training in prison and the inmate's release, the lower the postrelease earnings, which argues against the administrative practice of moving prisoners to farm and lawn work when the closeness of their release date reduces the risk of their escape. Thus, future evaluations should not just assess how well a correctional program achieves the ultimate goal of recidivism reduction; it should also probe more carefully the relationship of this goal's achievement to the dimensions and qualities of the services provided.

Correctional practitioners, criminological researchers, and the general public should all be most grateful to the authors of this survey of trends in effectiveness. They have identified the best current answers to some basic questions, they evoke new questions, and they provide a valuable base from which to launch forays for new answers.

> Daniel Glaser University of Southern California, 1983

xiii

PREFACE

 \bigcirc

This report is the result of an analysis of the experience of over 12,000 groups of juvenile and adult offenders reported in 555 studies of criminal recidivism. The purpose of the study is to pinpoint <u>trends</u> in the correctional treatment literature that would be useful in identifying new directions for efforts aimed at reducing crime among released offenders.

The study spans the breadth of correctional endeavors in the United States, from probation, parole and their alternatives, to most of the innovative programs that have been developed during the last two decades. While we have tried to be as comprehensive as possible, the scale of the work should not be mistaken for definitiveness. Definitiveness is an illusion. Our work is, of necessity, flawed and incomplete. As a summary of existing literature, we are plagued by the methodological inadequacies of the field, coupled with the limitations specific to our summary of them. The field is characterized by weak, usually isolated programs, inadequate measurement and by poor implementation and management. In this context, research has but one primary purpose, and that is to stimulate thinking and future research efforts. Thus, our findings, which are summarized in Chapter 1, should not be viewed as an end in themselves, but rather as a starting point for new efforts aimed at controlling criminal behavior. In this sense our study is exploratory: too little is known in the behavioral sciences at the present time for any research to aspire to more. We offer a crude map of the terrain, not a set of precise definitions or directions.

If there is a single most important message underlying the findings, it is that we know far too little about human behavior to design programs that will effectively change offenders. The programs that we found to be effective for both adult and juvenile offenders, practical, short term efforts that provide concrete resources to offenders, are based as much on common sense as social science theory. And experience with these programs further cautions that even practical, resource oriented programs as these will not be effective unless they are properly funded and carefully implemented. A practical approach to correctional research and management is needed, one that utilizes modern management techniques and a great deal of common sense. Program goals and objectives must be clearly specified and achievable; program elements must be set forth in detail, carefully monitored and adequately funded. Trying to do too much with too little can not only be ineffective, but can also make bad situations even worse. And while it is true that we know very little with certainty, and therefore must move cautiously, this should not be used as an excuse for doing nothing to improve correctional efforts. Advances in knowledge are made by

(Y)

And while it is true that we know very little with certainty, and therefore must move cautiously, this should not be used as an excuse for doing nothing to improve correctional efforts. Advances in knowledge are made by trial and error. Concerted activity, based on the knowledge and information we do have is necessary if we are to know more in the future than we know now. While there is little room for unbridled optimism in the short term, there is strong reason to believe that the work done thus far has provided us with a clear sense of where we stand: at the edge of the wilderness, with a few faint trails to follow, and a clear understanding that each will be difficult, as there are no easy answers or quick fix solutions to the problem of crime.

xv

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Similar to the studies that we have summarized, this research has been a group effort. The collection and synthesis of the data was accomplished by the original investigators on the project, Robert Martinson and Judith Wilks. They are responsible for the innovative manner in which the data from the hundreds of studies included in this research were collected and summarized.

In addition to Martinson and Wilks, my co-authors, listed in alphabetical order, Eva Margolies and Gregory Muhlin, deserve the highest commendation. Eva's writing skills added greatly to the clarity of the report; and Greg's technical and statistical skills gave the research team a firm methodological basis on which to build the report. Their hard work and diligence throughout the research process made this report possible.

Together, we are indebted to the following scholars whose constructive criticism added greatly to the quality of the research: Edgar F. Borgatta, who served as senior statistical consultant to the project; Daniel Glaser, who reviewed the manuscript and graciously agreed to write the Foreword for the report; Don Gibbons, Don Gottfredson and David Greenberg, who reviewed the report for the National Institute of Justice, with special thanks to David Greenberg who kindly consented to having his comprehensive critique included in the report; and last but not least, Larry Greenfeld, the project monitor at NIJ, who advice and encouragement throughout the course of the project added significantly to the quality of the research.

We are also indebted to the research assistants on the project, Joyce * Ferman, whose diligent efforts in helping to reconstruct the work of the original project was excellent, and David Hyllegard whose thoughtful summaries of literature and background greatly informed our analysis.

Evelyn Manning also deserves a great deal of credit for her care in typing the manuscript.

xvi

Each of these persons added substantially to the quality of this research and their assistance is gratefully acknowledged.

> Louis Genevie, Ph.D. Principal Investigator New York City November 1983

xvii

ABSTRACT

Few institutions have come under more intense crossfire over the past few decades than Corrections. Across the country, billions of dollars have been spent on efforts directed toward rehabilitating offenders, yet there remains considerable confusion and controversy regarding the net gain of the prevailing rehabilitative techniques. Even more frustrating is the fact that no clear direction for improving correctional intervention strategies has emerged from summaries of the research designed to evaluate the state of the art. The "nothing works" conclusion reached by Bailey (1966), Lipton, Martinson and Wilks (1975), Greenberg (1977) and most recently, the National Research Council's Panel on Research on Rehabilitative Techniques (1979), provides little optimism and even less direction for improving correctional programs.

This study, the first statistical synthesis of the public literature on correctional intervention, was designed to evaluate the relative effectiveness of various forms of intervention on the rate of recidivism, with a view toward determining whether any trends in the efficacy of correctional efforts could be documented. The research encompasses 555 reports and includes information on over 10,000 groups of adult and 2,100 groups of juvenile offenders, representing over 2 million individuals.

The findings suggest a number of consistent trends in the efficacy of correctional programs. No difference in the overall rate of recidivism was found for adults who have been incarcerated and then placed on parole, when compared to those sentenced to probation. Differences do exist in the way in which crimes after release among parolees and probationers are detected however: parolees are more likely to be returned to prison on technical violations; probationers are more likely to be re-arrested, re-convicted and incarcerated for a new crime. But the evidence suggests that in an overall sense, adult probationers and parolees return to crime at about the same rate.

Juvenile groups that were incarcerated have consistently higher rates of recidivism when compared to those sentenced to probation. While some of this variation is probably attributable to the filtration of the higher risk offenders to confinement, it is unlikely that all of the difference found between juvenile probationers and parolees can be attributed to this process.

Overall, innovative treatment strategies showed little success: in fact, groups administered innovative treatment were found to be associated with higher rates of recidivism than those not treated. Some programs, however, were consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism. For adults who have been incarcerated, short-term resource interventions such as financial aid and job placement appear most promising for reducing criminal recidivism. Some social work interventions, including specialized supervision and contract programming are also

associated with lower rates of recidivism for adults who have been imprisoned. Conversely, long-term rehabilitative efforts including the psychotherapies and education were found to be consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. The same is true for all group living arrangements including group homes, non-permissive and permissive residential programs and special treatment oriented prisons, which were found to be either inconsistent in their impact or associated with higher rates of recidivism.

juvenile offenders.

()

Similar trends emerge for juveniles. The most promising trend for juvenile offenders is short-term efforts aimed at preparing offenders to enter the work force; both job training and work study programs are associated with lower rates of recidivism. The split sentence or "shock probation" is also consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism for juveniles. Conversely, long-term rehabilitative efforts such as psychotherapeutic intervention and education tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism. The findings provide little support for the efficacy of any form of social work intervention for

CHAPTER 1 A SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH

BACKGROUND

From the beginning of the American experiment, the notion that criminal offenders are deserving of, and amenable to rehabilitative efforts has been the starting point of correctional philosophy. The Pennsylvania Quakers in the late 18th century were among the first to actively promote this concept. Reacting to the cruel and unusual punishment that was commonplace in colonial times, the Quakers believed that if a criminal were removed from the immoral environment, he could be transformed into an upstanding citizen.¹

The precedent set by these early correctional efforts largely closed the door on the debate concerning the <u>plausibility</u> of rehabilitation per se. Rather, the focus of research on correctional intervention over the past two centuries has been on the methods of rehabilitation as opposed to the soundness of rehabilitation as a goal. Only in the past twenty years have the assumptions upon which the philosophy of rehabilitation is based come under close scientific scrutiny. In response to the multiplicity of programs that have

¹Out of this notion, the concept of the prison was born. Structurally, these early prisons took one of two forms: 1) the Quaker Model, characterized by an isolationist viewpoint where prisoners worked, ate and slept in their cells, quarantined from the worldly evils that lured them to crime; and 2) the New York Model, distinguished by a system of congregate labor where inmates worked together outside the confines of prison and returned to their cells only to sleep at night. The New York system eventually became the preferred method as the congregate system proved more cost effective than the Quaker isolationist model. It should be noted that the relative effectiveness of these programs was never tested.

been enacted over the past two decades, federal, state and local governments have supported research efforts to rigorously evaluate present correctional techniques. To date, there have been hundreds of studies that address the effectiveness of standard interventions such as probation and parole as well as the efficacy of innovative programs which place the notion of rehabilitation of criminal offenders in serious question. The first two summaries of this literature, published in the 1960's, both voiced the conclusion that the evidence supporting the efficacy of correctional treatment programs was slight, inconsistent and questionable (Bailey, 1966; Hood, 1967). Despite the consistency of their findings, these studies were largely ignored by both the academic community and correctional agencies. Only after the well-known study conducted by Lipton, Martinson and Wilks (1975) did researchers and practitioners seriously consider the possibility that rehabilitative efforts as presently implemented were not effective in reducing the rate of recidivism: "With few exceptions," the authors stated, "the rehabilitative efforts that have been reported thus far in the literature have no appreciable effect on recidivism." After two hundred years, the era of blind faith had come to an end.

After two hundred years, the era of blind faith had come to an end. Serious questions about the effectiveness of rehabilitative efforts could no longer be ignored. The "nothing works" doctrine which emerged from the Lipton, et al. report sent a wave of doubt through correctional institutions across the United States. Some researchers were quick to jump on the "nothing works" bandwagon, while others (Adams, 1977; Jesness, 1975) vehemently challenged the conclusion, criticizing the methodology employed in summarizing the literature, and pointing to instances where treatment had been shown to be effective for certain kinds of offenders, under certain conditions.

Attempting to put a cap on the debate, the National Research Council commissioned a panel of distinguished scholars to study the available evidence. In its first volume, issued in 1979, the panel affirmed the conclusions reached by the Lipton, et al. report, stating: "Lipton, Martinson and Wilks were reasonably accurate and fair in their appraisal of the rehabilitative literature," and that "the entire body of research appears to justify only the conclusion that we do not now know of any program or method of rehabilitation that could be guaranteed to reduce the criminal activity of released offenders." (National Academy of Science, 1979).

1-3

The Present Research: A Statistical Synthesis of the Literature

As the conclusion that "nothing works" permeated the correctional system, those responsible for policy decisions have been thrown into a quandry. Although it has become increasingly clear that they could not continue program development along the same lines as in the past, no clear direction for improving correctional intervention emerged from the billions of dollars spent on programs and their evaluation. Experimental research, while conclusive, had led to a dead end: when nothing works, what is left to be done?

In the absence of experimental evidence to provide direction for policy decisions, the present study was undertaken. The primary purpose was to determine whether any trends in the efficacy of various forms of intervention could be identified using non-experimental data.

It was not the purpose of this study to substitute for experimental evidence. Clearly, experimental data is the best form of information. However, it may not be the most useful form when it produces little more than confirmation of the null hypothesis, the most likely outcome as there is little empirically verified theory upon which to base program development. In the absence

in carrying out this research.

of verified theory, it is useful to analyze available sources of information in order to narrow the field of plausible hypotheses regarding the treatment of offenders so that future experimental results will be more likely to produce findings that provide direction.

This study was designed to provide such direction in the interim by pinpointing trends in the efficacy of intervention efforts by comparing the average rate of recidivism across groups receiving various forms of mandated and innovative interventions. The main findings of the study, including an analysis of the trends that emerged during the course of the research, age presented below. The body of the report consists of four chapters: Chapter 1 summarizes the main findings of the research. Chapter 2 describes the methods of procedure used in this study. Chapter 3 focuses on the standard forms of intervention, probation and incarceration followed by paroley as well as several mandated alternatives to these interventions. Chapter 4 deals with the efficacy of the innovative treatment strategies that have been administered within the context of the mandated programs. The material included in the appendices serves as documentation for the statistical information summarized in the text of the report, and also details the major analytic issues that were encountered

FINDINGS

This study focuses on the two main forms of correctional intervention: those mandated by state law, and innovative programs added to the mandated system. This section summarizes the main trends of the research for both forms of intervention, first focusing on a comparison of the rate of recidivism for parolees and probationers and then dealing with various innovative intervention strategies that have been administered within these contexts. The findings that follow are presented separately for juvenile and adult groups.

ADULT FINDINGS

MANDATED INTERVENTION

Parole vs. Probation

The findings of this study indicate that overall, groups that have been incarcerated are associated with neither higher nor lower average rates of recidivism when compared to those supervised in the community: there is no difference in the overall recidivism rate between adult groups on probation and adult groups that have been incarcerated and subsequently paroled. However, the data are inconsistent depending on how recidivism is defined. Parolees are more likely to be returned to prison for absconding or for a technical violation of parole; probationers are more likely to be re-arrested, re-convicted or re-imprisoned for a new offense.

This pattern suggests that the difference between probationers and parolees is related to the manner in which they are re-processed by the criminal justice system once they have been detected committing additional crime. It cannot be concluded, therefore, that probationers or parolees commit more or less crime; the overall rate of recidivism is almost identical, suggesting

1-5

that a new image of the relative risk associated with probationers and parolees is needed. Probationers can no longer be viewed as offenders whose risk to the community is significantly lower than parolees. It may be true that a large proportion of persons sentenced to probation are less serious offenders who are unlikely to commit additional crimes. But it appears that an equal proportion of probationers are first offenders who are at the beginning of their criminal careers and are just as likely as parolees to commit additional crimes. Nor can we separate the "hardened" criminal who views prison as a professional hazard that has to be endured from time to time, from the paroled offender who has been deterred from further criminal activity by the experience of being incarcerated. Incarceration, therefore, cannot be conceived as a means of reducing recidivism; at the present time it appears that in some cases it probably does limit further criminal activity while in an equal number of other ases it has no impact on the probability of further criminal activity.

Parole and Mandated Alternatives

1

Although no firm evidence concerning the impact of incarceration exists, there is strong evidence indicating that supervision after release is a critical component of correction efforts. Individuals released without supervision after serving their full sentence tend to have much higher rates of recidivism than offenders placed on any form of standard supervision, suggesting that the current trend toward the elimination of parole supervision needs to be reconsidered. Although it is not possible to determine for sure why such offenders have the highest rates of recidivism (offenders serving maximum sentences may be the most incorrigible, and more likely to recidivate regardless of supervision); the absence of supervision per se may be the underlying determinant of the higher rates of recidivism reported for these offenders. But irrespective

of the reason why, the data suggest the need for the supervision of offenders after release from prison.

Findings elucidating the form such supervision should take suggest that standard parole supervision is as effective as any of the mandated alternatives that have been developed over the past two decades. Overall, early release. work release and special parole programs do not produce lower rates of recidivism than standard parole supervision: groups assigned to early release and work release have recidivism rates that are both higher and lower than groups on standard parole depending on how recidivism is defined; groups assigned to parole programs have consistently higher rates of recidivism. These findings suggest that standard supervisory techniques are difficult to improve upon in a programmatic fashion given the present level of theoretical development in the behavioral sciences and the limitation of resources allocated for the implementation of such programs.

Similarly, manipulation of caseload size appears to have little consistent impact on the rate of recidivism. Groups receiving intensive supervision are associated with higher rates of recidivism except when receiving such supervision within the context of parole programs, suggesting that intensive supervision may only be effective when combined with additional resources. Reduced supervision, on the other hand, is associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on how recidivism is defined. These findings indicate that the supervision of offenders is a vital component of the correctional system, but that changes in the intensity of standard supervision have not proven more effective than standard caseload practices.

Probation and Mandated Alternatives

effective than standard supervision. probation.

()

The most promising trend for the treatment of adult offenders is in the direction of short-term, concrete programs aimed at assisting offenders in the process of re-integration into the community. Providing economic resources such as financial aid and job placement or social work assistance in the form of specialized supervision or contract programming appear to be effective means of limiting criminal activity after release: adult groups receiving these interventions are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism regardless of how recdivisim is defined or the context in which treatment is administered. In addition, all the social work interventions with the exception of

1-7

Similar to parole supervision, standard probation supervision was found to be the most effective means of intervening with offenders sentenced to probation. The two mandated alternatives to standard probation identified in the literature, the split sentence and the group home, were not found to be more

The split sentence, or "shock" probation, a brief period of incarceration followed by standard probation supervision, is associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on how recidivism is defined. The group home is associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism when compared to standard probation. Even when additional treatment is administered within the context of the group home, there is no decline in the rate of recidivism. These findings suggest that standard probation practices are the most effective means presently known for the supervision of persons sentenced to

INNOVATIVE INTERVENTION PROGRAMS

non-professional group counseling are effective when administered to groups that have been incarcerated and subsequently placed on parole.

Conversely, programs aimed at the long-term rehabilitation of offenders appear not only to be ineffective, but possibly harmful. All forms of psychotherapeutic assistance as well as education were associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism. Similarly, multifaceted treatment programs including special treatment oriented prisons, group homes and halfway houses were also consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism.

The relative effectiveness of long-term versus short-term programs is also apparent within the context of the resource interventions: education, with the goal of long-term remediation, appears least promising of all the resource interventions; vocational training, which is more pragmatic and shortterm oriented than educational rehabilitation, produces inconsistent results; job training, with even more specific and immediate goals, produces slightly inconsistent but generally favorable trends: and the direct provision of economic resources is most successful of all.

Long-term rehabilitative efforts aimed at changing an offender's character may be an unreasonable goal within the context of the criminal justice system given the present level of theoretical development in the behavioral sciences, the difficulty in programmatic implementation of such techniques, and the level of funding available for long-term efforts. Offenders need immediate concrete assistance in order to successfully return to society. The goals of correctional programs, therefore, should be short-term and pragmatic in nature.

1. The effect of incarceration on adult offenders should not be a major consideration in the determination of whether to send an offender to prison. Since no scientific evidence exists to support the notion that incarceration affects the likelihood of criminal activity after release, the decision to incarcerate should be made solely on the basis of legal statute.

2. Adult offenders who have been incarcerated should be supervised after release. Parole should not be viewed solely as a reward for good behavior in prison, but as a means of supervising all offenders after release.

1)

3. Programmatic intervention should focus on short-term, practical efforts aimed at re-integrating offenders into the community. Financial aid, job placement programs, contract programming and specialized supervision appear to be the most promising intervention geared towards these goals. In addition, non-supervisory assistance should be considered for offenders who have been incarcerated.

4. The programmatic use of long-term rehabilitative efforts aimed at changing the character of personality of offenders should be eliminated. This does not mean that strategies such as individual psychotherapy cannot have a positive impact on some individuals who have committed crime. However, we cannot rely on the systematic use of such interventions to lower the rate of recidivism.

5. Insofar as group living arrangements (group homes, halfway houses and special treatment oriented prisons) are aimed at reducing recidivism, these strategies should be re-appraised.

1-9

RECOMMENDATIONS

6. <u>Priority should be given to increasing the effectiveness of standard</u> <u>supervisory practices.</u> As the alternatives to standard parole supervision have not been shown to be more effective than standard intervention, the allocation of resources to these alternatives should be re-assessed. Similarly, intensive supervision should be re-evaluated as it has shown no consistently positive impact on the rate of recidivism.

7. <u>As the effects of early release are widely variable, its judicious</u> <u>use is recommended.</u> With the prisons in America overflowing there is a tendency for administrators and state officials to press for the early release of offenders. While this solves the immediate problem of prison overcrowding, its use should be limited as the impact on the rate of crime among released offenders is inconsistent. Parole vs. Probation

()

Concern for the public welfare has convinced a large proportion of the corrections community and the general public that incarceration is the most effective way to limit recidivism among juvenile offenders. The findings of this study, however, do not support this contention. Juvenile offenders who have been incarcerated and subsequently placed on parole are associated with significantly higher rates of recidivism than juveniles on probation. It is not possible to determine from available data whether this means that the incarceration of juveniles can produce adverse effects, or whether offenders who are incarcerated are more likely to recidivate to begin with. Our analysis of background characteristics suggests that some of the increase in recidivism exhibited by groups that have been incarcerated can be attributed to the types of juveniles who are imprisoned. However, it is unlikely that the higher rate of recidivism for juvenile groups that have been incarcerated can be attributed solely to these differences.² Regardless of the factors underlying the higher rates of recidivism for juveniles who have been incarcerated, this finding underscores the importance of program development and aftercare supervision for juveniles who are detained. One program for incarcerated juveniles was found to be effective: groups that were placed in a work study program and subsequently assigned to standard parole supervision have the lowest rates of recidivism for all

²See Appendices G and H for details regarding the impact of background characteristics on the rate of recidivism.

C

(

8

13

13

Ó

JUVENILE FINDINGS

MANDATED INTERVENTION

juvenile offenders. The application of work-study resources during the period of detention may be an effective means of limiting further criminal activity after release to parole. (\mathbf{i})

Parole and Mandated Alternatives

(

The need for supervision is also reinforced by the finding that juveniles who are released with no supervision after serving maximum sentences are associated with higher rates of recidivism than juveniles receiving any form of supervision after release. However, the data yield no clear-cut direction for the form such supervision should take. Overall, standard parole supervision appears to be as effective as any of its mandated alternatives. Parole programs and halfway houses produced inconsistent results, yielding recidivism rates that were either higher or lower than groups on standard parole, depending on how recidivism was defined. Too few studies have been done of juveniles in early release programs to draw any firm conclusion about this strategy, although the data that does exist suggests that juveniles who are released early tend to be associated with lower recidivism rates.

Increasing the intensity of supervision also appears to have little positive impact on juvenile offenders who are incarcerated and released to parole supervision. Groups that were administered intensive supervision after release have considerably higher rates of recidivism than groups released to standard parole. Although the effect of increased surveillance may, in part, account for this increase, it is unlikely that this is the only reason for the increased rate of recidivism observed among groups administered intensive supervision.

These findings suggest that standard parole supervision is difficult to improve upon in a programmatic fashion given the present level of theoretical

development in the behavioral sciences and the limited resources allocated for implementation of alternative programs.

Probation and Mandated Alternatives

even lower rate of recidivism.

()

Group homes, the other mandated alternative reported in the literature, did not fare as well. Groups sentenced to group homes are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. Even when additional treatment resources are applied within this context, no appreciable decrease in the recidivism rate is reported. Given the importance of the group home in the juvenile correctional system a re-assessment of these facilities as they are presently constituted is warranted.

With few exceptions, neither short-term re-integrative nor long-term rehabilitative interventions have been effective for juveniles. Little evidence exists for the efficacy of resource interventions as presently administered. With the exception of job training which is consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism, none of the other resource strategies appear

1-13

While standard parole supervision appears as effective as any of its mandated alternatives to release, the split-sentence (shock probation) yields far more optimistic results than standard probation supervision. Juveniles receiving shock probation (a brief period of confinement followed by release to standard probation) are associated with much lower rates of recidivism than juveniles sentenced to standard probation. In addition, when the period of detention is followed by intensive supervision on probation, the effect is an

INNOVATIVE INTERVENTION PROGRAMS

to have a consistent impact on the rate of recidivism. Groups receiving education or vocational training are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on the outcome criterion used, although there is indication that education may be effective when administered within the context of work study programs.

C.

(

Social work strategies have not yielded optimistic results. Groups receiving specialized supervision, non-professional group counseling and contract programming tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism than juvenile groups not receiving these interventions. Non-supervisory assistance is the only social work intervention that appears to yield any positive results. When administered within the context of standard parole, juvenile groups receiving this assistance were associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving such aid.

The psychotherapeutic interventions yield inconsistent results. Juvenile groups receiving individual psychotherapy were consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism, suggesting that this intervention may be harmful under certain conditions. The information for groups receiving group therapy is insufficient to draw any firm conclusion, but the data that does exist suggest that group therapy has an inconsistent impact on the rate of recidivism. Although little stable data on the effect of behavior modification for juveniles exists, the data reported thus far in the literature suggest that juvenile groups receiving this treatment are associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this treatment.

Group living arrangements, which include a multiplicity of intervention strategies, were also found to be ineffective insofar as their purpose is to reduce the rate of recidivism. Groups assigned to group homes as an alternative to probation were associated tenced to standard probation. Overall, very few innor rate of recidivism among juver timistic results point in the as shock probation, followed h tenced to probation to the har effect on future criminal acti For juveniles who must Only work study programs and j ing the rate of recidivism for opment should focus on tightly instill discipline, self-contr

force.

1-15

to probation were associated with higher rates of recidivism than those sentenced to standard probation.

Overall, very few innovative strategies appear effective in lowering the rate of recidivism among juvenile offenders. The few strategies that yeild optimistic results point in the direction of early and firm intervention, such as shock probation, followed by intensive supervision. Exposing juveniles sentenced to probation to the harsh reality of confinement can have a deterrent effect on future criminal activity.

For juveniles who must be incarcerated, the prognosis is less optimistic. Only work study programs and job training were found to be effective in lowering the rate of recidivism for these youth. This suggests that program development should focus on tightly structured, work oriented programs designed to instill discipline, self-control and basic skills needed to enter the labor

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The effect of incarceration on juvenile offenders should be a consideration in the determination of whether to detain an offender. As there is some evidence to suggest that incarceration effects the likelihood of additional criminal activity after release, the decision to incarcerate youthful offenders should be made judiciously.

2. <u>Juvenile offenders who have been incarcerated should be supervised</u> <u>after release</u>. Parole should not be viewed solely as a reward for good behavior, but as a means of supervising all offenders, given the fact that juveniles who are released with no supervision are associated with the highest rates of recidivism.

3. <u>First offenders should be sentenced to a brief period of incarcera-</u> <u>tion</u> (shock probation), followed by intensive supervision on probation after release. This strategy results in the lowest rates of recidivism for juvenile groups, suggesting that an immediate and firm response to juveniles after their initial contact with the criminal justice system is the best means of deterring further criminal activity.

()

4. <u>Programmatic intervention for juveniles should be oriented towards</u> <u>basic skills development</u> (i.e. work study and job training). Additional educational resources might also prove beneficial within the context of work study programs.

ŧ.

DISCUSSION

This research represents the first comprehensive statistical survey of the effectiveness of correctional intervention. Past summaries of the evaluation literature (Lipton, et al., 1975; Greenberg, 1977; Kassebaum, 1975), have concluded that no evidence exists to support the efficacy of correctional intervention strategies. The findings of this study are not consistent with this conclusion. Contrary to the notion that "nothing works," the findings of this study suggest that a number of programs do, in fact, consistently impact the rate of recidivism, although not always in the desired direction.

A number of strategies show promising results for adults. Short-term resource oriented programs such as financial aid and job placement as well as social work interventions such as specialized supervision and contract programming seem effective in lowering the rate of recidivism. In addition, with the exception of non-professional group counseling, social work strategies appear effective for adults when administered after offenders have been incarcerated and placed on parole. Conversely, long-term rehabilitative efforts aimed at changing the character of offenders are not only ineffective, but are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. Other programs yield inconsistent results and are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism depending on the outcome criterion that is used.

For juveniles, the trends appear less optimistic than for adults. With the exception of job training, work study and shock probation, no programs were found to be more effective in lowering the rate of recidivism than standard forms of detention and supervision. Group homes, social work strategies (with the exception of non-supervisory assistance which appears to be effective after

incarceration), and special treatment oriented prisons are all associated with higher rates of recidivism for juveniles. Other treatments yield inconsistent results.

1-19

These findings provide clear, positive direction for correctional policy. The programs found to be effective singularly and in concert can form the basis of a more efficient, effective correctional system. At the same time, the finding that some programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism indicates that considerable caution must be exercised in the implementation of all programs. The possibility cannot be ignored that programs designed to lower the rate of recidivism can have the opposite effect, as well as no effect at all.

The notion that correctional intervention can produce undesired results is not new. For more than a century, prison reformers have posited that confinement in reformatories or prisons may foster the development of new criminal skills among offenders, thereby raising the probability of recidivism after release. Some forms of innovative treatment have been observed to have similar, negative effects under experimental conditions (Adams, 1977; Wilson, 1980).

Three main issues related to program development are important to understand if future correctional programs are to prove more effective: the enormity of the task of changing human behavior must be better understood; the present level of theoretical development in the behavioral sciences must be acknowledged; and the problems involved in the implementation of what is known must be addressed. An understanding of these issues, which are discussed below, coupled with knowledge of the programs that have proven effective, can provide a sound, realistic basis for future correctional efforts.

The Enormity of the Task of Rehabilitation

¥]

Underlying the difficulties of rehabilitative intervention is the enormity of the task itself. Changing human behavior is a complex and costly undertaking. In most instances, criminal behavior patterns have developed over many years and are firmly embedded in the offender's lifestyle. Given the difficulty of reversing lifelong patterns of behavior, the resources that have been allocated to this task have been insufficient. "There is good reason to believe that by the time they (offenders) are recognized and formally identified by the criminal justice system, they are a highly select group," states a recent review by the National Institute of Justice. "They are likely to be unemployed or only partially employed, disproportionately of minority group status, undereducated, adrift from their families or other socially centripetal groups, and to have many friends much like themselves who in one way or another provide support for their criminal activities. These individuals are not good prospects for rehabilitation under any circumstances. Then to encounter tests of such treatments as group counseling, training for probably non-existent jobs, and wilderness experience does not impress one with the likelihood of change." (National Institute of Justice, 1978) The task is indeed a difficult one, to be approached cautiously, especially in light of the level of existing theory in the behavioral sciences, discussed below.

Present Level of Theoretical Knowledge Theoretical development in the behavioral sciences is in its infancy. Presently, numerous theories exist purporting to explain the causes that underlie criminal behavior. Psychologists employ concepts such as moral development (Hogan, 1973; Kohlberg, 1964; Mowrer, 1960) and learning theory (Bandura and

Walters, 1963), while sociologists focus on social disorganization (Brenner, 1976), social stress (Cloward and Ohlin, 1961) and anomie (Merton, 1937, 1968). Social psychologists turn to the role of family, school and community to explain criminal behavior (Hirschi, 1969). In contrast, economists emphasize personal gain as the primary causal agent (Marx, 1970). These theoretical formulations are not necessarily incompatible and it seems likely that all of them are at least partially tenable. However, none of these theories has been sufficiently verified to serve as adequate guides for programmatic development. Without empirically verified theory as the basis for correctional intervention, one would expect a distribution of outcomes ranging from positive to negative, depending on the relationship of each theory to the actual causes of crime. If a program is based on a theory that identifies the causes of crime and their interrelationships, and the program is effective in changing these factors so as to mitigate the outcome, a reduction in the rate of criminal activity should occur. However, if a program is based on a theory that only partially or incorrectly specifies the causes of criminal activity, such a program will in all likelihood be ineffective. In addition, if the program manipulates variables that are directly or indirectly related to increased criminal activity, the intervention will produce higher levels of crime. Until we are able to reliably identify the causes of crime and their interrelationships, we can reasonably expect both positive and negative outcomes to occur.

Inadequate Application of Existing Theory to Program Development

In addition to the lack of verified theory in the behavioral sciences, correctional programs largely ignore the practical implications of the theory that does exist. Current theories of crime clearly indicate that many causes are at the root of criminal behavior, yet treatment strategies tend to be unidimensional in approach. Furthermore, programs do not address many of the important elements of the theory upon which they are based. For example, the rationale behind job training programs is that greater access to economic opportunity through improved employment will lower the probability of return to crime after release. Questions arise, however, as to what kind of job, at what income level and under what circumstances, would provide sufficient encouragement to really deter further criminal activity. It is not reasonable to assume that any legitimate opportunity will be perceived as attractive relative to the illegitimate alternatives. For example, it is unlikely that training and exoffender for a job as a file clerk after he has been earning \$500 a day as a drug dealer will provide sufficient incentive for the offender to change his criminal behavior. Although theories that identify inadequate access to the opportunity structure as the primary cause of criminal activity address issues as these, programmatic interventions rarely take the ramifications of these considerations into account. Assessing the nature, duration and frequency of treatment is a prerequisite for the development of effective programs. Without such assessments, it is not possible to determine whether treatments are inherently ineffective or whether they have not been implemented adequately. A program that has been evaluated as ineffective may yield positive results if it is implemented with greater intensity. Estimating the strength of treatment necessary to produce the appropriate change is an important prerequisite for effective program development. Given our present level of theoretical knowledge, however, specifying the optimal level of treatment intensity is a difficult task. Perhaps even more important are the budgetary constraints. Even if the appropriate strength for a given treatment could be identified, limited resources might preclude the implementation of programs according to these requisites. If programs that are

1-21

C

1-22

1

both theoretically sound and financially viable cannot be devised, we must question whether such diluted efforts are worth implementing. This question is particularly relevant as partial or inadequate program implementation may not only result in program inefficacy, but in undesirable consequences. For instance, it is feasible that if job placement programs are not supported by sufficient resources so as to ensure placement of offenders, higher levels of anger and frustration resulting in a return to criminal activity might result when the expectations raised by the program were not fulfilled.

1-23

0

research effort.

()

RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The experiment should be re-evaluated as the primary means of program assessment. Carefully controlled experiments yield the best form of information. However, given the present theoretical development in the behavioral sciences, the use of experimental design may be premature. While there are many conceptual formulations that purport to explain criminal behavior, the amount of variation in the phenomenon that can actually be attributed to statements within the theory is generally low. In the absence of verified theory, hypotheses that are drawn from existing theory are likely to be proven incorrect through experimentation. This results in a series of researches that confirm the null hypothesis, leading to a "nothing works" conclusion, a crude, but generally accurate characterization of the results of experimental work in corrections. In effect, the best that can be said for the vast majority of experimental efforts is that they have served to negate just about every direction that anyone has come up with and tested properly. Surely there is room to question a method that, given the present state of theoretical and methodological development, is likely to produce little more than confirmation of the null hypothesis, a confirmation that we can rely on, but one that provides little in the way of theoretical direction, and serves only to generate frustration among policy makers. It seems reasonable to ask if there are any alternatives that might be more likely to provide some direction, and if not save us completely from our ignorance, then at least enlighten us a little, perhaps enough to justify the huge sums of money involved in any major

1-24

 \bigcirc

In place of the experiment we recommend the application of multivariate statistical techniques to survey or longitudinal data for the purpose of identifying relevant factors in predicting recidivism. Efforts aimed at identifying the factors that predict recidivism will do more to build theory than anything else. Once sufficient descriptive work of this nature has been done and consistent findings across research efforts emerge, experimental efforts can be used to test hypotheses that are more likely to yield positive results.

Of course multivariate techniques are not without their own problems. Theoretical specification is necessary, a process largely ignored by the research community. If one were to make the most of multivariate techniques, perhaps 25 or 30 pseudo-experiments could be performed within the scope of a single research. And if the specification process has been at least partially successful, some of the hypotheses that are tested are likely to produce leads regarding the underlying theoretical process and perhaps even some direction for public policy. Over time, with the accumulation of such information across research efforts (especially if we were to manage some semblance of standardization), we might be able to design experiments that would test hypotheses drawn from (at least partially) correct theory, the results of which would lend themselves to the formulation of a sound theoretical direction. In the final analysis, of course, the true experiment, with multiple controls, is the best way to test theory, but in the very early stage of theoretical development that we find ourselves, what is required is more attention to clear, accurate description and less to testing incorrect theory. In essence, we need a lot more fieldwork before we can return to the experimental laboratory, more fully informed and better able to devise experiments

that carry with them the possibility of providing some positive results. (Did DaVinci perform "experiments" on the cadavers of 16th Century criminals he disected with the hope of learning what makes the human body tick? Or are we more advanced than the medical sciences of that time?)

2. Research on offender rehabilitation should be pursued more systematically and documented more thoroughly. Research efforts in this area tend to be fragmented; little in the way of concerted effort geared toward solving the major problems in the field can be discerned. Long-term planning, aimed at solving the major problems that exist in the field is an important step in focusing and coordinating future research efforts. The development of research standards for individual projects would also be helpful in allowing for greater generalizability and synthesis of findings. Frequently, the research in the literature is inadequately documented, precluding comparisons between studies and replication of individual research efforts.

3. Issues concerning the measurement of criminal behavior deserve greater attention. At present, it cannot be determined whether the measures of criminal recidivism that exist are all tapping the same phenomenon in a more or less efficient manner or whether they are measuring different processes. In either case, these measures have an imperfect relationship to offender behavior. Until more reliable measures of crime are developed, theoretical progress is unlikely as the factors which underlie criminal activity cannot be fully determined. In order to measure program success more accurately the type and seriousness of the offender's subsequent offense, as well as the length of time from initial programmatic intervention to subsequent criminal activity should be reported.

1-25

 (\cdot)

C

(

4. Standards for data collection should be established which include a set of indicators pinpointed as being potentially important predictors of recidivism.

C

1-27

5. Intervention programs need to be more carefully monitored to ensure program integrity. In order to accurately evaluate program effectiveness, it is necessary to know the details of the program. Unfortunately, sufficient detail concerning program design and the method of program monitoring are not provided by many investigators.

6. Further research and careful monitoring of programs that have produced inconsistent findings should be undertaken.

Rate of Recidivism:

Ĵ

 \cdot ()

()

Added Treatment:

Split Sentencing

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

Group Home

Rate of Recidi Added Treatmen

Halfway Houses

Rate of Recidi

Added Treatmen

Work Release

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

SUMMARY -- ADULTS

PROBATION/PAROLE COMPARISON

Overall: no difference; definition inconsistent

Probation: higher -- re-arrest; reconviction; imprisonment for a new conviction

Parole: higher -- return to prison for a technical violation

Slightly higher rates among treated groups on both probation and parole

PROBATION VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

Inconsistent

Resources rarely applied

it:	Resources	not	effective
vism:	Higher		

PAROLE VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

vism:		Generally higher;	definition	inconsistent	
it:		Lower rates			

Inconsistent

No impact

Early Release

C

Ċ

C

Rate of Recidivism: Added Treatment:

No difference; definition inconsistent No impact

No difference; definition inconsistent

Parole Programs

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

No Supervision

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

Insufficient data

Higher

Lower rates

1-29

INNOVATIVE PROGRAMS

rates of recidivism

Resource Interventions Variable, depending on nature of the program: short-term, concrete intervention (financial aid, job placement) positive; vocational training inconsistent; education associated with higher rates of recidivism

Generally effective after incarceration

Associated with higher rates of recidivism

Inconsistent, or associated with higher

Social Work Psychotherapies

Group Living

Situations

Administrative Interventions

Reduced and intensive supervision inconsistent

Rate of Recidivism:

<u>.</u>

()

A. 1124

 $\left(\right)$

Added Treatment:

Split Sentencing

Rate of Recidivism: Lower Added Treatment: Lower rates

Group Homes

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

Parole Programs

Rate of Recidivism: Inconsistent

Added Treatment: No impact

Work Study Rate of Recidivism:

SUMMARY -- JUVENILES

PROBATION/PAROLE COMPARISON

Juveniles who have been incarcerated and placed on parole have consistently higher rates than probationers

Higher rates for probationers; equivlaent rates for parolees

PROBATION VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

- Higher
- No impact

PAROLE VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

Lower than other paroled groups Added Treatment: Insufficient data

Halfway Houses

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

Early Release

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

Insufficient data Insufficient data

1-31

Inconsistent

No impact

No Supervision

Rate of Recidivism:

Added Treatment:

j.

Higher compared to those groups supervised Higher rates when administered treatment

INNOVATIVE PROGRAMS

Generally ineffective, inconsistent or associated with higher rates of recidivism, with the exception of job training

Introduction

1

5

cial state reports.

¹Robert Martinson and Judith Wilks should be credited with the innovative manner in which the data contained in the published literature were synthesized for analytic purposes. Their pioneering efforts made our work possible and we remain greatly indebted to them.

²For details of the data collection procedure, see Appendix C.

CHAPTER 2

METHODS OF PROCEDURE1

This study is based on information abstracted from the published literature on criminal recidivism. The data set was assembled in two stages. First, a comprehensive search for research was undertaken, including a thorough review of the published literature and a request for information from relevant sources in the criminal justice information system, such as research universities and state correctional agencies.² This investigation resulted in the location of 555 documents containing information about the rate of recidivism on over 12,000 groups of released offenders. The documents that were collected represent a variety of studies and reports including experimental and quasi-experimental research, prediction studies, reports of evaluation studies and offi-

After these documents were compiled, information about the rate of recidivism among groups of released offenders was abstracted. Frequently, studies reported information for more than one group. A group was considered eligible for inclusion in the sample if it contained at least ten offenders and the administrative jurisdiction within the criminal justice system in which the group was studied and the length of time the group was followed, were reported. In addition to the information required for inclusion, other relevant information, including the type of treatment administered, the social and criminal history

of the group, and the research design employed in the study, were abstracted whenever available.³ In all, over 10,000 groups of adult offenders and more than 2,100 groups of juvenile offenders are represented. This translates into more than two million individuals.

Analytic Procedure

()

In order to examine trends in the efficacy of mandated and innovative correctional intervention, three primary analytic steps were taken. First, the rate of recidivism for groups on probation was compared to the recidivism rate for groups on parole. Second, comparisons were made between the rate of recidivism among groups receiving one of the mandated alternatives to probation and parole, using the standard form of supervision as the comparison group. Finally, the rate of recidivism for various forms of innovative intervention was compared to the rate for groups in comparable criminal justice locations that did not receive innovative treatment.

Because of the variety of ways that recidivism has been studied and reported in the literature, direct comparison of the average rate of recidivism among intervention strategies was not possible. Recidivism is defined in several different ways, groups are followed for varying lengths of time, and the research spans wide geographic areas and time periods. In our preliminary analysis, we found that these factors directly affect the magnitude of the reported rate of recidivism and need to be taken into account before comparisons of intervention modalities can be made. Details of our analysis of these factors can be found in Appendix D. A summary of our findings and the way that these factors were taken into account in this research is presented below.

3See study codebook (Appendix B) for a complete list of information abstracted on each group.

 \mathcal{D}

Operational Definition: Seven definitions of recidivism were found in the literature: failure, abscond, re-arrest, re-conviction, imprisonment for a technical violation, re-imprisonment for a new conviction and re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction. Analysis of these definitions uncovered wide variation in the observed magnitude of the rate of recidivism, depending on outcome criterion. Measures such as re-arrest and failure, for example, produce higher rates of recidivism than re-conviction, a point of observation further embedded in the criminal justice process. Unless the differences in the rate of recidivism associated with the various outcome criteria are taken into account, comparison of treatment or intervention outcomes would not be meaningful. Treatments using a definition like reconviction would have lower rates of recidivism than those using re-arrest, by virtue of the point in the criminal justice process where the measurement is taking place and not the impact of treatment. Consequently, we analyzed each definition of recidivism separately for each intervention program studied. Average effects across definition are reported, but these should be interpreted with caution, as we often found that while some interventions are associated with consistently higher or lower rates of recidivism, the treatments we studied often produced inconsistent trends, sometimes associated with higher. other times with lower rates of recidivism. As operational definition was found to have a large impact on the reported rate of recidivism, it was taken into account in our analyses of both mandated and innovative forms of intervention. In addition to operational definition, length of time in follow-up, geographic location and decade in which the study was conducted were also found to impact on the rate of recidivism and consequently had to be taken into account in analyzing trends in the effectiveness of correctional programs. These important factors were taken into

2-3

)

()

account through the use of regression analysis, the details of which are noted below.4

2-4

Statistical Procedures

h

Although other linear and log-linear techniques were considered at various times throughout the course of this study, regression analysis was selected as the primary statistical method because of the greater interpretability of the co-efficients produced by the equations: when the dependent variable is the rate of recidivism, the B co-efficients which result from the computation of a regression equation, represent an estimate of the relative increase or decrease in the rate of recidivism between groups receiving the specified intervention and those receiving other treatments, taking into account the relevant factors identified in the equation which were also found to effect the magnitude of the rate of recidivism. In our report, the B co-efficients reported in the tables were abstracted from various equations and brought together for analytic purposes. Complete equation information has been provided in Appendix J.

⁴More detailed information concerning the impact of these variables on the rate of recidivism can be found in Appendix D.

As this study represents a compilation of information abstracted from the published literature, it is bound by the same limitations as the research efforts that comprise it. These restrictions, as well as those that are specific to this research, are discussed below.

1. The Inclusion of Studies All studies that met the criteria mentioned earlier in this chapter were included in the data base, regardless of methodological rigor. It could be argued that studies that do not meet certain methodological requirements should be excluded from the analysis. The exclusion of studies based on such criteria, however, raises as many questions as it eliminates. First, had strict methodological criteria for inclusion been established, most of the studies in the criminal recidivism literature would have been eliminated. Secondly, there is the problem of what standards should be applied in the inclusion or exclusion of studies. Third, it is difficult to determine the true quality of a research based on what is reported by the researchers. Even studies that appear to be "better" studies often have major flaws that only firstkend knowledge of the research could pinpoint. Problems associated with data collection, for example, which often affect the quality of a research, are rarely reported in the literature. Finally, and most importantly, when this issue was directly addressed in this research, we found no relationship between the quality of the study from which the group was abstracted and the reported rate of recidivism. Any distinctions between "good" and "bad" studies left the overall trends we found unchanged. In addition, while there may be some justification for establishing criteria for the inclusion of

LIMITATIONS OF THIS STUDY

)

()

2-5

Â

studies based on research design or methodological rigor, no such justification exists for excluding a study when the group reported therein and not the study itself, is the unit of analysis.

2. Generalizability of the Sample

0

(

Our sample is comprised of studies describing groups of offenders upon which observations of recidivism have been made and subsequently reported in the literature. However, the way in which these groups are reported do not recessarily represent an unbiased cross-section of the programs and correctional facilities that exist in the criminal justice system. The ratio of programs that are evaluated to the total number of programs that have been implemented is unknown. Therefore, our sample is limited to the reported research, which is not necessarily representative of the correctional system as a whole.

3. Measurement

This study is limited by a number of measurement problems inherent in the research it summarizes. First, the studies that comprise the literature rely on official reports as the basis for determining the rate of recidivism, and there is evidence to suggest that differences between self reported data and official statistics exist (Klein, 1975). At best, the relationship between offender behavior and official reports is imperfect; official measures do not necessarily reflect the true prevalence of criminal activity. However. in and of itself, the error that results from the discrepancy between official response and offender behavior does not invalidate conclusions concerning the relative effect of programmatic intervention, assuming that error in detection of offender behavior relative to the actual behavior is randomly distributed across all programs that have been evaluated.

In many ways, the problems of measuring recidivism reflect the difficul-Another problem in measuring recidivism is the assessment of the seri-

ties of detecting and measuring criminal behavior. Until criminologists reach a consensus as to how to measure crime, measuring recidivism will be plagued by the same ambiguities that beset the measurement of crime in general. However, even if this problem was solved, there are additional problems in measuring recidivism per se that are not directly related to the measurement of criminal behavior overall. For example, a special definitional problem relates to specifying behavior that constitute a technical violation. Frequently, offenders are considered recidivists for violating conditions of probation or parole, even though these behaviors may not be infractions of the criminal code. In addition, infractions that constitute technical violations vary among offenders on probation and parole, as well as between various state jurisdictions. ousness of the recidivist's offense. Although the issue of seriousness is one that permeates the whole issue of the measurement of criminal activity, it is particularly relevant in the assessment of treatment outcome. For example, it may very well be that an offender who was originally convicted for assault with a weapon may be committing crimes generally deemed less serious after experiencing treatment. Such a reduction in seriousness would not be detected by current measurement techniques.

4. Long-Term Outcomes The data do not reflect long-term outcome. For example, we do not know the length of time that individuals within any given study remained "crime free" after release as the studies we have summarized report the proportion of offenders who ever failed during a fixed follow-up period. For studies with a thirty-six month follow-up, that report a recidivism rate of 40%, we do not

2-6

9

(

 $\{ \}$

know what proportion of the offenders remained crime free for six months, twelve months or thirty-six months. We can therefore only evaluate the shortterm effect of programmatic intervention.

5. Limitations of Group Level Data

As we are utilizing aggregate (group level) data, direct inferences about the individual subjects comprising each group cannot be drawn without the risk of falling prey to the ecological fallacy (Dogan and Rokkan, 1969; Hammond, 1976). Direct inferences can only be made concerning the experiences of groups in various correctional and treatment settings in the criminal justice system.

6. Comparability of Comparison Groups

0

C

In addition to lack of information concerning the seriousness of the recidivist's offense, the background characteristics of offenders are not reported frequently enough in the literature to include them in our regression equations. Our analysis of these variables was thereby limited to a review of zero order correlations of reported background data on the rate of recidivism, coupled with an analysis of the extent to which these characteristics are differentially distributed among comparison groups. Although our analysis indicates that there is little relationship between these characteristics and recidivism (see Appendices G and H for details), ideally these characteristics should be taken into account in the regression equations.

7. Limitations of Regression Analysis

While we believe that regression analysis is the best statisical procedure for the analysis of our data, there are some limitations of this technique.

2-8

Regression equations estimate average effects, and do not address the components of the variation. By focussing on the average effect, regression allows for the best prediction of the impact of a particular program, given past performance. However, it is possible that the average performance may obscure important variability that contribute to that average, thus the specific coefficients that are produced should be interpreted with caution. The focus should be on the general direction of the findings as opposed to a specific increase or decrease in recidivism.

CHAPTER 3

PROBATION, PAROLE AND THEIR ALTERNATIVES

The purpose of this chapter is to assess the relative effectiveness of probation, parole and their mandated alternatives. Two primary correctional systems presently exist in the United States: probation supervision for offenders whose crimes do not warrant incarceration, and incarceration and subsequent parole supervision for offenders who have been convicted of more serious criminal activity. In the past two decades, several alternatives to these systems have been enacted in some jurisdictions. Rather than being placed under standard probation supervision, an individual sentenced to probation may be sent to a group home or receive a split-sentence sometimes known as "shock" probation, which involves a brief period of incarceration followed by placement on standard probation supervision. Similarly, individuals who have been incarcerated may be placed in halfway houses, work release programs, or special parole programs, in lieu of, or in addition to standard parole supervision. Others may be released from confinement before the completion of their minimum sentence and subsequently placed under standard parole supervision. Still other offenders, who are required to serve their maximum sentence, are released with no supervision at all.

(__)

(G

Two goals underlie this system of control and supervision of criminal offenders. The first is the administration of justice. By law, individuals found guilty of crime are usually required to serve time under state supervision in either a prison, jail or other type of residential facility, or under supervision in the community. By restricting the freedom of offenders, correctional systems increase the safety of the community, and provide a sense of restitution for law-abiding citizens. The second goal of corrections is to

3-1

facilitate the rehabilitation and reintegration of offenders into mainstream society in order to insure that they will not repeat the criminal acts for which they have been convicted. The objective of these correctional systems is to control human behavior, very much like the innovative treatment programs discussed in the next chapter. The main difference between the two is a legal one: all convicted offenders are required by law to serve time under one or another form of supervision, whereas only a portion of the offender population receives additional treatment. Understanding the dynamics of this treatment system begins with understanding the relative effectiveness of the main correctional systems for supervising offenders in the community, probation and parole, the focus of

this chapter.

C

1

Our data indicate that the majority of groups that have been studied were under either standard probation or standard parole supervision. For adults, approximately 86% of the 10,029 groups included in the study were followed within the context of parole or its mandated alternatives, and 1,470 were studied on probation and its alternatives.

1The distribution of groups presented in this section reflects the way offenders have been studied, not the way they are distributed within the correctional system. About half of all adult offenders in the United States are sentenced to probation supervision. Yet only about 15% of the groups reported in the literature are followed while on probation. This means that our sample cannot be construed as directly representative of the correctional system, but rather of the research that has addressed system efficacy which has focused more heavily on persons who have been incarcerated. At the same time, it should be noted that despite the tendency to study what are commonly considered "more serious" criminals, the number of adult groups on probation totals 1,305, representing 280,000 individuals and should be considered adequate for comparative purposes.

Distribution of Groups Within the Correctional System Location1

3-3

Table 3-1

(

()

Ĩ.

The Distribution of Juvenile and Adult Groups Across Correctional System Locations

		JUVENILES			ADULTS		
CORRECTIONAL SYSTEM		N of	N of In-		N of	N of In-	
LOCATION	_%	Groups	dividuals	_%	Groups	dividuals	
						0	
Court Supervision							
Probation	34.5	742	124,050	13.0	1,305	282,225	
Split Sentence i.e. Shock Probation	5.6	121	10,325	0.6	65	18,550	
Group Homes	11.5	248	26,475	0.7	66	9,675	
Correctional Supervision							
Imprisonment/Parole	38.2	821	136,225	74.5	7,467	1,170,800	
Work Study/Release	1.2	26	1,975	2,1	214	38,325	
Halfway House	1.9	41	2,000	2.6	263	36,875	
Early Release	0.3	6	150	0.5	49	13,300	
Parole Program - other than standard	4.9	106	14,850	4.5	449	96,625	
Maximum Sentence - release without parole	1.9	41	2,600	1.5	151	35,625	
<u>Totals</u>		2,152	318,650		10,029	1,702,000	

Seventy-five percent of adult groups were followed within the context of standard parole supervision, two percent were studied after completing their maximum sentences and being released with no supervision; one percent were followed on parole after being released prior to the completion of their sentences (early release). The remaining nine percent were released either to halfway houses, work release programs or special parole programs. Fifteen percent of adult groups were studied within the context of probation. Thirteen percent were assigned to standard probation supervision, and two percent were assigned either to a group home or received a split sentence.

Of the juveniles, approximately fifty-six percent of the 2,152 groups were followed while on probation, with thirty-five percent assigned to standard probation supervision, twelve percent to group homes, and six percent to shock probation. Forty-seven percent of the juvenile groups were followed after being incarcerated and released to parole or one of its alternatives: thirtyeight percent were followed within the context of standard parole supervision after confinement in a training school or reformatory; seven percent were released to special parole programs, halfway houses or were in work study programs; two percent were studied after serving their maximum sentences and being released to parole before their minimum sentences had been served.

Analytic Procedures

()

£.

 \bigcirc

As explained in Chapter 2, simple comparisons of the average rate of recidivism across the various locations of the correctional system are not interpretable. Definitions of recidivism vary, as does length of time in followup and the time period during which the data were collected. Analysis is further complicated by regional differences in the rate of recidivism. In order

to take these factors into account, regression equations were computed thereby allowing for the estimation of the relative increase or decrease in the rate of recidivism attributable to each correctional system locaion, taking other relevant factors into account. First, a general equation including all correctional locations (dichotomized) was computed in order to compare the relative rate of recidivism between probationers and parolees. Then using standard probation and standard parole supervision as the base of comparison, equations were computed separately for each of the alternatives to standard supervision. And finally, trends in the impact of innovative treatment methods were computed for each system location. These equations are summarized in the addendum to this chapter.²

Social and criminal background characteristics of the individuals who comprise the groups in our study were not taken into account in these equations, as they have not been reported often enough in the literature.³ This is potentially important in interpreting the probation/parole comparison data presented in this chapter, in that if there are inherent differences in the composition of the groups assigned to probation and parole, and if these differences are related to the probability of recidivism, then direct comparisons between the two groups would not be valid. Although sufficient background data were not available to include background characteristics in the equations, sufficient information did exist to make a reasonable judgment as to whether commonly cited background characteristics differentiate between parolees and probationers and whether or not these characteristics are important determinants

(

²Complete equations can be found in Parts II and III of Appendix J. ³See Appendix E for details. of criminal recidivism. Our findings, reported in detail in Appendix G, indicate that while substantial differences exist between the social and criminal backgrounds of parolees and probationers, these differences are only slightly related to criminal recidivism, and therefore are not likely to be substantively important in interpreting the findings, which are presented below.

(

()

 $\left(\right)$

PROBATION, PAROLE AND THEIR ALTERNATIVES

()

Cr 👳

ADULTS

3-7

Probation and parole entail the supervision of offenders in the community by probation or parole officers. The specific terms of probation vary from offender to offender and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. However, most probationers are required to report on a regular basis to the probation officer to whom they are assigned. There may also be additional restrictions placed on offenders that are related to their criminal activities. For instance, offenders with alcohol abuse problems may be required to refrain from drinking; offenders with psychiatric problems may be required to seek psychiatric care. Parole supervision is similar to standard probation except that the offenders who are being supervised have previously been incarcerated. The parole board grants the offender's release to the community and also sets conditions for release. Offenders are required to report on a regular basis to their parole officers whose responsibility includes ensuring that the conditions of parole are not violated. These conditions may include prohibiting contact with certain individuals, maintaining employment or obtaining assistance from various social service agencies.

fenders who are be board grants the o for release. Offe parole officers wh parole are not vio certain individual ous social service <u>Rate of Rec</u> have comparable ra the relative impac vism varies depend parole have lower is defined as re-a

0

()

⁴See Appendix D for details about the impact of operational definition. on the reported rate of recidivism.

PROBATION/PAROLE COMPARISON

<u>Rate of Recidivism</u>: Overall, adult groups assigned to standard parole have comparable rates of recidivism to groups assigned to probation. However, the relative impact of parole and probation supervision on the rate of recidivism varies depending on how recidivism is defined.⁴ Adult groups assigned to parole have lower rates of recidivism than groups on probation when recidivism is defined as re-arrest, re-conviction or re-imprisonment for a new conviction (B=-10.08, B=-7.58, B=-5.69, respectively). However, when recidivism is

defined as abscond or imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, groups assigned to parole have recidivism rates that are higher than groups assigned to standard probation (B=2.45, B=9.39, respectively).

Impact of Additional Treatment: When innovative treatment is administered on standard probation, adult groups receiving treatment have higher average rates of recidivism than groups on probation not receiving additional treatment (B=2.96). Groups receiving treatment on standard parole also have a higher average rate of recidivism (B=3.52) than groups on parole that did not receive treatment.

Group Composition: For adults, there are significant differences in both criminal history and social characteristics between those sentenced to probation and those incarcerated and subsequently paroled. Adults on parole tend to have a lower proportion of property offenders than adults assigned to probation (41.2% to 50.1%, respectively), and a much higher proportion of multiple offenders, with 62.9% having been convicted more than once compared to only 18.6% for adults sentenced to probation.

Social characteristics also differentiate between adults on probation and parole. Adult groups who were incarcerated and subsequently paroled tend to have a slightly higher proportion of individuals from broken homes (34.2%) than those on probation (30.9%); a lower proportion of high school graduates (25.5% compared to 32.2% for those on probation); a lower proportion of individuals with drug use history than those on probation (.13%, .21% respectively); and a slightly higher average age (27.8 years to 25.2 years for those on probation).

Discussion: The data suggest that the probability of recidivism is remarkably similar for probationers and parolees: although they tend to be detected committing new crime in different ways, the overall rate of recidivism

is almost identical. This finding suggests that a new image of the relative risk associated with probationers and parolees is needed. Probationers can no longer be viewed as offenders whose risk to the community is significantly lower than parolees. In fact, the groups are equally dangerous. It may be that a large proportion of persons sentenced to probation do fit the image of the less serious offender who is unlikely to commit additional crimes. But it appears that an equally large proportion of probationers are first offenders who are at the beginning of their criminal careers and are just as likely as parolees to commit additional, and perhaps more serious crimes. A probation sentence may inhibit crime among some less serious offenders, but may be ineffective in deterring crime among persons at the beginning of their criminal careers. At the present time we have no reliable way of differentiating between these two types of offenders.

an equal number of other cases it does not.

()

()

In effect, we cannot rely on research evidence at this time to determine if incarceration is helpful or harmful to the society or if probation is appropriate or not. The effect of incarceration on adult offenders, therefore, should not be a major consideration in determining whether or not to send an adult offender to prison. Since the aggregate impact is negligible, the cost and fair administration of justice are the main things that need to be considered in making this determination.

3-9

Nor can we reliably separate the "hardened" criminal who views prison as a professional hazard that has to be endured from time to time, from the paroled offender who has been deterred from further criminal activity by the experience of being incarcerated. Incarceration per se cannot be conceived as a means of reducing or not reducing recidivism; at the present time it appears that in some cases it probably does limit further criminal activity while in
Split sentencing, sometimes referred to as "shock" probation, involves

a brief period of incarceration followed by placement on standard probation. The rationale behind this intervention is to deter further criminal activity by exposing offenders to the reality of imprisonment. It is believed that offenders who have experienced incarceration will be subsequently more amenable to the supervision of probation officers who often use the threat of re-incarceration to obtain offenders' compliance.

()

()

()

Group Composition: For adult groups assigned to shock probation, there are a number of differences in both their criminal histories and social backgrounds, compared to those assigned to standard probation. Adult groups assigned to shock probation tended to have a much higher proportion of property offenders and a somewhat lower proportion of individuals convicted of at least one prior offense compared to adults assigned to standard probation. The proportion of whites is higher for adults assigned to shock probation, when compared to standard probation. In addition, the proportion of individuals coming from broken families who were assigned to shock probation is lower than the proportion from broken families assigned to standard probation. This is also true of the proportion of high school graduates which tends to be lower among



SPLIT SENTENCING ("SHOCK" PROBATION)

Rate of Recidivism: Studies of adult groups assigned to shock probation yield inconsistent findings. When recidivism is defined as re-arrest, groups sentenced to shock probation have substantially lower average rates of recidivism (B=-30.66). However, when recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for a new conviction, groups sentenced to shock probation have substantially higher rates of recidivism than groups assigned to standard probation (B=35.40). Impact of Additional Treatment: Insufficient data exists for analysis.

13

adults given this intervention. Adults on shock probation also tend to have a lower socio-economic status rating than adults on standard probation.

(

(

Discussion: Given the inconsistency of these findings, no firm judgment about the efficacy of shock probation for adult offenders can be made. Further^N research focusing on the differential impact of this intervention on different outcome criteria is needed.

ť

Rate of Recidivism: Adult groups assigned to group homes average consistently higher rates of recidivism than adult groups assigned to standard probation. When recidivism is defined as abscond and imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, groups assigned to group homes have higher average recidivism rates than adults assigned to standard probation (B=7.90, B=21.06, respectively).

Impact of Additional Treatment: When additional treatment is administered within the context of the group home, there is no appreciable effect on the rate of recidivism. Adult groups receiving treatment in group homes have comparable average rates of recidivism to groups in group homes that did not receive additional treatment.

Group Composition: Adult groups assigned to group homes tend to have a higher proportion of individuals convicted of multiple offenses, a greater proportion of whites and high school graduates, and a slightly lower average age than adult groups assigned to standard probation.

()

Discussion: Insofar as group homes are designed to reduce the rate of

recidivism, it appears they have not been successful. Given the findings of the present study, the use of group homes for adults should be re-evaluated.

3-13

GROUP HOMES (PARTIAL PHYSICAL CUSTODY)

Group homes are small residential facilities used 5 imarily as an alternative to incarceration. Group homes have minimal security; offenders generally leave the facility daily to attend school or to go to work. Group counseling and other services are often provided within the framework of these facilities. The rationale behind these homes is to provide an alternative to imprisonment while at the same time exerting more direct control over offenders than can be exercised under standard probation supervision.

It may be that placing offenders in close proximity to one another in a loosely structured environment provides a forum for the exchange of criminal methods and ideologies. As these facilities are relatively expensive to operate, the benefit derived is open to serious question.

()

()

19

0

3-15

Contraction of the second s

(

C

ALTERNATIVES TO STANDARD INCARCERATION/PAROLE FOR ADULTS

HALFWAY HOUSES

3-17

The halfway house is a community based residential program for offenders on parole. The purpose of the program is to establish a smooth transition from total institutionalization to the nearly complete freedom of parole. The average stay ranges from several days to several months, and offenders are often administered additional services such as job training, job placement and education. Halfway houses vary considerably in terms of the specific programs that are instituted to residents.

Prior evaluations of halfway houses for adults have produced inconsistent results. In a study of eight facilities in Ohio lower rates of recidivism for residents were reported. However, there was also a 17 percent in-program failure rate. Lipton, et al. (1975) report lower rates of recidivism in some pre-release guidance centers, but higher rates in others.

()

0

Rate of Recidivism: Overall, adult groups assigned to halfway houses have higher rates of recidivism than groups assigned to standard parole supervision. When recidivism is defined as failure, abscond, re-arrest or re-imprisonment for a technical violation, groups released to halfway houses have higher rates of recidivism (B=19.51, B-10.51, B=7.83, B=13.88, respectively). Only when recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, do groups released to halfway houses have lower rates of recidivism than groups assigned to standard parole (B=-9.51).

Impact of Additional Treatment: Adult groups receiving additional treatment within the context of the halfway house have lower average rates of recidivism than groups in halfway houses that did not receive additional treatment (B=-8.53).

()

()

Group Composition: Groups assigned to halfway houses have a lower proportion of property offenders and a much lower proportion of multiple offenders than groups assigned to standard parole. They also tend to have a much higher proportion of high school graduates and individuals with a higher socio-economic rating, as well as a slightly higher proportion of individuals with a narcotics history, than groups assigned to standard parole. Discussion: Although there is some inconsistency in the research findings, the trend among groups assigned to halfway houses is clearly towards

higher rates of recidivism. Although when additional treatment is administered within this context, lower rates of recidivism are reported, even with these added resources, the rate of recidivism only approaches that for adult groups on standard parole that were given no additional treatment. Given the expense of operating these facilities, their continuation should be carefully assessed.

WORK RELEASE

3-19

Work furlough or release involves the daily release of offenders from confinement for the purpose of going to work in the community. A portion of offenders' earnings are frequently contributed to pay for room and board in prison. Offenders wear street clothes and utilize public transportation to travel to their place of employment, and return to confinement after work.

Prior evaluations of work release have reported inconsistent findings. For example, Bass (1975) reports comparable rates of failure for adult felons in a California work release program. However, when in-program failures were taken into account, participants were associated with higher rates of recidivism. Stanton's (1974) evaluation of a program in New York City, however, shows that 68 percent of adults participating had no arrests and did not abscond during the period of follow-up. Jenkins, et al (1974) also report significantly lower rates of recidivism for male offenders in work release programs.

Rate of Recidivism: Studies of adult groups assigned to work study programs yield inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as re-arrest, groups assigned to work study have higher average rates (B=8.95). However, when re-conviction or re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction is used as the outcome criterion, groups assigned to work study programs have lower rates of recidivism (B=-8.87, B=-16.29, respectively).

Impact of Additional Treatment: Groups on work study that were administered additional treatment have comparable rates of recidivism to adult groups on work study that did not receive additional treatment.

Group Composition: Adult groups assigned to work study tend to have a much higher proportion of high school graduates, a somewhat higher proportion

().

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

5

Discussion: Given the inconsistencies of the research findings, no firm conclusion can be drawn about the overall efficacy of work furlough programs for adult offenders. Further research focusing on the specific nature of the programs is warranted as work release does appear to be associated with lower rates of recidivism for some outcome criteria.

of individuals with a higher socio-economic rating, a somewhat higher proportion of multiple offenders, and a lower proportion of individuals coming from broken homes than groups assigned to standard parole.

EARLY RELEASE

()

1

3-21

Early release is an administrative decision to release offenders to parole supervision prior to serving their minimum sentence required by law. The rationale behind this program is that no benefit will be derived by confining offenders for the last few months of their sentences.

<u>Rate of Recidivism</u>: The impact of early release on the rate of recidivism varies considerably depending on how recidivism is defined. When the outcome criterion is abscond or re-arrest, adult groups released early tend to have higher rates of recidivism than groups on standard parole (B=14.32, B= 32.43, respectively). However, when recidivism is measured either as failure or re-imprisonment for a technical violation, groups in early release programs are associated with lower rates of recidivism (B=-14.60, B=-13.36, respectively).

Impact of Additional Treatment: There is no significant difference in the average rate of recidivism for adult groups assigned to early release that received additional treatment and groups assigned to early release that did not receive additional treatment.

<u>Group Composition</u>: Adults assigned to early release tend to have a higher proportion of non-whites and individuals who come from broken families than groups assigned to standard parole. They are slightly older, and have a somewhat higher average socio-economic rating than groups assigned to standard parole.

<u>Discussion</u>: The inconsistent research findings reported for groups that are released early suggests that this program should be monitored very carefully and used with considerable caution. Although it has administrative and cost benefits, its impact on the rate of recidivism cannot be firmly evaluated at this time. posed to individualized. tional treatment (B=-4.86).

()

()

()

PAROLE PROGRAMS

Parole programs include a variety of specific resources which are made available under standard parole supervision, including job training and placement programs, financial assistance and counseling. The resources available among parole programs vary considerably. Intervention is programmatic as opposed to individualized.

Rate of Recidivism: Adult groups assigned to parole programs tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism than adults on standard parole. When re-arrest, re-imprisonment for a technical violation or re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction is used as the outcome criterion, groups assigned to parole programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=16.68, B=3.28, B=6.40, respectively).

Impact of Additional Treatment: Groups that were administered additional treatment within the context of a parole program have lower average rates of recidivism than groups on parole programs that did not receive additional treatment (B=-4.86).

<u>Group Composition</u>: Groups assigned to special parole programs have a somewhat lower proportion of multiple offenders and a slightly lower average age than groups assigned to standard parole. They also tend to have a higher proportion of high school graduates and individuals with a higher socio-economic rating, as well as a slightly higher proportion of adults with some narcotics history than groups on standard parole.

Discussion: As parole programs are an umbrella for an array of innovative treatment strategies, no specific conclusion about the efficacy of these programs can be made. We can conclude, however, that the resources expended on these programs has not been effective. This may be due to the nature of the programs or because insufficient resources have been allocated to the task.

GROUPS SERVING MAXIMUM SENTENCE AND RELEASED WITH NO SUPERVISION

Offenders in this category are released to the community with no supervision after having served the maximum sentence allowed by law.

<u>Rate of Recidivism</u>: Adult groups that are incarcerated and released with no supervision have a higher average rate of recidivism than groups that are released to standard parole supervision (B=10.81). This finding is consistent across all definitions of recidivism reported in the literature.

Impact of Additional Treatment: The data suggest that when additional treatment is administered to groups serving maximum sentences, there may be some decline in the rate of recidivism. However, this finding is not stable: too few groups have been studied and more research is needed before drawing any firm conclusions.

<u>Group Composition</u>: Adult groups that served maximum sentences and were released with no supervision tend to have a slightly higher proportion of individuals with some narcotics history, and a slightly higher socio-economic rating than groups assigned to standard parole. Other background characteristics for this group have not been reported frequently enough to draw any conclusions.

<u>Discussion</u>: The consistently higher rates of recidivism reported for groups released from prison and not subsequently supervised in the community suggests that this is not a viable way of dealing with offenders who have been incarcerated. State laws should be amended to allow for the supervision of persons required to serve their full sentences after release.

1

3-23

ADDENDUM TO CHAPTER 3

{ }

()

REGRESSION EQUATIONS USED IN THE ANALYSIS

ADULTS

Table 3-2

Regression Equation:

The Independent Impact of Correctional System Location on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ALL GROUPS

.65
.43
.43
11.89
00)

		STD. ERROR	አሞጋር	E DATTO
	<u> </u>	<u>d</u> 10	BEIA	r KATLU
DEFINITION				a da ser a ser
(relative to imprisonment	•			
for a new conviction)	•			
Failure	26.59	.55	.43	2361.28*
Abscond	.45	.36	.01	1.54
Re-Arrest	18.85	. 58	.29	1048.39*
Re-Conviction	10.07	.67	.13	225.44*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	6.47	.36	.18	331.48*
Imprisonment (either new convic-	14.64	.45	.31	1065.59*
tion or technical offinse)				
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to no supervision)				
Probation	-10.16	1.04	22	94.91*
"Shock" Probation	-17.53	1.82	09	92.85*
Group Home, PPC	-4.28	1.81	02	5.58*
Parole after Imprisonment	-10.38	1.01	29	106.21*
Work Study	-10.74	1.30	10	68.71*
Halfway House	-4.84	1.28	05	14.24*
Early Release	-11.29	1.98	05	32.66*
Parole Program	-10.58	1.16	14	82.77*
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	.19	.01	.19	546.38*
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)		2		
New England	5,65	.89	. 06	40.08*
Mid-Atlantic	-2.24	.65	04	11.73*
East-North Central	77	.60	02	1.62
West-North Central	-2.62	.60	05	18 78*
South Atlantic	-3.48	. 57	09	37.57*
East-South Central	-2.44	.72	03	11.57*
Mountain	.34	.66	.01	24.07
Pacific	1.08	.52	.03	4 30*
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		• 2 4 0		4.50
(1 = <1960; 2 = 1960's; 3 = 1970's)	-4.96	.32	13	240.30*

*Significant at .05 level.

(

()

()

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	23.81	1.78	.40	177.92*
Abscond	-4.62	1.60	10	8.35*
Re-Arrest	11.95	1.58	.27	57.13*
Re-Conviction	10.13	1.64	.23	38.11*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.59	1.51	.06	2.97
Imprisonment (either new convic-	4.69	1.93	.08	5.92*
tion or technical offense)	and the second second second			
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-7.11	2.34	01	4.22*
Group Home, PPC	8.52	2.39	.11	12.69*
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	57	٨٥	05	2 2/
(months)	57	.03	.05	5.24
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION			5	
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	4.90	6.49	.02	.57
Mid-Atlantic	-7.31	2.04	12	12.87*
East-North Central	-1.76	1.58	04	1.24
West-North Central	-11.96	2.74	15	19.01*
South Atlantic	-1.54	1.85	02	.69
East-South Central	-2.61	7.35	01	.13
Mountain	14.63	4.09	.09	12.82*
Pacific	1.69	1.43	.05	1.39
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-4.25	.96	.13	19.59*

 \mathbf{O}

Û

3-26

Table 3-3

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PROBATION VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

Multiple	R	. 54
R Square		.29
Adjusted	R Square	.28
Standard	Error	14.17
(Const	tant = 64	.20)

Table 3-4

3-27

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS	 PAROLE	VS. ITS		AL	[VES	
			19 - A			
	 	T			69	

Multiple R	.09
R Square	.47
Adjusted R	Square .47
Aujusted R	r_{0r} 11.23
Standalu EL	LOT 02 (3)
(Constan	L = 02.437

	В	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)	DC 50	56	. 42	2203.92
Failure	1 19	.35	.03	11.13
Abscond	10 70	.68	.26	859.56
Re-Arrest	19.79	-85	.07	67.95
Re-Conviction	1.02	.35	.19	355,41
Imprisonment (technical offense)		45	.35	1222.18
Imprisonment (either new convic-	15.85	• • • •		
tion or technical offense)				
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)	03	81	.00	.08
Work Study	. 23	.01	.01	1.47
Parole Program	.75	1 63	.00	.03
Early Release	.30	1.05	.07	68.05
Halfway House	0.0/	.01	.09	128.48
Maximum Sentence	10.95			708 44*
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	. 22	.01	.23	700.44"
(months)				
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)	F 17	89	.06	33.81
New England	5.15	.69	02	3.27
Mid-Atlantic	-1.20	66	03	4.35
East-North Central	-1.30	- 63	05	15.14
West-North Central	-2.45	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	10	41.08
South Atlantic	-3.84	.00	04	12.05
East-South Central	-2.51	68	00	.00
Mountain	82	.00	.01	.27
Pacific	.30	10.0		070 60
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-5.68	.35	14	270.62
(1=<1960; <u>2=1960's; 3=1970's</u>)				
	and the second			

*Significant at .05 level.

C



O

11.

27

Table 3-5

 \bigcirc

Summary of Regression Equations:⁵ The /Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on Each Definition of Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collecte <u>Adults</u>

	B e F TOTAL	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE- RE ARREST CONV	E- IMPRI /IC. TECH	5./ J I. N	MPRIS./ EW CONV.	IMPRIS./ EITHER	
PROBATION	BASE								
"SHOCK" PROBATION	-1.47 2.34 .39	-11.78 20.11 .34		-30.60 -8 6.71 4 20.82* 3	.69 8.0 .55 11.4 .66 .5	6 0 0	35.40 8.56 17.11*	.18 4.69 .00	3-28
GROUP HOME, PPC	9.53 2.37 16.21	10.51 9.52 1.22	7.90 2.03 15.17*	3.91 4 12.96 4 .09	.58 3.2 .83 12.2 .90 .0	21 22 07	5.62 10.40 .292	21.06 7.85 7.19*	

*Significant at .05 level.

e : A

⁵Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

Collected	
MPRIS./ EW CONV.	IMP EI

۰.

)

0

 \bigcirc

Table 3-6

Summary of Regression Equations:6 The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on Each Definition of Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected Adults

· · ·	14. 			Adults				
B e F	TOTAL	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	IMPRIS./ TECH.	IMPRIS./ NEW CONV.	IMPRIS./ EITHER
PAROLE	BASE	÷					<u></u>	
WORK RELEASE	.64 .80 .65	-3.42 2.73 1.57	-1.67 1.45 1.32	10.21 3.41 8.95*	-8.87 4.08 4.72*	-2.14 1.74 1.52	47 1.64 .08	-16.29 2.74 35.38*
HALFWAY HOUSE	7.63 .75 102.21*	19.51 3.40 32.79*	10.51 1.47 51.28*	7.83 2.60 9.00*	-5.55 4.17 1.77	13.88 1.81 58.59*	-2.58 2.03 1.61	-9.51 2.89 10.80*
EARLY RELEASE	.32 1.63 .04	-14.60 6.21 5.52*	14.32 2.25 40.43*	32.43 9.37 11.99*	11 3.89 .00	-13.36 4.07 10.74*	1.13 2.74 .17	11.28 12.54 .81
PAROLE PROGRAM	1.45 .58 6.14*	-3.73 2.45 2.31	-2.10 1.53 1.90	16.68 2.51 44.10*	33 2.78 .00	3.28 1.39 5.62*	68 1.04 .42	6.40 2.10 9.26*
NO SUPERVISION	10.81 .96 125.64*	12.19 17.17 .50	13.35 5.47 5.96*	16.37 2.93 31.15*	9.32 3.07 9.19*		5.30 .90 34.66*	30.15 5.86 26.51*

3-29

*Significant at .05 level.

6Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

Table 3-7

The Overall Impact of Innovative Correctional Treatment Within the Context of Various Criminal Justice System Locations Summary Regression Equation Data7

Adults

·				
		<u> </u>	<u></u>	F
Court Supervision:				
Standard Probation	0	2.96	1.08	7 57*
Shock Probation		(too few	cases to compute	equation)
Group Home, PPC		.35	3,90	.01
				.01
			•	
Correctional Supervision:				
Standard Davala	:	0 50		
Nork Study		3.52	.50	49.75*
Halfron Dougo		.3/	2.91	.02
Farlw Delege		-8.53	4.13	4.26*
Larly Release		54	3.58	.02
rarote Programs		-4.86	1.68	8.39*
No Supervision After Serving Maximum Sentence		-6.22	5.11	1.48

*Significant at .05 level.

()

C

⁷Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

Summary of Differences in Adult Group Background Characteristics: Alternate Assignments Compared to Standard Intervention8

Construction of Proceedings and Proceedings and Proceedings of the Pro	COURT S	SUPERV.	CORRECTIONAL SUPERVISION				
	Shock		Work	Halfway	Early	Special	Morrout
PROPORTION OF:	Prob.	PPC	Study	House	Release	Parole	Maxoul
	(Compare Stan.	Prob.)		(Compared	l to Standar	d Parole)	
	bbant						, »
				N G	NC	NC	NS
Property Offense	++	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.D.	N.5.	14.0.
Multiple Convictions	, -	++	+		I.D.		N.S.
			-				
Ubito	+-+		N.S.		- 	N.S.	N.S.
WIITCE							
				N.C.	Т	· · _	N S.
Average Age	N.S.		-	N.D.	T .		
Broken Family		N.S.		N.S.	+-+-	N.S.	1.D.
)		24					
H.S. Graduate		++	++	+++	N.S.	+	N.S.
	· .	ת ד	+	+	+	+	+
S.E.S.		L.D.				с. -	
				,	N O		<u>.</u>
Narcotics History	I.D.	I.D.	-	+	N.S.	т	T
	ý.						

KEY:

1

0

 \mathfrak{s}

()

- specified alternative.
- specified alternative.

8Complete T-test data can be found in Appendix I.

3-30

Table 3-8

+ = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the

- = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the

-

٠

52

.

N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic.

I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.



Juvenile probation and parole supervision entails the supervision of offenders in the community by probation and parole officers. The specific terms of probation vary from offender to offender, however, all probationers are required to report on a regular basis to the probation officer to whom they are assigned. There may also be additional restrictions placed on offenders that are related to their criminal activities. For example, juveniles with alcohol abuse problems may be required to refrain from drinking; offenders with psychiatric problems may be required to seek psychiatric care.

service agencies.

é

()

()

 \cap

07

0

PROBATION, PAROLE AND THEIR ALTERNATIVES

JUVENILES

3-32

(

C

vism is measured.

PROBATION/PAROLE ANALYSIS

3-33

Parole supervision is similar to standard probation except that the offenders who are being supervised have previously been incarcerated. A parole board grants the offender's release and also sets the conditions for release. Offenders are required to report to their parole officers on a regular basis, whose responsibilities include ensuring that the conditions of parole are not violated. These conditions may include prohibiting contact with certain individuals, maintaining employment or obtaining assistance from various social

Rate of Recidivism: Juvenile groups assigned to standard parole have substantially higher rates of recidivism than juvenile groups assigned to standard probation (B=15.63). This impact is consistent regardless of how recidi-

The Impact of Additional Treatment: Overall, juvenile groups on standard probation that received treatment have higher rates of recidivism than their non-treated counterparts (B=3.38). Juvenile groups receiving additional treatment in the context of standard parole have comparable rates of recidivism to groups not receiving added intervention.

<u>Group Composition</u>: For juveniles, we found few stable differences in background characteristics between those on parole and those on probation. In terms of criminal history, the only difference found is in relation to the proportion of multiple offenders: groups who had been incarcerated and then paroled had a much higher proportion (48.9%) of multiple offenders than groups assigned to probation (27.2%).

Differences in social characteristics between the two groups are found with respect to age, broken families and narcotics history. Juveniles who were incarcerated and subsequently paroled are slightly older than those assigned to probation (17.5 years to 17.2 respectively), have a higher proportion of individuals coming from broken families (56.9% to 50.7% for those on probation), and a higher percentage of individuals with some narcotics history (.68 for parolees to .15 for probationers).

Discussion: Our findings indicate that juveniles that have been incarcerated have higher rates of recidivism than juveniles released to standard probation supervision, regardless of how recidivism is defined. Since these are not experimental data, it cannot be inferred that the incarceration of juveniles per se is responsible for higher rates of recidivism among these groups. Furthermore, the available background data suggest that juveniles who are incarcerated pose a slightly greater risk to recidivate than youth offenders who are sentenced to probation. It is unlikely, however, that differential sentencing of high risk offenders to incarceration accounts for all the difference in the rate of recidivism between these two groups.

These findings point to the importance of planning for the supervision and after-care of juveniles who have been incarcerated and suggest that caution should be exercised in the incarceration of juvenile offenders. At the very least, it is unlikely that incarceration serves to lower the rate of recidivism, and it may play a role in raising it.

3-34

ALTERNATIVES TO STANDARD PROBATION FOR JUVENILES

()

SPLIT SENTENCING

3-36

Split sentencing, sometimes referred to as "shock" probation, involves a brief period of incarceration followed by placement on standard probation. For juveniles, such incarceration may be detention in a secure facility, camp or training school. The rationale behind this intervention is to deter further criminal activity by exposing offenders to the reality of detention. It is believed that offenders who have experienced incarceration will be subsequently more amenable to the supervision of probation officers.

Rate of Recidivism: Juvenile groups assigned to shock probation have a substantially lower average rate of recidivism than juvenile groups assigned to standard probation (B=-12.63). The impact of shock probation is significant when recidivism is defined as re-arrest, re-imprisonment for a technical violation or re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, with groups assigned to shock probation having much lower rates for these definitions than groups assigned to standard probation (B=-23.80, B=-14.22, B=-22.67, respectively).

()

C

Impact of Additional Treatment: Juvenile groups that received additional treatment within the context of shock probation have lower average rates of recidivism than juvenile groups on shock probation that did not receive additional treatment (B=-14.57).

Group Composition: Juvenile groups assigned to shock probation have a much lower proportion of whites than juvenile groups assigned to standard probation. Other background characteristics are not reported frequently enough to draw any conclusions.

()

()

0

Discussion: Given these findings, shock probation should be considered in planning the repertoire of interventions for juveniles sentenced to probation. A brief period of incarceration followed by probation supervision appears to have the advantage of deterring criminal activity without the potentially debilitating effect of long-term incarceration.

GROUP HOMES

3–38

Group homes are small, residential facilities for offenders who are sentenced to probation. They are frequently located in urban areas. Group homes lack tight security, and offenders are generally free to leave the facility to go to school or work.

The staff rarely consists of professional personnel; it is not uncommon for group homes to be run by a husband and wife team who have no specific training in dealing with the offender population.

Prior evaluations of group homes have been inconsistent. Some studies, as the evaluation of Denver facilities, suggest that group homes have a positive impact in lowering the rate of recidivism. The state of Minnesota, however, reports less optimistic results, with less than twenty percent successfully completing the program and a thirty-three percent recidivism rate.

Rate of Recidivism: Juvenile groups assigned to group homes have consistently higher average rates of recidivism than juvenile groups assigned to standard probation. When recidivism is defined as abscond, re-arrest, re-conviction for a new offense or imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, juvenile groups assigned to group homes have substantially higher rates of recidivism (B=10.17, B=29.00, B=23.86, B=14.13, respectively) than juvenile groups assigned to standard probation.

Impact of Additional Treatment: There is no significant difference in the rate of recidivism between juvenile groups in group homes that were administered additional treatment and juveniles in group homes that did not receive additional treatment.

C

()

()

()

Group Composition: Juvenile groups assigned to group homes tend to have a higher proportion of multiple offenders, a much lower proportion of high school graduates, and a slightly lower socio-economic rating than groups assigned to standard probation.

Discussion: Insofar as group homes are designed to reduce the rate of recidivism, it appears they have not been successful. There is some evidence to suggest that juveniles assigned to these detention centers are more "at risk" than juveniles placed on standard probation supervision. However, it is highly unlikely that the higher rates of recidivism reported for groups in these facilities can be totally accounted for by these factors. This seems even more improbable in light of the fact that almost all group living arrangements for both juveniles and adults are either inconsistent or associated with higher rates of recidivism, even when such differential group composition does not appear to exist. Given these findings, the use of group homes as presently constituted

for juvenile offenders should be re-assessed. Although there is considerable variability in the quality of the homes and their programs, many homes are inadequately funded and have high staff turnover resulting in a lack of stability for the residents. In addition, congregating offenders in such a loosely structured environment may provide a forum for the exchange of criminal methods and ideologies.

As these homes are used frequently in dealing with juvenile offenders, the study of the characteristics of groups homes related to the rate of recidivism should receive priority attention.

()

()

48 (¹⁶5)

Work study is a pre-release residential program administered to juveniles in detention centers, training schools and camps, and involves closely supervised work and educational activities. The rationale behind this intervention is to provide juveniles with the discipline, skills and resources necessary to access the larger opportunity structure. Offenders in work study programs are subsequently released to parole.

Rate of Recidivism: Overall, juvenile groups assigned to work study programs have much lower average rates of recidivism than juvenile group assigned to standard parole supervision (B=-23.86). The impact of work study is particularly significant when recidivism is defined as abscond or re-arrest, with juvenile groups assigned to work study having substantially lower average rates of recidivism (B=-30.51, B=-45.05, respectively), compared to juvenile groups on standard perole. Impact of Additional Treatment: Additional treatment is rarely adminis-

Group Composition: Juvenile groups assigned to work study tend to have

tered to juveniles in work study programs, thus its impact cannot be evaluated. a much higher proportion of multiple offenders. They also have a much higher proportion of high school graduates and a somewhat higher socio-economic rating than groups assigned to standard parole.

carcerated juvenile offenders.

ALTERNATIVES TO STANDARD PAROLE FOR JUVENILES

WORK STUDY

Discussion: As work study is the only pre-release alternative to standard parole that is consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism for juveniles, it should be considered as a basic element in

HALFWAY HOUSES

Halfway houses are small, non-secure facilities similar to group homes, for juveniles who have been sentenced to a period of confinement. Residents may be offenders who have been imprisoned preparing for release to the community, or they may have been sentenced to the halfway house as an alternative to other forms of confinement. Halfway houses may also serve as a temporary residence for juveniles who do not have a place to live.

<u>Rate of Recidivism</u>: Overall, juvenile groups assigned to halfway houses have an average rate of recidivism that is lower than juvenile groups assigned to standard parole (B=-7.04). However, the impact of halfway houses on the rate of recidivism varies considerably depending on how recidivism is defined. When conviction for a new crime is used as the outcome criterion, groups assigned to halfway houses have significantly higher rates of recidivism (B=24.12). There is a tendency for groups assigned to halfway houses to have lower rates of failure and lower rates of re-imprisonment for a technical violation. However, the margin of error around these estimates is high, precluding a firm conclusion about the impact of halfway houses on juvenile offenders.

 C^{a}

(

Impact of Additional Treatment: Insufficient research exists on the impact of additional treatment in the context of halfway houses. The data that does exist is inconsistent and no firm judgment about added treatment in this location can be made at the present time.

<u>Group Composition</u>: Juvenile groups assigned to halfway houses tend to have a somewhat higher proportion of individuals with some narcotics history, a higher average age and a lower socio-economic rating than juvenile groups on standard parole. Discussion: Given the inconsistency of our findings concerning halfway houses, no overall assessment of their efficacy can be made. Continued monitoring and evaluation of these facilities is warranted, as some success has been reported.

 $\left(\right)$

()

(

EARLY RELEASE

3-44

Early release is an administrative intervention whereby juveniles who have been confined are released to parole supervision prior to the completion of their sentences. The rationale behind this program is that no benefit will be derived by confining offenders for the last few months of their sentences.

Rate of Recidivism: Overall, juvenile groups assigned to early release have a lower average rate of recidivism than juvenile groups on standard parole. While this finding is consistent across definitions of recidivism, these findings are not statistically stable as too little research has been reported.

Impact of Additional Treatment: Additional treatment is rarely administered to juvenile groups that are released early.

Group Composition: Insufficient data exists for analysis.

C

Discussion: Insufficient research has been conducted on early release to make any final judgment about its impact on the rate of recidivism for juveniles. The data that does exist is encouraging as juveniles who are released early do not appear to have significantly higher rates of recidivism than juveniles serving their full sentences. Further study of this program is warranted.

tion/parole officer.

67

¢

-

()

ment.

standard parole. Discussion: More research is needed before any conclusions can be drawn about the efficacy of applying additional resources to the parole supervision process. Information that does exist at this time is inconsistent, and more specific focus on the nature of available services is necessary. In light of these findings, further research focusing on the nature and extent of resources

3-45

PAROLE PROGRAMS

Juvenile offenders released to parole programs are administered a wide variety of diagnositc and treatment services, including educational and career development programs, counseling, job training and job placement. Programs vary on the basis of individual needs, assessed by a social worker or proba-

Rate of Recidivism: Juvenile groups in parole programs are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism depending on how recidivism is defined. When re-imprisonment for a technical violation is the outcome criterion, groups assigned to parole programs have higher rates of recidivism (B=6.04). However, when recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for a new conviction or re-imprisonment for either a new conviction or a technical violation, groups in parole programs have much lower rates of recidivism (B=-54.73, B=-19.72, respectively) than groups assigned to standard parole supervision. Impact of Additional Treatment: There is no significant difference in the rate of recidivism for groups in parole programs that received additional treatment and groups in parole programs that did not receive additional treat-

Group Composition: Groups assigned to parole programs have a higher proportion of whites and a higher average age than juvenile groups assigned to

6.2

available and how these resources are utilized in each program is warranted. But it is clear that simply applying additional resources will not solve the problem of juvenile crime. Careful attention should be paid to the nature and extent of those resources if they are to prove useful.

O

Offenders vision after havi <u>Rate of Re</u> with no supervision released to stand <u>Impact of A</u> tences and were released tences and were released with no supervision <u>Group Compo</u> and were released whites, a higher p slightly lower ave <u>Discussions</u> leased from confir amended to allow f

 $\left(\right)$

 \bigcirc

3-46

GROUPS SERVING MAXIMUM SENTENCE AND RELEASED WITH NO SUPERVISION

3-47

Offenders in this category are released to the community with no supervision after having served the maximum sentence allowed by law.

<u>Rate of Recidivism</u>: Juvenile groups that are incarcerated and released with no supervision have higher average rates of failure than juvenile groups released to standard parole supervision (B=17.09).

Impact of Additional Treatment: Groups that served their maximum sentences and were released with no supervision but were given some form of innovative treatment have higher average rates of recidivism than groups released with no supervision that did not receive additional treatment (B=5.89).

<u>Group Composition</u>: Juvenile groups that completed their prison terms and were released without supervision tend to have a much lower proportion of whites, a higher proportion of individuals coming from broken homes, and a slightly lower average age than juvenile groups assigned to standard parole.

<u>Discussion</u>: These findings indicate that juveniles should not be released from confinement without appropriate supervision. State laws should be amended to allow for the supervision of youthful offenders who have been con-

		The Inde
		Controlling for Geog
ADDENDUM TO CHAPTER 3		DEFINITION (relative to imprisonme
		Failure Abscond
DECORCOTAN MANAGEMENT AND THE MUM ANALY MANA		
REGRESSION EQUATIONS USED IN THE ANALYSIS		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction
JUVENILES	\bigcirc	<pre>Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new tion or technical offed)</pre>
JUVENILES	0	Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new tion or technical offer INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new tion or technical offe INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> <u>INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION</u> (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Per
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program No Supervision
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months)
LEGRESSION EQUATIONS USED IN THE ANALYSIS JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new tion or technical offer INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S.: New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central
REGRESSION EQUATIONS USED IN THE ANALYSIS JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific
JUVENILES		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain <u>Pacific</u> O DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1900's; 3=19
		Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new <u>tion or technical offe</u> INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pr "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program <u>No Supervision</u> LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S.: New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain <u>Pacific</u> O DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1900's; 3=19 *Significant at .05 leve

Table 3-9

Regression Equation: lependent Impact of Correctional System Location on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism c Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, ographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ALL GROUPS

Multiple	R	.61
R Square		.37
Adjusted	R Square	.37
Standard	Error	16.94
(Const	tant = 42	.59)

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
ent				
l offense) ew convic- fense)	35.89 13.34 30.12 5.34 11.88 12.24	2.15 1.98 2.08 2.76 1.77 2.00	.48 .28 .48 .05 .25 .19	277.69* 45.29* 207.30* 3.86* 44.81* 37.42*
probation)				
	-7.28 9.43 15.63 -11.85	1.86 1.59 ♡ 1.13 3.56	08 .14 .36 06	15.32* 35.07* 190.15* 11.07*
	8.35 3.28 7.52 24.54	2.85 7.09 1.92	.05 .01 .08	8.57* .22 15.28*
W-UP	.30	.03	.16	<u>68.07*</u> 119.03*
& Canada)				
	-2.87 -9.05 -13.34 -9.35 -10.16	3.01 2.71 2.35 2.37 2.64	02 10 21 17	.91 11.19* 32.28* 15.56*
	-12.75 -2.05 2.06	6.20 3.02 2.22	04 02 .05	14.83* 4.22* .46 .86
.970's)	-1.38	.87	03	2.49

122

el.

Table 3-10

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternative to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PROBATION VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.36
Standard Error	15.74
(Constant = 54.	66)
and the second	

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	21.15	3.42	.34	38.17*
Abscond	-4.96	3.45	12	2.07
Re-Arrest	17.67	3.52	.33	25.24*
Re-Conviction	-4.62	4.18	05	1.22
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-3.00	3.50	06	.74
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-4.80	3.68	07	1.70
tion or technical offense)				
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-11.07	1.94	18	32.42*
Group Home, PPC	6.66	1.76	.14	14.34*
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1.4	۵).	20	10.70*
(months)	• 1 4	•04	720	12.17.
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(comared to other U.S. & Canada)	\sim $>$			
New England	-3.65	4.79	.02	.58
Mid-Atlantic	-11.68	3.35	14	12.16*
East-North Central	-20.99	2.97	32	49.98*
West-North Central	-4.50	3.08	06	2.13
South Atlantic	-3.89	3.22	09	1.46
East-South Central	-21.68	9.53	06	5.17*
Mountain	-6.26	4.00	05	2.45
Pacific	-5.38	2.85	13	3.57
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.60	1.29	07	4.04*

*Significant at .05 level.

8

 $\langle \rangle$

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

	R	STD, ERROR	ወርጣል	
DEETNITUTON			DEIA	F RATIO
DEFINITION (malastance)				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
failure	33.35	2.92	.37	130,70*
ADSCOND	21.26	2.58	.32	68.02*
Re-Arrest	33.18	3.00	.45	122.62*
Re-Conviction	4.13	4.18	•03	.98
Imprisonment (technical offense)	16.22	2.02	.35	64.18*
Imprisonment (either new convic-	18.67	2.46	.31	57.61*
tion or technical offense)				
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-23.08	4.13	16	31.20*
Halfway House	-6.68	2.91	06	5.26*
Parole Program	-7.22	1.92		14.09*
Early Release	-7.33	3.57	. 06	4 22*
Maximum Sentence	7.07	7.03	- 02	1 01
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				1.01
(months)	• 56	•04	.34	171.10*
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	8.36	4.47	08	3 /0
Mid-Atlantic	83	4.49	C.00	J.49 02
East-North Central	-1.67	4.04	- 03	•U3 17
West-North Central	- 69	3.08	01	• 1/
South Atlantic	9,80	5.00	.01	•03
East-South Central	1 73	8 07	.00	5.21
Mountain	4 18	4 75	•01 •04	•05
Pacific	14 00	4.75	•04	./8
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	17,70	J.00	.32	14./5*
(1=<1960: 2=1960's: 3=1970's)	-1.08	1.19	03	.82
0				

5

3-50

3-51

Table 3-11

1

0

JUVENILES -- PAROLE VS. ITS ALTERNATIVES

Multiple	R	.68
R Square		.47
Adjusted	R Square	.46
Standard	Error	16.61
(Const	tant = 19.	.87)

0

 \bigcirc

٦)

3-52

Table 3-12

Summary of Regression Equations:⁹ The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on Each Definition of Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected Juveniles

	B e TOTAL F	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE– ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	IMPRIS./ TECH.	IMPRIS./ NEW CONV.	IMPRIS./ EITHER
PROBATION	BASE							
"SHOCK" PROBATION	-12.63 1.89 44.33*	17.17 10.61 2.61	8.82 15.19 .34	-23.80 4.12 33.37*		-14.22 2.60 29.91*	-8.88 10.13 .77	-22.67 11.20 4.11*
GROUP HOME, PPC	9.81 1.49 42.86*	2.60 7.61 .12	10.17 4.53 5.03*	29.00 4.30 45.38*	23.86 4.20 32.09*	43 2.37 .03	7.38 10.47 .50	14.13 6.80 4.31*

*Significant at .05 level.

⁹Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

C

19

Table 3-13

Summary of Regression Equations:10 The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on Each Definition of Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected Juveniles

	B e F T	TOTAL	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE– ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	IMPRIS./ TECH.	IMPRIS./ NEW CONV.	IMPRIS./ EITHER
PAROLE		BASE				•			
WORK RELEASE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-23.86 3.71 41.39*	-4.43 25.07 .03	-30.51 7.46 16.73*	-45.05 6.53 47.65*				-20.65 19.14 1.16
HALFWAY HOUSE	•	-7.04 2.96 5.64*	-42.49 21.91 3.76	-8.90 6.35 1.97	-7.62 15.44 .24	25.42 17.42 2.13	-8.02 4.59 3.06	24.12 8.42 8.20*	2.29 17.47 .02
EARLY RELEASE		-6.28 7.39 .72	-16.56 12.46 1.76	-25.81 19.43 1.77		9699 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 - 2019 -	-13.21 12.45 1.13		
PAROLE PROGRAM		4.11 1.92 4.60*	-55.37 46.91 1.39	-6.09 4.66 1.71	2.60 17.25 .02	33 11.78 .00	6.04 2.60 5.39*	-54.73 6.31 75.25*	-19.72 5.03 15.39*
NO SUPERVISIO	N	17.09 3.42 24.96*			14.80 10.37 1.84	10.91 13.48 .66			

*Significant at .05 level.

10Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

° 3–24

Table 3-14

The Overall Impact of Innovative Correctional Treatment Within the Context of Various Criminal Justice System Locations Summary Regression Equation Datall

Juveniles

2 ⁴		B	e	F
				ج د د
Court Supervision:			8 8 0	
Standard Probation Shock Probation Group Home, PPC	с. 	3.38 -14.57 -2.45	2.00 7.33 5.94	12.85* 3.95* .17

Correctional Supervision:

1)

d J J Damala		.45	1.69	.07
Standard Parole	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	(too for one	as to compute	equation)
Work Study	2 M	(LOO TEW Cas	12 0/	74
Halfway House	s .	-10.34	12.04	
Early Release		(too few cas	es to compute	equation)
Parole Programs	the second se	-4.95	3.38	2.15
No Supervision A	After Serving Maximum	5.89	4.51	4.51*
Sentence	9 O. 4	4	, e	e

*Significant at .05 level.

C

11Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

୍ତ

PROPORTION OF:Shock Prob. PProb.Work Prob. Property (Compared to Stan. Prob.)Work Halfway Early Early (Compared to Standard Parole)Maxo Maxo (Compared to Standard Parole)Property OffenseI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.+++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.+++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.WhiteN.S.I.D.N.S.I.DAverage Age-+N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.++-Broken FamilyI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.++H.S. GraduateI.D++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.++D.N.S.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.I.D.NiS.=Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternativeNiS.=No significant difference on this characteristicL.D.==Specified alternativeL.D.==Specified alternativeL.D.== <td< th=""><th>0</th><th>COURT SU</th><th>JPERV.</th><th></th><th>CORRECT</th><th>TIONAL SUPE</th><th>RVISION</th><th>₽ ÷¢² ·</th></td<>	0	COURT SU	JPERV.		CORRECT	TIONAL SUPE	RVISION	₽ ÷¢ ² ·
(Compared to Stan. Prob.)Property OffenseI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.++++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.WhiteN.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.WhiteN.S.I.D.N.S.I.DAverage Age-+N.S.H.D.++-Broken FamilyI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.H.S. GraduateI.D++N.S.I.D.I.D.S.E.S.I.D++-I.D.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.N.S.N.S.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D. <td< th=""><th>PROPORTION OF:</th><th>Shock Prob.</th><th>PPC</th><th>Work Study</th><th>Halfway House</th><th>Early <u>Release</u></th><th>Special Parole</th><th>Maxout</th></td<>	PROPORTION OF:	Shock Prob.	PPC	Work Study	Halfway House	Early <u>Release</u>	Special Parole	Maxout
Property OffenseI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.++++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.++++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.WhiteN.S.I.D.N.S.I.DAverage Age-+N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.++-Broken FamilyI.D.N.S.I.D.NoS.I.D.I.D.+H.S. GraduateI.D++N.S.I.D.I.D.+S.E.S.I.D++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.I.D.KEY:+= Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternativeN.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic.I.DMultiple Convolutional ActiveMarcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+-I.D.N.S.N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristicMultiple Convolutional ActivitiesN.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic		(Compared Stan. H	l to Prob.)		(Compared	to Standar	d Parole)	
Property OffenseI.D.N.S.I.D.N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.I.D.Multiple ConvictionsI.D.++++N.S.I.D.I.D.I.D.I.D.WhiteN.S.I.D.N.S.I.DAverage Age-+N.S.I.D.N.S.I.DAverage Age-+N.S.++I.D.++-Broken FamilyI.D.N.S.I.D.NoS.I.D.++-H.S. GraduateI.D++N.S.I.D.I.D.+N.S.I.D++-I.D.I.D.1.D.S.E.S.I.D++-I.D.I.D.I.D.Narcotics HistoryN.S.N.S.I.D.+I.D.N.S.I.D.KEY:+= Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternativeSpecified alternative.N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic.I.DI.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic	2. 						<i>1</i>	
Multiple Convictions I.D. ++ ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. I.D. White N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Average Age - + N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Average Age - + N.S. ++ I.D. ++ - Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. ++ - H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + N.S. I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. * = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. I.D. <t< td=""><td>Property Offense</td><td>I.D.</td><td>N.S.</td><td>I.D.</td><td>N.S.</td><td>I.D.</td><td>I.D.⁽⁶⁾</td><td>I.D.</td></t<>	Property Offense	I.D.	N.S.	I.D.	N.S.	I.D.	I.D. ⁽⁶⁾	I.D.
Multiple Convictions I.D. ++ ++ N.S. I.D. I.D		n	a. 		<i>5</i> ,	≂ 	34 - 1 1	·* · ·
White N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Average Age - + N.S. H.D. ++ Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. NoS. I.D. ++ Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. NoS. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + S.E.S. I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Marcotics History N.S. N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Marcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. - = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No	Multiple Convictions	I.D.	++		N.S.	I.D.	I.D.	I.D.
White N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Average Age - + N.S. + I.D. ++ Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. ++ H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + S.E.S. I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. VEV: + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>6 6 4 20</td> <td>о. Э. т. Т.</td> <td>9 9 7 1</td> <td>а. 2</td>					6 6 4 20	о. Э. т.	9 9 7 1	а. 2
Average Age - + N.S. ++ I.D. ++ - Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + S.E.S. I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. <tr< td=""><td>White</td><td></td><td>N.S.</td><td>1.D.</td><td>N.S.</td><td>T•D•</td><td></td><td></td></tr<>	White		N.S.	1.D.	N.S.	T•D•		
Average Age - + N.S. H.S. H.D. Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. I.D. H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. + S.E.S. I.D. ++ - I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. Network - = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. - - - I.D. =	3 4 4			N O	, 1			()
Broken Family I.D. N.S. I.D. N.S. I.D. I.D. + H.S. Graduate I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. S.E.S. I.D. ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. New N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. H = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	Average Age	. .	+ a	N.S.	्र का स्क र	р Т•Ц•	• • •	د چين کې په
H.S. Graduate I.D ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. S.E.S. I.D ++ - I.D. I.D. I.D. I.D Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D <u>KEY:</u> + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	Broken Family	Ĩ.D.	N.S.	L,D.	NoS.	I.D.	I.D.	а в 1 1 4 8
H.S. Graduate I.D ++ N.S. I.D. I.D. I.D. S.E.S. I.D ++ - I.D. I.D. I.D. I.D Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D + I.D. N.S. I.D <u>KEY:</u> + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.		20 20				đe la s		
S.E.S. I.D ++ - I.D. I.D. I.D. I.D. <u>Narcotics History</u> N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D <u>KEY:</u> + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	H.S. Graduate	1.D.		++	N.S.	I.D.	I.D.	I.D.
Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D. KEY: + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	e F e	T.D	هيني هن (في نُفي ا	44		I.D.	I.D.	I.D.
Narcotics History N.S. N.S. I.D. + I.D. N.S. I.D <u>KEY:</u> + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.			* 0 8 0 			8	3 2	
KEY: + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. L.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	Narcotics History	N.S.	N.S.	I.D.	+ * • •	3 I.D.	N.S.	, I.D.
KEY: + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. L.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	and the second s	۵ پر رو م		G	·			•
 + = Specified alternative has a greater proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. - = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic. 	<u>Key:</u>	n 	e 4	3	οι α.θ 	45) A ()		9 57 21
<pre>specified alternative = Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.</pre>	+ = Specified	alternativ	ve has a	a greater	proportion	of individu	als with th	ıê .
 Specified alternative has a smaller proportion of individuals with the specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic. 	specified	alternativ	ve.				à. Ö	
specified alternative. N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	- = Specified	alternati	ve has a	a smaller	proportion	of individu	als with th	ne 🐰
N.S. = No significant difference on this characteristic. I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	specified	alternati	ve.	e e		о 	ୁର୍ବ ବ	ng ra 1920 Ng
I.D. = Insufficient data to evaluate differences on this characteristic.	N.S. = No signif	icant diff	erence	on this cl	naracteristi	с.	. 97 19	19 19
	I.D. = Insuffici	ent data t	o evalua	ate diffe	rences on th	is characte	° ristic.	
	z (j	19 - 11 - 11 19	99 2				0 7	e
			10 e		1971 - C. 1971 -			

Table 3-15

Summary of Differences in Juvenile Group Background Characteristics: Alternate Assignments Compared to Standard Intervention¹²

2

CHAPTER 4

INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS

During the past 20 years a variety of additional resources have been added to the mandated supervisory system discussed in Chapter 3. Five primary intervention strategies were identified in the literature: resources interventions, social work interventions, psychotherapeutic and medical methods, and administrative techniques. This chapter addresses the efficacy of these modifications of the mandated system.

Although innovative intervention has traditionally been separated from mandated intervention, the distinction between the two is an arbitrary one. In fact, many similarities exist. For example, idministrative interventions such as intensive and reduced supervision are simply modifications of mandated probation or parole supervision. Other innovative strategies such as social work or resource assistance, are added to the existing supervisory system. But similar to the mandated interventions, they are also attempts to control offender behavior. The main difference between mandated and innovative alternatives is a legal one. Whereas all offenders are placed within one of the mandated interventions, innovative intervention is administered to only a segment of the offender population. It is necessary, therefore, to view innovative treatment not in isolation, but rather as additional intervention administered within the context of one of the mandated correctional interventions discussed in Chapter 3.

Distribution of Treatment Modalities

C

Central to the issue of treatment efficacy is the assumption that offer ders can be rehabilitated if the variables that underlie criminal behavior can

4-1

be identified and controlled. All of the behavioral science disciplines have theories which attempt to explain criminal behavior in these terms. As a result of this multiplicity of theories, a number of treatment modalities, each consisting of separate but theoretically related interventions, have emerged. Six major treatment modalities were identified in the literature we studied: Resource interventions, which are based on theories that explain crime in terms of blocked access to the opportunity structure (Merton, 1968; Cloward and Ohlin, 1961). Social work strategies, based on the notion that the social environment and peer group associations are the primary facilitators of criminal behavior. The theory underlying psychotherapeutic interventions is that psychoemotional maladaptation is the taproot of crime. Many theories including Hogan (1973) and Kohlberg's (1964) theories of moral development, Mead's (1934) theory of shared meaning in group, Bandurawand Walter's learning theory (1963) and Skinner's theory of behavior modification (1963) have contributed to this modality. Medical methods focus on specific, medically related problems of offenders, including drug addiction. Residential interventions, which place heavy emphasis on the mileau in which treatment occurs, utilize a comprehensive treatment approach drawing from all the theories mentioned above. Only administrative interventions such as reduced and intensive supervision, are based more on the practical allocation of resources than to behavioral science theory, although various implicit theoretical links could be made to intensive supervision.

The relative distribution of each treatment modality is presented in Tables 4-1 and 4-2. For adults (15% of whom received some form of innovative treatment), the majority of treatment strategies involve modification of the standard forms of supervision. These include the administrative interventions, which were administered to 26% of those receiving added treatment, as well as

4-2

 $\left(\right)$

Table 4-1

C

C

4-3

Distribution of Treatment Interventions by Treatment Modality Classification

Adults

	N of <u>Groups</u>		N of <u>Individuals</u>		
Resource Interventions		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -			
Financial Aid	28		9,610	÷.,	
Job Training	51		7,309		
Job Placement	34		4,918		
Education	75		7,069		
Vocational Training	139		9,856	105	
Total	327	22%	38,762	18%	
Social Work Interventions	115		40 716		
Specialized Supervision	101		7 610		
Non-Supervisory Assistance	121		1 288	1. 1. j.	
Non-Professional Group Counseling	45		4,500		
Contract Programming		214	54 103	25%	
Total	211	216	74,107	2.270	
Group Therapy Behavior Modification Total	44 77	5%	7,435	4%	
Posidontial Interventions					
Permissive Residential	123		18,241		
Non-Permissive Residential	59		11,546		
Special Prisons	91		6,755		
Total	273	17%	36,542	17%	
]	
			0		
Administrative interventions	101	g	27,905		
Reduced Supervision	280		37.229		
Intensive Supervision	381	26%	65,134	30%	
LUCAL					
Medical Methods	93	6%	12,365	6%	
	<u>n</u>		<u> </u>		
TOTAL N TREATED	1,462	ŋ	215,765		

0. .

Distribution of Tr

()

 $\langle \rangle$

Resource Intervent: Financial Aid Job Training Job Placement Education Vocational Train: Total

Social Work Interve Specialized Super Non-Supervisory Non-Professional Contract Program Total

Psychotherapeutic Individual Psycho Group Therapy Behavior Modifica Total

Residential Interve Permissive Reside Non-Permissive Re Special Prisons Total

Administrative Intervise Reduced Supervise Intensive Superve Total

Medical Methods Total

TOTAL N TREATED

0

. 0

Table 4-2

reatment	Interventions	by	Treatment	Modality	Class	ification

Juveniles				
	N of Groups	3	N of Individual	Ls
ions				
ing	30 17 145 <u>16</u> 208	32%	2,865 1,716 19,668 3,172 27,421	39%
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				•
ventions ervision Assistance Group Counseling ming	16 22 13 <u>6</u> 57	9%	472 2,044 384 177 3,077	4%
Interventions otherapeutic Assistance ation	21 15 9 45	7%	1,070 4,010 1,661 6,741	9%
ventions lential cesidential	133 49 <u>46</u> 228	35%	10,915 2,705 <u>4,147</u> 17,767	25%
erventions sion vision	<u></u> <u>119</u> 119	18%	<u>16,021</u> 16,021	23%
	₩			
	657		71,027	

Encrous by

the social work strategies, which account for an additional 21%. Various forms of residential programs account for 17% of the treated groups and resource interventions account for an additional 22%. Medical and psychotherapeutic methods account for the remaining treated groups, comprising 6% and 5% of the total, respectively.

For juveniles (31% of whom received some form of innovative treatment), residential programs are most often reported in the literature and comprise 35% of the treated groups. Thirty-two percent of the treated juvenile groups received some form of resource intervention, and an additional 9% received social work assistance. Administrative interventions account for 18% of the juvenile groups that were treated, and the remaining 7% received some form of psychotherapeutic intervention.

Analytic Procedure¹

The purpose of our analysis was to assess the efficacy of each specific intervention as well as each general modality in order to discern trends in the effectiveness of innovative treatment methods. The analysis proceeded along lines similar to our analysis of the mandated alternatives, with the exception that the criminal justice location in which additional treatment was administered was taken into account in the regression equations that were computed. As was the case with the mandated alternatives, each intervention was analyzed in terms of its impact across the various outcome criteria used to measure recidivism. The equations that were computed take the main factors we found to be associated with variation in the reported rate of recidivism into

1For a more detailed description of the procedures used in this study see Chapter 2. account; length of time in follow-up; the decade and geographic location where the data were collected; and the location of the group within the correctional system.² While we were able to take these factors into account in isolating the variation uniquely attributable to each treatment method, we were unable to take the characteristics of the individuals who comprise the groups into account in the regression equations because they are not reported often enough in the literature. If the characteristics of individuals comprising the treated and non-treated groups are different, and if these differences are related to the probability of recidivism, then the differences we found in the rate of recidivism between treated and non-treated groups could be attributed to this fact as opposed to the intervention itself. However, in our analysis of available background data we found no evidence to suggest that the differential assignment of certain types of offenders to treatment confounds the interpretability of the differences observed in the rate of recidivism between treated and non-treated groups.³ Although we did find some differences between treated and non-treated groups in terms of their social and criminal histories, these differences were slight. Furthermore, where differences did exist, they are not consistent, at times suggesting that treated groups may have a tendency toward higher rates of recidivism, and on other occasions suggesting that treated groups may be comprised of individuals possessing characteristics commonly thought to be associated with lower rates of recidivism. But perhaps most importantly, we found that the characteristics commonly associated with higher rates of recidivism were only slightly related to the probability of

2Relevant portions of the equations have been abstracted and included in the text of this report. Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

³See Appendix H for details of our analysis of differences in composition between treated and non-treated groups.

4-6

()

()

recidivism: groups comprised of individuals with multiple convictions, coming from broken families, with less than a high school education, were only slightly more likely to recidivate than groups coming from backgrounds commonly thought to be more favorable.⁴ This evidence suggests that the small differences we found between treated and non-treated groups does not substantially effect the interpretation of our findings, which are presented on the pages that follow.⁵

()

()

().

4This issue of whether some offenders are more "at risk" than others is related to the issue of offender <u>amenability</u>. The issue of amenability is primarily concerned with whether or not certain sub-groups of offenders are particularly susceptible to treatment or can be matached to a specific treatment so that treatment effectiveness can be maximized.

The issue is complex for a number of reasons. First is the operationalization of the concept itself. Some theorists contend that the efficacy of programs is largely contingent on the match between the programs and the individuals who are being rehabilitated. Unfortunately, attempts to determine which offenders are amenable to what treatment(s) have had little success. A large part of the problem lies in the fact that if we could determine which offenders were amenable to treatment, we could also determine which treatments "work." The National Research Council's Panel on Rehabilitation concluded that the notion that some kinds of offenders could be treated under certain conditions (i.e. are more "amenable") has serious shortcomings in that being able to differentiate between amenable and non-amenable offenders implies a theory of criminal recidivism that has yet to be developed.

The second problem with amenability is its application. Even if it were possible to determine which offenders are amenable to what treatment, it is unlikely that correctional institutions would have the resources to provide for effective matching of individual offenders to individualized programs.

This does not imply that the concept of amenability is unimportant, but rather that until the concept can be adequately measured, no assumptions about which offenders are more amenable than others can be made. The possibility of both amenable and non-amenable offenders must be kept in mind in the assessment of this research.

⁵Because there is a slight relationship between the social and criminal histories of individuals and the inherent risk of recidivism, we have included this information about the groups in the text of the report.

ANALYSIS OF INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS FOR ADULTS

1

RESOURCE INTERVENTIONS

The resources interventions for adults, including financial aid, vocational and job training, job placement and education, are designed to provide offenders with the skills and personal resources necessary to function productively within mainstream society. The theoretical justification for these interventions arises from the work of Merton (1937; 1968) and Cloward and Ohlin (1961), which suggests that crime is committed by individuals who are blocked from the opportunity structure and in turn align themselves with deviant subcultures. It is believed that by providing skills and resources to aid offenders in becoming more productive members of the larger social structure, they will no longer have the need to commit crime.

Evaluations of the impact of these interventions on recidivism have largely been inconsistent and inconclusive. Early studies on the impact of vocational and job training indicated that these treatments had little impact on the rate of recidivism (Matthews, 1970), but a more broad based evaluation of these programs concluded that vocational training could be effective if insituted properly (McDonnell, 1971). Job placement programs have frequently been evaluated as having a positive effect on the rate of recidivism (Killinger and Archer, 1974; National Council on Crime and Delinquency, 1972) with one program designed to provide education, vocational assessment and job placement for probationers reporting a recidivism rate of under 2 percent (Acquilano, 1972).

The impact of education on recidivism has generally been evaluated as small and not significant (Lipton, et al., 1975), although there is some indication that participants in these programs tend to develop better academic

4-9

lowering recidivism when given to certain kinds of offenders (Lenihan, 1977; Reinerman and Miller, 1973, 1975; Miller and Waldorf, 1973). In many ways, our findings yield results similar to past evaluations. Groups receiving financial aid or job placement programs have consistently lower rates of recidivism. Job training and vocational training are associated with both lower and higher rates of recidivism depending on how recidivism is defined, and the location in which treatment was administered. Groups receiving education tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism. Under a number of conditions, however, there is sufficient inconsistency in the data to preclude any firm conclusion about the efficacy of this intervention. It appears that for adults who have been incarcerated, providing support in the form of direct financial aid or assistance in finding gainful employment can be effective in reducing the rate of recidivism. However, as resources become less direct, the effect is less positive. A clear pattern emerges from the analysis of these interventions: education, with the goal of long-term remediation appears least promising of all the resource interventions; vocational training, which is more pragmatic and short-term oriented than educational rehabilitation, produces inconsistent results; job training, even more specific and immediate in its approaches, produces slightly inconsistent but generally favorable trends; and the direct provision of economic resources are most successful of all. It should be recognized that skill development programs vary consider-

ably with respect to the skills that are taught and the resources that are applied to the task. Job training may be more effective than vocational training and education because it requires fewer resources. The local economic environment in which these resources are applied also needs careful consideration.

skills. Financial aid has generally been evaluated as having the effect of

4-10

()

()

Training offenders for vocations in which they are unlikely to find employment may serve to frustrate raised expectations and result in a reversion to criminal activity. Further investigation of resource interventions should focus on sorting out the complex interaction between skill development, program integrity and the local economic environment. It should be recognized, however, that any form of long-term skill development may not be a viable strategy. Rather, the focus of correctional intervention might better be placed on assisting offenders reintegrate into society through the provision of practical, short-term, concrete resources.

6

()

C

The details of our analysis of each specific resource treatment follow.

A stipend similar to unemployment insurance is given to paroled offenders for periods varying from 6 to 24 weeks after release from prison, in order to ease financial strain during the transition back into the community. Overall Impact: Groups receiving financial assistance are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this intervention. Lower rates of re-arrest (B=-21.99), re-imprisonment for a technical offense (B=-14.05) and abscond (B=-10.04), are reported in the literature. Specific Location Analysis: This intervention has been studied only among groups that have been imprisoned and released to special parole programs. Within this context, consistently lower rates of recidivism have been reported

(B=-9.12).

 \bigcirc

()

 $\langle \rangle$

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Available data indicate that groups receiving financial assistance tend to have a higher proportion of property offenders than adult groups not receiving this intervention.

SA.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Table 4-3

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations

4-13

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE -- 28 Groups

	<u> </u>		, <u> </u>
GENERAL EQUATION	-6.56	2.37	7.63*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	•		
Failure	4.21	6.59	.41
Abscond	-10.04	3.83	6.86*
Re-Arrest	-21.99	5.91	13.86*
Re-Conviction		6 (C)	
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-14.05	5.46	6.61*
Imprisonment (either new convic-		а н ц	
tion or technical offense)		0 2 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	9 × 1
tion or technical offense)		0 2 3 3 3 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	9 9 0 0
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock			6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC			
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole			
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release	0 **** **** ****		
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release Halfway House			
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release Halfway House Early Release		Q 2 3 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	
tion or technical offense) INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release Halfway House Early Release Parole Program	-9.12	0 5 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	8,60*

*Significant at .05 level.

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n}$

6Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

The purpose of this proskills and work experience the grams, pre-job training, and a are limited to teaching the bacooperative work habits, rule <u>Overall Impact</u>: Studie inconsistent results. There rates and the rate of re-improgroups receiving this treatment considerable variability exist fined as abscond, groups receivant rates of recidivism (B=7.54). <u>Specific Location Analy</u> marily to groups that have been dard parole, work study or have receiving job training within

Specific Location Analysis: This treatment has been administered primarily to groups that have been imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole, work study or halfway houses. The evidence indicates that groups receiving job training within the context of the halfway house have lower rates of recidivism than groups in this location not receiving this intervention. -Insufficient evidence exists to determine the efficacy of this intervention when administered in other locations within the criminal justice system. Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

analysis.

()

JOB TRAINING

The purpose of this program is to provide offenders with marketable skills and work experience through on-the-job training, institutional work programs, pre-job training, and sheltered employment. The goals of job training are limited to teaching the basic skills related to job retention, such as cooperative work habits, rule adherence and deference to authority.

<u>Overall Impact</u>: Studies of groups receiving job training have yielded inconsistent results. There is considerable evidence to suggest that re-arrest rates and the rate of re-imprisonment for technical violations are lower for groups receiving this treatment (B=-22.33, B=-9.43, respectively). However, considerable variability exists around these averages. When recidivism is defined as abscond, groups receiving job training are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=7.54).

Table 4-4

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations7

JOB TRAINING -- 51 Groups

(.)			
	<u>B</u>	e	F
GENERAL EQUATION	.04	1.77	.00
DEETNITION OF DECIDIUTON	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		
Failure	16 20	12 00	1 57
Abscond	7 54	2 25	11 20+
Re-Arrest	_22 33	10 5/	11.20*
Re-Conviction	7 57	7 90	4.49*
Imprisoument (technical offense)	-0 /3	7.03	• 94
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-2.43	2.40	J.21
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-1.22	J.09	.11
tion or technical offense)			
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation Shock	-10.44	10.26	1.04
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	4.45	3.64	1.49
Work Release	4.69	.10	1.31
Halfway House	-10.49	4.49	5.44*
Early Release	4 Jan 1997		
Parole Program			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Maximum Sentence			
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

⁷Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

Job placement for potential employ for offenders, part <u>Overall Impa</u> sistently lower rat lower rates of re-a -18.61). <u>Specific Loc</u> text of a halfway have (B=-30.18) than grow ing this treatment have similar rates <u>Differential</u>

()

()

<u>Specific Location Analysis</u>: Groups receiving job placement in the context of a halfway house are associated with much lower rates of recidivism (B=-30.18) than groups not receiving this assistance. However, groups receiving this treatment within the context of standard probation or parole programs have similar rates of recidivism to groups not receiving this treatment. <u>Differential Assignment to Treatment</u>: Most of the data for adults receiving job placement is insufficient, and where sufficient data exists for socio-economic status and race, no significant differences in background characteristics were found between adults assigned to this treatment and other groups of offenders in the criminal justice system.

JOB PLACEMENT

Job placement programs teach basic job search skills and provide leads for potential employment. Although the ultimate goal is to find employment for offenders, participation does not guarantee a job.

Overall Impact: Groups receiving job placement are associated with consistently lower rates of recidivism. This is primarily due to the consistently lower rates of re-arrest reported for groups receiving this intervention (B=

Table 4-5

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations⁸

JOB PLACEMENT -- 37 Groups

	<u></u>	<u>e</u>	
GENERAL EQUATION	-7.71	2.02	14.52*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure			
Abscond	-7.17	6.12	1.37
Re-Arrest	-18.61	3.90	22.72*
Re-Conviction	3.11	5.55	.31
Imprisonment (technical offense) Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	-3.46	4.30	.65
TNETTUTIONAL LOCATION			2
Standard Probation	2.29	4.63	.25
Shock			
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole		2,25	20136 1
Work Release			
Halfway House	-29.18	5.03	36.00*
Early Release			
Parole Program	92	4.17	.05
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

C

8Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

()

()

shop trades.

Overall Impact: Studies of groups receiving vocational training have yielded inconsistent findings. Groups receiving this assistance tend to have higher rates of re-imprisonment for new convictions and higher rates of absconding, but consistently lower re-arrest rates. Other outcome criteria have also yielded inconsistent findings.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adult groups assigned to vocational training tend to have a much higher proportion of property offenders, multiple offenders and non-whites and have a somewhat lower average age. Insufficient data for analysis exists concerning broken families, education, class and narcotics history.

 \bigcirc

0

VOCATIONAL TRAINING

Vocational training programs are designed to provide offenders with a marketable skill such as automotive mechanics, carpentry and various machine

Specific Location Analysis: Vocational training has been studied only among groups that have been imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole, halfway houses or work study programs. In each of these contexts, no consistent impact on the rate of recidivism has been reported.

Table 4-6

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations⁹

VOCATIONAL IRAL	NING - 140 0100		
	<u></u>	<u>e</u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	.76	1.03	.54
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical offense) Imprisonment (new conviction) Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	6.36 18.21 -11.67 14.85 38 4.74 3.29	3.34 4.65 3.33 9.71 2.09 1.57 2.83	3.62 15.32* 12.28* 2.34 .03 9.12* 1.35
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release Halfway House Early Release Parole Program	1.45 18.16 -5.94	.92 15.67 9.88	2.49 1.34 .36
Maximum Sentence			

VOCATIONAL TRAINING -- 140 Groups

*Significant at .05 level.

 \bigcirc

C

9Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

inconsistent results. ceiving this intervention.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adult groups receiving education have many more first offenders than adult groups not receiving this treatment. In addition, they tend to be white, high school graduates, and come from a higher socio-economic status, and are less likely to have any narcotics history than groups receiving other forms of treatment.

0

 $\langle \rangle$

()

EDUCATION

Education programs provide offenders with additional schooling in order to facilitate social and economic re-integration into society. The level of remediation varies from program to program, and includes remedial math and English courses, as well as high school equivalency and college level courses. <u>Overall Impact</u>: Groups receiving education have consistently higher rates of re-imprisonment for either a new conviction or a technical violation or absconding (B=9.16, B=28.54, respectively). Other outcome criteria yield inconsistent results.

Specific Location Analysis: The impact of education has been studied only among adults who have been imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole or work release programs. Groups receiving additional education within the context of work release programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=12.19). When administered to groups on parole, groups receiving education have comparable rates of recidivism to groups on parole not receiving this intervention.
Table 4-7

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations10

EDUCATION -- 77 Groups

	<u></u>		F
GENERAL EQUATION	1.89	1.47	1.66
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			,
Failure	3.05	3.28	.87
Abscond	28.54	4.67	37.27*
Re-Arrest			
Re-Conviction			
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-12.18	8.18	2.22
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-6.63	4.57	2.11
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technial offense)	9.16	3.65	6.31*
INSTITUTION LOCATION			
Standard Probation			
Shock			
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	.64	1.64	.15
Work Release	12.19	4.42	7.60*
HALIWAY HOUSE			
Barolo Program			
Laloie Ilogiam Maximum Sentence			
HEATWOM DENCENCE			

*Significant at .05 level.

()

-

C

¹⁰Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

()

()

SOCIAL WORK INTERVENTIONS

Social work strategies are based on the assumption that factors such as the social environment and peer group associations are the primary facilitators of criminal behavior (Mead, 1934; Sutherland and Cressey, 1975). The focus of social work intervention is to enrich the offender's environment in such a way as to facilitate non-criminal behavior. Professional and non-professional staff are assigned to offenders to help clarify their individual needs and motivate them to behave in socially acceptable ways. Non-supervisory assistance and specialized supervision are designed to foster a personal relationship between the offender and a probation/parole officer or a community volunteer. These programs frequently utilize counseling strategies as well as pragmatic efforts aimed at providing offenders with appropriate resources to facilitate re-integration into the community. Non-professional group counseling provides a forum for the development of interpersonal skills and relationships and problem solving techniques. Contract programming attempts to involve offenders directly in determining the terms of their release with the hope of teaching offenders to assume responsibility for their actions.

Prior studies of social work interventions have produced divergent findings. Reviewing a program in Lincoln, Nebraska, Ku, et al. (1975) report that the utilization of paraprofessionals in social work capacities facilitated lower rates of recidivism. Lewis, et al. (1974) and Cannon (1975) report somewhat lower rates of recidivism for offenders who were sponsored by a community member. Conversely, an evaluation by Kassebaum, Ward and Wilner (1971) suggests that group counseling has no impact on the rate of recidivism. Lipton, et al. (1975) concur with the Kassebaum evaluation, and note little impact of

casework interventions on the rate of recidivism when administered within an institutional or community setting.

(

(

To some extent, the data of this study reflect the inconsistencies cited above. Groups receiving non-professional group counseling and non-supervisory assistance report both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on how recidivism is defined and the context in which these interventions are administered. However, contract programming and specialized supervision yield optimistic outcomes: both these interventions are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism for adult offenders. The trends also indicate that all social work interventions have a positive impact when administered to offenders who have been incarcerated, with the exception of non-professional group counseling which is ineffective in this context.

Given these findings, the use of social work strategies for offenders who have been incarcerated appears promising. Special considerations should be given to contract programming because of its low cost and high effectiveness, as well as to individualized problem solving assistance in the form of specialized supervision for offenders returning to society.

This treatment employs the use of non-professionals as leaders in counseling groups. The dynamics of group interaction are utilized to facilitate change in offenders' attitudes and behavior as well as to aid in the development of interpersonal communication skills. The focus of the group may be problem-solving or insight oriented, although unlike group therapy, there is no emphasis on underlying subconscious motivation. Overall Impact: Studies of groups that were administered non-profes-

sional group counseling have yielded inconsistent results. Groups administered this treatment have higher rates of failure and re-imprisonment for a technical violation or a new conviction (B=30.29, B=19.37, respectively), but lower rearrest rates (B=-6.83). Therefore no firm judgment can be made about the efficacy of this program for adults.

()

()

()

Specific Location Analysis: Groups receiving non-professional group counseling within the context of standard parole are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=8.53). There is no significant difference in the rate of recidivism between groups receiving this treatment in the context of the group home and groups not receiving this treatment in this context. The effectiveness of non-professional group counseling has been studied too infrequently in the context of standard probation and special parole programs to draw any conclusion.

system.

4-23

NON-PROFESSIONAL GROUP COUNSELING

4-24

Differential Assignment to Treatment: We found that groups receiving non-professional group counseling tend to have a much higher proportion of property offenders, a somewhat lower proportion of multiple offenders, and were significantly younger in age than other groups in the criminal justice

4-25

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations11

NON-PROFESSIONAL GROUP COUNSELING -- 45 Groups

	R	Δ	Ŧ
	D		·····
GENERAL EQUATION	1.84	1.93	.90
ADDIVITION OF DECIDIVICM			
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	30.29	9.40	10.39*
rallure	5.04	4.06	1.54
Abscond	-6.83	5.53	9.24*
Re-Allest Po-Conviction	7.40	5.51	1.80
Terriconment (technical offense)	.89	5.58	.03
Imprisonment (new conviction)	8.58	5,53	2.41
Imprisonment (either new convic-	19.37	5.59	11.99*
tion or technical offense)			
τΝεφταμφτοικάτ τοράφτοι			
Standard Probation	-15.77	14.66	1.16
Shock			
Group Home, PPC	2.41	4.74	.26
Standard Parole	8.53	2.27	14.17*
Work Release			
Halfway House			
Early Release			·
Parole Program	8.24	8.52	.93

*Significant at .05 level.

C

11Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

()

()

 \cap

Specialized supervision is designed to foster a personal relationship between the offender and a probation/parole officer or a community volunteer. This program frequently utilizes counseling strategies as well as pragmatic efforts aimed at providing offenders with appropriate resources to facilitate re-integration into the community. It is believed that becoming involved in a one to one relationship with a person who is concerned with his welfare the offender will change his attitudes and "unlearn" maladaptive behavioral patterns.

Overall Impact: Groups receiving specialized supervision tend to be associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this intervention. This is primarily due to the consistently lower rates of failure (B=-42.00) and re-imprisonment for a technical offense (B=-6.60).

Specific Location Analysis: Specialized supervision has only been studied among adults who have been imprisoned. The program has been most frequently studied among adults released to parole programs. When administered in this context, groups receiving this treatment are associated with consistently lower rates of recidivism (B=-7.54). Specialized supervision has been studied too infrequently within the context of halfway houses and standard parole for any firm conclusion to be drawn about its efficacy under these conditions.

analysis.

SPECIALIZED SUPERVISION

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

4-27

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹²

SPECIALIZED SUPERVISION -- 115 Groups

•			
C	<u></u>	e	F
GENERAL EQUATION	-3.06	1.28	5.72*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure	-42.00	15.41	7.43*
Abscond	-2.24	3.13	.51
Re-Arrest	-3.34	5.15	.42
Re-Conviction	-7.88	9.78	.65
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-6.60	2.54	6.75*
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-1.80	1.97	.83
Imprisonment (either new convic-	1.69	12.68	.02
tion or technical offense)			
Standard Probation			
Shock			
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	24	10.29	.00
Work Release	0	78	
Halfway House	-16.07	15.74	1.04
Early Release		G _{in}	
Parole Program	-7.54	2.37	10.15*
Maximum Sentence	8.82	8.95	.97

*Significant at .05 level.

()

C

12Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

1)

ment and implementation.

()

()

CONTRACT PROGRAMMING

This program utilizes a legally binding agreement negotiated between the offender and correctional authorities that specifies the conditions for release on parole. The contract is designed to meet individual offenders' needs and to foster a sense of responsibility through participation in the program's develop-

Overall Impact: Groups receiving contract programming are associated with lower rates of recidivism. This is primarily due to the consistently lower reported rates of failure (B=-9.91) and the lower rates of re-imprisonment for technical violations (B=-26.42).

Specific Location Analysis: Contract programming has been studied only among adults who have been imprisoned and released to either halfway houses or standard parole supervision. Within the context of standard parole supervision, groups receiving this program are associated with consistently lower rates of recidivism when compared to groups on standard parole not receiving the program. When this intervention is administered within the context of a halfway house, groups receiving this treatment also tend to be associated with lower recidivism rates. However, there is too much variability around this average for this finding to be statistically stable.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists except for property offenders, race and age where no significant differences were found between those groups assigned to contract programming and other adult groups not receiving this treatment.

4-29

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹³

CONTRACT PROGRAMMING -- 30 Groups

ð	<u> </u>		F
GENERAL EQUATION	-11.54	2.25	26.36*
B Starters		n de la companya de l La companya de la comp	
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	10	1.04	0.004
Failure	-9.91	4.96	3.99*
Abscond	6 10	0 75	Er:
Re-Arrest	-0.19	0.13	2 00
Re-conviction	-26 /2	7.55	12 09*
Imprisonment (new genuiction)	-20.42	·/•U/	T2.30.
Imprisonment (either peu convic-		· · ·	
tion or technical offense)		5	<u>.</u>
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION	•		
Standard Probation			
SHOCK			
Standard Parolo	-12 75	2 72	21 05*
Nork Release		9 4.14	د د د ۲ ۰
Halfway House	-9.13	5.06	3.25
Early Release	5115	5.00	5.25
Parole Program			
Maximum Sentence	9 k		

*Significant at .05 level.

13Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

10)

()

Specific Location Analysis: This program has been administered in a wide variety of settings within the criminal justice system. When administered in the context of standard probation, groups receiving non-supervisory assistance are associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism (B= 13.71). There is a tendency for groups receiving this intervention on parole after imprisonment to have lower rates of recidivism than groups that have been imprisoned and have not received this intervention. However more research along these lines is necessary before any firm conclusion about this program's enficacy in the context of parole can be drawn.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

C

analysis.

NON-SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE

Non-supervisory assistance programs utilize citizen volunteers to assist offenders in developing the skills and personal contacts needed for successful re-integration to the community. Volunteers may assist offenders in locating housing, obtaining employment and in providing the emotional support needed during the offender's transition to free society.

Overall Impact: Studies of groups receiving non-supervisory assistance have yielded inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as re-arrest and imprisonment for a technical offense, groups receiving this treatment are associated with lower recidivism rates (B=-11.64, B=-10.04, respectively). However, when recidivism is measured as failure or abscond, groups receiving this treatment are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=13.31, B= 11.09, respectively). Other outcome criteria, although not statistically stable, also yield inconsistent findings.

Table 4-11

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹⁴

NON-SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE -- 127 Groups

	<u> </u>	e	F
		and Agentic Contractor	
GENERAL EQUATION	2/8	1.15	.06
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure	13.13	5.39	6.10*
Abscond	1.09	1.70	42.35*
Re-Arrest	-11.64	3.31	12.37*
Re-Conviction	-8.70	5.02	3.00
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-10.04	3.01	11.11*
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-4.52	2.68	2.86
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	2.87	3.05	.89
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation Shock	13.71	4.24	10.45*
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	-2.89	1.85	2.45
Work Release	.66	5.20	.02
Halfway House	-5.70	3.06	3.47
Early Release			
Parole Program	-6.54	4.19	2.43
Tarore Hogiam			

*Significant at .05 level.

C

14 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

(⁻)

()

 \mathbf{O}

Psychotherapeutic interventions, including individual psychotherapy and group therapy are based on the assumption that offenders commit crime as a result of a psycho-emotional maladjustment. Many theories including Hogan (1973) and Kohlberg's (1964) theories of moral development, Mead's (1934) theory of shared meaning in groups, and Bandura and Walters' (1963) learning theory have contributed to this rationale. The utilization of individual and group therapy interventions is based on the premise that offenders will be able to change their antisocial behavior if they can explore the experiences, feelings and unconscious motivations behind their criminal acts within a therapeutic environment.

Prior evaluations of psychotherapeutic interventions have yielded inconsistent results. Lipton, et al. (1975) concluded that there was no conclusive evidence to support the efficacy of these techniques, and noted that when dealing with "non-amenable" offenders the result may be to raise the rate of recidivism. Others, however (Carney, 1971; Jew and Clannon, 1972; Jew, Kim and Mattocks, 1975), have concluded that psychotherapeutic interventions can be effective with certain kinds of offenders, under certain conditions. Our findings lend no support to the notion that psychotherapeutic intervention is effective in lowering the rate of recidivism for adult offenders. Psychotherapy and group therapy are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism, regardless of how recidivism is defined and where the treatment was administered.

Given these findings, the programmatic use of analytically oriented psychotherapeutic techniques for adult offenders needs to be reassessed. Not

PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

only are these program costly, but the evidence suggests they may be detrimental. Although it cannot be ascertained whether this effect is directly attributable to the therapy techniques per se or is a consequence of inadequate resources, lack of program integrity, or inaccurate theoretical assumptions, so little support exists for the efficacy of these programs, their continued use does not appear warranted.

上的

(

 \bigcirc

This strategy involves the development of a one to one relationship between an offender and a professional therapist. It is believed that within a therapeutic relationship the offender will be able to explore the experiences, feelings and subconscious motivations that are at the root of his antisocial behavior, and be encouraged to test more socially adaptive coping mechanisms. Unlike psychotherapy in a conventional setting, offenders have no input in the selection of a psychiatrist or psychologist. <u>Overall Impact</u>: Groups receiving individual psychotherapeutic assistance are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. This is primarily due to the substantially higher reported rates of re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction (B=15.58).

<u>Specific Location Analysis</u>: Individual psychotherapy has only been studied among groups who have been imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole supervision. These groups are associated with much higher rates of recidivism (B=17.17) than groups on standard parole that have not received this treatment. <u>Differential Assignment to Treatment</u>: Insufficient data exists for

analysis.

_____ •

()

()

0

4

INDIVIDUAL PSYCHOTHERAPY

Table 4-12

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations15

PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INDIVIDUAL ASSISTANCE -- 33 Groups

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	B	<u>e</u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	18.95	2.33	66.16*
EFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
ailure bscond Re-Arrest	8.47 30.96	8.04 15.31	1.11 4.09*
mprisonment (technical offense) mprisonment (new conviction) mprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	15.58	2.57	36.70*
NSTITUTIONAL LOCATION		<u> </u>	
tandard Probation Shock			
Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Release	17.17	2.02	72.35*
Halfway House			
Parole Program			
laximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

(

0

C

15Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

solving.

()

()

0

Overall Impact: Groups receiving this form of therapy are associated Specific Location Analysis: Group therapy has been studied only among

with higher rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this intervention. Adult groups receiving group therapy have consistently higher rates of reimprisonment for either technical violations or new convictions (B=7.36). groups that have been imprisoned and subsequently released to either standard parole or special parole programs. Although too few groups have been studied within the context of special parole programs to make a firm judgment about the efficacy of this treatment within this context, those groups in group therapy under standard parole supervision have consistently higher rates of recidivism compared to groups on parole not receiving this intervention (B= 4.48).

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data for adults receiving group therapy exists, with the exception of race. It was found that groups receiving group therapy were far more likely to be white. However, since this characteristic is not related to the rate of recidivism for adults, one would not expect any difference between groups receiving group therapy and other groups in relation to the probability of recidivism based on differential assignment of offender types.

GROUP THERAPY

Group therapy, which includes group psychotherapy and small group interactions, utilizes the dynamics of the group to facilitate change in attitudes and behavior, as well as to foster the development of interaction skills. The group may utilize a psycho-social orientation or focus on practical problem

Table 4-13

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹⁶

GROUP THERAPY -- 50 Groups

		·
<u></u>	<u> </u>	F
4.64	1.80	6.65
-6.34	5.06	1.57
10.04	8.03	1.57
10.42	6.76	2.38
3.87	4.61	.70
7.36	2.68	7.52*
4.48	1.66	6.06
		00
-1.96	6.71	.09
	<u>B</u> 4.64 -6.34 10.04 10.42 3.87 7.36 4.48 4.48	$ \underline{B} \underline{e} \\ 4.64 1.80 \\ -6.34 5.06 \\ 10.04 8.03 \\ 10.42 6.76 \\ 3.87 4.61 \\ 7.36 2.68 \\ 4.48 1.66 \\ -1.96 6.71 $

*Significant at .05 level.

C

()

\$(**`)**

 $(\mathbf{)}$

supervision.

The data in this study provide little support for the effectiveness of reduced caseloads: adult groups receiving intensive supervision were associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism, except when administered in the context of special parole programs.

ADMINISTRATIVE INTERVENTIONS

The two administrative interventions for adults, intensive and reduced supervision, are based on opposing strategies and rationales. Reduced supervision, which involves a reduction in the number of contacts between probation/ parole officers and offenders, or an increase in the number of offenders assigned to a supervision officer, is based on the belief that less supervision will not have an detrimental effect on the rate of criminal recidivism. The advantage of such a strategy is lowered cost of offender supervision. Conversely, intensive supervision increases the contact between probation/parole officers and offenders, and hence, raises the cost of supervision. Underlying this intervention is the belief that by providing more personal support and resources to offenders, the rate of recidivism will be reduced.

Prior studies of these strategies have reached differing conclusions. Lipton, et al. (1975) and Greenberg (1977) report that reducing caseload size has little overall impact on the rate of recidivism. In fact, Greenberg suggests that smaller caseloads are associated with higher levels of technical violations arising from closer supervision of offenders. Other evaluations (Jordan and Sasfy, 1974; Sasfy, 1975) suggest that reduced caseloads may be helpful in the reduction of criminal behavior, but the efficacy of such intervention is contingent upon how well offenders' needs are met by the increased

Reduced supervision yielded inconsistent results. Rates of recidivism were reported as being both higher and lower for groups receiving less supervision, depending on how recidivism was defined and the criminal justice system location in which the intervention was applied.

C

()

C

These findings point to several directions that evaluation of these interventions should take. Of special interest is the reduction in the rate of recidivism for offenders administered intensive supervision within the context of a parole program, which may mean that additional resources are necessary if intensive supervision is to be effective. The conflicting data regarding reduced supervision suggests further evaluation on a research by research basis, comparing the impact of this intervention on different outcome criteria.

Since no evidence exists to support the general efficacy of the interventions, their continued use should be carefully monitored.

INTENSIVE SUPERVISION

1

0

 \odot

Intensive supervision is an administrative intervention that increases contact between probation/parole officers and offenders. By reducing the caseloads of probation/parole officers, it is believed that stronger relationships can be developed between the offender and his supervising officer, facilitating both greater security and increased sensitivity to offender needs.

Overall Impact: Groups receiving intensive supervision have consistently higher rates of failure and re-imprisonment for new convictions (B=11.66, B=5.33, respectively).

Specific Location Analysis: Intensive supervision has been studied among adults sentenced to probation, as well as those imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole supervision or special parole programs. Groups receiving intensive supervision on either standard parole or probation are associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism (B=14.13, B=4.56, respectively), when compared to groups in these locations not receiving this intervention. However, when administered within the context of special parole programs, groups receiving intensive supervision have consistently lower rates of recidivism (B=-8.31).

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adult groups receiving intensive supervision tend to be property offenders, with a low proportion of multiple offenders. With respect to social background, these groups tend to come from a slightly higher social class and are also slightly younger.

Table 4-14

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹⁷

INTENSIVE SUPERVISION -- 283 Groups

		·	
	<u></u>	<u> </u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	3.92	.79	24.43*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure	11.66	4.13	7.98*
Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction	2.12	1.77	1.14
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.13	2.02	1.11
Imprisonment (new conviction)	5.33	1.37	15.13*
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	-1.92	5,76	.11
Standard Probation Shock	4.56	1.18	15.02*
Group Home, PPC		0.11	16 004
Standard Parole Work Release Halfway House	14.13	3.44	16.92*
Parole Program Maximum Sentence	-8.31	2.55	10.63*

*Significant at .05 level.

()

C

17 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

supervision. vism (B=9.82).

()

()

0

Specific Location Analysis: Reduced supervision has been studied among groups sentenced to both probation and imprisonment and subsequently released to standard parole, work study or special parole programs. Groups receiving reduced supervision on standard parole are associated with higher rates of recidivism when compared to groups receiving standard parole supervision (B= 5.55). When administered within the context of a parole program, reduced supervision has little or no impact on the rate of recidivism. Widely divergent findings are reported when this intervention is given to adults on work study programs. Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

analysis.

REDUCED SUPERVISION

Reduced supervision is an administrative decision to decrease the amount of contact that the supervising officer has with some offenders, thereby allowing for greater contact with others. Supervising officers assess offenders in their caseload and make a determination concerning which offenders are least likely to recidivate. Offenders deemed less at risk are required to report to their correctional officers less frequently than offenders under standard

Overall Impact: Studies of groups receiving reduced supervision have yielded inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as re-arrest, groups receiving reduced supervision have lower rates of recidivism (B=-17.01). However, when recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for a new conviction, groups receiving this intervention have consistently higher rates of recidi-

Table 4-15

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations¹⁸

REDUCED SUPERVISION -- 101 Groups

	<u></u> B	<u>e</u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	5.25	1.21	18.76*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure			
Abscond	-3.15	4.67	46
Re-Arrest	-17.01	4.85	12 32*
Re-Conviction	-7.40	6.59	1.26
Imprisonment (technical offense)	- 99	2.06	2.20
Imprisonment (new conviction)	9.82	1.20	66 57*
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offnese)			
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation Shock	-4.67	4.62	1.03
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	5.55	1.35	16.82*
WORK KELEASE	-8.61	8.39	1.05
Raliway House			
Barry Kelease			
raroie rrogram Maximum Sentence	64	3.46	.03

*Significant at .05 level.

C

18Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

Residential programs are multifacted treatment oriented strategies that are administered within the context of group homes, halfway houses, training schools and special treatment oriented prisons. Many programs offer comprehensive diagnostic services, education and vocational training as well as followup and after care services. Although all residential programs are designed to treat the offender in a comprehensive fashion, the specifics of each program vary depending on the underlying philosophy of the facility. Non-permissive residential programs focus on strict discipline; permissive residential programs address individual offender needs; special prisons provide a therapeutic environment in a secure institutional setting. Insofar as residential programs are designed to reduce the rate of recidivism, they have not been successful. Groups incarcerated in special treatment oriented prisons are consistently associated with higher rates of recidi-

 \mathbf{O}

0

Insofar as residential programs are designed to reduce the rate of recidivism, they have not been successful. Groups incarcerated in special treatment oriented prisons are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. This is true whether the group had been sent to the facility for shortterm diagnostic services and then released to probation supervision, or whether the group was incarcerated and subsequently released to parole supervision. Groups assigned to non-secure residential facilities in the community are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on how recidivism is defined. For example, groups in permissive and non-permissive programs have higher rates of technical violations but tend to have lower rates of re-arrest.

Given these findings, the use of residential facilities for adults as presently constituted should be re-assessed. This assessment should focus on

RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

such issues as the impact of placing offenders in close proximity to one another, the high rate of staff turnover and the nature and extent of resources provided for these facilities.

seling and systematic follow-up.

()

()

()

types of facilities.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adults assigned to special prisons tend to have a somewhat lower proportion of multiple offenders. Differences also exist for race, age, broken families and education. Adults assigned to special prison tended to be white, somewhat younger, to have a higher proportion of persons from broken families, and are less educated than adults in other forms of treatment.

4-45

A

C

C

Ć

SPECIAL PRISONS

Special prisons are designed to provide specialized treatment for offenders in a secure setting. The services that are provided varies among institutions, but generally include education and vocational training, intensive coun-

Overall Impact: Groups incarcerated in special treatment oriented prisons are associated with higher rates of recidivism than groups incarcerated in standard facilities and subsequently released to parole supervision. Studies have reported higher rates of abscond, re-conviction for new offenses and re-imprisonment for new convictions (B=14.06, B=11.79, B=13.24, respectively). Other outcome criteria produce little difference in the rate of recidivism between groups incarcerated in treatment oriented prisons and those in other

Specific Location Analysis: Groups in special prisons have only been studied while under standard parole, and within this context, these groups are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=7.42) when compared to groups on standard parole that received no additional treatment.

Table 4-16

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations19

SPECIAL TREATMENT ORIENTED PRISON -- 91 Groups

	B	_ <u></u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	6.23	1.28	23.84
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	-2.78	6.57	.18
Fallure	14.06	2.15	42.69*
Abscond	3.79	2.96	1.64
Re-Arrest	11.79	4.41	7.15*
Terrisonment (technical offense)	-8.23	6.66	1.52
Imprisonment (rew conviction)	13.24	1.96	45.55*
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-2.27	4.20	.29
tion or technical offense)			
		·····	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation			
Shock			
Group Home, PPC			λη λη *
Standard Parole	7.42	1.15	41.41"
Work Release	Ŷ	an an Arristan an Arristan Arristan	
Halfway House		김 아이는 것 같은 것을 했다.	
Early Release			
Parole Program			
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

19Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

()

(

()

Overall Impact: Studies of groups in permissive residential programs produce inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined either as failure or abscond, groups in permissive programs tend to have higher rates of recidivism (B=14.31, B=14.17, respectively). However, when recidivism is measured as imprisonment for a technical violation, groups residing in permissive facilities are associated with lower rates of recidivism (B=-10.87). Other outcome criteria, while not statistically stable, also yield inconsistent findings. Specific Location Analysis: Groups assigned to permissive group homes and halfway houses have comparable rates of recidivism to groups placed in other types of community residential facilities. Offenders in work release programs residing in permissive residential facilities tend to have lower rates of recidivism. However, there is considerable variability in the findings reported thus far. There is no significant difference in the rate of recidivism between groups in these programs that were followed on standard parole

and groups on parole that were followed while incarcerated in non-residential facilities.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adults assigned to permissive residential treatment tend to have a much higher proportion of both high school graduates and individuals coming from broken families than adults assigned to other locations. .

PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

Permissive residential programs are offered within the context of group homes, halfway houses and other non-secure residential facilities. Programs emphasize the matching of services to individual offender needs. These programs are based on the philosophy that a non-punitive environment promotes less aggression and greater cooperation; discipline in these facilities is lax; little attempt is made to directly control offender behavior.

Table 4-17

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations20

PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES -- 125 Groups

	B	<u>e</u>	<u></u>
ENERAL EQUATION	4.26	1.24	11.85*
DEETNITTION OF RECIDIVISM		4	
Failure	14.31	5.53	6.69*
Apecond	14.17	1.79	62.76*
Re-Arrest	-7.23	4.83	2.23
Re-Conviction	6.01	5.51	1.19
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-10,87	3.30	10.85*
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-3.93	3.56	1.22
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	-4.06	2.85	2.03
TNETTTUTIONAL IOCATION			
Standard Probation			÷
Shock			00
Group Home, PPC	4.36	4.81	.02
Standard Parole	3.15	2.3/	1.70
Work Release	-6.51	5.44	1.43
Halfway House	.16	2,81	.00
Early Kelease			
Early Release Parole Program	5		2

*Significant at .05 level.

C

20 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

Non-permiss
group homes, halfw
philosophy behind
for their actions:
havior is carefull
Overall Imp
grams have yielded
rates of recidivis
as abscond, groups
(B=5.12). With th
all other outcome
although these fin
Specific Lo
were found between

 $\left(\right)$

()

 \cap

cation Analysis: No stable differences or consistent trends groups in non-permissive residential facilities and those receiving other forms of intervention. Groups assigned to group homes and halfway houses that utilized non-permissive programs had similar outcomes to groups in these facilities that did not have non-permissive programs. There is no significant difference in the rate of recidivism between groups in these programs that were followed on standard parole and groups on parole that were incarcerated in non-residential facilities. Groups in non-permissive residential facilities that are concurrently in work release programs tend to have ${}^{/\prime}$ lower rates of recidivism, however, groups in these facilities on parole programs tend to have higher rates. However, neither of these findings are statistically stable.

analysis.

NON-PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

ive residential programs are offered within the context of ay houses, and other non-secure tesidential facilities. The these programs is to teach offenders to take responsibility

discipline is strict, rules are explicit, and offender bey monitored.

act: Studies of groups in non-permissive residential proinconsistent results, although the trend is towards higher m for groups in these programs. When recidivism is defined in non-permissive programs have higher rates of recidivism e exception of re-imprisonment for a technical violation, criteria are also associated with higher rates of recidivism, dings are not statistically stable.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

4-51

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²¹

NON-PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES -- 61 Groups

	a katelo de la companya de la compa		
	<u></u>	<u>e</u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	4.90	1.69	8.43*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure	9.51	9.85	.93
Abscond	5.12	2.06	6.20*
Re-Arrest	an an an Artabara an Araba. An an an Artabara		
Re-Conviction			
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-5.76	3.08	3.50
Imprisonment (new conviction)	6.39	4.16	2.36
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	10.91	5.82	3.51
ΤΝΩΤΤΩΙΤΟΝΑΙ ΙΟCΑΤΙΟΝ			<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
Standard Probation			¢1
Shock			
Group Home. PPC	7.61	5.78	1.74
Standard Parole	18	3.10	.00
Work Release	-12.51	8.70	2.06
Halfway House	-2.76	3.68	.56
Early Release			
Parole Program	16.08	8.48	3.59
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

()

C

21 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

De

()

 \mathbf{O}

that can be treated medically. Medical methods include a variety of strategies including drug therapy, antabuse therapy and plastic surgery, and therefore the efficacy of this modality is difficult to assess as a whole. Lipton, et al. (1975) report that only when medical methods are combined with other forms of intervention can some reduction in the rate of recidivism be noted. The data of this study suggest that the impact of medical treatment varies depending upon the way recidivism is defined and the location in which treatment is administered. Care should be taken in the interpretation of these findings because of the wide variety of methods included in this treatment modality.

Overall Impact: Studies of groups receiving medical treatment including Specific Location Analysis: Medical methods have been studied among

the drug therapies yield inconsistent findings. Groups receiving these treatments have higher rates of failure and re-imprisonment for either a new conviction or technical violations (B=11.43, B=12.25, respectively). However, when recidivism is defined as re-conviction for a new offense, groups receiving medical methods have consistently lower rates of recidivism (B=-11.31). groups sentenced to both probation and imprisonment. When administered to groups on probation, this treatment appears to have little impact on the rate of recidivism. When administered to groups that have been imprisoned and subsequently released to standard parole, medical methods are associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism (B=13.76). Within the context of special

MEDICAL METHODS

This treatment strategy offers assistance to offenders who have problems

4-52

çλ,

parole programs, medical methods appear to have little or no impact. In halfway houses, the impact appears slightly positive, but with wide variability in the outcome. Groups that served their maximum sentences and received medical treatment have been studied too infrequently for any conclusion about the efficacy of this treatment for these offenders to be made."

ť

×.

3

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Adults receiving medical treatment tended to have a much lower proportion of property offenders and a much higher proportion of individuals with some narcotics history. Insufficient data exists for multiple offense, race, broken families and education, and no significant differences were found regarding age and socio-economic status.

GENERAL	EQUA	TION	
DEFINIT	ION O	F REC	IDIVI
Failure	. .		
Abscond			
Re-Arre	st		
Re-Conv	ictic	m	
Impriso	nment	: (tec	hnica
Imprisc	nment	: (new	conv
Impriso	nment	: (eit	her 1
tion	or te	chnic	al of
INSTITU	TION	L LOC	IOITA:
Standar	d Pro	obatic	'n
Shock	C i		
Group	Home	∍, PPC]
Standar	d Pai	cole	`
Work	Relea	ise	
Halfv	vay Ho	ouse	
Early	7 Rele	ease	
Domo		50 m 0 m	

()

 \bigcirc

Parole Program Maximum Sentence

*Significant at .05 level.

22Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 63 to 81.

4-53

4–54

Table 4-19

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²²

MEDICAL METHODS -- 105 Groups

	B	e	F
	8,50	1.21	49.22*
ISM	11.43	2.75	17.32*
	2.51	3.1 0 4.76	2.08
	-11.31	3.22	12.30*
al offense) viction)	-5.74	8,21	.49
new convic-	12.25	4.64	6.98*
ffense)			
······	,		
N	10	2.36	.00
	13.76	1.91	51.80*
	2.38	13.53	.03
	3.29	3.27	1.01
	-5.53	11.63	.23

5

The resource interventions, including vocational and job training, job placement and education, are designed to provide offenders with the necessary skills and resources to function adequately within mainstream society. The theoretical justification for these interventions arises from the work of sociologists such as Merton (1937, 1968) and Cloward and Ohlin (1961), who claim that crime is committed by those who are blocked from the opportunity structure. By providing skills and resources to aid offenders in becoming productive members of the larger society it is believed they will no longer have the need to commit crime.

Lipton, et al. (1975) suggest that vocational training programs for juveniles may have some effect on lowering the recidivism rate, particularly when offenders are provided with a readily marketable skill. Other studies indicate that job training and vocational training have no direct impact on recidivism, but do improve employability. The lack of strong success for these programs is often attributed to improper implementation (Ohlin, Miller and Coates, 1977). The data concerning the efficacy of education for juveniles is also mixed. The Providence Educational Center in St. Louis found that education was associated with lower rates of recidivism for juvenile offenders. Other studies (California Youth Authority, 1974; Lipton, et al., 1975) found that although education raised skill level, it had no impact on the rate of recidivism.

Overall, our findings do not provide evidence for the efficacy of resource interventions for juvenile offenders. With the exception of job

ANALYSIS OF INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS FOR JUVENILES

4-55

RESOURCE INTERVENTIONS

()

()

5

training, which is consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism, none of the other resource strategies appear to have a strong impact on the rate of recidivism. Groups receiving education are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism, depending on the outcome criterion used, although there is some indication that additional educational resources may be effective when administered within the context of work/study programs. Vocational training also yields inconsistent results; the variability of the findings precludes any firm conclusion about the efficacy of this intervention at the present time. There is some indication that juvenile groups in job placement programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism, but there is insufficient data upon which to draw any firm conclusion about the impact of this intervention for juvenile offenders.

In lieu of these findings, a careful re-assessment of the strength and integrity of the resource interventions is recommended. Skill development programs vary enormously with respect to the skills that are taught and the resources that are applied to the task. Job training may be more effective than vocational training and education because of the more limited scope of the program. The economic environment in which these resources are applied also needs to be taken into account. Training juveniles for jobs or vocations that do not exist may serve to frustrate raised expectations resulting in a reversion to criminal activity. Placing juvenile offenders in job placement programs when there are no jobs or when the only available jobs are menial in nature may have the same effect. Further investigation of resource interventions should focus on sorting out the complex interaction between skill development, program integrity and the local economic environment.

{ }

The purpose of this program is to provide offenders with marketable skills and work experience through on-the-job training, institutional work programs, pre-job training and sheltered employment. The goals of job training are limited to teaching the basic skills related to job retention such as cooperative work habits, rule adherence and deference to authority. <u>Overall Impact</u>: Juvenile groups in job training programs are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism compared to groups not receive

Overall Impact: Juvenile groups in job training programs are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism compared to groups not receiving this resource. Studies of groups in this program report much lower rates of re-arrest (B=-13.24). Other outcome criteria are also associated with lower rates of recidivism, but considerable variability around these estimates exists. <u>Specific Location Analysis</u>: Job training has been studied among groups on standard probation, in group homes, as well as on standard parole and in special parole programs. When administered within the context of standard probation supervision, groups receiving job training are associated with consistently lower rates of recidivism (B=-16.82). Within the context of the group home, however, groups receiving this resource tend to have higher recidivism rates. However, considerable variation exists around this tendency.

on standard probatil special parole prog bation supervision, tently lower rates of home, however, group rates. However, con Groups receive grams tend to be ass considerable variable standard parole no : the extent to which

()

()

()

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Juvenile groups given this treatment tend to have a much higher proportion of non-whites and were slightly older than the juvenile sample in general. Insufficient data exists for all other background characteristics to further evaluate differential assignments to this treatment.

JOB TRAINING

Groups receiving job training within the context of special parole programs tend to be associated with lower rates of recidivism, although there is considerable variability around this estimate. When administered to groups on standard parole no impact can be attributed to this intervention because of the extent to which the program has produced variable results.

4-59

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²³

JOB TRAINING -- 30 Groups

	<u></u> B	<u> </u>	F
		en ar en	
GENERAL EQUATION	-9.51	3.47	7.50*
VERINITION OF RECIDIVISM			
Failure	-10.73	15.96	.45
Alscond	1.43	11.58	.01
Re-Arrest	-13.24	4.72	7.87*
Re-Conviction			
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-8.14	9.91	.68
Imprisonment (new conviction)	-1.80	13.25	.02
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-23.76	17.64	1.81
tion or technical offense)			
Standard Probation	-16.82	4.86	11.94*
Shock			
Group Home, PPC	7.69	10.08	.58
Standard Parole	3.09	9.31	.11
Work Study			e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Halfway House		una in data di secondari da V	
Early Release			
Parole Program	-13.82	7.36	3.53
Maximum Sentence			
	and the second		

for potential employ for offenders, parts <u>Overall Impac</u> associated with high fense is used as the divate more often th so much variability about the efficacy of <u>Specific Loca</u> studied within the grams. While in bou

analysis.

(

*Significant at .05 level.

Q.

23Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

0

 \bigcirc

JOB PLACEMENT

Job placement programs teach basic job search skills and provide leads for potential employment. Although the ultimate goal is to find employment for offenders, participation does not guarantee a job.

<u>Overall Impact</u>: Juvenile groups in job placement programs tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism. When re-conviction for a new offense is used as the outcome criterion, groups in these programs tend to recidivate more often than those not receiving this resource. However, there is so much variability around this tendency that no firm judgment can be made about the efficacy of this resource for juveniles.

Specific Location Analysis: Groups in job placement programs have been studied within the context of the group home as well as in special parole programs. While in both instances groups receiving this intervention tend to have higher rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this resource, too much variability exists and too few studies have been reported to make any firm judgment about the impact of this resource for juveniles.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

D

Table 4-21

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations24

JOB PLACEMENT -- 17 Groups

4.84	10.43*
10.02	1.23
10.02	1.23
10.02	1.23
10.02	1.23
13.13	.01
G.	
n en	
6	
10.02	1.23
11.39	.12
	10.02 11.39

shop trades.

 $(0, \infty)$

()

0

 \mathbb{O} $\langle \gamma \rangle$ of these estimates.

analysis.

*Significant at .05 level.

(

24Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

VOCATIONAL TRAINING

Vocational training programs are designed to provide offenders with a marketable skill such as automotive mechanics, carpentry and various machine

Overall Impact: Studies of juveniles receiving vocational training report inconsistent findings. The rates of re-conviction and re-imprisonment, for a technical violation tend to be lower among groups receiving this form of intervention. However, re-imprisonment for either a new conviction or a technical violation tend to be higher. Substantial variability exists around all

Specific Location Analysis: Groups receiving this intervention have been studied on both standard probation and standard parole. In both instances, the variability of reported findings precludes any firm conclusion about the efficacy of this form of intervention for juveniles.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

9 Table 4-22

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²⁵

VOCATIONAL TRAINING -- 16 Groups

	<u></u>	e	F
GENERAL EQUATION	5.58	4.44	1.58
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM Failure Abscond Re-Arrest			
Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical offense) Imprisonment (new conviction)	-20.79 -12.90 5.59	10.75 9.53 6.00	3.74 1.83 .87
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	10.64	6.58	2.61
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation Shock	12.83	7,66	2.88
Group Home, PPC Standard Parole	-2.89	5.78	.25
Work Study Halfway House			
Early Release Parole Program			
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

 \bigcirc

(

²⁵Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

 $\langle \cdot \rangle$

 \mathbf{O}

Specific Location Analysis: This intervention has been studied among groups on both probation and parole. Groups receiving education on both standard probation and within the context of a group home, are associated with slightly higher rates of recidivism than their non-treated counterparts. However, there is substantial variability around these estimates and no firm judgment regarding the efficacy of education under these conditions can be made. Groups receiving education on standard parole supervision tend to have lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this resource, but the variation around this tendency is so high that no conclusion can be drawn from the experience reported thus far. Groups in work study programs that receive additional educational resources are consistently associated with lower rates of recidivism. This finding is especially significant as groups on work study generally have lower rates of recidivism overall, suggesting that additional educational resources can further enhance an already positive situation.

EDUCATION

Educational programs provide offenders with additional schooling in order to facilitate social and economic re-integration into society. The level of remediation varies from program to program and includes remedial math and English courses as well as high school equivalency and college level courses. Overall Impact: Studies of juvenile groups receiving educational assistance report inconsistent findings. When recidivism is defined as failure, the data indicate that groups receiving education are associated with lower rates of recidivism (B=-15.33). However, when recidivism is defined as imprisonment for a technical offense, groups receiving education have higher rates (B=16.87). Other outcome criteria also produce inconsistent results.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Juvenile groups given education as a form of treatment generally tend to have a much higher proportion of high school graduates than the juvenile sample in general, Either insufficient data or no significant difference was found for all other background characteristics.

A

C

GENERAL EQUATION DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM Failure Abscond **Re-Arrest** Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (new convi Imprisonment (either new tion or technical off INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole

11

()

Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program Maximum Sentence

*Significant at .05 level.

 \cap

26 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

622

4-66

Table 4-23

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²⁶

EDUCATION -- 145 Groups

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	<u>B</u>	<u>e</u>	F
	.61	2.20	.08
M			
	-15.33 -2.34 -1.12	7.78 5.28 4.87	3.88* .20 .05
offense)	16.87	5.31	10.09*
ction) w convic- ense)	-15.91	8.40	3.59
	na an an an ann an an an an an an an an		
	2.09	5.07	.17
	4.04 -6.43 -13.41	6.68 7.37 5.07	.37 .76 6.99*

SOCIAL WORK INTERVENTIONS

Social work interventions are based on the assumption that social resources and peer groups are the primary facilitators of criminal behavior. The objective of social work intervention is to help offenders use their personal and social resources in such a way as to facilitate re-integration to the community. Non-supervisory assistance and specialized supervision are designed to foster a personal relationship between the offender and a parole/ probation officer or a community volunteer. These programs often include individual counseling, as well as pragmatic efforts aimed at providing offenders with appropriate resources to help solve the problems they encounter. Nonprofessional group counseling provides a forum for the development of interpersonal skills and relationships and problem solving techniques. Contract programming attempts to involve an offender directly in determining the terms of release in the hopes of teaching him or her to assume responsibility for their actions.

Historically, studies of social work strategies for juveniles have yielded inconsistent results. In an overall review of studies utilizing casework, Romig (1980) concluded that "casework was not effective in the rehabilitation of delinquent youth." In a study of Guided Group Interaction conducted by McCord (1973) no overall differences were found between juveniles receiving this treatment and juveniles who did not, although when juveniles were reconvicted, the new crimes tended to be less serious. There is some indication that comprehensive programs aimed at meeting a host of offenders' needs, may have some beneficial impact on the rate of recidivism (Higgins, 1974; Baker, et al., 1976).

4-67

The model of utilizing non-professionals and ex-offenders in the supervision of offenders has also been reported as having promising results. A number of evaluations suggest that at the very least, the utilization of paraprofessionals is no more likely to produce higher rates of recidivism than the use of professional casework personnel (Beless, Rest and Pilcher, 1973; Scott and Bennett, 1973; Scott, 1975). The findings of the present study indicate that overall, the social work strategies have not been effective in lowering the rate of recidivism. Groups receiving specialized supervision, non-professional group counseling, and contract programming tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism than juvenile groups not receiving these interventions. Non-supervisory assistance is the only social work intervention that appears to yield any positive results. When administered within the context of standard parole, juvenile groups receiving this assistance were associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving such aid. There is also some indication that non-supervisory assistance may be helpful for juvenile groups on standard probation and in group homes. However, when administered to juveniles within the context of shock probation, groups receiving non-supervisory assistance tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism than groups within this context that did not receive this assistance. This findings is especially important because this intervention produces negative results in a context that is generally favorable.

Given these findings, the social work interventions presently in use for juvenile offenders should be re-assessed. This is particularly true for those administered to juveniles sentenced to probation, as no positive impact of social work strategies has been reported in this context. Further evaluation of these interventions should focus on the differential impact on juveniles who have been incarcerated and those on probation.

4-68

)

()

0

NON-PROFESSIONAL GROUP COUNSELING

This treatment employs the use of non-professionals as leaders in counseling groups. The dynamics of group interaction are utilized to facilitate change in offenders' attitudes and behavior as well as to aid in the development of interpersonal communication skills. The focus of the group may be problem solving or insight oriented, although unlike group therapy, there is no emphasis on underlying subconscious or unconscious motivation.

Overall Impact: Groups receiving non-professional group counseling are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. When either reimprisonment for a technical violation or abscond is used as the outcome criterion, groups receiving this form of counseling are reported as having higher rates of recidivism (B=11.32, B=18.50, respectively).

Specific Location Analysis: Studies of groups receiving non-professional group counseling have been reported only for groups on standard parole supervision. When administered to juveniles within this context, groups receiving non-professional group counseling tend to be associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=13.41).

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for analysis.

GENERAL EQUATION

()

()

()

DEFINITION OF RECIDIVI Failure Abscond Re-Arrest **Re-Conviction** Imprisonment (technica Imprisonment (new conv Imprisonment (either tion or technical of INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION

Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program Maximum Sentence

*Significant at .05 1

27 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

4-69

4-70

Table 4-24

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations27

NON-PROFESSIONAL GROUP COUNSELING -- 13 Groups

	B	e	F
	16.02	5.12	9.78*
ISM			
	18.50	6.71	7.59*
al offense) viction) new convic- Efense)	11.32	5.57	4.12*
8	<u></u>		
	13.41	4.19	5.82*
evel.			\sim

6.22



SPECIALIZED SUPERVISION

Specialized supervision is designed to foster a personal relationship between the offender and a probation/parole officer or a community volunteer. This program frequently utilizes counseling strategies as well as pragmatic efforts aimed at providing offenders with appropriate resources to facilitate re-integration into the community. It is believed that becoming involved in a one to one relationship with a person who is concerned with his welfare the offender will change his attitudes and "unlearn" maladaptive behavioral patterns.

Overall Impact: Juvenile groups receiving specialized supervision are associated with consistently higher rates of recidivism. When recidivism is measured as abscond, groups receiving this assistance have much higher rates of recidivism (B=24.63) than groups not receiving this treatment. When either re-arrest or re-imprisonment for a technical violation is used as the outcome criterion, juveniles receiving specialized supervision also have higher rates of recidivism although in both of these instances there is substantial variation around the average.

()

C

Specific Location Analysis: Specialized supervision has been reported only for groups on standard probation. When administered within the context of standard probation, groups receiving this intervention are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=15.55) than juveniles receiving standard probation supervision.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for analysis.

GENERAL EQUATION DEFINITION OF RECID: Failure Abscond Re-Arrest **Re-Conviction** Imprisonment (techni Imprisonment (new co Imprisonment (either tion or technical INSTITUTIONAL LOCAT Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program

()

()

 $\left(\right)$

*Significant at .05 level.

Maximum Sentence

4-71

Table 4-25

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²⁸

SPECIALIZED SUPERVISION -- 16 Groups

	<u></u> B	e	F
	17.33	4.48	14.97*
IVISM			
	24.63 2.71	6.73 7.12	13.40* .15
ical offense) onviction) c new convic- offense)	8.52	8.11	.31
LON	15.55	4.01	15.06*

28 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

CONTRACT PROGRAMMING

This treatment utilizes a legally binding agreement negotiated between the offender and correctional authorities that specifies the conditions for release on parole. The contract is designed to meet individual offenders' needs and to foster a sense of responsibility through participation in the program's development and implementation.

Overall Impact: Only six juvenile groups have been reported as having received contract programming. These groups report consistently higher rates of re-imprisonment for a technical violation (B=14.56).

Specific Location Analysis: The effect of contract programming has been reported for juveniles only within the context of the group home, where the average rate of recidivism for those receiving this intervention is consistently higher (B=39.18) than other groups in this context not receiving this intervention.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for analysis.

C

C

GENERAL EQUATION

8

DEFINITION OF RECIDI Failure Abscond Re-Arrest **Re-Conviction** Imprisonment (techni Imprisonment (new co Imprisonment (either tion or technical

()

 \cap

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATI Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program Maximum Sentence

*Significant at .05 level.

of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

4-73

Table 4-26

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations²⁹

CONTRACT PROGRAMMING -- 6 Groups

	<u></u> B	e	F
	14.14	7.50	3.55
VISM			
cal offense) nviction)	14.56	7.58	3.57
offense)			
ON			
	39.18	14.31	7.50*

29 Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III

NON-SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE

4-75

Non-Supervisory assistance programs utilize citizen volunteers to assist offenders in developing the skills and personal contacts needed for successful re-integration into the community. Volunteers may assist offenders in locating housing, obtaining employment and in providing the emotional support needed during the offender's transition to free society.

Overall Impact: Studies of juvenile groups receiving non-supervisory assistance have yielded inconsistent findings. When recidivism is defined as abscond, groups receiving this intervention are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=16.91). However, when recidivism is measured as re-imprisonment for a technical violation or re-conviction for a new offense, groups receiving this intervention are associated with lower rates of recidivism (B= -25.26, B=-26.37, respectively).

()

C

Specific Location Analysis: Non-supervisory assistance has been reported for groups on both standard probation and its alternatives as well as for groups on standard parole. When administered to juveniles on shock probation, this form of assistance is associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=28.44). This finding is particularly significant in lieu of the fact that groups receiving shock probation tend to be associated with much lower rates of recidivism than groups assigned to standard probation. The tendency is similar for groups receiving this intervention on standard probation or within the context of a group home, although insufficient research has been conducted to draw firm conclusions about the efficacy of this treatment in these contexts.

When administered to juvenile groups on standard parole, this intervention is associated with lower rates of recidivism (B=-24.76), suggesting that this assistance may be beneficial for juveniles who have experience incarceration in a secure facility.

analysis.

()

()

0

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

Û

D.

Table 4-27

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³⁰

NON-SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE -- 22 Groups

		-	
	B	<u> </u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	12.41	3.81	10.59*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	0		
Failure	25.94	19.86	1.71
Abscond	16.91	8.01	4.47*
Re-Arrest	-2.04	12.71	.03
Re-Conviction	-26.37	8.36	9.94*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-25.26	9.82	6.62*
Imprisonment (new conviction)		N	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-16.84	10.19	2.73
tion or technical offense)			
nen en general de la constant de la	Q - 448		
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION	₫		6,
Standard Probation	3.16	5.13	38
Shock	28.44	6.74	17.80*
Group Home, PPC	22.28	19.14	1.36
Standard Parole	-24.76	9.02	7.53*
Work Study			
Halfway House			
Early Release			
Parole Program			
faximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

)

(

30Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

underlying motivations at its root. standard institutional intervention.

 (\cdot)

()

PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

Psychotherapeutic interventions, including individual psychotherapy, group therapy and behavior modification are based on the assumption that offenders suffer from emotional or psychological maladaptation. Many theories including Hogan (1973) and Kohlberg's (1964) theories of moral development, Mead's (1934) theory of shared meaning in groups, Bandura and Walter's (1963) learning theory, and Skinner's (1968) theory of behavior modification have contributed to this rationale. The programmatic application of individual and group therapy interventions to offenders is based on the premise that offenders will be able to modify their antisocial behavior if they can explore the experience, feelings and unconscious motivations behind their criminal acts within a therapeutic environment. Behavior modification differs from these approaches in that it focuses on changing the behavior without exploring the

Evaluations of the psychotherapeutic interventions for juveniles have provided little consistent evidence for the efficacy of these interventions. Lipton, et al. (1975) found that individual psychotherapy did not have a consistent effect on the rate of recidivism, but pointed out that programmatically oriented psychotherapy was more effective than a psychoanalytic approach. In addition, both Lipton, et al. and Mohron suggest that exposing non-amenable offenders to psychotherapy may have the unanticipated effect of raising the rate of recidivism. Lipton, et al. also suggest that group therapy for juvenile offenders is no more effective in lowering the rate of recidivism than

There is some evidence, however, that behavior modification techniques may be effective in lowering the rate of recidivism for juvenile offenders (Jessness and Derisi, 1972; Cohen and Filipczak, 1971).

1

Our findings are relatively consistent with those mentioned above. We found no evidence to support the efficacy of individual psychotherapeutic assistance for juveniles. In fact, juvenile groups receiving psychotherapy were consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism, supporting the notion that this intervention may be harmful under certain conditions. The data on groups in group therapy is insufficient to draw any conclusion about this program's efficacy for juveniles, but the data that does exist suggest that group therapy has an inconsistent impact on the rate of recidivism. Although we have little stable data on the effect of behavior modification for juveniles, the data that does exist suggest that juvenile groups receiving this treatment are associated with lower rates of recidivism than groups not receiving this treatment.

Given these findings, the programmatic use of analytically oriented psychotherapeutic techniques with adjudicated youth does not appear to be an effective method of reducing the rate of recidivism. These programs are costly and there is evidence to suggest they may be detrimental. Although it cannot be ascertained whether this effect is directly attributable to the therapy techniques per se, or is an indirect consequence of inadequate resources, lack of program integrity, or inaccurate theoretical assumptions, so little support exists for the efficacy of these programs that continued use does not appear warranted.

Behavior modification deserves continued research and evaluation. The short-term emphasis on specific behavioral changes appears to be a more reasonable goal than the long-term psychological rehabilitation of offenders.

This strategy involves the development of a one to one relationship between the offender and a professional therapist. It is believed that within a therapeutic relationship an offender will be able to explore the experiences, feelings and subconscious motivations that are at the root of his antisocial behavior and be encouraged to test more socially adaptive coping mechanisms. Unlike psychotherapy in a conventional setting, offenders have no input in the selection of a psychiatrist or psychologist. Overall Impact: Groups receiving individual psychotherapeutic assis-

tance are consistently associated with higher rates of recidivism. For the three outcome criteria reported in the literature (abscond, re-imprisonment for a technical violation, re-imprisonment for either a new conviction or a technical violation), groups receiving individual psychotherapy yield higher recidivism rates. Although there is variation around these averages, the trend for each definition is towards higher rates for juvenile groups receiving this intervention.

()

()

analysis.

Specific Location Analysis: Psychotherapy has been studied for juvenile groups on standard probation and in group homes as well as for groups on standard parole supervision. Groups on standard probation receiving psychotherapy are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=19.99). This trend is similar for groups receiving this intervention on standard parole or within the context of a group home. However, too much variation exists around the reported recidivism rate for groups in the latter locations to draw any firm conclusions about its efficacy under these conditions. Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

INDIVIDUAL PSYCHOTHERAPY

Table 4-28

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³¹

PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC INDIVIDUAL ASSISTANCE -- 21 Groups

	<u></u>		F
GENERAL EQUATION	14.79	3.89	14.45*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	<u></u>	g	
Failure	u)		
Abscond	8.77	5.99	2.14
Re-Arrest		N. N.	
Re-Conviction	12 70	Q 11	2 49
Imprisonment (technical offense)	12.19	0.11	2.75
Imprisonment (either new convic-	5.41	6.02	.81
tion or technical offense)	- ·	ţi.	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION	19.99	8.98	4.96*
Shock			
Group Home, PPC	21.92	13,58	2.61
Standard Parole	8.22	5.07	2.62
Work Study			-
Halfway House			н.
Early Release			
Parole Program		•	
Maximum Sentence			÷ .

*Significant at .05 level.

 $\langle \cdot \rangle$

31Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

Group therapy, which includes group psychotherapy and small group interaction, utilizes the dynamic of the group to facilitate change in attitudes and behavior as well as to foster the development of interaction skills. The group may utilize a psycho-social orientation or focus on practical problem solving.

÷

()

 \mathbf{O}

Overall Impact: Studies of juvenile groups in group therapy report inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, there is a tendency for groups receiving this treatment to be associated with lower rates of recidivism. When outcome is defined as re-imprisonment for a technical offense or as abscond. groups receiving this treatment tend to have higher rates of recidivism. There is substantial variability around all these tendencies and no conclusive judgment about group therapy can be made.

Specific Location Analysis: The effects of group therapy have been reported for juveniles in group homes and for groups that have been incarcerated and subsequently released to standard parole supervision. Groups administered group therapy within the context of standard parole tend to have slightly lower rates of recidivism. However, the variability around this average is large and thus no impact can be attributed to this treatment. Groups receiving group therapy in the context of a group home are asso-

juveniles.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

analysis.

GROUP THERAPY

clated with higher gates of recidivism than groups in group homes not receiving this treatment. Again, however, wide variation exists around the rate of recidivism precluding any conclusion about the efficacy of this treatment "for

Table 4-29

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³²

GROUP THERAPY -- 15 Groups

	<u></u>	e. v	F
GENERAL EQUATION	.11	4.59	.00
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM			0
Failure	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -		2007 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 -
Abscond	5,50	11.48	.23
Re-Arrest Po Conviction	1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 - 1000 -		·
Imprisonment (technical offense)	9.25	4.79	3 73
Imprisonment (new conviction)		,,,,,	5.75
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	-17.08	11.76	ے 2.11
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation			
Shock			
Group Home, PPC	14.82	11.30	1.72
Work Study	-3.05	5./L	.29
Halfway House			
Early Release	ан 1910 - Ал		
Parole Program	ana di Angelana Angelana		
Maximum Sentence	19 19	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	din se la se

*Significant at .05 level.

(

32Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J. Tables 82 to 100.

Behavior modification utilizes positive and negative rewards to reinforce appropriate behavior while discouraging maladaptive tendencies. The specific details of behavior modification programs vary considerably, however, they all share the underlying premise that socially desirable behavior can be learned through positive reinforcement. For example, in "token economies," offenders earn or lose "points" that can be translated into the "purchase" of items or privileges based on the extent to which they adhere to institutional rules.

Overall Impact: Too few studies of juvenile groups receiving behavior modification have been reported in the literature to draw any firm conclusion about the efficacy of this intervention. From the information that has been reported thus far, behavior modification is generally associated with lower rates of recidivism. When recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction, groups receiving behavior modification are associated with substantially lower rates of recidivism (B=-26.45). However, there is considerable variation around this average. Specific Location Analysis: Studies of behavior modification have been reported for juvenile groups on standard parole as well as on special parole

programs. In both of these locations, groups receiving behavior modification are associated with lower rates of recidivism. Variation around this trend, however, is substantial and further research is needed before any judgment can be made about the efficacy of this form of treatment.

analysis.

(·)

()

BEHAVIOR MODIFICATION

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Insufficient data exists for

4-85

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatment Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³³

BEHAVIOR MODIFICATION -- 9 Groups

9	<u> </u>		F
GENERAL EQUATION	-8.35	5.90	2.01
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM Failure Abscond Re-Arrest			
Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.40	6.08	.16
Imprisonment (new conviction) Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	-26.45	11.47	5.32*
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock	A.		
Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study	-2.72	8.04	.12
Halfway House Early Release Parole Program	-17.10	10.81	2.48
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

C

()

33Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

Intensive supervision is primarily an administrative intervention aimed at reducing the caseloads of probation and parole officers. It is believed such a strategy will allow for closer contact between probation and parole officers and offenders, translating into more adequate services to offenders, aimed at reducing the rate of recidivism.

Prior studies of this strategy have expressed some optimism. Lipton, et al. (1975) conclude that intensive supervision for juvenile offenders reduces the rate of recidivism. Perlman (1972), reporting on intensive supervision for juveniles on probation, also cites lower rates of re-arrest and other violations. Other studies report little or no impact of intensive supervision on the recidivism rate (California Youth Authority, 1974) and suggest that small caseloads may result in higher levels of technical violations resulting from the additional surveillance (Greenberg, 1977).

Our data indicate that intensive supervision has an inconsistent impact on the rate of recidivism. Groups receiving this supervision in the context of shock probation tend to be associated with lower recidivism rates. However, in the context of standard probation, intensive supervision is associated with higher rates of recidivism.

It appears that simply reducing caseloads is insufficient insofar as the aim of intensive supervision is to reduce recidivism. However, when additional resources are included as in the case of special parole programs, this

1

34Studies of reduced supervision were not found among those collected during the course of this research. Hence only the impact of intensive supervision is reported here.

E.

ADMINISTRATIVE INTERVENTIONS³⁴

form of intervention is more effective. Further evaluation of this intervention should be pursued along these lines.

103

C

 \bigcirc

C

Overall Impact: Studies of groups receiving intensive supervision yield inconsistent results. Groups receiving intensive supervision report higher rates of failure (B=13.26). Other outcome criteria yield inconsistent results.

Specific Location Analysis: Intensive supervision has been studied for groups on both probation and parole. Within the context of standard probation, groups receiving intensive supervision are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=5.78). When administered to groups on shock probation, intensive supervision is associated with lower recidivism rates (B=-15.09). This is especially significant in light of the fact that groups receiving shock probation are generally associated with lower recidivism rates even before additional treatment is administered.

Groups that were incarcerated and released to special parole programs and groups serving maximum sentences that received intensive supervision tend to have lower rates of recidivism. However, there is considerable variability around these tendencies.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Juveniles assigned to intensive supervision tend to be property offenders, non-white, and tend not to come from broken homes. Insufficient data exists for the proportion with multiple offenses, education and socio-economic status, and no significant difference was found for age and narcotics history between juveniles assigned to this treatment and juvenile groups generally.

GENERAL EQUATION DEFINITION OF RECIDIVI Failure Abscond Re-Arrest **Re-Conviction** Imprisonment (technica Imprisonment (new conv Imprisonment (either n tion or technical of

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION Standard Probation Shock Group Home, PPC Standard Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program Maximum Sentence

*Significant at .05 level.

 \mathbf{O}

()

<)

35Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

02

4-87

4-88 Table 4-31

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatment Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³⁵

INTENSIVE SUPERVISION -- 119 Groups

	<u></u>	e	F
	8.21	1.93	18,12*
	<u></u>		
SM	13.62 3.06 -5.69	5.15 3.99 5.25	6.99* .59 1.18
1 offense)	-2.57	3.27	.62
iction) ew convic- fense)	-6.12	11.25	.30
	5.78 -15.09	2,47 11	5.50* 6.59*
	-7.97 -5.89	4.20 4.51	3.60 1.70

RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

0

Residential programs are multifaceted treatment oriented strategies that are administered within the context of group homes, halfway houses, training schools and special treatment oriented prisons. Many programs offer comprehensive diagnostic services, education and vocational training as well as followup and after care services. Although all residential programs are designed to treat the offender in a comprehensive fashion, the specifics of each program varies depending on the underlying philosophy of the facility. Non-permissive residential programs focus on strict discipline; permissive residential programs address individual offender needs; special prisons provide a therapeutic environment in a secure institutional setting.

Insofar as residential programs are designed to reduce the rate of recidivism, they have not been successful. Groups incarcerated in special treatment oriented prisons are consisten ly associated with higher rates of recidivism. This is true whether the group has been sent to the facility for short term diagnostic services and then released to probation supervision, or whether the group was incarcerated for a longer period of time and subsequently released to parole supervision. Groups assigned to non-secure residential facilities in the community are associated with both higher and lower rates of recidivism depending on how recidivism is defined.

Given these findings, the programmatic use of residential treatment facilities for juveniles should be re-evaluated. This assessment should focus on such issues as the impact of placing offenders in close proximity to one another, the high rate of staff turnover and the extent and nature of the resources provided.

Special prisons are designed to provide specialized treatment and diag-Overall Impact: Studies of groups in special prisons report higher

nostic services for offenders in a secure setting. The nature of the services that are provided varies among institutions, but generally includes education and vocational training, individual group counseling and systematic follow-up. rates of failure (B=36.53) and abscond (B=24.63). Other outcome criteria also tend to be associated with higher recidivism rates, although these data are not statistically stable.

()

()

()

Specific Location Analysis: Juveniles sentenced to special prisons have been studied while under both probation and parole supervision. Groups on standard probation that were detained in special prisons prior to supervision are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=8.95) than groups on standard probation not receiving this intervention. Similarly, groups in parole programs sentenced to special prisons are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=9.80) than their non-treated counterparts.

Differential Assignment to Treatment: Groups receiving this treatment have a slightly higher average age than other groups. Insufficient data exists for all other characteristics.

4-89

SPECIAL PRISONS
4-91

Table 4-32

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³⁶

SPECIAL PRISON -- 46 Groups

	<u> </u>		F
GENERAL EQUATION	8.71	2.80	9.71*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM		0	1
Failure	36.53	11.63	9.87*
Abscond	24.63	6.73	13.40*
Re-Arrest			
Re-Conviction			
Imprisonment (technical offense) Imprisonment (new conviction)	3.48	4.50	.60
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	9.07	6.56	1.91
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation Shock	8.95	3.55	6.35*
Group Home, PPC			
Standard Parole	-1.52	9.05	.03
Work Study			
Halfway House			
Early Release	A AA		
Parole Program	9.8 0	4.40	4.84*
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

()

0

36Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

 $\langle \cdot \rangle$

()

 \mathbf{O}

trend.

Specific Location Analysis: Groups in permissive residential programs have been studied within the context of probation and parole. Juveniles followed on standard parole who have been detained in institutions with permissive residential programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=10.43) than juvenile groups assigned to standard parole supervision. Permissive programs administered to groups on shock probation or in group homes and halfway houses yield inconsistent results. Differential Assignment to Treatment: Juveniles assigned to this treat-

PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

Permissive residential programs are offered within the context of group homes, halfway houses and other non-secure residential facilities. Programs emphasize the matching of services to offender needs. These programs are based on the philosophy that a non-punitive environment promotes less aggression and greater cooperation: discipline in these facilities is lax, little attempt is made to directly control offender behavior.

Overall Impact: Studies of groups in permissive residential programs yield inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as re-arrest, groups in these programs are associated with lower rates of recidivism (B=-11.80). When imprisonment for a technical violation is used as the outcome criterion, groups in these programs are associated with higher rates (B=15.92). Other definitions, although not statistically stable, also reflect this inconsistent

ment tend to be slightly older than juveniles not assigned to these programs.

4-92

Table 4-33

4-93

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³⁷

PERMISSIVE RESID	ENTIAL 139 G	roups	
	В	_ <u>_</u>	
GENERAL EQUATION	8.90	1.82	23.81*
с .			
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	14 68	15 35	. 92
Failure	-14.00 Q //	5.91	2.55
Abscond	_11 80	4.42	7.13*
Re-Arrest	-4 70	6.51	.52
Re-Conviction	15.92	2.79	32.54*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-3 47 0	18.78	.03
Imprisonment (new conviction)	3.83	4.14	.86
tion or technical offense)	5.00		
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation			
Shock	-4.13	6.90	.30
Group Home, PPC	2.73	7.23	.14
Standard Parole	10.43	2.59	10.20*
Work Study		7 20	1 50
Halfway House	9.19	/.30	T*3A
Early Release			
Parole Program			
Maximum Sentence		ti i	

*Significant at .05 level.

()

0

37Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

carefully monitored.

5

(

()

()

Specific Location Analysis: Groups in non-permissive residential programs have been studied in the context of probation and parole. When administered within group homes, groups in non-permissive programs are associated with higher rates of recidivism (B=17.37). Within the context of parole, however, groups in these programs are associated with comparable rates of recidivism when compared to groups on standard parole supervision. Differential Assignment to Treatment: Juvenile groups assigned to this treatment tend to have a higher proportion of multiple offenders and a much higher proportion of whites. Insufficient data exists for all other background characteristics except property offenses and education, where no significant differences were found.

NON-PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

Non-permissive residential programs are offered within the context of group homes, halfway bouses and other non-secure facilities. The programs are designed to assist offenders in learning how to take responsibility for their actions. Discipline is strict, rules are explicit, and offender behavior is

Overall Impact: Studies of groups in non-permissive residential programs yield inconsistent results. When recidivism is defined as imprisonment for a technical violation, groups in non-permissive residential programs are associated with much higher rates of recidivism (B=33.11). Other outcome criteria produce highly variable findings.

4-94

Table 4-34

Analysis of Impact of Specific Treatments Across Definitions and Institutional Locations³⁸

NON-PERMISSIVE RESIDENTIAL -- 49 Groups

	B	<u> </u>	F
GENERAL EQUATION	5.55	2.67	4.25*
DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM	ų.		
Failure	10.36	10.87	.91
Abscond	11.63	10.76	1.17
Re-Arrest	-17.86	11.35	2.43
Re-Conviction	-6.91	8.65	.64
Imprisonment (technical offense)	33.11	7.64	18.80*
Imprisonment (new conviction)		μ <u>γ</u>	
Imprisonment (either new convic- tion or technical offense)	.36	3.45	.01
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			
Standard Probation	. <u>.</u> .		
Shock			
Group Home, PPC	17.37	8.34	4.33*
Standard Parole	2.36	3.41	.48
Work Study		3	
Halfway House	0		ti.
Early Release			
Parole Program			5
Maximum Sentence			

*Significant at .05 level.

0

()

C

38Complete data for each equation summarized here can be found in Part III of Appendix J, Tables 82 to 100.

4-95

APPENDIX A

0

STUDIES SUMMARIZED IN THIS RESEARCH

This Bibliography contains a complete listing of all coded studies.

A-1

	NUMBER	BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCE		()	2913	Adams, Stuart Performanc
	0667a	Abt. Associates. "Exemplary Project Validation Report: The Leiberman Family Center, Akron, Ohio." Cambridge, Massachusetts: Abt. Asso-				Columbia:
		ciates, August 1975.			1190	Adams, Stuart formance o
	2584	Adams, R.; Allen, H.E.; and Vetter, H. "Community Based Correctional Psychodrama: A Seven Year Follow-Up." <u>Southern Journal of Criminal</u> Justice. Vol. 1, No. 2 (Spring, 1976): 14-24.			9	District o (Mimeograp
	1184	Adams, Stuart. "Evaluative Research on the Correctional Process." District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, September 1969. (Mimeographed.)			2806	Adams, Stuart volved Pri Research F rections,
	1189	Adams, Stuart, et al. "Performance Trends Among Youth Center Parolees." Research Report No. 8. District of Columbia: Department of Correc- tions, October 1968. (Mimeographed.)			2906	Administrativ vision of ton, D.C.:
0	2900	Adams, Stuart, et al. "Trends in Performance in the Community: Youth Center and Community Treatment Center Releases." Research Report No. 36. District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, November 1970. (Mimeographed)	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		4057	Alaska Divisi Juneau, Al (Mimeograp
					1432	Allen, Jack.
e - ²⁰¹	9101 9102	Adams, Stuart. "Development of a Program Resparch Service in Proba- tion." Research Report No. 27. Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Probation Department, January 1966. (Mimeographed.)			•	sis of Par Administra July 15, 1
	9301	Adams, Stuart. "Effectiveness of the Youth Authority Special Treatment Program: First Interim Report." Research Report No. 5. California: California Youth Authority, March 16, 1959. (Mimeographed.)			3050a	Allen-Hagan, on an Expe fenders." of Correct
	9302	Adams, Stuart. "Assessment of the Psychiatric Treatment Program: Second Interim Report." Research Report No. 15. California: Cali- fornia Youth Authority, December 13, 1959. (Mimeographed.)		for a constant of the second	0784	Almy, Linda, ity." A 1
	9302	Adams, Stuart. "Effectiveness of Interview Therapy With Older Youth Authority Wards: An Interim Evaluation of the PICO Project." Re-				Massachuse
		search Report No. 20. California: California Youth Authority, January 20. 1961. (Mimeographed.)			1133	Alston, Luthe ile Court
	9303	Adams, Stuart. "Assessment of the Psychiatric Treatment Program,			- - 25 	Demonstrat Cleveland,
		fornia: California Youth Authority, January 31, 1961. (Mimeo- graphed.)			0322Ъ	A.B.A. Young Report 71- Services,
	9335	Adams, Stuart. "Development of a Program Research Service in Proba- tion." Research Report No. 27. Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Probation Department, January 1966. (Processed.)	9		3050Ъ	Anderson, Ler Crime Cont
C	2980	Adams, Stuart and Blanchfield, James. "Group Counseling With Juvenile Probationers: An Evaluation of the Long Beach Experiment." Re- search Report No. 17. Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Provation	1999 (1997) 1999 (1997) 1999 (1997)	0	0720	tive to Ir bia: Depa Angelino, Her
•		Department, June 1964.	0 9 			of Shock P Laboratory

68

and Dellinger, Joseph B. "In-Program and Post-Release e of Work-Release Inmates: A Preliminary Assessment of Release Program." Research Report No. 13. District of Department of Corrections, March 1969.

; Heaton, Wanda; and Sepvacek, John. "Post-Release Perof 432 Reformatory Releases." Research Report No. 11. of Columbia: Department of Corrections, February 1969. bhed.)

and McArthur, Virginia. "Performance of Narcotic Inson Releases Under Three Kinds of Community Experience." Report No. 16. District of Columbia: Department of Cor-June 1969. (Mimeographed.)

ve Office of the U.S. Courts. "Persons Under the Superthe Federal Probation System-Fiscal Year 1965." Washing-Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts, June 1966.

on of Corrections, "Misdemeanant Probation Project." aska: Alaska Division of Corrections, April 20, 1976. ohed.)

"Kentucky vs. National Parele Success Rates: An Analyole Outcome for 1972 Based on the Uniform Parole Reports." tive Report No. 16. Kentucky: Bureau of Corrections, L975. (Mimeographed.) ġ, s

Barbara. "Youth Crime Control Project: A Final Report erimental Alternative to Incarceration of Young Adult Of-Research Report 75-1. District of Columbia: Department ions, March 1975.

et al. "A Study of a Coeducational Correctional Facil-Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements gree of Master of Science in Social Service. Boston, etts: Boston University School of Social Work, 1975.

er B. and Bruce, William H. "Summary Report on the Juvenof Cuyahoga County/Big Brothers of Greater Cleveland tion Program." Cleveland, Ohio: Big Brothers of Greater October 1973.

Lawyers Section. "Volunteer Parole Aide Program: Final -75." A.B.A. Commission on Correctional Facilities and August 1975.

oy B.; Moore, Warren H.; and Allen-Hagan, Barbara. "Youth trol Project: A Final Report on an Experimental Alternancarceration of Young Adult Offenders." District of Columartment of Corrections, March 1975.

mry R., et al. "A Longitudinal Study of the Effectiveness robation." Final Report. Ohio: Behavioral Sciences , The Ohio State University, n.d.

С	2027	<pre>Araki, C.T. "Comprehensive Plan of the Board of Paroles and Pardons. State of Hawaii." Honolulu, Hawaii: Board of Paroles and Pardons, June 15, 1975. (Processed.)</pre>		2162	Babst, Dean V.; G Post-Release A
	0858	Archdiocesan Opportunity Program. "Project Fresh Start: Final Report and Evaluation, July 1, 1966 to September 30, 1967." Detroit: Archdiocesan Opportunity Program, September 1967.			of New York an Commitment Exp Narcotic Addic California, No
	2207f	Arizona Department of Corrections. "1975 Arizona Correctional Statis- tics." Arizona: Department of Corrections, 1975. (Mimeographed.)		2165	Babst, Dean V.; G parison of Mul
3. 1	2208	Arizona Division of Research, Program Planning and Evaluation. "Parole Success Indicators." Arizona: State Department of Corrections,			for Developing Crime and Deli
		Julie 1973.		2192	Babst, Dean V. an
	2322	Arizona Department of Corrections. "Parole: A Ticket-Of-Leave." Evaluation Report No. 75-9. Arizona: Department of Corrections,			State Departme
		December 1975.		2193	Babst, Dean V. an
	2321	Arizona Division of Research, Program Planning and Evaluation. "Pilot Recidivism Study." Research Report No. 76-1. Arizona: State De-			Wisconsin Scho State Departme
		partment of Corrections, January 1976.		2952	Babst, Dean V. an
	1949	Arkansas Department of Correction. "1973-1974 Annual Report." Arkan- sas: Department of Correction, n.d.			ing Affects Pr on Probation I Bulletin C-4.
()	2821a	Arkansas Department of Correction. "State of Affairs in the Arkansas Department of Correction." Arkansas: Department of Correction, February 1976.	0	1383	fare, Bureau o Babst, Dean V. a In <u>Crime and J</u>
	2821Ъ	Arkansas Department of Correction. "Recidivism Rate of ADC 1973 Re- leases." Arkansas: Department of Correction, n.d.			Edited by Leon Books, Inc., 1
	3276	Arkansas Division of Probation and Parole. Mimeograph concerning the relationship between education received during incarceration and recidivism. Arkansas: Division of Probation and Parole, Depart- ment of Correction, n.d.		9103	Babst, Dean V. an for Similar Ty tions." <u>Journ</u> 60-71.
	1859a	Arkansas Planning, Evaluation, and Research Section. "Comprehensive Long Range Master Plan for the Prevention Treatment and Control		0040a	Bailey, Walter. periment." Ne
		of Juvenile Delinquency in Arkansas: A Systems Approach to Youth Services." Arkansas: The Department of Social and Rehabilitative Services, September 30, 1975.		2919	Ballard, Kelly B. Analysis and H California: J December 1963.
	3205	Attention Inc. "Attention Homes." Boulder, Colorado: Attention Inc., 1976. (Mimeographed.)		2425	Barbash, James T.
	1936j	Babst, D.V. "A Study to Relate Offender Characteristics to Parole Violation: Wisconsin Base Expectancies for Adult Male Parolees."			Adjustment." J. Hippchen, e
		Progress Report No. 8. Wisconsin: State Department of Public Wel- fare, Bureau of Research, May 1965. (Mimeographed.)		0590	Bayon, Roger and sion-The Sacu
	2603	Babst, Dean V., St al. "Assessing Length of Institutionalization in Relation to Parole Outcome-A Study of Drug Users Paroled in the United States in 1968 and 1969." <u>Criminology</u> , Vol. 14, No. 1 (May 1976): 41-54.	0		ject: A First tration of Cri

Claser, Daniel, and Inciardi, James A. "Predicting djustment of Institutionalized Addicts: An Analysis nd California Parole Experience and California Civil perience." New York and California: New York State tion Control Commission and The University of Southern vember 1969. (Mimeographed.)

ottfredson, Don M.; and Ballard, Kelly B., Jr. "Comtiple Regression and Configural Analysis Techniques Base Expectancy Tables." Journal of Research in nquency (January 1968): 72-80.

nd Hubble, Maruice E. "Juvenile Base Expectanciesool for Boys First Releases 1959-1960." Wisconsin: ent of Public Welfare, April 1964. (Mimeographed.)

nd Hubble, Maurice E. "Juvenile Base Expectanciesool for Girls First Releases 1959-1960." Wisconsin: ent of Public Welfare, February 1965. (Mimeographed.)

d Kusuda, Paul H. "The Extent to Which Problem Drinkobation. A Study of 239 White Male Offenders Placed In and About Madison, Wisconsin in 1953." Research Madison, Wisconsin: State Department of Public Welof Research, December 1961.

and Mannering, John W. "Probation Versus Imprisonment." Justice Volume III: The Criminal in Confinement. Radzinowicz and Marvin E. Wolfgang. New York: Basic 1971.

nd Mannering, John W. "Probation Versus Imprisonment vpes of Offenders: A Comparison by Subsequent Violanal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 2, 2 (1965):

"Management of Paroled Opiate Addicts: A Field Exew York: City University of New York, n.d.

, Jr. and Gottfredson, Don M. "Predictive Attribute Prediction of Parole Performance." Report No. 3. Institute for the Study of Crime and Delinquency,

"A Study of Psychological Therapy and Post-Release In Correctional Classification and Treatment. Leonard ed. Cincinnati, Ohio: The W.H. Anderson Company, 1975.

Feeney, Floyd. "Preventing Delinquency Through Diverramento County Probation Department 601 Diversion Prot Year Report." Davis, California: Center on Adminisiminal Justice, University of California, n.d.

2914	Barros, Colleen; McArthur, Virginia; and Adams, Stuart. "A Study of Post-Release Performance of Women's Detention Center Releases." Research Report No. 31. District of Columbia: Department of Cor- rections. August 1970. (Mimeographed)			0322g	Berran, John. "Illin tions, n.d. (Mim
3345	Bass, Richard A. "An Analysis of the California Department of Correc- tions Work Furlough Program in Fiscal Year 1969-70." California: Department of Corrections, November 1975.			3018	Birkenmayer, Andrew Classification Sy I. The Determina try of Correction
1063	Batz, Hodgen, Neuwoehner, Inc. "Inmates Commutated vs. Inmates Paroled." St. Louis, Missouri: Missouri Division of Corrections, August 1975.	Q Q	197	2923b	Bisco, Ray; Carey, W Homes-A Report." Division, October
3111	Beck, James L. and Hoffman, Peter B. "Time Served and Release Perform- ance: A Research Note." Journal of Research in Crime and Delin- quency, Vol. 13, No. 2 (July 1976): 127-132.			1787f	Bittner, Marguerite Parole Violations tional Facilities Minnesota: Depar
1664	Beebe, Tad. "Interim P/Prep Recidivism Study Report." Hartford, Connecticut, August 18, 1975. (Mimeographed.)				graphed.)
1998a	Beless, D.W. and Rest, E.R. "Probation Officer Case Aide Project. Final Report, Phase I." Unpublished Manuscript. Chicago: Center for Studies in Criminal Justice, University of Chicago Law School, n.d.			3321 3102	Blew and Carlson. Bonkalo, Annemarie E in Canada." Cana graphed.)
2442	Bell, Percy B.; Matthews, Merlyn; and Fulton, W. Scott. "A Future for Correctional Rehabilitation? Final Report Federal Offenders Reha- bilitation Program." Olympia, Washington: Coordinating Council for Occupational Education, November 1969.		(1530	Boudouris, James; Br "Pre-Sentence Inv port No. 7. New York City, Novemb
0559	Benton-Franklin Counties Juvenile Department. "Benton-Franklin Coun- ties Community-Based Diagnostic and Treatment Project-Final Report." Washington: Superior Court of the State of Washington, n.d.			3137	Bracken, Denis C. ' Corrections Centr of Toronto, Octob
1459a	Berecochea, John; Jaman, Dorothy; and Jones, Welton. "Time Served in Prison and Parole Outcome: An Experimental Study. Report No. 1." Research Report No. 49. California: Department of Corrections, 1973. (Mimeographed.)			9124	Brown, David F. "A sonment as Method ter's Thesis. To Toronto, 1962.
2614	Berg, William E. "The First Offender in Juvenile Court: A Study of the Milwaukee County Children's Court Center." Milwaukee, Wiscon- sin: Milwaukee Urban Observatory, 1974.			1295	Brown, Stephen F.; and Molof, Martin Felony Offenders Council, 1974.
1819c	Berkowitz, Joyce. "Ex-Convict Motivation and Recovery Center (X-MARG)- Final Report-Evaluation." Sacramento, California: American Justice Institute, August 1974. (Processed.)			3158	Buikhuisen, W. and <u>The British Jour</u>
0609Ъ	Berman, John. "An Experiment in Parolee Supervision." Lincoln, Nebra- ska: University of Nebraska, n.d. (Mimeographed.)			1473	Bull, James L. "Lo No. 28. Califor October 1967. (1
9220	Berntsen, Karen and Christiansen, Karl O. "A Resocialization Experi- ment with Short-Term Offenders." <u>Scandinavian Studies in Crimin-</u> <u>ology</u> 1 (1965): 35-54.		0	2879	Burgess, Ernest W. In "The Workings

C

'Illinois Evaluation." Illinois: Department of Correc-(Mimeographed.)

ndrew C. and Lambert, Leah R. "An Assessment of the ion System for Placement of Wards in Training Schools: ermination of Assessment of Outcomes." Ontario: Minisectional Services, August 1972.

rey, William; and Weber, J. Robert. "Project Group ort." Illinois: Department of Corrections, Juvenile ctober 1972. (Mimeographed.)

erite L. and Mandel, Nathan G. "A Follow-Up Study of ations of Individuals Released From Minnesota Correclities From January 1, 1962 Through December 31, 1962." Department of Corrections, November 9, 1974. (Mimeo-

on. "The Ohio Parole Officer Aide Program." Ohio, n.d.

arie E. "The Effect of Mandatory Supervision on Parolees Canada: Centre of Criminology, October 1975. (Mimeo-

es; Braun, Stuart; Cannon, Frank; and Jacobsen, Beth. ce Investigations and Recidivism." Research Center Re-New York: Office of Probation for the Courts of New November 3, 1972.

C. "An Evaluation of the Montgomery Centre-A Community Centre." Toronto: Centre of Criminology, University October 1, 1974. (Mimeographed.)

. "A Comparison of the Results of Probation and Impri-Methods of Rehabilitating Offenders." Unpublished Mass. Toronto: School of Social Work, University of 62.

F.; Cooper, Glenn; Carr, John D.; Giacinti, Thomas A.; Martin J. "Characteristics and Recidivism of Adult nders in Denver." Denver, Colorado: Denver Anti-Crime 74.

and Hoekstra, H.A. "Factors Related to Recidivism." Journal of Criminology (January 1974): 63-69.

"Long Jail Terms and Parole Outcome." Research Report lifornia: Research Division, Department of Corrections, 7. (Mimeographed.)

t W. "Factors Determining Success or Failure on Parole." kings of the Indeterminate-Sentence Law and the Parole llinois." Illinois: Parole Board of Illinois. 1

A-7

9202	Burkhart, Walter R. and Sathmary, Arthur. "An Evaluation of a Treat-	()	3142
9203	ment Control Project for Narcotics Offenders: Phases I and II." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 1 (1964): 47-52.		
1203	Caldwell, William A.; Adams, Stuart; and Barros, Colleen F. "Perform- ance of Corrections Referrals Under Three Narcotic Addiction Treat- ment Modalities." Research Report No. 42. District of Columbia: Office of Planning and Research, Department of Corrections, July		9336
	1971. (Mimeographed.)		4209
2910a	California Administrative Information and Statistics Section. "Felons Returned to California Prison After Release by Parole or by Dis- charge 1965-1975." California: Department of Corrections, June 25, 1976. (Mimeographed.)		0927
2910Ъ	California Administrative Information and Statistics Section. "Move- ment of Prison Population (Excluding Civil Narcotic Addicts) 1971, 1972, 1973, 1974 and 1975." California: Department of Corrections, January 30, 1976. (Mimeographed.)		1026
1480a	California Adult Authority. "Special Intensive Parole Unit. Phase I. Fifteen Man Caseload Study." Sacramento: Division of Adult Paroles, November 1956.		2893a
1480Ъ	California Adult Authority. "Special Intensive Parole Unit. Phase II. Thirty Man Caseload Study." California: Division of Adult Paroles, December 1958.	Ô	15550
2988a	California Bureau of Criminal Statistics. "Crime and Delinquency in California 1965." Sacramento, California: Division of Criminal Law and Enforcement, 1965.		
4135	California Bureau of Criminal Statistics. "Adult Probation in Cali- fornia 1974." Sacramento, California: Division of Criminal Law and Enforcement, n.d.		1607
1472d	California Department of Corrections. "The Work Unit Parole Program, A Report to the Legislature." California: Department of Correc- tions, December 1970.		9125
1472e	California Department of Corrections. "The Work Unit Parole Program, A Report to the Legislature." California: Department of Correc- tions, December 1971.		0785
3346	California Department of Corrections. "California Prisoners 1972." California: Department of Corrections, Research Division, 1972.		2/118
9221	California Department of Corrections. "Intensive Treatment Program: Second Annual Report." Sacramento, California: Division of Adult Paroles, December 1, 1958.		1240a
0984e	California Department of Youth Authority. "California's Probation Sub- sidy Program, A Progress Report to the Legislature-Report No. 2." California: Department of Youth Authority, January 1975.	0.	1555a

California Department of the Youth Authority. "Annual Report... Program Description and Statistical Summary." California: Department of the Youth Authority, 1975. (Processed.)

California Department of Youth Authority. "James Marshall Treatment **Program:** Progress Report." California: Department of Youth Authority, January 1967.

California Department of the Youth Authority. "Assessment of Junior College Program for Youthful Offenders in an Institution." Research Report No. 65. California: Department of the Youth Authority, June

California Department of the Youth Authority. "Analysis of Parole Performance by Institutional Length of Stay." Sacramento, California: Department of the Youth Authority, 1972. (Mimeographed.)

California Department of the Youth Authority. "Assessment of Preston Family Drug Treatment Project." California: Department of the Youth Authority, June 1975.

California Legislature Assembly Office of Research. "Preliminary Report on the Costs and Effects of the California Criminal Justice System and Recommendations for Legislation to Increase Support to Local Police and Corrections Programs." Sacramento, California: California State Assembly, April 1969.

Callahan, Edward F. "Statistical Tables Describing The Characteristics and Recidivism Rates of Men Released During 1966 From M.C.I. Norfolk, M.C.I, Walpole, M.C.I. Concord and the Massachusetts Forestry Camps." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Correction, January 1971. (Mimeographed.)

Callahan, Edward. "An Evaluation of the Special Narcotics Addiction Program at the Massachusetts Correctional Institution, Walpole." Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, October 1971. (Mimeographed.)

Cambridge University, Detention in Remand Homes. London: Macmillan,

Cannon, Tom. "An Evaluation of the Norfolk Fellowship." Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, June 1975. (Mimeographed.)

Capshaw, Terry S. "Department of Adult Probation." Connecticut: Department of Adult Probation, n.d.

Carlson, Eric and Seiter, Richard. "The Alvis House Probation Diversion Program: A First Year Report." Columbus, Ohio: The Program for the Study of Crime and Delinquency, October 1975. (Processed.)

Carney, Francis J. "Predicting Recidivism in a Medium Security Correctional Institution: Base Expectancy Categories for MCI Norfolk." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Correction, June 1966. (Mimeographed.)

3142

1973.

1952.

	이 가지 않는 것 같은 것이 있는 것 같은 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 있는 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 있는 것	-	
1555b	Carney, Francis J. "Predicting Recidivism in a Maximum Security Cor- rectional Institution: Some Emerging Generalizations." Boston: Massachusetts: Department of Correction, October 1966. (Mimeo- graphed.)		
1555c	Carney, Francis J. "A Summary of Studies on the Derivation of Base Expectancy Categories for Predicting Recidivism of Subjects Re- leased From Institutions of the Massachusetts Department of Cor- rections." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, October 1966. (Mimeographed.)		
1555e	Carney, Francis J. and Bottome, Estelle D. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Inmates Released From the Forestry Camps." Boston: Massachu- setts: Department of Correction, March 1967. (Mimeographed.)	nar - Henriche and Service Ansatz Service of the Service State Service Service Service Service Service Service	
1555n	Carney, Francis J. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Convicted Mur- derers." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Correction, October 1971. (Mimeographed.)	ryandig, siy dely yor de Dinder yor jang tilte sy fatter sy fatte	H

- Carney, Francis. "Evaluation of Psychotherapy in a Maximum Security 1409 Prison." Seminars in Psychiatry, Vol. 3, No. 3 (August 1971): 363-375.
- Carter, Leland C., et al. "Work Furlough Program Annual Report Calen-2986a dar Year 1965." Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Probation Department, n.d.
- Carter, Robert M. and Wilkins, Leslie T. "Some Factors in Sentencing 1665 Policy." Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology (1967): 138-157.
- Carter, Robert M. and Dightman, Carmeron R. "A Description and Evalua-1741 tion of the Minimum Service Caseloads in the Division of Probation and Parole." Research Report, Vol. 2, No. 5 (November 1969): 15-26.
- 1814 Cavior, Helene and Annesley, Schmidt. "A Test of the Effectiveness of a Differential Treatment Strategy at the Robert F. Kennedy Youth Center." Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Prisons, November 1974.
- 4160d Celso De La Paz. "Rodeo Follow-Up Study." California: Los Angeles County Probation Department, March 21, 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 0035k Center for Criminal Justice. "Quarterly Report of the DYS Project." Massachusetts: Harvard Law School, July 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 0041 Center for the Study of the Administration of Justice. "Direct Financial Assistance to Parolees Project." San Francisco: Scientific Analysis Corporation, July 1973.
- Chaiklin, Harris. "Final Report: The Community Reintegration Project." 1966a Maryland: Division of Correction, n.d.

Chase, M. "Behavioral and Environmental Characteristics of Delinquent 1249a Youths as Related to Treatment Outcomes. Summary Report of Major Findings and Program Implications." New York: Division for Youth, April 1975.

A-10

()

Chase, Mary M. "The Impact of Correctional Programs: Absconding." In Rudolf H. Moos, ed. Evaluating Correction and Community Settings. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1975.

Chesney, Steven L. "The Assessment of Restitution in the Minnesota Probation Services." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, January 25, 1976. (Mimeographed.)

Chicago Bar Association. "Program for Action-Report and Recommendations of the Commission on Administration of Criminal Justice in Cook County." Chicago, Illinois: Chicago Bar Association, June

Chicago Department of Human Resources. "Evaluation Report-Rehabilitation Program for Juvenile Delinquents." Chicago, Illinois: Research Division, Department of Human Resources, September 1973.

Chicago Department of Human Resources. "Evaluation Report-Youth Service Homes Project." Chicago, Illinois: Research Division, Department of Human Resources, February 1975.

Cobb, William H. and Oliver, Joseph A. "A Comparative Study of the Success Rate of Presentence and Post Sentence Reports in Two Alabama Counties." Georgia: College of Education, University of Georgia, November 28, 1973.

Cohen, Harold L. and Filipezak, James. A New Learning Experiment. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., Publishers, 1971.

Colorado Division of Correctional Services. "Three Types of Community Residential Programs Compared." Denver, Colorado: Division of Correctional Services, December 22, 1975.

Comptroller General of the United States. Federal Guidance Needed if Halfway Houses are to be a Viable Alternative to Prison. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, May 1975.

Comptroller General of the United States. "State and County Probation: Systems in Crisis." Washington, D.C.: General Accounting Office, May 27, 1976.

Comptroller General of the United States. "Rehabilitating Inmates of Federal Prisons: Special Programs Help, But Not Enough." District of Columbia: Bureau of Prisons, November 6, 1973.

4103c Connecticut Department of Correction. "Annual Report 1975." Connecticut: Department of Correction, n.d.

Connecticut Department of Correction. ""Annual Report 1973." Connecticut: Department of Correction, n.d.

Cook, Philip J. "The Effect of Legitimate Opportunities on the Probability of Parolee Recidivism." Durham, North Carolina: Institute of Policy Sciences and Public Affairs and The Department of Economics. Duke University, September 1973.

2548

2692c

2973

2297

2298

2083

0400

1397Ъ

0183

2623

4143

4103d

2908

()

1975.

4073	Cullen, Joseph I. "North Shore Community College Juvenile Offenders." Massachusetts: Division of Youth Services, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
2742	Davidson, G. Paul. "A British Therapeutic Community for the Persistent Offender." International Journal of Offender Therapy and Compara- tive Criminology, Vol. 20, No. 1 (1976): 77-81.
2214	Davies, Martin. <u>Financial Penalties and Probation</u> . London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1970.
2222	Davies, Martin. Probationers in Their Social Environment: A Study of Male Probationers Ages 17-20, Together With an Analysis of Those Re- convicted Within Twelve Months. Home Office Research Studies. Lon- don: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1969.
0985	Davis. "An Exploratory Study of the Narcotic Control Program for Youth Authority Parolees." Preliminary Report No. 38, Sacramento, Cali- fornia: Youth Authority, March 1964.
2762	Delaware State Board of Parole. "Annual Report FY July 1, 1974 Through June 30, 1975." Wilmington, Delaware: Board of Parole, n.d. (Mimeo- graphed.)
0689	District of Columbia Department of Corrections. "The Ex-Offender as Parole Officer. Third Quarterly Report." District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, January 1971. (Mimeographed.)
9104	Ditman, Keith S. and Crawford, George. "The Use of Court Probation in the Management of the Alcohol Addict." California: Alcoholism Re- search Clinic, UCLA Health Service Center, 1965. (Processed.)
9317	Ditman, et al. "A Controlled Experiment of the Use of Court Probation for Drunk Arrests." <u>American Journal of Psychiatry</u> 124, 2 (1967): 160-63.
9222	Dombross, Earl E. and Silver, J.R. "Excerpt from Final Report of the

4131 Dumbauld, John D. and Olsen, Kenneth A. "Drug Diversion 1000 P.C. in California 1974." California: Bureau of Criminal Statistics, n.d.

Northern California Service League, 1966. (Processed.)

9126 Ecihman, Charles J. "The Impact of the Gideon Decision Upon Crime and Sentencing in Florida: A Study of Recidivism and Socio-Cultural Change." Unpublished Master's Thesis, Florida State University, 1965.

San Francisco Rehabilitation Project for Offenders." San Francisco:

1950 9337 9338 1966. 9223 graphed.) 2363 1279Ъ 4102a 4102Ъ ji e 2977 ment, June 1966. 3100 9412

S

A-12

Coombs, Keith A. "An Analysis of the Academic Educational Program in

Crispino, Leonard. "The Temporary Absence Program for Employment: A

Study of Benefits." Ontario: Ministry of Correctional Services,

Washington State Adult Correctional Institutions."" Research Review

No. 20. Washington: Department of Institutions, June 1965. (Pro-

9228

3045a

cessed.)

May 1974.

Elden, R.J. and Adams, B. "Volunteer Courts: A Child's Helping Hand." Missouri: Law Enforcement Assistance Council, 1971.

Empey, LaMar T. "The Provo Experiment: A Brief Review." Los Angeles: Youth Studies Center, University of Southern California, 1966.

Empey, LaMar T., et al. "The Silverlake Experiment: A Community Study in Delinquency Rehabilitation." Progress Report No. 3. Los Angeles, Youth Studies Center, University of Southern California,

1053f England, B.C. "An Approach to Behavioral Change." Tulsa, Oklahoma: Tulsa County Juvenile Court, n.d.

4104a Ericson, Richard C. and Moberg, David O. "The Rehabilitation of Parolees-The Application of Comprehensive Psycho-Social Vocational Services in the Rehabilitation of Parolees." Minneapolis, Minnesota: Minneapolis Rehabilitation Center, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Ericson, et al. "The Application of Comprehensive Psychosocial Vocational Services in the Rehabilitation of Parolees...Period Covered by Report: January 1, 1965 Through February 28, 1965." Minneapolis, Minnesota: Minneapolis Rehabilitation Center, March 1965. (Mimeo-

Faine, John R. and Bohlander, Edward Jr. "Shock Probation: The Kentucky University, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Fallone, Nathaniel J. "Univariate and Multivariate Relationships Between Dimensions of Parole Outcome and Selected Parolee Characteristics: A Study of Male Young Adult Offenders 18 to 22 Months Following Parole." Hartford, Connecticut: University of Hartford, June 30, 1973. (Mimeographed.)

Feeley, Malcolm. "Parolee Reintegration Project: Six Month Report." Connecticut: Department of Correction, Research Section, March 10, 1974. (Mimeographed.)

Feeley, Malcolm M. "The Effects of Increased Gate Money." Connecticut: Department of Corrections, December 10, 1974. (Mimeographed.)

Feistman, Eugene G. "Comparative Analysis of the Willowbrook-Harbor Intensive Services Program-March 1, 1965 Through February 28, 1966." Report No. 28. Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Probation Department, June 1966.

Fenton, John J. "Statistical Information Regarding Work Release Program-Inception May 1969 Through 1972." East Meadow, New York: Sheriff's Department, August 1976.

Fisher, Sethard. "The Rehabilitative Effectiveness of a Community Correctional Residence for Narcotic Users." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology, and Police Science 56, 2 (1965): 190-96.

		1 2 1			
1917	Fishman, Gideon. "The Paradoxical Effect of Labeling." <u>International</u> Journal of Criminology and Penology 4 (1976): 1-7.			4005c	Florida Youth S Evaluation R tative Servi
1727	Florida Bureau of Research. "Evaluation of the Florida Program for Serious Offenders." Florida: Bureau of Research, Statistics and Planning, June 1975.			2860	Fontaine, Walte rectional In
1733	Florida Bureau of Statistics, Research, and Planning. "Youths Released				Januawy 1, 1 land: Resea
	From Florida Training Schools in 1970." Florida: Division of Youth Services, January 1975.	4 1 1 1		3061	Fontaine, Walter
3173	Florida Department of Offender Rehabilitation. "A Study of Recidivism for Inmates Released From Custody During October Through December,			\$	Department of
	1972." Florida: Bureau of Planning, Research, and Staff Develop- ment, December 18, 1975.			3072	Fontaine, Walter School for Bo
4004	Florida Parole and Probation Commission. "Statistical Profile Data, 1941-1974." Tallahassee, Florida: Parole and Probation Commission,				Corrections,
*	n.d. (Mimeographed.)			9207	Forman, B. "The sonality Trai
2875	Florida Parole and Probation Commission. "The Florida Parole and Pro- bation System is Working." 35th Annual Report. Florida: Parole and Probation Commission, 1975.			9127	Fox, Vernon. "N
1436	Florida Research, Statistics, and Planning Section. "Intensive Super-		0		Journal of Cr (1950): 56-6
	wision Project: Final Report." Florida: Parole and Probation Com- mission, June 28, 1974.			2903	Franczyk, James Minnesota: H
.734b	Florida Youth Services Program Office. "Evaluation of Major Residen- tial Treatment Programs 505." Florida: Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, August 1974. (Mimeographed.)			9339	Evaluation, J Freeman, Howard
734c	Florida Youth Services Program Office. "Evaluation of Family Group Home Programs FY 1974-1975." Florida: Department of Health and				(1956): 56-6
	Rehabilitative Services, 1975. (Mimeographed.)			1234	Friday, Paul C. Program for t
734d	502." Florida: Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, October 1973. (Mimeographed.)			-1551	Fuller, Ann and
295	Florida Youth Services Program Office. "Information on the Florida				divism." Mas (Mimeographed
	partment of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 1976. (Mimeographed.)			3245	Gaither, Carl an vism: A Prel
3296	Florida Youth Services Program Office. "INAS Questions." Florida: Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 1975. (Mimeo-			0.000	of Correction
2206	graphed.)			9229	sis of the Vo Correctional
5290	Florida: Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 1976. (Mimeographed.)		\wedge		Department of
3296	Florida Youth Services Program Office. "Youth Services System Flow Chart-FY 74-75." Florida: Division of Youth Services, n.d. (Mimeo- graphed.)		U	9412	Geis, Gilbert. dicts." Sacra and Delinquen

4. D

A-14

th Services Program Office. "Project Crest: Summary of Ion Results." Florida: Department of Health and Rehabili-Services, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Walter and Bourquet, C. Marc. "Recidivism at the Adult Coral Institution January 1-December 31, 1972 Final Report; 1, 1973-December 31, 1974 Provisional Report." Rhode Is-Research and Planning Unit, Department of Corrections, n.d.

alter. "The Work Release Program-Rhode Island Adult Correcnstitution 1967-1973-A History and Analysis." Rhode Island: nt of Corrections, n.d.

alter J. and Taylor, Donald D. "The Rhode Island Training or Boys 1969-Recidivism Report, Youthful and Adult Offenses d Through August 31, 1974." Rhode Island: Department of ons, n.d.

"The Effects of Differential Treatment on Attitudes, Per-Traits, and Behavior of Adult Parolees." Unpublished Ph.D. tion, University of Southern California, 1960.

• "Michigan's Experiment in Minimum Security Penology." of Criminal Law, Criminology, and Police Science 41, 2 56-61.

ames F. "Predicting Success and Failure With Adult Felons." a: Hennepin County Department of Court Services-Program on, January 29, 1975.

ward E. and Weeks, H. Ashley. "Analysis of a Program of t of Delinquent Boys." <u>American Journal of Sociology</u> 62, 1 56-61.

C. et al. "Shock Probation: The Ohio Experience." Ohio: For the Study of Crime and Delinguency, The Ohio State Uni-December 1974.

and Carney, Francis. "The Self-Development Group and Reci-Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, May 8, 1968. aphed.)

1 and Waldron, Ronald. "Prison College May Reduce Recidi-Preliminary Study." Huntsville, Texas: Texas Department Stions, Research Branch, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Walter; Keith, Harold L; and Clemmons, Gloria. "An Analyne Vocational Training Program in the Washington State Adult onal Institutions." Research Review No. 23. Washington: nt of Institutions, May 1967. (Processed.)

t. "The East Los Angeles Halfway House for Narcotic Ad-Sacramento, California: Institute for the Study of Crime Aquency, June 1966. (Processed.)

	이 가지 않는 것 같은 것 같		¥ I			
3012c	Georgia Division of Youth Services. "Evaluation Community Treatment Centers Fiscal Year 1975." Georgia: Department of Human Resources, March 1976. (Mimeographed.)			()	9129	Great Britain. <u>for Courts on</u> Stationery Of
2617	Georgia State Crime Commission. "Institutional Treatment Programs, CR 2-1." Georgia: State Crime Commission, October 28, 1975.				9305 9307	Guttman, Evelyn Youth Authori
3012a	Georgia Youth Services Section. "Evaluation of Youth Served in Day Care Centers and Community Treatment Centers From Inception to June					1961.
	30, 1974. Report #2: Population of Released Cases." Georgia: Department of Human Resources, June 16, 1975. (Mimeographed.)				9306	Guttman, Evelyn Boys in Two C port No. 36.
0003	Glaser, D. The Effectiveness of a Prison and Parole System. Abridged					
	Edition. Indianapolis and New York: The Hobbs Merrill Company,				1129	Haarman, G.B. "1
	Inc., 1969.					From Entrance
 2076	Codby C "North Dologon Gim Many Description 10(C 70 H or 1					politan Socia
2070	Department of Human Resources 1974 (Minocorraphod)				2470	
18	beparement of human Resources, 1974. (Rimeographed.)				2412	Hall, Kels H.; M: Comparative St
9340 9347	Goldberg, Lisbeth and Adams, Stuart. "An Experimental Evaluation of the Hall Program." Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Proba-	и.			на са по стана по стана с	leases." Wash
	tion Department, December 1964.				2871	Hamberg, Ronald I
10/0						1 Evaluation 1
1840	Goldberg, Richard and Johnson, B. Della. "Vocational and Social Reha- bilitation of Juvenile Delinquents." Massachusetts: Massachusetts					and Community
	Rehabilitation Commission, May 1972.			12	0773	Hamilton, Emma-Lo
1960	Coldmon Terrin T. MAnuscher S. D. C. Market M. M. S. Market M. S. Mark	$\sim \frac{1}{2} n = 2$	н н. С			1969 Releases.
1200	From State Schools and Other Facilities of the New York State Divi-					October 1975.
	sion for Youth." New York: State Division for Youth, October 1974. (Processed.)				1052a	Hamilton, Emma-Lo State Correcti
						Correctional S
0045	Goodstein, Lynne. "Inmate Adjustment to Incarceration and Post Re-					
	lease Outcome." New York: Social Personality Program, City Uni-				9134	Hammond, W.H. and
	versity of New York Graduate School, n.d.					search Unit Re
1469	Gottfredson, Don, et al. "Base Expectancy California Institution for				00025	Nandlon Ellon
	Women." California: Institute for the Study of Crime and Delin-				00020	Treatment Proo
	quency, September 1962.					cial Work, Uni
0020						
0000	Served and Parolo Outcomes " Device California: Netd of Time				2615	Handler, E. "The
	on Crime and Delinguency, June 1973.					venile Offende
	on or me and berinquency, bune 1975.					SCHOOL OF SOCI
0656	Grant, Frank. "An Experimental Approach to Adult Offenders From 1962	3		n.	9208	Hansen, Hans Aloi
	to 1968." Huntsville, Texas: Sam Houston State University, n.d.					holics in Denm
15554	Graves Devid C and Gradese Till D III I I C - I I C					(1954): 246-8
TUUT	Among Men Released From M C T Concord During 1066 " Poston				2800	11
	Massachusetts: Department of Correction. August 1972.				2099	Harris, Carl M.
				. 0		the second secon
1555h	Graves, David S. and Youman, Alvin. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among			\cap	9319	Harrison, Robert
	men keleased from M.G.I. Noriolk During 1966." Boston, Massachu-		de de la 🖡	ر الکیک ر	a para sera	Counseling and
	Sotter Department of Commentation () Assessed 1070		1			

C

(___

. Home Office. <u>The Sentence of the Court: A Handbook</u> on the Treatment of Offenders. London: Her Majesty's Office, 1964.

yn S. "MMPI Measured Changes in Treated and Untreated ority Wards Judged in Need of Psychiatric Treatment." eport No. 25. California: Youth Authority, November

yn S. "Effects of Short-Term Psychiatric Treatment on o California Youth Authority Institutions." Research Re-6. California: Youth Authority, December 1963.

"Female Delinquency in Jefferson County: An Analysis nce to Post-Treatment." Louisville, Kentucky: Metrocial Services Department, 1975.

; Milazzo, Mildred; and Posner, Judy. "A Descriptive and e Study of Recidivism in Pre-Release Guidance Center Re-Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Prisons, n.d.

ld Lee and Truner, Lanny M. "Spokane Family House-Year on 1974-1975." Washington: State of Washington Planning ity Affairs Agency, n.d.

a-Lou and MacDonald, Donald. "Five-Year Follow-Up of ses." Albany, N.Y.: Department of Correctional Services, 75.

a-Lou C. and Hoad, Donald. "Work Release In New York actional Facilities." Albany, New York: Department of al Services, December 1973.

and Cahyen, E. <u>Persistent Criminals: A Home Office Re-</u> <u>E Report</u>. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1963.

n. "The Unspectacular Results of Three Local Residential Programs." Urbana, Illinois: Jane Addams School of So-University of Illinois, 1975. (Mimeographed.)

"The Vast Project: A Work Socialization Program for Juenders." Urbana, Illinois: The Jane Addams Graduate Social Work, University of Illinois, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

lois and Tellmann, Karl. "A Treatment of Criminal Alcoenmark." <u>Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol</u> 25, 2 6-87.

I. "Statistical Analysis of Recidivism Data." Washing-The George Washington University, September 14, 1973.

art M. and Mueller, Paul F.C. "Clue Hunting About Group and Parole Outcome." Research Report No. 11. California: of Corrections, May 1964. (Mimeographed.)

C	2927	Hart, Ian. "Factors Relating to Reconviction Among Young Dublin Pro- bationers." Paper No. 76. Dublin: The Economic and Social Re- search Institute, August 1974.) 0437	Hill, Judy. Correction
	0035a	Harvard Law School. "Quarterly Report of the DYS Project." Cambridge, Massachusetts: Center for Criminal Justice, July 1974. (Mimeo- graphed.)		0994c	Hill, Marjori Eagle Rive March 1, 1
	0035k	Harvard Law School. "Quarterly Report of the DYS Project." Cambridge, Massachusetts: Center for Criminal Justice, July 1975. (Mimeo- graphed.)		147 8 Ъ	Himelson, Alf Theory and Subjects.' rections,
	1480e	Havel, Joan. "Special Intensive Parole Unit Phase Four. The High Base Expectancy Study." Research Report No. 10. California: Department of Corrections, n.d. (Mimeographed.)		0756	Hoad, Donald YMCA Cente 1975.
	1480f	Havel, Joan. "Special Intensive Parole Unit Phase Four. The Parole Outcome Study." Research Report No. 13. California: Department of Corrections, September 1965. (Mimeographed.)		1450	Holt, Norman. Prisoners- Department
	1480d	Havel, Joan and Sulka, Elaine. "Special Intensive Parole Unit Phase Three." Research Report No. 3. California: Department of Correc- tions, March 1962. (Mimeographed.)		1456	Holt, Norman tionships January 19
C	0920	Hawaii Corrections Research and Statistics Bureau. "Individual Offen- der Profile Study: Description of Case Process For Adult Male, Ju- venile Male, and Juvenile Female Offenders." Research Report No. 1. Honolulu, Hawaii: Department of Social Services and Houseing, De- cember 1971.		9224) 2634	Hood, Roger. <u>After-Cond</u> London: (Hopkins, Andr
	2138	Hawaii Corrections Research and Statistics Bureau. "The Relationship Between Time Served and Recidivism." Research Report No. 19. Hono- lulu, Hawaii: Department of Social Services and Housing, February 1976. (Mimeographed.)		2905	Study." No. 1 (Jan Houlihan, Key and Juven:
	0987a	Healy, William; Bronner, Augusta F.; and Shimberg, Myra E. "The Close of Another Chapter in Criminology." <u>Mental Hygiene</u> XIX, 2 (April 1935): 208-222.		0069a	n.d. Hudson, C.H. Parole Suj
	1192	Heaton, Wanda S. and Adams, Stuart. "Community Performances of Three Categories of Institutional Releases." Research Report No. 15. District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, June 1969.		1051	Report." Humphreys, La Evaluation
	4055	Hemple, W.E. and Webb, W.H. "Researching Prediction Scales for Proba- tion." <u>Federal Probation</u> 40 (June 1976): 33-37.			California (Mimeogray
	2501Ъ	Henning, John J. "Juvenile Division Parole Violation Rates 1968-1973." Springfield, Illinois: Department of Corrections, 1973. (Mimeo- graphed.)		2096	Ifukube, Shun Probation (1973):
C	2059	Herman, J. "Methadone Maintenance Treatment in Probation." Unpub- lished Manuscript. New York City: Probation Methadone Program, January 1972.		2731)	Illinois Dep and Corre Resource
j ·		이 이 집에 집에 있는 것 같은 것은 것을 알았다. 이 집에 있는 것 같은 것 같	n en en la serie 🛔 👘 🕯		

Tror.

وجيدجيك وما يهجدوه برجوابق درباه

"Intensive Supervision Unit." Eagle River, Alaska: State Ional Center, n.d.

orie J. "Recidivism 1971-1974-Division of Corrections." Iver, Alaska: Department of Health and Social Services, 1975.

Ifred and Takagi, Paul. "Parole Panel Study, Report A: and Method With a Comparison of Experimental and Control a." Research Report No. 7. California: Department of Cora, June 1963. (Mimeographed.)

d R. "Parole Resource Centers Program: The New York City ters." Albany, N.Y.: Department of Correctional Services,

an. "California's Pre-Release Furlough Program for State s-An Evaluation." Research Report No. 38. California: ent of Corrections, December 1969.

n and Miller, Donald. "Explorations in Inmate-Family Relaos." Report No. 46. California: Department of Corrections, 1972. (Mimeographed.)

Homeless Borstal Boys: A Study of Their After-Care and onduct. Occasional Papers on Social Administration No. 18. G. Bell and Sons, 1966.

ndrew. "Imprisonment and Recidivism: A Quasi-Experimental Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency. Vol. 13, January 1976): 13-32.

Kevin A. "Parole Outcome Studies-Adult Community Centers enile Halfway House." Illinois: Department of Corrections,

H. "An Experimental Study of the Differential Effects of Supervision for a Group of Adolescent Boys and Girls-Summary ' Minneapolis, Minnesota: Department of Corrections, 1973.

Laud; Carrier, Joseph M.; and Dennison, Laura B. "Annual Ion Report-Pomona Valley Juvenile Diversion Project." Pomona, nia: Pomona Valley Juvenile Diversion, September 5, 1975. raphed.)

hunjf and Sugihara, Sachiko. "A Follow-Up Study of Adult oners." <u>Bulletin of the Criminological Research Department</u> 51-54.

epartment of Corrections. "Correctional Manpower Project rectional School District 428." Lockport, Illinois: Human e Development Career Counseling Program, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

- 0737 Illinois Office of Planning and Research. "An Evaluation of the Fox Valley Work Release Center." Aurora, Illinois: Department of Corrections.
- 2501b Illinois Parole and Pardon Board. "Juvenile Division Parole Violation Rates, 1968-1973." Unpublished Report. Springfield, Illinois: Parole and Pardon Board, n.d.
- 2169 Inciardi, James A. "The Use of Parole Prediction With Institionalized Narcotic Addicts." New York: State Drug Abuse Control Commission, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 0919 Indiana Department of Correction. "The Annual Abstract of the Department of Correction." Indiana: Department of Correction, 1972.
- 2008 Iwai, Keisuke; Izumi, Nobumi; and Sugihara, Sachiko. "A Follow-Up Study of Supervision by Regular Probation Officers Compared With Supervision by Volunteer Probation Officers." <u>Bulletin of the</u> Criminological Research Department: 51-55.
- 1040ww Jacks, William L. "Returns to Prison and Number of Previous Arrests." Pennsylvania: Board of Parole, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 9230 Jacobsen, Frank and McGee, Eugene. "Englewood Project: Re-Education: A Radical Correction of Incarcerated Delinquents." Englewood, Colorado, July 1965. (Mimeographed.)
- 1464 Jaman, Dorothy. "Sentences and Offenses-One or More Than One: Time Served and Parole Outcome." Research Report No. 54. California: Department of Corrections, November 1974.
- 3261d Jaman, Dorothy R. "Behavior During the First Year in Prison-Report IV-As Related to Parole Outcome." Research Report No. 44. California: Department of Corrections, November 1971. (Mimeographed.)
- 1461 Jaman, Dorothy R.; Bennett, Lawrence A.; and Berecochea, John E. "Early Discharge From Parole: Policy Practice, and Outcome." Research Report No. 51. Sacramento, California: Department of Corrections, April 1974.
- 1447 Jaman, Dorothy and Dickover, Robert. "A Study of Parole Outcome as a Function of Time Served." Research Report No. 35. California: Department of Corrections, September 1969. (Mimeographed.)
- 3260 Jaman, Dorothy R. and Mueller, Paul F.C. "Evaluation of Parole Outcome by Parole Districts of Release-1957-1960 Releases." Research Report No. 21. Sacramento, California: Department of Corrections, 1965. (Mimeographed.)
- 1288a James, Thomas S. "Project New Pride Annual Report." Denver: Project New Pride, January 17, 1975.
- 0871q Jenkins, W. <u>A Postprison Follow-Up Evaluation Study of the Alabama</u> <u>Work Release Program: Final Report.</u> Montgomery, Alabama: Rehabilitation Research Foundation, March 1975.

0871p	Jenkins, W., <u>der: A Fin</u> Foundation
1046a	Jesness, Carl and Behavio Disorders,
1046Ъ	Jesness, Carl and Transa Consulting
3313	Jesness, Carl Treatment I No. 2 (Win
9341	Jesness, Carl Large Livin Report No.
1025	Jesness, Carl ferential ' Crime and)
2859	Jew, Charles Group Psyc Report No.
1116a	Jewish Vocatio Milwaukee,
0660	John Howard A An Analysi ciation, Ju
9212	Johnson, Bert Parole Res search Rep 1962. (Min
9213	Johnson, Bert and of Jud Research R 1962. (Min
1497c	Johnson, Elme Carbondale and Correc
1397a	Jones, Krista tions Prog Office of November 2

()

()

()

et al. The Behavioral Demography of the Young Male Offennal Report. Montgomery, Alabama: Rehabilitation Research , May 1975.

F. "The Youth Center Project: Transactional Analysis or Modification Programs for Delinquents." <u>Behavioral</u> Col. 1, No. 1 (1975): 27-36.

F. "Comparative Effectiveness of Behavior Modification actional Analysis Programs for Delinquents." <u>Journal of</u> and Clinical Psychology, Vol. 43, No. 6 (1975): 758-779.

F. "Comparative Effectiveness of Two Institutional Programs for Delinquents." <u>Child Care Quarterly</u>, Vol. 1, hter 1971-1972): 119-130.

F. "The Fricot Ranch Study: Outcomes with Small versus ng Groups in the Rehabilitation of Delinquents." Research 47. California: Youth Authority, October 1, 1965.

F. "The Preston Typology Study-An Experiment With Dif-Treatment in an Institution." Journal of Research in Delinquency, Vol. 8, No. 1 (January 1971): 38-52.

C.; Kim, Luke I.C.; and Mattocks, A.L. "Effectiveness of hotherapy With Character Disordered Prisoners." Research 56. California: Department of Corrections, October 1975.

onal Services. "Final Report on Grant #72-06-03-07." Wisconsin: Jewish Vocational Services, April 17, 1973.

Association. "Governor Walker's Proposed Justice Model: s of Its Impact." Chicago, Illinois: John Howard Asso-Muly 1975. (Mimeographed.)

ram. "Parole Performance of the First Year's Releases. Bearch Project: Evaluation of Reduced Caseloads." Rebort No. 27. California: Youth Authority, January 31, meographed.)

ram. "An Analysis of Predictions of Parole Performance agements of Supervision in the Parole Research Project." Report No. 32. California: Youth Authority, January 31, Ameographed.)

er. <u>Work Release: Factors in Selection and Results</u>. e, Illinois: Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency ctions, 1969.

ann S. "Evaluation of Three Experimental Community Correcgrams Funded Through Senate Bill 55." Denver, Colorado: Research and Planning, Division of Correctional Services, 20, 1975.

0

1625	Joseph, Herman. "Court Services and Methadone Treatment: The New York City Probation Program." New York: City Probation Department, n.d.
2079	Justice Resource Institute, Inc. "The Drug Evaluation and Referral Program." Boston, Massachusetts: Justice Resource Institute, Inc, 1974.
2657	Juvenile Division of the Allen Superior Court. "Annual Report for 1975." Fort Wayne, Indiana: Allen Superior Court, 1976.
4159	Kansas Research and Planning Division. "Topeka Work Release Center Survey of Paroled and Active Participants." Kansas: Department of Corrections, March 15, 1976. (Mimeographed.)
0026	Kassebaum, G.; Ward, D.A.; and Wilner, D. <u>Prison Treatment and Parole</u> <u>Survival</u> . New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1971.
9342	Kassebaum, Gene G.; Ward, David A.; and Wilner, Daniel M. <u>The Man in</u> <u>the Pastal Prison: A Study of Correctional Treatment Outcome</u> . New York: John Wiley and Sons, in press.
1237	Kavanaugh, Kirk J. "A Twelve-Month Probation Outcome Study: Examining the Effects of Employment on Probationer Adjustment." Monograph No. 34. Columbus, Ohio: The Ohio State University, n.d.
1264	Kawguchi, Ray. "Camp Fenner Canyon Evaluation-Final Report." Cali- fornia: Los Angeles County Probation Department, February 24, 1975.
9107	Kawguchi, Ray M. and Siff, Leon M. "An Analysis of Intensive Proba- tion Services-Phase II." Research Report No. 29. Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Probation Department, April 1967.
1037j	Kelly, Francis J. and Baer, Daniel,J. "Outward Bound Schools as an Alternative to Institutionalization for Adolescent Delinquent Boys." Massachusetts: Outward Bound, Inc., June 1968. (Processed.)
2670	Kemper, Raymond A. "Kentucky's Coordinated Pre-Employment Training for Young Adult Offenders: Final Evaluation Report-June 1967." Kentucky: Raymond A. Kemper and Associates, June 1967.
1134a	Kent County Juvenile Court. "Kentfields Rehabilitation Program-An Alternative to Institutionalization. First Annual Report." Grand Rapids, Michigan: Kent County Juvenile Court, 1970. (Processed.)
1134Ъ	Kent County Juvenile Court. "Kentfields Rehabilitation Program. Sixth Annual Report." Grand Rapids, Michigan: Kent County Juvenile Court, 1975. (Mimeographed.)
4019	Kentucky Legislative Research Commission. "Subcommittee on Probation

Kime, William L. "Memorandum-High Risk/Low Risk Parolees." Michigan: 2911 Department of Corrections, June 10, 1976. (Mimeographed.)

Kentucky, November 1967.

and Parole: 1967 Report, Information Bulletin No. 63." Frankfort,

3236 1053a n.d. 2523 1813 2299Ъ 1034g 2901 4203 9232 1967. 0668b Inc., n.d.

 (\mathbf{O})

A-22

Kingery, Garland A. "Annual Report of the Parole and Pardon Board Department of Public Safety for the Year Ending December 31, 1964." Illinois: Department of Public Safety, 1965. (Mimeographed.)

Kinsey, Barry A. "Evaluation of Court Probation and Volunteer Service Coordination Program at the Juvenile Bureau of the District Court of Tulsa County 1972-73." Tulsa, Oklahoma: University of Tulsa,

Kirby, Bernard C. "Crofton House: A Community Oriented Halfway Home for Local Offenders-Final Report." San Diego, California: San Diego State College, 1970.

Kitchener, Howard. "Follow-Up of 1972 Releases." Washington, D.C.: U.S. Bureau of Prisons, May 7, 1975. (Mimeographed.)

Kitchener, Howard L. and Lebowitz, Harriet M. "Preliminary Highlights from Work Release Follow-Up Study." Washington, D.C.: U.S. Bureau of Prisons, March 1970.

Klein, Malcolm W. "Alternative Dispositions for Juvenile Offenders: An Assessment of the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department's 'Juvenile Referral and Resource Development Program'." California: Social Science Research Institute, University of Southern California, June 30, 1975. (Mimeographed.)

1034h Klein, Malcolm W. "Labeling, Deterrence, and Recidivism: A Study of Police Dispositions of Juvenile Offenders." Social Problems, Vol. 22. No. 2 (December 1974): 292-303.

Klimek, Walter S. and McHugh, Neal J. "Recidivism and Rehabilitation." Illinois: State of Illinois Youth Commission, December 1967.

Knight, Doug. "The Marshall Program, Assessment of a Short-Term Institutional Treatment Program Part II: Amenability to Confrontive Peer-Group Treatment." Research Report No. 59. California: State Department of the Youth Authority, August 1970.

Kovacs, Frank W. "Evaluation and Final Report of the New Start Demonstration Project." Colorado: Department of Employment, October

Ku, Richard. "An Exemplary Project-The Volunteer Probation Counselor Program, Lincoln, Nebraska." Washington, D.C.: Abt Associates,

1223b Lamb, H. Richard and Goertzel, Victor. "Ellsworth House: A Community Alternative to Jail." American Journal of Psychiatry 131, 1 (January 1974): 64-68.

3016d Lambert, Leah R. and Madden, Patrick G. "Vanier Centre Research Report #3-The Adult Female Offender Before-During-After Incarceration." Ontario: Ministry of Correctional Services, November 1975.

- 3248 Lambert, Leah R. and Madden, Patrick G. "The Adult Female Offender: The Road From Institution to Community Life." <u>Canadian Journal of</u> <u>Criminology and Corrections</u>, Vol. 18, No. 4 (October 1976): 319-331.
- 1849a Lamkin, Ann E., et al. "Santa Clara County Day Care Treatment Center for Delinquents." Sacramento, California: American Justice Institute, August 1974.
- 3269 Landolfi, Joseph. "Charlotte House Pre-Release Center for Women: A Profile of Participants and a Recidivism Follow Up." Massachusetts: Department of Correction, October 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 1555t Landolfi, Joseph. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Residents Released from the Pre-Release Centers Administered by Massachusetts Halfway Houses, Inc." Boston, Massachusetts: Massachusetts Department of Correction, June 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 2111 Langer, Jerry H. "Evaluation Report of the Narcotics Education League's Residential Treatment Program for Chicano Heroin Addicts." Oakland, California: Office of Criminal Justice Planning, April 1, 1975.
- 3943 Laulicht, Jerome, et al. "Recidivism and Its Correlates: The Problems of Statistical Research." <u>Berkshire Farm Monographs</u> 1, 1 (1962): 23-36.
- 0783 LeClair, Daniel P. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Residents Released from Massachusetts Correctional Institutions During 1971." Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, May 1975. (Mimeographed.)

(

- 1555k LeClair, Daniel P. "Statistical Tables Describing the Characteristics and Recidivism Rates of 1971 Releases from Massachusetts MCIs." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Correction, August 1974. (Mimeographed.)
- 15551 LeClair, Daniel P. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Residents Released from Boston State and Shirley Pre-Release Centers, During 1972-1973." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, August 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 1555r LeClair, Daniel P. "An Analysis of Recidivism Among Residents Released from Massachusetts Correctional Institutions During the Year 1972 in Comparison with Releases in the Year 1966 and 1971." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Corrections, March 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 1606 LeClair, Daniel P. "An Evaluation of the Impact of the MCI-Concord Day Work Program." Boston, Massachusetts: Department of Correction, July 1973. (Mimeographed.)
- 4187 LeClair, Daniel P. "A Profile of Characteristics Distinguishing Between Program Completers and Program Non-Completers in Massachusetts' Pre-Release Centers." Massachusetts: Department of Correction, November 1975. (Mimeographed.)

1788c	Lee, Hee Kwan A Prelimin ness for t Department
2710	Lefkowitz, Mo for Delinq giene, n.d
0016a	Lenihan, Kenn sign Quest Science Re
2483	Lerner, Mark on Misdeme tion, C.C.
2998	Lichter, Stua gional Cri
1034e	Lincoln, Suza fornia: U
1684	Lipstein and tion." Ma
1472c	Little, A. " tion, Dece
1367i	Lohman, Josep Supervisio No. 8. Be California
4103a	Loveland, Fra of Connect tion Insti
0753	MacDonald, Do bany, New Program Pl graphed.)
2993a	McCall, Cecil July 1, 19 Paroles, 1
2993	McCall. Cecil

()

June 30, 1975." (Mimeographed.) 1944 McCord. Joan: McCo

McCord, Joan; McCord, William; and Thruber, Emily. "The Effects of Foster-Home Placement in the Prevention of Adult Antisocial Behavior." <u>Social Service Review</u> 34 (December 1960): 415-20.

n and Mandel, Nathan G. "Institution Community Continuumnary Analysis of Population Movement and Program Effectivethe Period January 1, 1969-December 31, 1969." Minnesota: t of Corrections, May 1970. (Mimeographed.)

onroe M. "The Efficacy of Short Term Institutionalization quent Girls." New York: State Department of Mental Hyd. (Mimeographed.)

neth J. "The Life Project: Some Preliminary Results, Detions, and Policy Issues." Washington: Bureau of Social esearch, February 1975.

Jay. "A Matter of Time-The Impact of Conditional Release eanant Offenders." New York: Unpublished Ph.D. disserta-N.Y., n.d.

art. "Kairos Status Report." California: Alameda Reiminal Justice Planning Board, March 1975.

anne Bugas. "Juvenile Referral and Recidivism." Cali-University of Southern California, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Stebbins. "Volunteer Parole Aid Program-Two Year Evalua-Maryland: Department of Public Safety, n.d.

"Work Unit Evaluation." Working Paper Not for Distribuember 22, 1965. (Mimeographed.)

ph D.; Wahl, Albert; and Carter, Robert M. "The Minimum on Caseload: A Preliminary Evaluation." Research Report Berkeley, California: School of Criminology, University of a, September 1966.

ank, et al. "The Correctional Institutions and Services ticut." Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: The American Foundaitute of Corrections, November 1966.

oonald and Hoad, Donald. "Five Year Release Study." Al-York: Department of Correctional Services. Office of lanning, Evaluation, and Research, September 1974. (Mimeo-

1 C., et al. "Biennial Report Fiscal Years 1973 and 1974-972-June 30, 1974." Georgia: State Board of Pardons and 1975. (Mimeographed.)

Call, Cecil C., et al. "Annual Report Fiscal Year 1975-July 1, 1974-June 30, 1975." Georgia: State Board of Pardons and Paroles, n.d. (Mimeographed.) McCord, William and Joan. "Two Approaches to the Cure of Delinquents." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology, and Police Science 44, 4 (1953): 442-67.

- 9346 McCorkle, Lloyd W.; Elias, Albert; and Bixby, F. Lovell. <u>The High-fields Story: An Experimental Treatment Project for Youthful Of-fenders.</u> New York: Henry Holt, 1958.
- 9401 McCravy, Newton, Jr. and Delehanty, Dolores S. "Community Rehabilitation of the Younger Delinquent Boy, Parkland Non-Residential Group Center." Final Report. Kentucky Child Welfare Research Foundation, Inc., September 1, 1967. (Mimeographed.)
- 2559 McGruder, J.F.; Beran, N.J.; and Allen, H.E. <u>The Community Reintegra-</u> tion Centers of Ohio: A Three Year Evaluation. Columbus, Ohio: College of Administrative Science, School of Public Administration, November 1, 1975.
- 0589 McMinn County Youth Affairs Department. "Annual Report 1974-1975." Athens, Tennessee, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 1058 McRae, William, et al. "A Study of Community Parole Orientation." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, September 10, 1969. (Mimeographed.)
- 2535 McWilliams, William. "Sentencing and Recidivism: An Analysis by Personality Type." British Journal of Social Work 5, 3: 311-323.
- 0162 Mabli, Jerome, et al. "A Follow-Up Study of Former Residents of a Therapeutic Community." Fort Worth: Federal Correctional Institution, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 0162jj Mabli, Jerome. "Follow-Up Study of Women's Unit." Fort Worth: Federal Correctional Institution, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 0162ii Mabli, Jerome. "Follow-Up-Star Unit." Fort Worth: Federal Correctional Institution, July 1975. (Draft.)
- 0162ff Mabli, Jerome; Patrick, Judy; and Sanfilippo, Maria. "A Review of Research at the Federal Correctional Institution at Fort Worth." Fort Worth: Federal Correctional Institution, November 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 1780 Mandel, Nathan and Parsonage, William. "An Experiment in Adult 'Group-Parole' Supervision." <u>Crime and Delinquency</u> (October 1965): 313-325.
- 9417 Mandell, Wallace, et al. "Surgical and Social Rehabilitation of Adult Offenders." Final Report. Montefiore Hospital and Medical Center with Staten Island Mental Health Society. New York: City Department of Correction, 1967. (Processed.)
- 1936d Mannering, J.W. and Babst, D.V. "Wisconsin Base Expectancies for Adult Male Probationers: Progress Report, No. 1." Wisconsin State Department of Public Welfare, Bureau of Research, June 11, 1962. (Mimeographed.)

)	1936e	Mannering, J Male Paro of Public
	1936f	Mannering, J Male Prob partment (Mimeogra
	1936g	Mannering, J Male Paro ment of P graphed.)
	1422a	Marshall Kap Prisoner Kaplan, G
	3293	Maryland Coa Today-Why Maryland
	3096	Maryland Dep ices Activ Division
)	1838a	Massachusetts ders Rehal chusetts:
	2087c	Massachusetts Boston, Ma
	2449	Mathews, Kenr Bureau-Acc Analysis.' Office, Fe
	9420	Medve, Willia Reformator and ll.
	0283	Merritt, J. Analytic H Department
	1129	Metropolitan ferson Cou ville, Ker Social Ser
	1555d	Metzner, Ralı for Massad

A-26



()

9345

J.W. and Babst, D.V. "Wisconsin Base Expectancies for Adult plees: Progress Report No. 2." Wisconsin State Department welfare, Burgau of Research, July 3, 1962. (Mimeographed.)

J.W. and Babst, D.V. "Wisconsin Base Expectancies for Adult pationers: Progress Report No. 3." Wisconsin: State Deof Public Welfare, Bureau of Research, November 23, 1962. aphed.)

I.W. and Babst, D.V. "Wisconsin Base Expectancies for Adult Delees: Progress Report No. 4." Wisconsin: State Depart-Public Welfare, Bureau of Research, April 5, 1963. (Mimeo-

olan, Gans and Kahn. "An Evaluation of Newgate and Other Education Programs." San Francisco, California: Marshall Cans and Kahn, April 1973.

lition Against Patuxent, The. "Patuxent Institution: 1984 Patuxent Institution Should be Abolished." Maryland: The Coalition Against Patuxent, n.d.

artment of Juvenile Services. "A Study of Juvenile Servvities in Maryland." Fiscal Years 1968-1973. Maryland: of Special Services Research and Analysis, February 1975.

s Division of Research and Planning. "Probationed Offenbilitation Training-A Progress Report Pilot Phase." Massa-Department of Corrections, June 1971. (Mimeographed.)

s Half-Way Houses Incorporated. "Annual Report-1975." assachusetts: Massachusetts Half-Way Houses Inc., 1976.

neth E. and Geist, Arlene M. "Seattle Youth Service countability System: Two-Year Evaluation and Crime Impact "Seattle, Washington: Seattle Law and Justice Planning ebruary 1976.

am J. "The Rehabilitative Aspects of Team Sports in a ry." Journal of Correctional Education 13:3 (1961): 4

"An Analysis of Drinker Diagnosis and Referral Activity: Report #5." Lincoln, Nebraska: Prepared for the U.S. t of Transportation, Contract No. DOT-HS-044-01-060, 197.

Social Services Department. "Female Delinquency in Jefunty From Entrance to Post Treatment: An Analysis." Louisntucky: Office of Research and Planning, Metropolitan rvices Department, Fall 1975.

Δ.

zner, Ralph and Well, Gunther. "Predicting Recidivism: Base Rates for Massachusetts Correctional Institution Concord." Cambridge: Massachusetts: Harvard University, n.d.

- 1068a Michigan Bureau of Finance. "Community Residential Care-Fiscal Year 1974-75 Year-End Summary." Michigan: Department of Social Services, September 30, 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 0651 Michigan Community Corrections Resource Programs, Inc. "State of Michigan Corrections Centers: Analysis and Recommendations." Ann Arbor, Michigan: Community Corrections Resource Programs Inc., December 1974.
- 9110 Michigan Crime and Delinquency Council. "Saginaw County Probation Project." Michigan: Crime and Delinquency Council, 1963.
- 0649 Michigan Department of Corrections. "Annual Report 1974." Lansing, " Michigan: Department of Corrections, n.d.
- 3369 Michigan Department of Corrections. "Dimensions." Michigan: Department of Corrections, Fall 1976. (Processed.)
- 0062a Michigan Department of Corrections Program Bureau. "Responsible, Aware People (RAP) Program Evaluation." Michigan: Department of Corrections, Program Bureau, February 20, 1975.
- 0061a Michigan Department of Corrections, Program Bureau. "Sonar Program: A Summary Evaluation." Michigan: Department of Corrections, Program Bureau, September 23, 1974.
- 0084 Michigan Office of Criminal Justice Programs. "Deferred Prosecution and Criminal Justice: A Case Study of the Genesee County Citizens Probation Authority." Michigan: Office of Criminal Justice Programs, 1972. (Mimeograp) ed.)
- 1479a Miller, Donald. "One Year Follow-Up of 225 Men Released on Parole Between January 1, 1963 and June 30, 1964." East Los Angeles Halfway House Program. Report No. 2." California: Department of Corrections, December 2, 1965.
- 3012d Miller, Lauretta. "FY75 Evaluation of Day Care Centers." Georgia: Division of Youth Services, January 1976. (Mimrographed.)
- 4201 Milstead, Robin J. "First Year Report on Evaluation of the Friends in Action Program to Franklin County Juvenile Court and Franklin County Commissioners." Columbus, Ohio: Battele, January 31, 1972.
- 3014

4

- Ministry of Correctional Services, Planning and Research Branch. "Work-Study Program in Two Ontario Training Schools." Ontario, Canada: Ministry of Correctional Services, September 10, 1975.
- 1967b Minnesota Citizens' Council on Delinquency and Crime. "H.I.R.E., Inc., Exoffender Employability Project: Summary Research Report No. 1." Correctional Service of Minnesota, Sponsoring the Minnesota Citizens' Council on Delinquency and Crime, July 1975. (Mimeographed.)

Minnesota Department of Corrections. "Report on Juveniles in Group Homes." Minnesota, n.d.

-		
()	1787	Minnesota Dep Minnesota:
	1768	Minnesota Dep of 155 Boy 1966 throu sion of Re
۵	1778	Minnesota Dep Released H Minnesota
	1125	Minnesota Div the Group February I
· · · ·	2136	Minnesota Div ders Rehal sota: Dep
	1788d	Minnesota Div Continuum ness for Department
	1044	Minnesota Eva Λ Prelimin Crime Prev
0	1789	Minnesota Res of Boys Pa Minnesota Released 1 1972.
	1788e	Minnesota R munity Co Effective sota: St
	1767	Minnesota Re and Acade June 30, 1973. (M
	1770	Minnesota Re Diagnosti Minnesota
0	1131b 8	Minnesota Re the Posit January 1

A-28

partment of Corrections. "Parole and Probation Flow Charts." Department of Corrections, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

partment of Corrections. "Post Institutional Adjustment ys Released on Parole From the Minnesota Home School from ugh 1970." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, Diviesearch, February 1972. (Mimeographed.)

partment of Corrections. "An Evaluation of 584 Juveniles From County Group Homes June 1, 1972 through June 30, 1974." : Research Section, Department of Corrections, July 1975.

vision of Research and Group Home Unit. "An Analysis of Residence for Hard to Place Juvenile Boys-March 1971 to 1972." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, April 1972.

vision of Research and Planning. "Port Probationer Offenbilitation Training-A Progress Report Pilot Phase." Minnepartment of Corrections, June 1971. (Mimeographed.)

vision of Research and Planning. "Institution Community -An Analysis of Population Movement and Program Effectivethe Period January 1, 1970-December 31, 1970." Minnesota: t of Corrections, September 1971. (Mimeographed.)

aluation Unit. "Residential Community Corrections Programsnary Evaluation." Minnesota: Governor's Commission on vention and Control, April 1975.

search, Information, and Data Systems. "A Follow-Up Study articipating in the Positive Peer Culture Program at the State Training School for Boys: An Analysis of 242 Boys During 1969." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, June

esearch, Information, and Data Systems. "Institution Comontinuum-An Analysis of Population Movement and Program eness for the Period January 1971-December 1971." Minnecate Department of Corrections, April 1972.

esearch, Information, and Data Systems. "School Behavior mic Adjustment Follow-Up Evaluation-July 1, 1966 Through 1967." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, January fimeographed.)

esearch, Information, and Data Systems. "Reception and Ic Center Short Term Therapeutic Return Service Evaluation." A: Department of Corrections, August 1972.

mesota Research Unit. "A Follow-Up Study of Boys Participating in the Positive Peer Culture at Red Wing State Training School from January 1, 1970 through December 31, 1972." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, April 1974.

- Covering the Period November 29, 1972 through July 31, 1973." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, January 1974. (Mimeographed.) Minnesota Research Unit. "Six Year Summary of Releases from Institu-1787Ъ tions Violation and Reinstitutionalizations." Minnesota: Department of Corrections, December 1975. (Mimeographed.) Mississippi Division of Law Enforcement Assistance, Office of the 0903 Governor. "The Challenge to Change-Master Plan for Corrections in Mississippi." Mississippi: Division of Law Enforcement Assistance, n.d. (Processed.) Moore, Richard. "Selection and Matching of Volunteer Probation Coun-0668d selors-Some Theoretical and Empirical Considerations." Fayetteville, Arkansas: Arkansas Rehabilitation Research and Training Center, The University of Arkansas, 1970. Mosely, W.H. and Gerould, M.H. "Sex and Parole: A Comparison of Male 0036 and Female Parolees." Journal of Criminal Justice 3 (Spring 1975): 47-58. Mueller, Paul F.C. "Advanced Releases to Parole." Administrative 3264 Abstract 20. California: Department of Corrections, December 1965. (Mimeographed.) Mueller, Paul. "Success Rates as a Function of Treatment Assignment 2436 and Juvenile Delinquency Classification Interaction." California: Department of Mental Hygiene, n.d.
 - 3268 Mueller, Paul F.C. "A Method for Evaluating Institutional Vocational Training." Research Report No. 4. California: Department of Corrections, Research Division, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
 - 2683 Narloch, R. Peter and Penn, Hugh S. "Arrest Experience of Correctional Caseloads." Research Report No. 14. Sacramento, California: Bureau of Criminal Statistics, n.d.
 - 0665 National Council on Crime and Delinquency. "Uniform Parole Reports-1970 Through 1976." Davis, California: NCCD.
 - 0665y National Council on Crime and Delinquency. "Parole Outcome by State 1972 Two Year Follow-Up Males and Females." Davis, California: NCCD, Computer Printout.
 - National Council on Crime and Delinquency. "Parole Outcome by Commit ment Offense." Davis, California: NCCD, February 14, 1977. Com puter Printout.

0607a National Institute of Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice. "Providence Educational Center-An Exemplary Project." Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, 1974.

A-30

1789

Minnesota Research Unit. "Project Turnabout-A Preliminary Evaluation

12

2327

0032

2128

0757

9238

2948

421.3

2074

3066

4108

1195

1196

()

National Parole Institutes. "Gross Personnel Characteristics and Parole Outcome." Publication V. California: NCCD, July 1964.

Neithercutt, N.G. "Parole Violation Patterns and Commitment Offense." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 9 (July 1972): 87-98.

Nevada Department of Human Resources. "Report to the Legislature on Juvenile Probation Subsidy." Carson City, Nevada: Department of Human Resources, January 16, 1975.

New York Department of Correctional Services. "Parole and Recidivism in New York State." Albany, N.Y.: Department of Correctional Services, March 1975. (Mimeographed.)

1256a New York State Division of Youth. "Characteristics of Delinquent Youths and Various States of the Treatment Process: A Study of Youths Referred to Treatment Centers of the New York State Division for Youth." New York: Division of Youth, August 1970.

> New York State Department of Correction. "Parole Adjustment Research Report on Male Adolescent Offenders, June 1957-May 1958." April 1961. (Mimeographed.)

New York State Planning and Administration Bureau. "Annual Statistics for 1974." Albany, New York: Division of Probation, n.d.

New York State Planning and Administration Bureau. "Statistical Supplement to the 1975 Annual Report." Albany, New York: Division of Probation, August 2, 1976.

Newman, Charles L. and Bielen, Thomas R. "Work Release: An Alternative in Correctional Handling." Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania College of Human Development, The Pennsylvania State University, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

Newman, Donald J.; O'Leary, Vincent; and Christianson, Scott. "Final Report of the Project on Community Alternatives to Maximum Security Institutionalization for Selected Offenders-July 1, 1974-June 30, 1975." Albany, N.Y.: Institute for Public Policy Alternatives, State University of New York, June 30, 1975.

North Carolina Department of Correction. "State Correction Statistical Abstract, January Through December, 1975." North Carolina: Department of Correction, n.d.

Dakey, Mary H. "A Study of the Incidence of New Crimes Charged to Residents While on Furlough From the Youth and Adult Institutions Under the Jurisdiction of the D.C. Department of Corrections During the Fiscal Year 1974." Research Report 75-8. District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, May 1, 1975.

Oakey, Mary H. "An Evaluative Study of Three Vocational Training Programs: Retail Food-Services, Office of Machines Repair, Davenport Insulation." Evaluative 75-3. District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, n.d.

 (\mathbb{C})

ja.

1201	O'Brien, Kathleen. "Analysis of Parole Board Revocation Hearings." Research Report No. 35. District of Columbia: Department of Cor- rections. November 1970. (Mimeographed.)) 1608	Panagopoulos, Ly fect of the H Boston, Massa
1062a	Ohio Adult Parole Authority. "An Examination of the Administration of Shock Parole, and the Adjustment and Recidivism of Shock Paro-		2101	Pearson, Jon W. Adult Male Pr
	lees." Shock Parole Research Progress Report #7. Ohio: Depart- ment of Rehabilitation and Correction, December 1, 1975. (Mimeo-		1010	mento, Califo
	graphed.)		1818	Pearson, John W. An Analysis o
2555	<pre>Ohio Legislative Service Commission. "Ohio's Adult Corrections Sys- tem." Columbus, Ohio: Legislative Service Commission, March 1971. (Mimeographed.)</pre>			Adult Probati California:
0755	Oklahoma Department of Corrections. "'74 and '75 Annual Report." Oklahoma: Department of Corrections, 1975.		4126	Penn, Hugh S.; H istics and Po from Los Ange
2116	Oklahoma Department of Corrections. "A Study of Recidivism in Okla-			
	homa." Research Report #9. Oklahoma: Department of Corrections, October 1973.		1940h	Pennsylvania Boa Parolees (20- of Probation
2117	Oklahoma Planning and Research Division. "Ouachita Vocational Train- ing School-An Evaluation Report February, 1971 to December, 1972." Research Report No. 6. Oklahoma: Department of Corrections, May 1973.		1940k)	kk Pennsylvania Boa the Gideon-Wa Statistical U
1751	Oklahoma State Penitentiary. "Vocational Rehabilitation in a State Penitentiary System." Oklahoma: State Penitentiary, n.d.		() 1711	Pennsylvania Boa on Parole as Parole, May 2
4056	Oregon Department of Human Resources. "Trends in Returns of Oregon Felony Institution Releases by Type of Release." Oregon: Depart- ment of Human Resources, 1976. (Mimeographed.)		3309	Pennsylvania Res hensive Drug Board of Prob
09 30h	Oregon State Planning Agency. "Final Outcome Assessment Based on In- Service and Post-Service Offense Comparisons Between Study Groups."			and Parole, O
	Evaluation Report No. 6. Oregon: Law Enforcement Council, July 1975.		2257ъ	Petty, Joseph. Time Juvenile
1280	Pallone, Nathaniel, et al. "Bivariate and Multivariate Relationships Between Aspects of Later Involvement with Criminal Justice and			Division, Jan
	Selected Characteristics of Releases from a Connecticut Jail." Connecticut: Department of Correction, June 30, 1974. (Mimeo- graphed.)		0433aa	A Phillips, James An Evaluation New York: Th
0982h	Palmer, Ted B. "Differential Placement of Delinquents in Group Homes." California: Department of Youth Authority, 1972.		2870	Pierce County La Volunteer Ser County, Washi
0983h	Palmer, Ted, et al. "Community Treatment Project-An Evaluation of Com- munity Treatment for Delinquents. Seventh Progress Report, Part 1: The Sacramento-Stockton and the San Francisco Experiment." CTP Re-	ана слована ала слована община ала слована ала слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слована слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слова слов	9111	Pilinick, Saul, A Report. on
	search Report No. 9, Part 1. California: Department of the Youth Authority, October 1968.		Õ	Laboratory fo February 1967

os, Lygere and Gardner, John E. "An Evaluation of the Efthe Fellowship Program at H.C.I. Norfolk on Recidivism." Massachusetts: Department of Correction, August 1970.

on W. and Bohnstedt, Marvin. "Predicting Recidivism of the Probationers in Santa Clara County, California." Sacra-California: American Justice Institute, June 1975.

whn W. and Taylor, Gary G. "Adult Probationer Needs Surveyrsis of the Needs and Characteristics of Men and Women of robation in Santa Clara County, California." Sacramento, da: American Justice Institute, August 1975.

S.; Hudson, Joyce Ann; and Sprague, Janet L. "Characterind Post-Trial Arrest Records of Pre-Trial Release Cohort Angeles Superior Courts." Research Report No. 11. Cali-Bureau of Criminal Statistics, n.d.

a Board of Probation and Parole. "Five-Year Studies of (20-Year Summary from 1947-1967)." Pennsylvania: Board tion and Parole, n.d.

a Board of Parole. "Follow-Up Study of Cases Falling Under on-Wainwright Decision (Lack of Counsel)." Pennsylvania: cal Unit, Board of Parole, May 26, 1966.

a Board of Probation and Parole. "Report on Lifers Released e as of May 1, 1969." Pennsylvania: Board of Probation and May 28, 1969. (Mimeographed.)

a Research and Statistical Division. "Final Report-Compre-Drug Control Project in Philadelphia for the Pennsylvania Probation and Parole." Pennsylvania: Board of Probation 1e, October 14, 1976.

ph. "Use of Volunteers for Reducing Recidivism with Firstenile Offenders." First Year Evaluation Report. Bakersalifornia: Kern County Probation Department, Juvenile , January 1973.

ames E. "The Probation Employment and Guidance Program: ation of Impacts on Employment and Recidivism." Rochester, : The Monroe County Department of Probation, 1973.

ty Law and Justice Planning Office. "Probation Aides and r Services." Preliminary Evaluation Report 2-75. Pierce Washington: Law and Justice Planning Office, n.d.

aul, et al. "Collegefields: From Delinquency to Freedom." ...on Collegefields Group Educational Center. Newark, N.J.: ry for Applied Behavioral Science, Newark State College, 1967.

Pima County Adult Probation Department. "Special Services for Mentally 0440 Deficient Probationers-Three Year Study." Tuson: Pima County Probation Department, June 1975. Pleck, Joseph H. and Simon, Steven L. "The Effectiveness of a Correc-2086 tional Halfway House." Massachusetts: Massachusetts Half-Way Houses, Inc., June 1969. 0809 Pond, Esther M. "The Los Angeles Community Delinquency Control Project: An Experiment in the Rehabilitation of Delinquents in an

- Urban Community." Research Report No. 60. California: Department of the Youth Authority, September 1970.
- 0692 Prince George's County Department of Juvenile Services. "Improved Diagnostic and Classification Services, Quarterly Project Narrative Project." Prince George's County: Department of Juvenile Services, June 7, 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 0692e Prince George's County Department of Juvenile Services. "Improved Diagnostic and Classification Services, Quarterly Project Narrative Project." Prince George's County: Department of Juvenile Services, November 31, 1974. (Mimeographed.)
- 0692f Prince George's County Department of Juvenile Services. "Improved Diagnostic and Classification Services, Quarterly Project Narrative Project." Prince George's County: Department of Juvenile Services, April 4, 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 1967c Ramsey County Department of Community Corrections. "Summary Research Report: A Six Month Follow-Up of Clients Serviced by H.I.R.E. in Ramsey County During the Period January 1 through May 31, 1975." Minnesota: Correctional Service of Minnesota, December 1975. (Mimeographed.)

()

- Rankin, William, et al. "Second Year Evaluation Report of the Secur-3348 ity Services Modernization Project Dane County Sheriff's Department." Wisconsin: Council on Criminal Justice, December 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 0834a Read, Bill. "Work Release Evaluation FY-73 Forward." Atlanta, Georgia: Department of Corrections/Offender Rehabilitation, March 1975.
- Readio, S. "The Bellingham Street Academy: An Evaluation." Unpub-4078 lished Manuscript, Bellingham, Washington: Northwest Regional Council, July 19, 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- Reed, Amos F., et al. "The MacLaren Vocational Center: A Special 9411 Demonstration Project Conducted by the MacLaren School for Boys, Woodburn, Oregon, in Conjunction with the Youth Opportunity Center, Portland, Oregon." 1967. (Mimeographed.)

0871f Rehabiliation Research Founction. The Draper Project Final Report, Volume I. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1972.

0871i

0871i

0800

1152

2072

1666

()

 \bigcirc

1367a 0301g 9405

2353b Roff, Merrill. "The Service Related Experience of a Sample of Juvenile Delinquents-II. A Replication on a Larger Sample in Another State." Report No. 63-2. Minnesota: Institute of Child Development, University of Minnesota, December 1963.

Roff, Merrill. "The Service-Related Experience of a Sample of Juven-2353d ile Delinquents-IV. Results with a Second Minnesota Sample." Report No. 67-6. Minnesota: Institute of Child Development, University of Minnesota, March 1967.

May 1968.

A-34

Rehabiliation Research Foundation. Phase Three: Final Report. Montgomery, Alabama: Rehabilitation Research Foundation, 1973.

Rehabilitation Research Foundation. Phase IV Interim Final Report: The Experimental Manpower Laboratory in Corrections. Montgomery, Alabama: Rehabilitation Research Foundation, January 1974.

Reno, James. "A Five-Year Follow-Up of Parolees From the Indiana Reformatory." Research Report. Indiana: Indiana Reformatory. September 1973. (Mimeographed.)

Reynolds, Sonja, et al. "First Annual Evaluation." Atlanta, Georgia: Department of Corrections/Offender Rehabiliation, June 1975. (Mimeo-

Robins, L.N. Deviant Children Grown Up. Huntington, New York: Robert E. Krieger Publishing Company, 1974.

Robinson, James and Takagi, Paul. "The Parole Violator as an Organizational Reject." In Carter and Wilkens (eds.) Probation and Parole. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc. 1970.

Robison, James: Wilkins, Leslie T.: Carter, Robert M.: and Wahl, Albert. "The San Francisco Project: A Study of Federal Probation and Parole." Research Report No. 14. Berkeley, California: School of Criminology, University of California, April 1969.

Robison, James. "MAP Mackers: Research and Evaluation of the Mutual Agreement Program." College Park, Maryland: American Correctional Association, October 1974.

Robison, James and Kevorkian, Marinette. "Intensive Treatment Project: Phase II, Parole Outcome: Interim Report." Research Report No. 27. California: Department of Corrections, Youth and Adult Corrections Agency, January 1967. (Mimeographed.)

2353a Roff, Merrill, "The Service-Related Experience of a Sample of Juvenile Delinquents." Report No. 61-1. Minnesota: Institute of Child Development and Welfare, University of Minnesota, January 1961.

2353e Roff, Merrill. "The Service-Related Experience of a Sample of Juvenile Delinquents-V. The Relation Between Education, Number of Juvenile Apprehensions, and Outcome in Service." Report No. 68-7. Minnesota: Institute of Child Development, University of Minnesota,

3319 Romig, Dennis A. "Length of Institutionalization, Treatment Program Completion, and Recidivism Among Delinquent Adolescent Males." <u>Criminal Justice Review Vol. 1, No. 2 (Fall 1976): 115-119.</u>
1970 Rudoff, Alvin. <u>Private Communication</u>, October 29, 1974.

- 2087a Runyan, William McKinley. "The Recidivism Rates of Ex-Residents from Brooke Home." Boston, Massachusetts: Massachusetts Half-Way Houses Incorporated, October 6, 1970.
- 3199 Sack, David L. "Bails Hall Work Release Program." Document No. 76-8. Colorado: Office of Research, Planning and Information Systems, June 11, 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 3149 Sack, David L. "A Twelve Month Follow-Up of Residents Paroling from the Delta Honor Camps-Fiscal Year 1974-1975." Colorado: Division of Correctional Services, August 9, 1976.
- 3299 Sack, David L. "Community Corrections Placement Fiscal Year 1975-1976 and Reincarceration Rates for Community Corrections Participants Fiscal Year 1974-75." Colorado: Department of Institutions, October 4, 1976.
- 9236 Saden, S.J. "Correctional Research at Jackson Prison." Journal of Correctional Education 15 (October 1962): 22-26.
- 1621a Sandick, B.A. "Charleston Non-Residential Diagnostic Center Follow-Up Study." South Carolina: Division of Planning, Research and Grants, January 1973.
- 1621b Sandick, B.A. "Charleston Non-Residential Diagnostic Center Follow-Up Study (Second Six Months of Operation)." South Carolina: Department of Youth Services, Division of Planning, Research, and Grants, July 1974.
- 3058 San Diego Program Evaluation Unit. "Evaluation of the San Diego County Probation Department Program Operation Summit-Final Report-November 1, 1974 to July 31, 1975." San Diego: San Diego County Probation Department, November 3, 1976.
- 3325 San Diego Program Evaluation Unit. "Evaluation of the San Diego County Probation Department Program Villa Del Sol." San Diego: County Probation Department, September 24, 1976.
- 2474 Sarason, Irwin G. and Ganzer, Victor J. "Modeling and Group Discussion in the Rehabilitation of Juvenile Delinquency." Journal of Counseling Psychology, Vol. 20, No. 5 (1973): 442-449.
- 1291 Sasfy, Joseph H. "An Examination of Intensive Supervision as a Treatment Strategy for Probations-Final Report." Washington, D.C.: The Mitre Corporation, November 1975.
- 3318 Sentz, Richard. "Youth Project Evaluation Intensive Supervision, Youth Offenders." Maryland: Youth Project, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

)	2969d	Shears, Dale, tion for 19
	9225 9330	Shelley, Ernes ganized Cou <u>Counseling</u>
	2572	Simmons, Imoge Type of Off Female Offe
	2276	Simmons, Richa <u>Without Pri</u> setts: Lex
	2221	Simon, Frances diction Stu Studies. L
	1357	Simon, Rita, <u>T</u> Government
	3280	Simon, Stan an Help Most C
)	2219	Sinclair, Ian. Report. Lo
	3289	Smith, Darryl Auto-Theft divism." C ber 1976.
	1052b	Smith, Mary Be January 197 tional Serv
	2319	Smith, Ralph W ders in the of Social a
	2446	Solicitor Gene Canada: St
	3105	Solicitor Gene Penitentiar 1974.
	3106	Solicitor Gene of 1970 Pen January 197
J	2491a	South Carolina port, Third

A-36

.

()

et al. "The Institutional Centers-An Update of Evalua-974 and 1975." Michigan: I.S.D. Date Center, 1976.

st L.V. and Johnson, Walter F., Jr. "Evaluating an Orunseling Service for Youthful Offenders." Journal of Psychology 8, 4 (1961): 351-54.

ene L. and Rogers, Joseph W. "The Relationship Between fense and Successful Post Institutional Adjustment of enders." <u>Criminologica Vol. VII</u>, No. 4 (February 1970).

ard J., ed. "M-2 (man-to-man) Job Therapy." In <u>A Nation</u> <u>isons</u>, edited by Calvert R. Dodge. Lexington, Massachukington Books, 1975.

s H. <u>Prediction Methods in Criminology Including a Pre-</u> udy of Young Men on Probation. Home Office Research London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1971.

The Contemporary Woman and Crime. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Printing Office, 1975.

nd Cockerham, William. "State's Prisons Fail to Deter or Criminals." The Hartford Courant Co. (1974).

Hostels for Probationers. Home Office Research Unit ondon: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1971.

G. "The Group 'Probation' Supervision of Male, Juvenile, Offenders Using Behavior Therapy and Its Effect on Reci-Cambridge, Massachusetts: Probation Department, Septem-(Processed.)

eth and MacDonald, Donald C. "Work Release Program-70-July 1974." Albany, New York: Department of Correcvices, October 1974.

W. "Who Returns? A Study of Recidivism for Adult Offene State of Washington." Olympia, Washington: Department and Health Services, March 1976.

eral Canada. "Parole Recidivism Study, As of June 1972." tatistics Division, Solicitor General, n.d.

eral Statistics Division. "One-Year Follow-Up of 1971 ry Parole Releases." Canada: Solicitor General, July

eral Statistical Information Centre. "One-Year Follow-Up nitentiary Parole Releases." Canada: Solicitor General, 73.

th Carolina Department of Corrections. "Quarterly Statistical Report, Third Quarter, FY1976." South Carolina: Department of Corrections, April 1976.

- South Carolina Division of Planning and Research. "Study to Determine 2351 the Recidivism Rate for the South Carolina Department of Corrections Calendar Year 1972 Releases." South Carolina: Division of Planning and Research, March 22, 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- 2947 South Carolina Probation, Parole, and Pardon Board. "Annual Report 1974-1975." South Carolina: Probation, Parole, and Pardon Board, n.d.
- 1619 South Carolina Department of Youth Services. "The Follow-Up Study of Children Who Have Been Processed at the Reception and Evaluation Center During the 1969-1970 Fiscal Year." South Carolina: Department of Youth Services, n.d.
- 1514 South Dakota Division of Corrections. "Supplemental Report to the Legislative Appropriations Committee: Special Report on the Youth Services Program." South Dakota: Department of Social Services. January 13, 1976.
- 0010 Spear, J.E. "The Utilization of Non-Drug Induced Altered States of Consciousness in 49 Borderline Recidivists." Tulsa, Oklahoma: Open World Gardens, 1975.
- Spencer, Carol and Berecochea, John. "Vocational Training at the 1453 California Institution for Women: An Evaluation." Research Report No. 41. California: Department of Corrections, Research Division, January 1971. (Mimeographed.)

(

C

- 1457 Spencer, Carol and Berecochea, John. "Recidivism Among Women Parolees: A Long Term Survey." Research Report No. 47. California: Department of Corrections, July 1972. (Mimeographed.)
- 2917 Spevacek, John; Allen, Clarence; and Plair, Wendell. "A Comparison of Performance in the Community: Youth Center vs. Community Treatment Center Releases." Research Report No. 29. District of Columbia: Department of Corrections, July 1970. (Mimeographed.)
- Stanton, John. "An Empirical Study of the Results of the Special Nar-9214 cotic Project." Part II of An Experiment of the Supervision of 9215 9216 Paroled Offenders Addicted to Narcotic Drugs. Final Report of the
 - Special Narcotics Project. New York State: Division of Parole,
- 1748b Steggerda, Roger and Venezia, Peter. "Community-Based Alternatives to Traditional Corrections." Davis, California: National Council on Crime and Delinquency Research Center, February 1974.
- 4101 Stowell, Gerald. "Work and Education Release in Connecticut-An Analysis of Post Release Effects on Inmate Participants." Connecticut: Department of Corrections, April 15, 1974.
- Stephenson, Richard and Scarpitti, Frank. "The Rehabilitation of De-9407 linquent Boys: Final Report." (Essexfields Study) Rutgers: The State University, 1967.

Stricker,	R.D
Inc.:	A N
Period	of
Divisio	on,
and Cr	Lme,
Stricker,	R.D
Inc.:	A N
Period	of
Divisio	on,
and Cri	me,
Stricker,	R.D
Correct	:ion
Minneso	ta

1967a

1967d

1967e

()

9418 Stuerup, Georg K. "The Treatment of Sexual Offenders." Bulletin de la Societe Internationale de Criminologie (1960): 320-329.

9241 Sullivan, Clyde E. and Mandell, Wallace. "Restoration of Youth Through Training: A Final Report." Staten Island, N.Y.: Wakoff Research Center, April 1967.

- 1788b
- graphed.) 31.59

Takakuwa, Masuyuki; Sato, Tsuneko; and Koshimizu, Aiko. "A Study of 2091 the Group Counseling in Correctional Institutions." Bulletin of Crime Research (1972). 2212 Tennessee Department of Correction. "Annual Report-1974-1975." Nashville, Tennessee: Department of Corrections, October 17, 1975.

Texas Department of Corrections. "Work Furlough Program Special Study 2465 (SS) No. 1." Huntsville, Texas: Research and Development Division, Department of Corrections, October 1973.

2982

3191

D. "An Interim Report on the Effectiveness of H.I.R.E. line-Month Follow-Up Study of the Results of the First Operation." Correctional Service of Minnesota: Research Sponsoring the Minnesota Citizens' Council on Delinquency April 1973. (Mimeographed.)

. "Second Interim Report on the Effectiveness of H.I.R.E. line-Month Follow-Up Study of the Results of the Second Operation." Correctional Service of Minnesota: Research Sponsoring the Minnesota Citizens' Council on Delinquency December 1973. (Mimeographed.)

"Third Evaluation of the Effectiveness of H.I.R.E. Inc." al Service of Minnesota: Research Division, Sponsoring the Citizens' Council on Delinquency and Crime, October 1974. (Mimeographed.)

Sundet, Paul A. and Mandel, Nathan G. "Institution Community Continuum-A Preliminary Analysis of Population Movement and Program Effectiveness for the Period September 18, 1967-December 31, 1968." Minnesota: State Department of Corrections, May 1, 196. (Mimeo-

Sweet, Richard S., et al. "Drug Offender Rehabilitation Program: Recovery Rates, Personality Variables, and Maintenance Factors." Memphis, Tennessee: Shelby County Penal Farm Drug Offender Rehabilitation Program, n.d.

Thompson, Margaret and Adams, Stuart. "Probationer Characteristics and Probation Performance: A Phototype of a Prediction Instrument for Adult Probations." Research Report No. 10. California: Los Angeles County Probation Department, October 1963. (Mimeographed.)

52

Thompson, Richard and Curtin, Mary Ellen. "Interim Report Description of Kentucky's Adult Half-Way Houses and Their Residents." Kentucky, May 1976. (Mimeographed.)

- Toby, Jackson and Leibman, Ira. "The Integration of Adolescent Delin-3167 quents into Conventional Society: The Impact of Girlfriends and Wives as Agents of Further Socialization." New Jersey: State University-Rutgers, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- 1978 To Leung, Anita. "An Evaluation of the Predictive Efficiency of the Parole Evaluation Score Sheet of the Texas Board of Pardons and Paroles." Criminal Justice Monograph, Vol. 1, No. 3. Huntsville, .Texas: Institute of Contemporary Corrections and the Behavioral Sciences, Sam Houston State University, 1969.
- Tsuchiya, Shinichi; Izumi, Nobumi; and Kuroda, Nobuo. "A Study on 2097 Revocation of Suspension of Execution of Sentence." Bulletin of Criminological Research (1974): 10-13.
- Tucker, E.J. "The Work Release Program for Convicted Offenders." Un-2523 published Manuscript. New York City, May 8, 1976.
- 1053c Tucker, E.J. "Tulsa County Innovative Approaches to Juvenile Court Services." (Information for Subgrant Narrative Progress Report and Evaluation). Tulsa, Oklahoma: Tulsa County Juvenile Court, July 1, 1974-December 31, 1974.
- Tupker, Howard E. and Pointer, Joseph C. "The Iowa Differential Clas-2507 sification and Treatment Project." Eldora, Iowa: Iowa Training School for Boys, March 1975.

()

C

- Tupker, Howard E. and Prescott, Mary. "Two Types of Treatment Programs 2505 at the Iowa Training Schools for Boys: A Comparative Study of Resident Characteristics and Treatment Outcome." Report No. 1. Eldora, Iowa: Research Center, Iowa Training School, 1970.
- United States Bureau of Prisons. "Success and Failure of Federal Of-0404 fenders Released in 1970." District of Columbia: Bureau of Prisons, January 1974. (Mimeographed.)
- United States General Accounting Office. "Department of Labor's Past 2869 and Future Role in Offender Rehabilitation." Washington, D.C.: GAO, August 7, 1975.
- Urban and Rural Systems Associates. "The Providence Educational Center 0607Ъ of St. Louis, Missouri." San Francisco, California: Urban and Rural Systems Associates, February 1974.
- Urban and Rural Systems Associates. "The Clearinghouse for Ex-Offen-0835 ders of Louisville, Kentucky." San Francisco, California: Urban and Rural 'Systems Associates, April 1974. (Mimeographed.)
- Uslan, S. Stephen. "Operation Pathfinder. Shaping Work Behavior of 2378 Ex-Offenders and Other Disadvantaged People Using Social Reinforcement Techniques." Los Angeles, California: Mentec Corporation, April 1972.

4014	Utah Counci Comprehe Administ Utah: L
0405	Utah Divisi Lake Cit
4075a	Vail, Ronal Studies. (Mimeogr
9217	Van Couveri Berkeley
4170	Venezia, Pe fectiver 1972. (
4196	Venezia, Pe Feasibil Council
2187	Venezia, Pe Upgradir Singer/C Califorr 1972. (
3188	Vermont Div stitutio June 197
1056	Vinnes, Har Work Rel ment of
3335	Virkkunen, Delinque ber 1976
2382	Vocational cally De Guidance
3244	Waldron, Ro of 387 (n.d. (M
 1702	Waller, Tr

0

í.

 \bigcirc

2311

1 on Criminal Justice Administration. 1976-1979 Multi-Year ensive State Plan of the Utah Council on Criminal Justice cration and 1976 Annual Action Program. Salt Lake City, Jtah Council on Criminal Justice Administration, 1976.

on of Corrections. "Diagnostic Services Program." Salt ty, Utah: Division of Corrections, n.d.

d R. "Preliminary Results of Recently Conducted Recidivism Indiana: Department of Corrections, September 30, 1974. aphed.)

ing, Nancy, et al. "One-to-One Project: Final Report." y, California: Stiles Hall, University YMCA, October 1966.

eter S. "Unofficial Probation. An Evaluation of Its Efness." Davis, California: NCCD Research Center, June 30, (Mimeographed.)

eter S. and Cohn, Alvin W. "Uniform Probation Reports: A lity Study." Publication III. Hackensack, N.J.: National on Crime and Delinquency, December 1968.

eter S. and McConnell, William A. "The Effect of Vocational ng Upon Probationer Recidivism-A One-Year Evaluation of the Graflex Monroe County Pilot Probation Project." Davis, nia: National Council on Crime and Delinquency, January (Mimeographed.)

vision of Research and Planning. "Monthly Correctional Inon Statistical Report." Vermont: Department of Corrections, 4. (Mimeographed.)

cold B.; Ryan, James J.; and Mandel, Nathan. "Analysis of lease for Felons in Minnesota." Minnesota: State Depart-Corrections, February 1969.

Matti. "Parental Deprivation and Recidivism in Juvenile ents." British Journal of Criminology, Vol. 16, No. 4 (Octo-6): 378-384.

Guidance Service. "A Work-Study Program for Socio-Economieprived Delinguent Youth." Houston, Texas: Vocational e Service, October 1968. (Mimeographed.)

onald J. and Gaither, Carl. "Recidivism: A Follow-Up Study ____ Offenders." Huntsville, Texas: Department of Corrections, dimeographed.)

Waller, Irving. Men Released From Prison. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press, 1974.

Walton, Goodrich, et al, "Research Into the Causes of Reduced Commitments to Division of Youth Services Institutions." Colorado: Department of Institutions, 1972.

(

2324

- Washington Office of Research. "Adult Corrections Release Stipend 3067d Program." Research Report No. 2. Washington: Department of Social and Hcalth Services, August 20, 1973. (Mimeographed.)
- Washington Northwest Regional Council. "The Specialized Misdemeanant 2780 Probation Program of Whatcom County." Bellingham, Washington: Northwest Regional Council, n.d.
- Watson, Kenneth ed. "Juvenile Division of the Allen Superior Court." 2657 Annual Report for 1975. Fort Wayne, Indiana: Allen Superior Court, 1976.
- Weeks, H. Ashley. Youthful Offenders at Highfields. Michigan: The 0812 University of Michigan Press, 1966.
- Weir, Charles S. "Summary of Closed Adolescent Treatment Center Evalu-1519 ation-Final Report." Colorado: Youth Services Institute, May 1975. (Mimeographed.)
- 3012e Weisman, Nancy. "Group Home Evaluation." Georgia: Division of Youth Services, January 1976. (Mimeographed.)
- Wenk, Ernest A. and Emrich, Robert L. "Assaultive Youth-An Exploratory 1785 Study of the Assaultive Experience and Assaultive Potential of California Youth Authority Wards." Davis, California: National Council on Crime and Delinquency, April 1972.
- 1785b Wenk, Ernest A.; Robison, James O.; and Smith, Gerald W. "Can Violence be Predicted?" Crime and Delinquency (October 1972): 393-402.
- West Texas Regional Adult Probation Department. "Pre-Trial Release." 1715a El Paso, Texas: West Texas Regional Adult Probation Department, n.d. (Mimeographed.)
- Whelan, Carol. "Community Oriented Correctional Programs. Partial 1363 Confinement and Temporary Release in New York State." New York: Community Service Society of New York, 1975. (Processed.)
- 0681r Wilkins, Leslie T. "The Problem of Overlap in Experience Table Construction." Report No. 3. Davis, California: NCCD, June 1973. (Processed.)
- 0681n Wilkins, Leslie T. "Inefficient Statistics." Report No. 6. Davis, California: NCCD, June 1973. (Processed.)
- Wilkins, Leslie T., et al. "Information Selection and Use in Parole 0681m Decision-Making." Report No. 5. Davis, California: NCCD, June 1973. (Processed.)

/ **]**

()

2955

3109

2959

2616

2936

0014

3049

Wisconsin Division of Corrections. "Early Release Intensive Supervision." Madison, Wisconsin: State Department of Public Welfare, February 1966.

0461a

0461b Wisconsin Division of Corrections. "1974 Probation and Parole Termination." Statistical Bulletin C-56. Madison, Wisconsin: Bureau of Planning, Development, and Research, July 1976.

1652 Wisconsin Division of Corrections. "Fiscal Year Summary Report of Population Movement 1975." Wisconsin: Department of Health and Social Services, February 1976.

Witkowski, G.; Rest, R.R.; and Busiel, G.J. "Probation Officer Case 1998Ъ Aide Project: Final Report, Phase II." Chicago: Center for Studies in Criminal Justice, University of Chicago Law School, n.d. (Mimeographed.)

1091a Witt, Leonard R. "An Experimental and Demonstration Program of Counseling and Career Development for Young Offenders Under the Jurisdiction of the New York State Division of Parole, June 15, 1966 to March 31, 1968." New York: Division of Parole, 1968.

Witte, Ann D. Work Release in North Carolina: An Evaluation of Its 0011 Post-Release Effects. Chapel Hill: Institute of Research in Social Science, The University of North Carolina, 1975.

- Press, 1972.
- (Mimeographed.)

Wisconsin Bureau of Research. "Relationship of Adult Probation and Parole Experience to Successful Termination of Supervision." Research Bulletin C-15. Madison, Wisconsin: State Department of Public Welfare, September 1966.

Wisconsin Division of Corrections. "1975 Calendar Year Summary of Population Movement." Statistical Bulletin C-60b. Madison, Wisconsin: Bureau of Planning, Development, and Research, July 1976.

Wisconsin Division fo Corrections. "Camp Flambeau Project 1967-1968, 1968-1969, and 1969-1970 School Years." Wisconsin: Division of Corrections, October 1971.

Wisconsin Division of Corrections. "1973 Probation and Parole Terminations." Statistical Bulletin C-56. Madison, Wisconsin: Bureau of Planning, Development, and Research, October 1975.

Witten, Barbara. "Community Service Center Statistics and Analysis." Pennsylvania: Planning and Research Division, n.d.

Wolfgang, Marvin E.; Figlio, Robert M.; and Selling, Thursten. Delinquency in a Birth Cohort. Chicago: The University of Chicago

Wood, Robert W. and Sweet, Richard S. "Comprehensive Report on the Drug Offender Rehabilitation Program." Memphis, Tennessee: Shelby County Penal Farm Drug Offender Rehabilitation Program, 1974.

LUMN	VARIA	BLE
1-4	Docume the do	ent Number: ocument fro
	CODE :	2-9420
5-7	Group fender for wh	Number: a s at a spe nom a recid
	CODE:	001 for f: 002, 003 (the same (001 to 99)
8	Source	of Publica
	CODE:	1 = profes (inclu
		2 = colleg M.A. c an ins which instit
		3 = LEAA (forcen
		4 = Federa HEW, D
		5 = SPA (L ganiza
		6 = Region
		7 = Other rectio
	0	8 = City o
		9 = Privat
		0 = Unknow (133

APPENDIX B

CODEBOOK FOR JUVENILE AND ADULT GROUPS

B-1

()

8

EA.

: used for purposes of identifying om which a group was derived

a group of at least 10 convicted ofecifiable location in the CJ system divism rate is computable and veri-

first group coded from any document etc. for subsequent groups from document. Group numbers range from 98.

cation

ssional journal or published book uding chapter or section)	149	7	220	2
ge or university department (e.g., or Ph.D. dissertation; reports by stitute, bureau, center, etc., is associated with an academic tution)	132	6	462	5
(or National Institute of Law En- ment and Criminal Justice)	18	1	2	1825 SUP.
al agency other than LEAA (e.g., Department of Labor, etc.)		The sec	309	3
EAA-connected State planning or-	15	1	102	1
al SPA organization	13	0.6	35	0.4
State agency (Department of Cor- ons, legislative committee, etc.)	1511	70	4215	43
r county agency	108	5	73	0.7
e •	197	9	4487	45
n allo and a second	9	0.4	124	1
)	2143		9905	

B-2

(VARIABLE	JUVENILES # %	ADULTS / # %	DLUMN	VARIABLE	JUVEN #	TILES %	ADU! #	LTS %
9	Source of Funding			14	Recidivism Definition Code				_
	CODE: 1 = LEAA (or National Institute of Law En- forcement and Criminal Justice)	116 5	4351 44		CODE: 1 = 100% minus success rate ("success") (may be defined as being "trouble- free." no informal warnings, honorable	191	9	685	7
	2 = Other Federal agency	191 9	1004 10		discharge, successful graduate from group home, and similar				
	3 = SPA	661 31	278 3		2 = Short of arrest (e.g., absconding, AWOL,	598	28	2356	23
	4 = Regional SPA organization	21 1	29 0.3		unfavorable discharge, declaration of delinquency). These are unfavorable	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100		•	
	5 = 0 ther State agency	1022 48	18 0.2		custody status of the offender			400	<i>,</i>
	6 = City or county agency	18 1 70 4	288 3		3 = Arrest	294	14	630	6
	7 = Non-public (including foundations)	<u>79</u> 4 2108	<u>-200</u> 9828		4 = <u>Conviction</u> (i.e., return to prison on a "technical" violation or implementation of prison sentence on old or new	71	3	453	4
	9 = Unknown (245)			0	charge.) Includes new conviction, new probation sentence, etc.				
				0	5 = <u>Imprisonment</u> (implementar ion of prison sentence or return to prison on an old charge)	610	28	2430	24
10	Source of Data: Juvenile or Adult		0		6 = Imprisonment for new offense	120	6	2173	22
	CODE: 1 = Juvenile	N = 2152 N = 10029	% = 18 % = 82		7 = "Total" imprisonment (imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new	268	12	1302	13
	2 = Adult			•	offense)	2152		10029	
				15	Source of Recidivism Data			<i></i>	~ ~ ~
11-13	Recidivism Rate: computed as follows: the N of				CODE: 0 = Self report	2	0.1	6210	62
	is the number of group members operationally de-				1 = Official agency records and reports	38 1910	90	222	2
	fined as "recidivists" using the definition em-				2 = Local rap sheet	47	2	2576	26
	coded 075.				3 = State rap sheet	110		573	6
	Exact Recidivism Score = CODES 000 through 100				4 = reactar tap sheets	13	1	45	0.4
		Juveniles	Adults		6 = Local and federal rap sheets	1		47	0.3
o		X s.d.	X s.d.		7 = State and federal rap sheets	7	. 0.3	10	0.]
		28.51 21.29	15.66 15.73		8 = Local, state and federal rap sheets			239	2
C		(N = 2152)	(N = 10,029)	10		2128		10007	
8					y = Unknown			4	

 \mathcal{O}

B-3

\$

B-4

		JUVE	NILES	AD	ULTS	0		
LUMN	VARIABLE	#	%	#	%		LUMN	VARIABLE
16	Characteristic Upon Which Group was Formed						21	Definition of Fol
	CODE: 1 = Location in CJS (i.e. group would be made up of all probationers, all paro- lees, etc.)	1184	55	2634	26			CODE: 1 = A hard case i years
	2 = Treatment (i.e. group receives "high contact" with parole officer)	169	8	689	7			2 = An "up not al
Ū.	3 = Current offense	74	3	4859	48		•	years
	4 = Base expectancy score	14	1	46	1			3 = An "at cases some a
	5 = Criminal history	6		58	1			iod of
	6 = History in the CJ system	166	8	646	6			4 = Averag
	7 = Social and demographic characteristics	121	6	242	2			e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
	8 = Other and N/A: pscyhological attribute such as IQ, attitude score, MMPI any	418	19	855	8			9 = Unknow
(biological attribute	2152		10029			0	
17	Size of Group							
	CODE: $1 = 10 - 49$	886	41	4232	43			Decade: midpoint
	2 = 50 - 99	500	23	1724	17			during which most follow-up) takes
	3 = 100 - 499	605	28	2478	25			CODE: $2 = 1920$
	4 = 500 and above	<u>155</u> 2146	7	<u>1447</u> 9881	15			3 = 1930
	9 = Unknown	****V		,				4 = 1940
	(154)							5 = 1950
								6 = 1960
18-20	Number of Months Group Followed-Up							7 = 1970
	CODE: 1 through 444 months	Juve	niles	Ad	ults			
	999 = Unknown	X	s.d.	x	s.d.			
- C	(85 or .7%)	22.64	24.46	20.44	15.88		× A	
		(N =	2133)	(N =	9963)		U	

B-5

	JUVE	VILES	ADI	JLTS
<u>LE</u> and the second s	#	%	#	%
		•		
tion of Follow-Up				
<pre>1 = A hard and fast definition, e.g., every case in the group is followed-up for 3 years</pre>	1511	71	7935	80
<pre>2 = An "up to" definition, e.g., some but not all cases are followed-up for 3 years</pre>	469	22	1397	14
<pre>3 = An "at least" definition, e.g., all cases are followed-up for 3 years but some are followed-up for a longer per- iod of time</pre>	31	1	166	2
4 = Average, median or mode	<u>121</u> 2132	6	<u>464</u> 9962	5

9 = Unknown

1953

(87)

ade: midpoint of decade in the 20th century ing which most of the CJS action (treatment, low-up) takes place for the batch

1		9	-
1		3	124
2		7	,
59	3	124	1
544	25	1339	13
1545	72	8547	85
2152		10029	

D.-

B--6

CLUMN	VARIABLE	JUVENILES # %	ADULTS		DLUMN	VARIABLE		ENILES %	AD #	ULTS %
23-24	State Where Study Done				23-24	State Where Study Done (continued)				
	CODE: UNITED STATES (91 - 57)					CODE: 26 = Montana	1	. 	108	1.1
	01 = Alabama		191 1.9			27 = Nebraska		0.6	167	1.7
	02 = Alaska	25 1.2	2 27 0.3			28 = Nevada	1	0.0		· ·
	03 = Arizona	10 0.5	5 121 1.2	and the second se		30 = New Jersey	3	1.7	3	0.0
	04 = Arkansas	2 0.1	9 0.1			31 = New Mexico		· <u></u>	204	2.0
n an	05 = California	669 31.1	1996 19.9			32 = New York	73	3.4	411	4.1
	06 = Colorado	52 2.4	73 0.7			33 = North Carolina			60	0.6
	07 = Connecticut	10 0.5	5 78 0.8			34 = North Dakota		<u> </u>	75	0.7
	08 = Delaware		54 0.5			35 = Ohio		0.2	252	2.5
	09 = Florida	30 1.4	421 4.2			36 = Oklahoma	1	0.5	77	0.8
(\mathbf{C})	10 = Georgia	13 1.4	139 1.4		\bigcirc	37 = Oregon		0.3	88	0.9
¢.	ll = Hawaii	8 0.4	35 0.3			38 = Pennsylvania		0.1	300	3.0
	12 = Idaho		110 1.1			39 = Rhode Island		0.3	27	0.3
	13 = Illinois	88 4.1	230 2.3			40 = South Carolina		0.3	251	2.5
	14 = Indiana	30 1.4	92 0.9			41 = South Dakota	an an an an an Araba. An an Araba an Araba		9 3	0.8
	15 = Iowa	4 0.1	2 259 2.6			42 = Tennessee			32	0.3
	16 = Kansas		245 2.4			43 = Texas	1	0.6	25	0.2
	17 = Kentucky	9 0.4	105 1.0			44 = Utah		0.3	125	1.2
	20 = Maryland	327 15.2	2 173 1.7			45 = Vermont			10	0.1
	21 = Massachusetts	60 2.1	3 155 1.5			46 = Virginia	a serie de la companya de la company La companya de la comp	4	191	1.9
	22 = Michigan	71 3.	3 148 1.5			47 = Washington	1	0.8	874	8.7
	23 = Minnesota	389 18.	L 152 1.5	0		48 = West Virginia	n an tha an tha an tha an tha Tha an tha an tha an tha an tha		153	1.5
	24 = Mississippi		185 1.8			49 = Wisconsin	7:	3.3	360	3.6
	25 = Missouri	16 .0.	7 202 2.0		0	50 = Wyoming			12	0.1

s .

15

B-7

Bear States May Bere and the second

В	-8

sio St

٠

	B-9				B-10				•
(****		JUVENILES	ADULTS			JUVE	NILES	AD	ULTS
L <u></u>	VARIABLE	1f %	# %	LUMN	VARIABLE	#	%	#	%
23-24	State Where Study Done (continued)	ана салана салана. Спорта салана с Спорта салана		25-26	U.S. Regions and Other "Regions"				
	CODE: 51 = Washington, D.C.	13 0.6	364 3.6		Northeast Region	·			
	52 = Federal institution		229 2.3		CODE: 01 = New England (Conn., Main, Mass., New	77	4	270	3
	56 = U.S. National	Mitte was tale	67 0.7		$0^2 = Mid_Atlantic (New Jersey New York)$	112	5	71/	7
	57 = U.S., Multi-State		55 0.5		Pennsylvania)	113	5	/14	
	61 = Canada (National)	<u> 56</u> 2.6	<u>216</u> 2.2		North Central Region				
		2152	10029	2000 - 200 1990 - 200 1990 - 200 - 200 1990 - 200	CODE: 03 = East North Central (Ill,, Ind., Mich., Ohio, Wisc.)	265	12	1082	11
					04 = West North Central (Iowa, Kansas, Minn., Missouri, Neb., No. Dakota, So. Dakota)	421	20	1193	12
					South				
С				\bigcirc	CODE: 05 = South Atlantic (Del., Fla., Georgia, Maryland, No. Car., So. Car., Virg., W. Virg., Wash., DC)	390	18	1806	18
		(1)		0	06 = East South Central (Alab., Ky., Miss., Tenn.)	9	0.4	516	.5
					07 = West South Central (Ark., Louisiana, Oklahoma, Texas)	26	- 1	111	1
					West				· · ·
					CODE: 08 = Mountain (Ariz., Col., Idaho, Mont., Nev., New Mex., Utah, Wyoming)	69	3	753	7
					09 = Pacific (Alaska, Calif., Hawaii, Oreg., Wash.)	726	34	3020	30
					<u>U.S. and Federal</u>				
				19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19. 19.	CODE: 10 = Continental USA (federal inst., na- tional, multi-state)			351	3
					11 = Canada	56	3	216	2
C	b			0		2152		10029	
					P				an de la composition de la composition En ordente de la composition de la compo

 $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{Z}}$

		an a	an a		SPACE And a second					.
	B-11		a internet						titi Salat salat sa	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
							B-12			
LUMN	VARIABLE	JUVENILE	<u>S</u>	ADULTS						
		₩ %	#	%		LUMN	VARIABLE	JUVENILE	<u>S</u> <u>A</u> E	ULTS
28	Primary Level of Government Responsible for the Treatment Given					20		11 70	16	%
	CODE: 1 = City					47 	in the Criminal Justice System			
	2 = County	62 3 417 19	250	53 15			CODE: 1 = Group located at one and only one loca-	1655 77	0/00	
	3 = State Government	1650 77	8519	9 85			tion in CJS	1055 //	9493	95
	4 = Region or Multi-State 5 = Federal Covernment	14 1	116	5 1,	ſ		2 = Group located at more than one location in CJS; proportions known	478 22	513	5
		<u> 9 1</u>	_ 578	<u> </u>			3 = Group located at more than one location			
	9 = Unknown	2143	10010				in CJS; proportions unknown			
	(28)							2152	10029	
29	Location of Group in the Criminal Justice System		2	ý						
	Sentence/Post Sentence			4) 		30-31	Research Design			
	CODE: $1 = Probation$	742 34	g 1305	12			(see chart on following page)			
	<pre>2 = Probation/Imprisonment, e.g. shock pro- bation: a brief period of confinement followed by probation</pre>	121 6	65	1		0	Collowing page)			
	<pre>3 = Partial Physical Custody (all residen- tial establishments for convicted of- fenders given in lieu of training school or other standard confinement, e.g. group home, probation camp)</pre>	248 11	66	1						
	Imprisonment/Release	2 2	6 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1							
	CODE: 4 = Imprisonment/training school/jail sen- tence with standard aftercare	821 38	7467	74						
	5 = Work-Study-Furlough Release	26 1	214	2				о О		
	<pre>6 = Halfway house/partial physical custody (follows imprisonment or training school)</pre>	41 2	263	3						
	7 = Early Release	6	49	1. 1. 1.						
	8 = Parole Program (i.e. other than stand- ard aftercare)	106 5	_ 449	4						
	9 = Max-Out: Release without parole super- vision	<u>41</u> 2 2152	<u> </u>	1		0				
		2152	10029	ñ						

a statistication and a statistication of the statistication of the statistication of the statistication of the

CONTRACTORIC MUSER INSULAN



Research Design

 \bigcirc

CODES:

		TYPE OF DESIGN		METHOD OF				
	Pure	Ex Post Facto	Simulated	SUBJECT POOL	ALLOCATION			
	1	5	9	Probability Sample	Match or	Classical		
	2	6	10	Non-Probability Sample	Allocation	and After Only		
	3	*) • 7 . •	11	Probability Sample	Non Match or	with		
	4	8	12	Non-Probability Sample	Allocation	Comparison		
	13	13 15		Probability Sample	Before	-After		
Ī	14	16	18	Non-Probability Sample	No Control			

AFTER ONLY DESIGNS:

19 = After only, probability, pure

20 = After only, probability, ex post facto or simulated

21 = After only, non probability, pure

22 = After only, non probability, ex post facto or simulated

LUMN	VARIA	BLE	
0-31	<u>Resea</u> (see	rch De chart	esi on
	CODE :	1	
		2	
		3	
		4	
		5	
	•	6	
		7	
		8	
		9	
		10	
1		11	
		12	
	ę	13	
		14	
		15	
	н 	16	
		0	

17

18

19

20

21

22

()

 \Box

	JUVE	NILES	ADU	LTS
	#	%	#	%
	·			
us page)				
	32	1.5	70	0.7
	449	21	512	5
			24	0.2
	10	0.5	44	0.4
5			35	0.3
	163	8	90	0.9
		2	967	3
	104		207	5
	134	0	2/4	Ð
		1		
			8	0.1
	4	0.2	75	0.7
				
		0.2		· · · · ·
	2	0.1	2	0.0
	21	1	·	0.0
Alexandra and the second se Second second s Second second seco	منة الآبرين			· · · ·
	ی بیر میر میر	ii.		. معجب
			13	0.1
	1074	50	7464	74
	2	0.1	2	. ¹ .
		U. L.	۲ م 	0.0
	206	10	833	8
	2122		10029	

B-14

ign n previou .

	B-15							B-16	
		СХ							
(VARIABLE	JUVEN #	X	ADU #	NLTS %	0	DLUMN	VARIABLE # % ADULTS	
32	Type of Treatment Group		2				34-35	Primary Treatment	
	CODE: 1 = "E" group (group which received treat- ment)	619	58	1227	53			CODE: 0 = No Treatment (location code specifies 1472 8523 treatment and no additional elements of treatment have been added) (9,995)	
	2 = "C" group (group which did not receive treatment)	250	24	330	14			(Non-Supervisory)	
	3 = Comparison Group 1	181	17	759	33			1 = Volunteer, no control 2 0.3 10 0.7	$n^{(2)}$
	4 = Comparison Group 2	<u>8</u> 1058	1	<u>10</u> 2326	1			2 = Volunteer, control 4 0.6 10 0.7	
								3 = Referral service, control $$ 1 0.1	
	(8797)			0				7 = Monetary help 28 1.9	
		in .					े. वि	8 = Service order or restitution 2 0.3	
23	Querall Indemont on Quality of Study			>		n		9 = Self-help or any voluntary treatment 6 0.4 activity	
<u></u>	overall Sudgment on Quality of Study						1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	(Field Supervision)	
	(Higher codes indicate the overall judgment of the degree to which a study presents problems in in-							10 = Intensive supervision (reduced) 119 17.5 275 18.3	
	that a study should be considered as a possible reject because of its limitations.)							11 = Specialized supervision, general121.81057.0(including matching agent and offender)	
	CODE: $1 = A-Study$	1419	70	7412	74			12 = Specialized supervision, narcotic 64 4.2	
	2 = B-Study	369	17	1636	16			13 = Specialized supervision, alcoholic 34 2.3	
	3 = Worse-3	241	11	661	7			14 = Contract programming 15 1.0	
	4 = Worse-4 5 = Worse-5	34 82	2 4	229 83	2 1			<pre>15 = Early release from probation or parole 26 1.7⁽⁾⁾ (not to be confused with location code 31 - early release from confinement)</pre>	·
n	6 = Worse-6	<u>7</u> 2152		<u>7</u> 10028				16 = Reduced or no supervision on probation 2 0.3 75 5.0 or parole	
	0 = Missing/Unknown				H			(Imprisonment)	
	(1)							20 = Time incarcerated is increased $$ 7 0.5	¢
								21 = Increased custody () 1 0.1	
C			0				0	$22 = Decreased custody \qquad \qquad$	
						-			

ß

÷č.

(~))

	0 								יין בעילונע ייינק עליינט ילי ערינט לערינע צ ו יינע אייי י	ne o cine e la maranta	n waar tarta ta Tarta tarta tart	www.www.ica	5522
	B−17												
						S.		B-18					
	VARIABLE	, <mark>TUVEN</mark> ∦	ILES%	AD #	ULTS%		DLUMN	VARIABLE	JUVE #	NILES%	AD	ULTS %	
34-35	Primary Treatment (continued)												
	CODE: 23 = Specialized prison (co-ed)			7	0.5		34–35	Primary Treatment (continued)					
	24 = Specialized prison, other	14	2.1	55	3.7			(<u>Residential</u>) can only modify location codes 26, 27, 28 and 30					
	25 = Contract programming	6	0.9	15	1.0			CODE: 61 = Public, residential and permissive	123	18.1	112	7.4	
	(Individual Treatment)							62 = Private, residential and permissive	16	2.4	13	0.9	
	30 = Casework			56	3.7			63 = Public, residential and non-permis- sive (i.e. prove, reward system)	48	7.1	26	1.7	
	<pre>31 = Individual counseling (practical help</pre>	10	1.5	49	3.3			64 = Private, residential and non-permis- sive (i.e. Synanon)	1	0.1	35	2.3	
	<pre>inter-personal, etc.)</pre>	5	0.7	10	0.7			68 = Diagnostic services	10	1.5	5	0.3	
	33 = Individual psychotherapy	16	2.4	23	1.6			(Behavioral Modification)					
	(Skill Development)							70 = Behavioral modification methods	3	0.4			ä
	40 = Education, remedial or grade school	129	19.0	wind sing laws				71 = Token economy	6	0.9			
	41 = Education, high school level	.11	1.6	20	1.3			(Medical Methods)	ананананананананананананананананананан				
	42 = Education, college level	5	0.7	57	3.8			80 = Tranquilization and similar	1	0.1			
	43 = Vocational training	16	2.4	140	9.3			82 = Plastic surgery			4	0.3	
	44 = On-the-job training (can only modify location code 29)	10	1.5	2	0.1			83 = Methadone and similar			3	0.2	
	(Group Methods)							(Job Development and Related)			-		
	50 = Lay group counseling	1	ð.1	20	1.3			90 = Institutional work programs, pittance wage			₆ 5	0.3	
	51 = Synanon-type lay group counseling	12	1.8	25	1.7			93 = Pre-job training	22	3.2	5	0.3	
	52 = Group therapy	15	2.2	50	3.3			94 = Job placement	17	2.5	37	2.5	
e e	(Mileau Therapy: "Therapeutic Community") The aim is to make every action taken toward the	4 						95 = Sheltered employment	3	0.4			
	offender carry a treatment impact. 60 = Non-residential mileau therapy	32	4.7					96 = Apprenticeship or on-the-job training (cannot modify location 29 work/study furlough release)			18	1.2	0
C		æ ^r	9 9 9		4 14			97 = Any work experience	5	0.7	21	1.4	
			Q		Č.s			99 = Treatment added but unspecifiable	2	0.3	5	0.3	
			10 11		ł				680		1506	2.2	
			# 	2 2									

and the second second

	B-19					B−20				
æ		HIVENTLES	ADULTS				JUVE	NILES	AD	OULTS
SJLUMN	VARIABLE	# %	# %		LUMN	VARIABLE	#	%	#	8
36-37	Secondary Treatment Given to Group				36-37	Secondary Treatment Given to Group (continued)				
	CODE: 0 = No Treatment (location code specified treatment and no additional elements of treatment have been added) (10,828)	1641	9187			CODE: 30 = Casework		ara Ara Ara Ara Ara	1	0.1
	(Non-Supervisory)			A POTISTICAN POLICICAL INC.		31 = Individual counseling (practical help or advice)	109	21.3	156	18.5
	1 = Volunteer, no control	3 0.6 2 0.5-	14 1.7 2 0.2			<pre>32 = Individual counseling (confrontation, inter-personal, etc.)</pre>	15	2.9	2	0.2
	5. = Referral service, control		4 0.5		33 = Individual psychotherapy (Skill Development)				10	1.2
	7 = Monetary help	6 1.2	5 0.6							
	8 = Service order or restitution	stitution 40 - Education, remedial of grade school	40 = Education, remedial or grade school	32	6.3	1	0.1			
	9 = Self-help or any voluntary treatment activity		4 0.5			42 = Education, college level		6.5	3	0.4
	(Field Supervision)	0			\bigcirc	43 = Vocational training	39	7.6	54	6.4
	<pre>10 = Intensive supervision (reduced case- loads, surveillance, etc.)</pre>	3 0.6	47 5.6		(<u>Group Methods</u>) 50 = Lay group counseling 51 = Synanon-type lay group counseling					
	<pre>11 = Specialized supervision, general (in- cluding matching agent and offender)</pre>	4 0.8	24 2.9	0 0			20	3.9	3	0.4
	12 = Specialized supervision, narcotic	· ·	9 1.1			52 = Group therapy	74	14.5	179	21.3
	<pre>15 = Early release from probation or parole (not to be confused with location code 31 - early release from confinement)</pre>		6 0.7			(<u>Mileau Therapy</u> : "Therapeutic Community") "The aid is to make every action taken toward the offender carry a treatment impact." p. 242				
	(<u>Imprisonment</u>)	9				$60 - N_{\rm end} = 1 - 1 - 1$			n .	
	22 = Decreased custody		4 0.5			(Posidontial)	12	2.3	6	0.7
	23 = Specialized prison (co-ed)	1 0.2	5 0.6			(<u>Residential</u>) can only modify location codes 26, 27, 28 and 30				
	25 = Contract programming	10 2.0			14. 	61 = Public, residential and permissive (most group homes)	12	2.3	22	2.6
						64 = Private, residential and non-permis- sive (i.e. Synanon)	ingina par		12	1.4
					U	68 = Diagnostic services	13	2.5		

0 . 0

A

	B21			J.					В-22 ,		đ.			
	VARIABLE	JUVENI #	x	ADUI #	LTS		LUMA	VARI	ABLE	#	<u>/eni</u>	LES%	ADU #	ILTS %
36-37	Secondary Treatment Given to Group (continued)						38	Tota	1 Number of Treatments					
	(Behavioral Modification)							CODE	0 = No treatement added	148	7	69	8534	85
	CODE: 70 = Behavioral modification methods	1	0.2	3	0.4	nano na nano		ř.	1 = One treatment	20	7	10	764	8
	71 = Token economy	3	0.6	2	0.2				2 = Two treatments	16	0	7	145	1
	72 = Aversive conditioning (Apnea, anti- buse and similas)			1	0.1				3 = Three or more treatments,	 215	<u>B</u> 2	14	<u>586</u> 10029	6
	(Medical Methods)		1 1 1			, so and a second s								
	80 = Tranquilization and similar	1	0.2	مة كنية										
	83 = Methadone and similar		-	7	0.8		39	Trea	atment Location					
ζυ,	(Job Development and Related)							CODE	E: 1 = On probation	13	1	19	204	13
	90 = Institutional work programs, pittance	8	1.6		[,]				2 = In lieu of probation	4	4	6		
124	wage			25	3.0				3 = In prison	20	2	30	582	38
	93 = Pre-job training			2.5	0.0				4 = In lieu of prison	22	9	33	256	17
lj .	94 = Job placement	10	2.0	/4	0.0				5 = On parole	6	2	9	447	30
	95 = Sheltered employment	4	0.8						6 = In lieu of parole	1	2	2	15	1
	96 = Apprenticeship or on-the-job training (cannot modify location code 29 work/ study furlough release)	5	1.0	7	0.8				$7 = \Lambda ny$ other location	68	<u>3</u>	1	<u>13</u> 1517	1
	97 = Any work experience	50	9.8	17	2.0				9 = No special treatment					Ċ
	98 = Secondary treatment only: contracted out	25	4.9	108	12.8				(9981)					
 An example of the second se Second second secon second second sec	99 = Treatment but unknown	<u>2</u> 511	0.4	<u>7</u> 842	0.8		10	T_ (These boost Welun teru?					
					0		40		The le Vec	n 16)4	18	447	46
					н ули сталана 1997 - Салана 1997 - Салана			CODI	L: L = Ies	A-	28	82	ें ' ६१०	54
									2 = No	 58	32	UL	965	

- 5

V.

9 = Unknown or N/A

B-22	

(10,634)

2

	B-23				
LUMN	VARIABLE	JUVENILES # %	ADULTS	DLUMN	VARIABLE
41-43	Months in Treatment			45	<u>Concurrence:</u> Overlap of Tre
	(Number of months group has received treatment whether in the institution, on field supervision or both. For this item standard probation or parole supervision is regarded as a treatment.				CODE: 1 = Tim enc
	If a period of field supervision follows (or is separate from) a period of "special treatment," the total time in treatment is added and months				2 = Tim bey
	on parole are coded as Not Applicable = 999. If the "special treatment" and field supervision coincide, the "special treatment" is coded here				3 = Tim iod
9 9	and in the total time under field supervision. For example, if a group receives four months of halfway house treatment while on parole and af- ter graduating receives standard parole for an additional 18 months, months in treatment = 004				4 = Time all ext
	and months on parole = 022.)				9 = Unkn
	CODE: 1 through 60	Juveniles	Adults		(
	999 = Unknown) $) (7149) $ $0 = Missing/NA$	∽X s.d.	X s.d.	O ⁻⁴⁸	Months Incarce
		(N = 1437)	(N = 3595)		(Code number of sentence includ
					CODE: 1 throug
44	Definition of Months in Treatment	0			999 = Ur
	CODE: 1 = A hard and fast definition, e.g., each case is treated for 7 months	149 10	805 22		0 = No at
	2 = An "up to" definition, e.g., some but not all cases are treated for 7 months	634 44	1216 33	49	Definition of M
	3 = An "at least" definition, e.g., all cases are treated for 7 months but some are treated for longer periods of time	98 7	463 13		CODE: 1 = A ha case 10 m
	4 = Average, median or mode	<u>554</u> 39	<u>1183</u> 32		2 = An'not
	9 = Unknown	1433	, 100		3 = An'
С	(7079)			$ \alpha $	case but
				interna 🗋 🕺 🎽 👘 👘	peri

, A

The second s

	JUVEN	LLES	AD	ULTS
$\frac{1}{2\mathbf{E}}$	∦	%	#	%
o of Treatment and Follow-Up Time			ана 2014 г. 2014 г.	
1 = Time in treatment and time in follow-up encompass the same period	758	50	2923	63
<pre>2 = Time in follow-up includes but extends beyond time in treatment</pre>	204	13	526	11
3 = Time in follow-up includes only a per- iod of time following treatment	370	24	626	13
4 = Time in follow-up includes part but not all of time in treatment, and does not	181	12	558	12
extend beyond time in treatment	1513	÷	4633	

9 = Unknown

(6035)

Incarcerated

number of months incarcerated on <u>current</u> ace including special treatment)			an an an Anna a Anna an Anna an			
1 through 90	Juve	niles	Adults			
999 = Unknown	x	s.d.	x	s.d.		
0 = Not Applicable: not incarcer-)(8073)	12.75	11.51	22.05	13.16		
ated on current sentence)	(N =	1540)	(N =	2568)		
tion of Months Incarcerated						
<pre>1 = A hard and fast definition, e.g., every case in the group is incarcerated for 10 months</pre>	95	20				
<pre>2 = An "up to" definition, e.g., some but not all cases are incarcerated for 10 months</pre>	40	8	64	5		
<pre>3 = An "at least" definition, e.g., all cases are incarcerated for 10 months but some are incarcerated for longer periods</pre>	29	6	124	10		
4 = Average, median or mode	318	66	1073	85		
9 - Not dominant la contracto de la contract	482		1262			
- NOL INCARCERATED OF UNKNOWN						

B-24

(10,437)
	B-25		Β	-26
	VARIABLE	JUVENILES ADULTS # % # %	LUMN VARIABLE	JUVENILES ADULTS # % # %
50–52	Months on Parole (or Probation)		54 Mean Age of Group	
	CODE: 1 through 72		CODE: $1 = Up$ to 17	1873 91 21 1
	999 = Unknown)	Juveniles Adults	2 = 17 - 24	178 9 821 31
) (1068) Blank = Not applicable)	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$ s.d. $\overline{\mathbf{X}}$ s.d.	3 = 25 - 34	1676 63
		10.24 7.27 12.42 11.47	4 = 35 - 44	127 5
			5 = 45 plus	3_ 0
				2051 2648
53	Definition Code: Months on Develo (on Devletion)		9 = Unknown (7482)	
	CODE: 1 = A bord and fast definition	/7 15 1/0 00		
	case in the group is followed-up for 3	47 15 148 28	55 Sex of Group	
C	2 = An "up to" definition, i.e., some but	225 73 338 64	CODE: 1 = Male	1121 70 7257 83
	not all are followed-up for 3 years	2.2 73 330 04	2 = Female	222 14 863 10
	3 = An "at least" definition, e.g., all cases are followed-up for three years	27 9 22 4	3 = Mixed	251 16 637 7
	but some are followed up for a longer period of time			1594 8757
NA CARACTERISTICS	4 = Average, median or mode	9 3 22 4	9 = Unknown	
		309 530	(1830)	
	9 = Unknown)		56 Base: Proportion of One util	
	(11,343) 0 = N/A)		CODE: 1 = Up to 25%	
			2 = 25 - 50	79 9 187 6
			3 = 50 - 75	62 / 382 13
- 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000			4 = 75 - 100	152 18 1040 04
				<u> </u>
C			9 = Unknown	
	4 •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(8467)	
. 3				· · · · · ·

(f

..

0

·

3-26	
------	--

4

it .

	D-2/					and the rest of th	-tr					
	VARIABLE	JUVEN #	VILES %	A] #	DULTS		JLUMN	VARIABLE	JUVI #	ENILES %	AI	<u>)ULTS)</u> ל
57	Proportion of Group High School Grads or Above		á :			an a su a su a bhan ab an	60	Proportion of Group Who are Property Offenders: Uses current convictionoffense only Property in				
	CODE: $1 = Up$ to 25%	222	93	471	50	and a second		cludes burglary, larceny, auto theft, fraud, and similar, but no robbery or other crimes involving	· .			
•	2 = 25 - 50	8	3	361	38			violence or the threat of violence.				
	3 = 50 - 75			107	11 //			CODE: $1 = Up$ to 25%	287	42	3217	47
	4 = 75 - 100	8	3	11	1			2 = 25 - 50	214	31	851	13
		238		950				3 = 50 - 75	60	9	915	14
na in the second se Second second second Second second	9 = Unknown (10,993)							4 = 75 - 100	125	18	<u>1796</u>	18
						Alta Gana - Sala - Sala	1	9 = Unknown	000		6779	
58	<u>Class</u> : Index created from measures of proportion of group with lower occupational status, unem- ployed, proportion low class and proportion on welfare							(4716)				
C	CODE: 1 = Lower class	106	38	234	24	6	0					•
	2 = Middle class	152	54	354	36		61	Proportion of Group Made Up of First Offenders: Uses criteria of no prior record no prior arrest				
	3 = High class	24	8	405	41			and/or no prior conviction.				
		282	. ·	993				CODE: $1 = Up$ to 25%	98	67	399	44
	(10,906)							2 = 25 - 50	23	16	266	29
								3 = 50 - 75	19	13	153	17
59	Proportion of Group with Broken Family: (Does not include proportion single or unmarried but does		. 0					4 = 75 - 100	<u> </u>	4	<u>96</u> 914	10
	CODE: 1 = Up to 25%	31	0 12	376	41			9 = Unknown	Cr.			
	2 = 25 - 50	29	12	361	41 41			(11,121)				
	3 = 50 - 75	182	72	138	40							
	4 = 75 - 100	÷ 0	/~ /`	21	10							
		251	7	<u> </u>	.							
C	9 = Unknown			د			J					

A second se

 \mathbf{A}



	B–29			
CJLUMN	VARIABLE	JUVENILES # %	ADULTS	0
62	Proportion of Group With at Least One Prior Incarceration		.0	
	CODE: $!=$ Up to 25%	46 21	290 16	
	2 = 25 - 50	88 40	216 12	
	3 = 50 - 75	74 34	1038 58	
	4 = 75 - 100	<u> 12 5</u>	<u> 253 14 </u>	
		220	1797	
	9 = Unknown (10,164)			
63	Narcotic History Associated with Group			
C	CODE: 1 = Yes	81 45	586 14	
	2 = No	100 55	3593 86	
		181	4179	
	9 = Unknown			
	⁽ (7821)			
64	Alcohol History Associated with Group			
	CODE: $1 = Yes$		79 2	
	2 = No	<u>66</u> 100 66	<u>3938</u> 98 4017	
	9 = Unknown (8098)			
	* <i>«</i>			0
	$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$			

APPENDIX C

C-1

Ċ

DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES AND PROFILE OF THE DATA SET

Investigation of Sources and Identification of Documents¹

A "Letter of Inquiry" and "Brief Description" of the project were sent to over 1700 addresses obtained from a comprehensive LEAA mailing list. This initial mailing reached all of the target groups including funding and funded agencies, private organizations, research centers, and various academic centers. A second mailing went to directors of the departments listed in the ACA <u>Directory of Juvenile and Adult Correctional Departments, Institutions, Agencies and Paroling Authorities in the United State and Canada</u>, 1975-76 edition. A third mailing requested that the project be placed on the mailing list of all organizations producing relevant newsletters.

Two additional mailings were undertaken. A Criminal Justice Activity Announcement was sent out by the National Criminal Justice Reference Service to help ensure that persons below the level of department heads were informed of the project. A "Dear Colleague" letter was enclosed with a regular mailing to members of the American Society of Criminology.²

Several types of primary bibliographical sources were utilized to discover additional research reports.

- 1. Major bibliographies and program listings:
 - a. Smithsonian Science Information Exchange Published Searches. <u>Criminological Evaluation Studies</u> (6/76); <u>Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice Administration</u> (10/75); <u>Rehabilitation of Adult and Juvenile Offenders</u> (10/75); <u>Judges, Lawyers, and Probation Officers</u> (10/75); <u>Court Management and Organization</u> (10/75).

¹This Appendix from Robert Martinson and Judith Wilks, unpublished progress report.

²The mailing lists of a number of professional organizations were considered. The ASC list seemed to yield the best coverage for the cost.

c. L p l d. B e. I c f. N a a " Newsl a. M

 $\left(\right)$

 (\cdot)

b. Ma De in no c. Ot (U se

Retrieval

Order forms were sent directly to authors and publishers whenever possible. Standing accounts were maintained with the National Technical Information Service and the Government Printing Office for purchase of documents distributed solely by them. Many documents were obtained through inter-library loan. For example, this method was used with the Document Loan Program of the National Criminal Justice Reference Service.

C-2

b. National Technical Information Service. <u>Probation</u> and <u>Parole</u>, 1964 to October 1974; <u>Juvenile Delin-</u> <u>quency</u>, 1964 to May 1975; <u>Rehabilitation of Criminal</u> and <u>Public Offenders</u>, 1967 to August 1975.

c. Law Enforcement Assistance Administration. <u>A Com-</u> <u>pendium of Selected Criminal Justice Projects</u>, June 1975.

d. Bureau of Prisons. <u>Abstracts of Research in the</u> Bureau of Prisons, 1970-75.

e. Institute of Governmental Studies, University of California (Berkeley). Bibliographies of criminological literature compiled by Dorothy Tompkins.

f. National Clearinghouse on Criminal Justice Planning and Architecture. All accession listings to date; all library catalogue entries under the title, "Recidivism."

2. Newsletters and Journals:

a. Major newsletters. <u>Criminal Justice Newsletter;</u> <u>Corrections Digest; Criminal Justice Digest; Target.</u>

b. Major journals. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency; Crime and Delinquency; Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology; British Journal of Criminology.

c. Others. <u>Research Bulletin and Summary of Research</u> (United States); <u>Bulletin of the Criminological Re</u>search Department (Japan).

1. Specific Documents:

Research reports appearing in journals were listed and maintained in a card catalogue.

C-4

2. Projects:

Relevant projects were sent a "Letter of Inquiry" and project titles were maintained in a master file. Separate project items were logged and physically filed as part of "on-going" projects. Such files were updated through correspondence.

3. National Council on Crime and Delinquency (Abstracts):

Over one thousand abstracts of documents were examined by utilizing the Termitrex system maintained by NCCD. Relevant documents were ordered directly or obtained on loan from the NCCD library. The staff of the Information Center and the library were very helpful in the search and NCCD proved to be a rich source of information.

4. In-House Documents:

Documents received directly by mail were examined for pertinent references, and were then either re-classified on the basis of contents, or filed in the "Source" section of the Center's library.

5. Uniform Parole Reports:

A special procedure was required to obtain the Uniform Barole Reports data by State. Address labels were provided to the Center for agencies participating in the UPR program. A Letter of Request was sent to the agencies requesting permission to have data for their State released to the Center. The Research Center of the National Council on Crime and Delinquency in Davis

1.1

 \bigcirc

()

Alabama Arizona California Department of Corrections Youth Authority Connecticut Delaware Florida Georgia Idaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Maryland Mississippi Missouri Montana

The generous help given to this project by the staff of the Information Center and library of the National Council on Crime and Delinquency deserves special thanks. Agencies in a number of states also deserve special mention for providing numerous research reports. These include California (Department of Corrections, Youth Authority and the Los Angeles Probation Department), District of Columbia, Georgia, Illinois, Massachusetts, and Wisconsin.

The search yielded 828 offender-based studies containing recidivism rates on groups of released offenders. After editing to ensure unique data, 555 documents provided the information upon which this study is based.

then provided the project with a computer printout of UPR data for States that had granted permission by a certain date. These states are listed below:

> Nebraska New Mexico New York North Carolina North Dakota Ohio Oregon Pennsylvania South Carolina South Dakota Tennessee Utah Virginia West Virginia Wisconsin Wyoming Washington, D.C.

6. Special Help:

C-5

A Profile of Selected Data Characteristics

6 6

 \bigcirc

C

The procedure outlined above yielded a unique data set, containing information on 12,146 groups of released offenders, 82.5% adults and 17.5% juveniles. As illustrated by the profile chart on the following page, all major regions of the country are represented for both juveniles and adults. The original data were collected primarily during the 1960's (15%) and 1970's (83%). The remaining cases cover the period between 1900 and 1950.

Most of the groups were abstracted from official state agency records and reports (67%), and state rap sheets (23%). The remaining cases (10%) were derived from a variety of sources including various combinations of federal, state and local rap sheets.

Groups receiving innovative correctional treatment were derived from three research design categories: 1) <u>after-only</u> design, used for the majority of cases (59% of juvenile cases, 82% of adult cases); 2) <u>classical designs and</u> <u>after-only with control groups</u> (39.2% of the juvenile groups and 16.9% of the adult groups); 3) <u>before/after</u> design (1.3% of juvenile groups and no adult groups).

The data also contain information about the government level that administered treatment, the number of treatments given, the criminal justice system location in which treatment was administered, and length and type of treatment. Eighteen percent of the sample received some type of treatment intervention, in addition to that implied by the criminal justice system location (probation or parole): 31% of the juvenile groups and 15% of the adult groups received some form of special treatment.

C-6





 $\langle \rangle$

Probation, Parole and Their Alternatives

The data in Table C-1 show the distribution of cases across eight major administrative locations where offenders are assigned after release from direct control of the criminal justice system. Most of the adult groups were on parole (74%) and an additional 4% were in a parole program at the time the data were collected. Thirteen percent of the adult groups were on probation, and the remaining 9% were distributed over 5 other locations including shock probation, group homes, early release, work study and halfway houses.

The distribution for juvenile groups is somewhat different. While 43% were either on standard parole or in a parole program, 34% were on probation, 11% were in group homes, and the remaining 5% were in halfway houses, workstudy programs, or had been released after serving their maximum sentence without supervision.

Table C-1

Distribution of Juvenile and Adult Groups According to Administrative Jurisdiction

	JUVENILES	ADULTS
Imprisonment/Parole	38%	74%
Probation	. 34%	13%
Partial Physical Custody (residential establish-	11%	1%
ment for convicted offender given in lieu of training school, i.e. group nome, probation camp)	9. 20 9. 20 1.	
Parole Program (other than standard aftercare)	5%	4%
Halfway House/Partial Physical Custody	2%	3%
Work-Study/Furlough Release	1%	2%
Maxout (release without parole supervision)	2%	. .1%
Early Release	0	1% <u>1</u> %
	(2,152)	(10,029)

8 A.

()

¹This Appendix describes the importance of several factors found to affect the magnitude of the rate of recidivism. Several other potentially important sources of variance, including the quality of the study, were analyzed but were found not to affect the rate in a consistent fashion. Details of the data available for analysis can be found in Appendix B.

C-8

APPENDIX D

FACTORS AFFECTING INTERPRETATION OF THE RATE OF RECIDIVISM1

INTRODUCTION

Criminal recidivism, that is, the return to crime after release from custody, is the most frequently used measure of the effectiveness of the institutional systems of control, supervision and rehabilitation of offenders. However, the widespread acceptance of the term "recidivism" belies the difficulty in measuring the concept in a standard manner. This lack of measurement precision has led to considerable confusion about exactly what the rate of recidivism is in the United States. There is a wide discrepancy in the reported rate of recidivism in the numerous reports, articles and texts devoted to the subject which results in large part from the various ways recidivism has been operationalized. In addition, factors such as the length of time offenders are followed up after release, the geographic location in which the offenders are located and the decade in which the study was done also have an impact on the reported recidivism rate. The result is that no national data base to date has been compiled from which the "actual" rate of recidivism can be estimated. Even the Uniform Parole Reports provide only partial information as its focus is solely on the failure rates for adult parolees.

(

This confusion, coupled with the media's promotion of studies that have the most sensationalistic value, has led the public to believe that the rate of recidivism in the United States is extremely high. The Uniform Crime Reports, a frequently cited source of data, estimates that the recidivism rate is between 50% to 80%. This information has been disseminated and promoted in corrections texts and journals as well as to the public. The 1970 Uniform Crime Report indicates an overall rate of 65% for persons released in 1965 and re-arrested within four years. Text book authors have accepted and promoted these figures. Fox (1972), for instance, reports a rate of approximately 65% for adults and 40% for juveniles. Goldfarb and Singer (1973) speculate that

 d_{1}

Other less well publicized studies present a different picture. Some time ago Glaser (1959) estimated the rate to be about 33%. More recently (1978) the Uniform Parole Reports indicated that:

violators.

The findings of this study, presented in Table D-1 indicate that the average rate of recidivism may be even lower than the 33% estimated by Glaser. Juvenile groups reported in the literature have an average rate of recidivism of 28.5%. The mean for adult groups is even lower, 15.7%. However, considerable variation exists around these averages for both juveniles and adults. The standard deviation is almost as high as the mean itself, indicating that although the rates cluster at the lower end of the continuum, there are many instances of rates much higher and much lower than the average.

The Overall Average Rate of Recidivism for Juvenile and Adult Groups

s.d. Number of Gro

Mean

Number of Ind

D-2

the rate is as high as 50% to 80%, claiming that the average offender repeats crime within one year after release from custody.

> Based on the data reported to UPR, violators among 1978 removals from parole totalled 24.3%. Therefore, the 1978 removal figures support the long-standing indication from UPR individual case-based studies that approximately three-fourths of persons paroled in this country can be characterized as successes, or at least as non-

Table D-1

•	JUVENILES	ADULTS
	28.51	15.67
р Ц	21.29	15,74
ıps	2,152	10,029
ividuals	301,000	1,700,000

At first glance, the discrepancies in these findings appear perplexing. However, upon closer scrutiny, the effect of other factors on the reported rate of recidivism can be observed. For example, a superficial comparison of our data and the data presented by the Uniform Parole Reporting System suggests almost a ten point difference in the rate of recidivism for adults. However, when adult failures on parole who were followed for twelve months after release are sorted out, a recidivism rate of 27% is observed, comparable to the 24% reported by the Uniform Parole Reporting System. Other factors, including geographic location and decade in which the study was conducted. affect the magnitude of the rate of recidivism as well. In the sections of this chapter that follow, the contribution of each of these factors and the way they affect our analysis of the treatment of offenders is discussed in detail.

The Operational Definition of Recidivism

فيكر أهيع يعام فيطل تماكم يهديكهم كأكاب أطار الدار الطريكان فالأكارين

Of all the factors affecting the magnitude of the mate of recidivism, the operational definition was found to have the most dramatic impact. For both juveniles and adults, the way in which recidivism is defined establishes a net through which certain kinds of criminal actions are detected. To a great extent, the definition of recidivism is responsible for the large fluct tuations in the reported rate of recidivism, accounting for the majority in the equations we analyzed.

The following seven definitions of recidivism were found in the literature:

1. Failure -- Failure refers to an unfavorable disposition, short of contact with the criminal justice system. This includes dishonorable discharges, unsuccessful program participation, informal warnings, delinquency

declarations, and other unfavorable criminal justice system action that does not change the custody status of the offender.

cer.

3. Re-Arrest -- The re-arrest rate includes offenders who were arrested after release.

5. Imprisonment/Technical Violation -- This definition includes those offenders who were imprisoned or assigned to a correctional institution as a result of a technical violation of probation or parole.

6. Imprisonment/New Conviction -- This definition includes offenders who were re-imprisoned or assigned to a correctional institution as a result of a conviction for a new crime committed.

7. Imprisonment/Either Technical Violation or a New Conviction --This definition includes both offenders who were re-imprisoned for a technical violation of probation or parole, and offenders who were convicted of a

new crime.

The percentage of groups defined by each of these definitions is presented in Table D-2. Adults were most frequently defined as recidivists by the definitions abscond (23.5%), imprisonment for a technical violation (24.2%) and imprisonment for a new conviction (21.7%). For juveniles, the most common definitions were abscond (27.8%) and imprisonment for a technical violation (28.3%), followed by re-arrest (13.7%) and imprisonment for either a technical violation or a new conviction (12.4%).

D-4

2. Abscond -- Recidivists who were defined as absconding either did not report for supervision, or could not be located by their supervising offi-

4. Re-Conviction -- The rate of re-conviction refers to the percentage of offenders who were convicted of a new crime after release.

Operational Definition of Recidivism (Distribution of Cases; Average Rate of Recidivism; Standard Deviation; Pearson's r Between the Rate of Recidivism and the Specified Definition [Dichotomized])

D-6

Table D-2

		AD	ULTS				JI	IVENILES		
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION	N Groups/ Indivs.	%	<u> </u>	<u>s.d.</u>	<u>r</u>	N Groups/ Indivs.	%	<u></u>	<u>s.d.</u>	<u> </u>
Failure	685 110,500	6.8	35.7	20.5	,34	191 13,975	8.9	43.6	22.2	.22
Short of Arrest/ Abscond	2,356 311,875	23.5	7.4	9.1	29	598 89,625	27.8	25.3	17.1	09
Re-Arrest	630 93,225	6.3	27.9	18.1	.20	294 34,375	13.7	41.9	24.7	.25
Conviction for New Offense	453 83,950	4.5	21.7	15.6	•08	71 9,875	3.3	23.4	17.6	04
Imprisonment/ Technical	2,430 500,650	24.2	14.6	12.1	04	610 111,900	28.3	25.7	19.5	08
Imprisonment/ New Conviction	2,173 407,250	21.7	8.0	8.8	26	120 2 8, 350	5.6	7.1	9.6	25
Imprisonment/ Technical or New Conviction	1,302 194,550	13.0 °	26.8	26.8	.27	268 30,550	12.4	27.6	19.2	02
N of Groups	10,029	100.0	15.7	15.7		2,152	100.0	28.5	21.3	
N of Indivs.	1,702,000					318,650				

D

'n.

nical violation the average is 14.6%.

The impact of each operational definition on the magnitude of the observed rate of recidivism is shown by the \overline{X} 's presented in Table D-2. These data indicate that operational definition has a strong impact on the average rate of recidivism for adult and juvenile groups reported in the literature. For adults, the highest average rate of recidivism is found when recidivism is defined as failure (35.7%). The lowest average rate is observed for adults when recidivism is defined as abscond (7.4%), followed by imprisonment for a new conviction which yields an average rate of only 8%.

Definitions that do not specify the reason for re-incarceration (imprisonment for a technical violation or new conviction), produce an average rate for adults of 26.8%. When recidivism is defined as re-imprisonment for a tech-

For juveniles, the highest average rate of recidivism is found when recidivism is measured as failure (43.6%). The lowest rate for juvenile groups occurs when recidivism is defined as imprisonment for a new conviction (7.1%). These data indicate that much of the variation in the reported rate of recidivism, and probably a good deal of the confusion surrounding what the rate of recidivism in the United States actually is, can be attributed to how recidivism is defined. Wide fluctuation exists in the reported rate of recidivism depending on the point in the criminal justice system where measurement is taken and the efficiency of that measure in detecting criminal activity. The filter which each definition establishes provides a conservative estimate of the actual amount of criminal activity that actually occurs within any given group. Clearly, considerable error exists in measuring criminal activity with official measures. In and of itself, however, this error does not invalidate

D-7

the analysis of the relative effect of various programs on the rate of recidivism, as long as the definition of recidivism is taken into account.²

DISCUSSION

For the purposes of the present research the central question underlying the analysis of the various operational definitions of recidivism is the extent to which these definitions, both individually and collectively, can be viewed as valid and reliable measures of criminal activity after release from custody. Two main assumptions are possible. First, it is plausible that each measure of recidivism more or less measures the same phenomenon. Specifically, it can be assumed that although it is not known exactly how many persons in a particular group return to crime, it is known how many individuals in a group were rearrested. It can therefore be concluded that the higher a group's re-arrest rate, the greater the crime rate for that group. This assumption is reasonable for each class of definition reported in the literature, although it is probably more accurate for some definitions than for others.

A second assumption about operational definition is equally plausible. It is possible that each of the seven definitions measures a separate, distinct, independent process that could be affected by intervention differentially. Because there is no evidence that would exclude either of these assumptions, both are utilized through this research, as we focus on: 1) how treatment varies irréspective of definition, and 2) how treatment impacts on each definition separately. When the overall impact of treatment, regardless of definition, is the same as when each definition is analyzed separately, then this internal consistency will build confidence in the data. When the

2This assumes that the ratio of criminal activity to official measures of recidivism is the same for all programs.

impact of treatment is different, depending on the definition of recidivism. then interpretation of the findings should be more cautious. Throughout the course of this research operational definition is taken into account by computing separate equations for each definition for each treatment under analysis.

are detailed.

ŧ

Length of Time of Follow-Up It is common knowledge that the longer a cohort of ex-offenders is followed over time, the greater the likelihood that more persons in the group will be defined as recidivists. Therefore, the length of time of follow-up might be anticipated as affecting the magnitude of recidivism. In order to allow for this possibility, the length of time of follow-up and its effect on the rate of recidivism were analyzed. The 10,029 adult groups' follow-up time ranged from 1 month to 37 years with a mean of 20.4 months and a standard deviation of 15.9 months. Juveniles were followed for an average of 22.6 months, with a standard deviation of 24.5 months. Of the 2,133 groups, the follow-up ranged from 1 months to 22 years. The zero order correlations for length of time of follow-up are presented in Table D-3. The means provide partial verification for the notion that follow-up time affects the magnitude of the rate of recidivism, with an r of .06 for juveniles and .21 for adults. However, when analyzing the effect of length of follow-up controlling for definition, somewhat different results

D-8

Other Factors Affecting the Magnitude of the Rate of Recidivism

In addition to operational definition, we found three other factors that affect the rate of recidivism, irrespective of the type of intervention employed. In the following pages the effect of length of time of follow-up, the geographic location and the time period during which the study was conducted

D-9

D-10

Table D-3

0

C

Relationship Between Rate of Recidivism and Length of Time in Follow-Up for Each Definition of Recidivism

(h

	<u>Adults</u>	Juveniles
Failure	.11 (680)	.28 (919)
Abscond	09 (2,343)	08 (593)
Re-Arrest	.34 (624)	.36 (285)
Be-Conviction	.42 (444)	.47 (71)
Re-Imprisonment/Technical	.24 (2,415)	.64 (609)
Re-Imprisonment/New Conviction	.27 (2,166)	.20 (119)
Re-Imprisonment/Total	.38 (1,291)	.21 (265)
Overall	•21	•06





U	
Ŧ.	
Ε	

)

Adults	Juveniles	
1,719,608	322,280	ivs.
9,963	2,133	
20.4	22.6	
15.4	24.5	
12.4	12.1	n
р	0	n
.21	•06	LSM
9,963 20.4 15.4 12.4 .21	2,133 22.6 24.5 12.1	a h Lsm

emerge (Table D-3). Follow-up time actually has a slight negative relationship to the rate of recidivism when recidivism is defined as abscond (B=-.11 for adults; B=-.08 for juveniles). For all other definitions, the correlation is positive, ranging from B=.19 to B=.40 for adults and B=.20 to B=.64 for juveniles, depending on the definition of recidivism.

D-12

Given the relatively consistent impact on the rate of recidivism, length of time of follow-up is included in all the regression equations analyzed during the course of this research.

Geographic Regions of the United States

C

In addition to the impact of operational definition and length of followup time on the rate of recidivism, there are major differences in recidivism rates between regions of the country.

The United States Census Bureau divides the country into nine geographic areas.³ Although there is much variation within each area, these geographic locations represent in a very general way, different philosophies and policies that exist in the regions across the United States. During the course of abstracting the rate of recidivism on the groups that comprise the data base, the state from which the data originated was coded and later grouped by area as indicated in Table D-4.

Table D-4 shows the distribution of our sample across geographic location. For adults, the largest segment came from the Pacific region (30%), followed by the South Atlantic (18%), West-North Central (11.9%) and East-North Central (10.8%) regions. Similar patterns emerged for juveniles: 33.7% of our sample came from the Pacific region, followed by the West-North Central (19.5%), South Atlantic (18%) and East-North Central (12.3%) regions.

3See map at the end of this Appendix.

REGION

New England

Mid-Atlantic

East-North Central

West-North Central

South Atlantic

East-South Central

West-South Central

Mountain

Pacific

Other U.S.

Canada

Overall

"To:

()

D-13

Table D-4

Regional Variation in Recidivism Rates For Adults and Juveniles

	ADULTS	3		JUVENI	LES
N OF GROUPS	%	N OF INDIVIDUALS	N OF GROUPS	%	N OF INDIVIDUALS
270	2.6	34,381	77	3.5	7,425
714	7.1	163,857	113	5.2	21,797
1,082	10.8	206,821	265	12,3	29,969
1,193	11.9	186,234	421	19.5	77,556
1,806	18.0	315,865	390	18.0	52,996
513	5.0	44,239	9	0.4	1,886
111	1.0	24,048	26	1.2	4,210
753	7.5	49,191	69	3.2	9,327
3,020	3.7	730,822	726	33.7	113,208
351	3.4	74,869			, <u>-</u>
216	2.0	80,908	56	2.6	3,908
10,029		1,719,608	2,152		322,280

Since the definition of recidivism and the length of time of follow-up has to be taken into account in interpreting average rates of recidivism across geographic areas, regression equations were computed to determine the relative ordering of the regions with respect to recidivism. Separate equations were computed for each definition of recidivism. The results of these equations are summarized in Tables D-5, D-6, D-7, D-8.4

The findings indicate that the relative ordering of regions in the United States with respect to the rate of recidivism is affected by the operational definition of recidivism. For adults, only the New England and South Atlantic regions have rates of recidivism that are consistent across definition, with the New England states reporting relatively higher rates of recidivism than the average, and the South Atlantic region reporting relatively lower rates. Other regions report considerable inconsistency depending on how recidivism is defined. The Pacific region, for example, tends to be associated with relatively higher rates of recidivism, on the average. However, when recidivism is defined as re-arrest or imprisonment for a new conviction, the region is associated with relatively low average rates. Similarly, the East-South Central region, although generally associated with relatively low rates of recidivism. reports having the highest rate of recidivism when recidivism is defined as re-conviction. The West-North Central region also reports such inconsistency, yielding a relatively low overall rate of recidivism, but the highest rate of recidivism when recidivism is measured as failure or imprisonment for a new conviction. Other regions of the country report recidivism rates that are close to the average.

4Both the regression information as well as the relative ordering of each region for each definition is included.

B				DEFINITION	N		Ģ,
GEOGRAPHIC e REGION F	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE- ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	RE-IMP./ TECH.	RE-IMP./ NEW CONV.	IMP./ EITHEI
NEW ENGLAND	1.80 3.97 .21	7.65 1.63 22.04*	-2.44 11.10 .05	1.09 4.25 .07	.83 1.85 .20	4.42 1.64 7.27*	12.56 2.12 34.95*
MID- ATLANTIC	-1.71 3.39 .25	.28 1.18 .06	-12.67* 3.80 11.08*	-5.22 4.15 1.58	.50 1.34 .14	-5.45 .94 33.58*	-1.50 1.96 .59
EAST NORTH CENTRAL	-5.22 2.69 3.77	32 1.15 .00	-20.54 4.83 18.07*	-2.42 4.15 .34	-3.43 1.23 7.81*	-5.30 .89 35.42*	2.68 1.95 1.88
WEST- NORTH CENTRAL	14.90 4.23 12.43*	-2.50 1.15 4.76*	59 6.34 .01	-7.66 3.96 3.74	-1.91 1.09 3.06	5.16 .78 43.92*	-10.53 5.32 3.92*
SOUTH ATLANTIC	5.78 6.55 .78	-2.95 1.10 7.17*	-5.71 3.60 2.52	-3.16 3.76 .71	-5.24 10.5 24.76*	-7.09 .75 88.50*	-3.73 2.51 2.21
EAST South CENTRAL	1.12 2.94 .14	25 1.24 .04	-23.61 15.13 2.43	24.31 10.00 5.91*	-2.03 1.33 2.33	-7.48 ,92 66.76*	,78 6.42 .02
WEST- SOUTH CEN'TRAL	1.07 2.62 .18	.92 1.22 .43	6.87 3.46 1.24*	3.43 6.89 .86	.72 1.11 .33	1.88 1.42 .72	.81 3.11 .92
MOUNTAIN	88 3.88 .05	.86 1.17 .55	7.30 5.04 2.09	14.03 9.82 2.04	1.15 1.22 .89	-4.26 .85 25.33*	.28 4.44 .00
PACIFIC	6.81 2.01 11.42*	3.25 1.04 9.85*	-11.90 3.70 10.36*	-2.63 3.55 .55	6.41 .97 43.23*	-5.93 .70 29.42*	33 1.63 .04
OTHER U.S. AND CANADA	BASE	с. С					

found in Appendix J.

D-14

D-15

Table D-5

Summary of the Impact of Geographic Location on Each Definition of Recidivism⁵ ADULTS

5This Table summarizes the B, Standard Error of B and the F Ratio for each region of the country and each definition of recidivism. Complete equation information can be

Table D-6

Rank Order of Recidivism Rates for Various Regions of the Country for Each Operational Definition of Recidivism

ADULTS

 \mathcal{O}

and the second	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -						
				DEFINITIO	ON		
GEOGRAPHIC REGION	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE- ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	RE-IMP./ TECH.	RE-IMP./ NEW CONV.	IMP./ EITHER
NEW ENGLAND	4	1*	4	4	3	2*	1*
MID- ATLANTIC	8	5	7*	8	5	6*	7
EAST- NORTH CENTRAL	9	7	8*	5	8*	5*	2
WEST- NORTH CENTRAL	1*	8*	3	9	6	1*	9*
SOUTH ATLANTIC	3	9*	5	7	9*	8*	8
EAST- SOUTH CENTRAL	5	6	9	1*	7	9*	4
WEST- SOUTH CENTRAL	6	3	2*	3	4	3	3
MOUNTAIN	°, 7	4	1	2	2	4*	5
PACIFIC	2*	2*	6*	6	1*	7 *	6
OTHER U.S. AND CANADA	BASE	æ				3	

*Significant at .05 level. (\cdot)

 \bigcirc

	B			DEFINITIO	N		
GEOGRAPHIC REGION	e F FAILU	RE ABSCOND	RE- ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	RE-IMP./ TECH.	RE-IMP./ NEW CONV.	
NEW ENGLAND	-44.99 16.70 8.20	-6.10 5 16.13)* .19	-8.14 4.10 3.04	-17.79 32.70 10.87*	38 7.74 .00	3.65 7.05 .27	
MID- ATLANTIC	-14.32 23.48 23.70	2 -16.41 3 4.89)* 15.73*	-16.08 5.36 9.01*	-7.13 11.49 .38	22.60 5.80 5.19*	51.37 6.67 59.30*	
EAST- NORTH CENTRAL	-22.97 6.37 13.01	-5.01 5.09 * .97	-29.12 4.37 44.51*	-13.78 12.03 1.31	-1.71 5.05 .11	-3.71 6.41 .34	
WEST- NORTH CENTRAL	-12.68 12.12 1.09	5.44 4.04 1.82	-4.60 5.38 .73	-5.53 13.41 .17	8.97 4.94 3.30	-4.80 7.21 .44]]
SOUTH ATLANTIC	-5.99 8.31 .52	-6.89 5.63 1.50	-15.72 17.48 .81	14.59 11.64 1.57	25.32 7.86 10.39*	* • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	2
EAST- SOUTH CENTRAL	-57.14 21.50 7.07	*		-6.93 9.56 .52			1 2
WEST- SOUTH CENTRAL	-1.11 3.22 .98	37 4.11 1.91	11 1.01 .32	-6.14 1.09 2.88	35 3.26 .78	3.11 4.32 .68	
MOUNTAIN	11.99 19.71 .37	-20.37 16.33 1.56	.20 4.44 .00		28.08 9.86 8.11*		1
PACIFIC	-18.48 7.73 5.71	68 4.11 .03		4.93 10.82 .21	19.96 4.71 17.94*	12.67 8.10 2.45	1
OTHER U.S. AND CANADA	BASE						

found in Appendix J.

0

D-16

0

D-17

Table D-7

Summary of the Impact of Geographic Location on Each Definition of Recidivism6

6This Table summarizes the B, Standard Error of B and the F Ratio for each region of the country and each definition of recidivism. Complete equation information can be

۵.

D-18

Table D-8

Rank Order of Recidivism Rates for Various Regions of the Country for Each Operational Definition of Recidivism

JUVENILES

		DEFINITION							
GEOGRAPHIC REGION	FAILURE	ABSCOND	RE- ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	RE-IMP./ TECH.	RE-IMP./ NEW CONV.	IMP./ EITHER		
NEW ENGLAND	8*	5	4	8*	7	3	4		
MID- ATLANTIC	5*	7*	6*	6	3*	1*	8		
EAST- NORTH CENTRAL	7*	4	7*	7	8	5	7		
WEST- NORTH CENTRAL	4	1	3	3	5	6	5		
SOUTH ATLANTIC	3	6	5	1	2*	-	1*		
EAST- SOUTH CENTRAL	9*	-	-	5	-	-	2		
WEST- SOUTH CENTRAL	2	2	2	4	6	4	9		
MOUNTAIN	1	8	1	-	1*	_	6		
PACIFIC	6*	3	_	2	4*	2	3		
OTHER U.S. AND CANADA	BASE					*			

*Significant at .05 level.

Similar inconsistency across definition emerged for juveniles. Only the New England, East-North Central and South Atlantic regions report relatively consistent rates of recidivism regardless of how recidivism is defined, with the New England and East-North Central regions reporting relatively low rates and the South Atlantic region reporting relatively high rates. Interestingly, the New England region reported relatively high rates of recidivism for adults and the South Atlantic region reported relatively low rates for adults. Other regions yield inconsistent or inconclusive findings for juveniles. The Mid-Atlantic region, while tending towards low rates of recidivism for juveniles generally, reports the highest rate of re-imprisonment for new convictions. The East-South Central region reports the lowest rate of failure; however, other definitions are unstable and inconsistent. The stable data for the Pacific region places this section close to the average when recidivism is defined as failure or re-imprisonment for technical violations. Other data for this region are unstable but tend towards higher rates of recidivism. The Mountain states report the highest rate of recidivism when recidivism is defined as reimprisonment for technical violations; other definitions are unstable and inconsistent. No stable data exists for the West-North Central and West-South Central regions and what data does exist is inconsistent across definitions. These patterns indicate that region of the country is an important factor in determining the rate of recidivism and needs to be taken into account in order to compare the effectiveness of various forms of treatment. This was done by including region of the country in our regression equations.7

0

()

⁷A more refined analysis of regional variation, which would include a determination of which states most heavily contribute to the trends observed within each region, should be undertaken before any firm generalizations about each region can be made.

5

D-19

Decade of the Study

C

The data in this study were collected primarily during the period between 1950-1980. (A small amount of the research included in this study was conducted prior to this time.) Table D-9 presents the distribution of the groups across the decade during which the studies from which they were abstracted were conducted. These data indicate that approximately 85% of the groups were observed in the last decade, 13% during the 1960's and 1% conducted during the 1950's or before.

Since the definition of recidivism, the length of time of follow-up and geographic location were shown to affect the magnitude of the rate of recidivism, regression equations were computed in order to analyze the way in which the rate of recidivism has changed over time. A summary of the results of these equations are presented in Table D-10.

The findings indicate that the rate of recidivism for adults has been declining during the thirty-year period in which the majority of the data were collected. When the rate of recidivism is averaged across definition, this decline is almost 5% per decade. This pattern is consistent for each definition of recidivism with the exception of re-arrest which tends to be associated with increasingly higher rates of recidivism over this time period (B= 7.27).

This same pattern holds true for juveniles. Although the overall pattern across the decades is not significant when averaged across definitions (B=-1.38), when the rate of recidivism is broken down by definition, all of the definitions show a decline over time with the exception of re-arrest which has increased considerably (B=18.09).

)		
		-
1950' or be	s Zore	
1960'	S	
1970'	S	
>	Summary of	t
В	2	
° F	FAILURE AB	S
ADULTS	-13.21 -	4
	51.60* 3.	5
JUVENILES	-24.86 - 7.71 10.40*	1
*Significant	: at .05 level	5

⁸For summary purposes, the B, Standard Error of B, and the F co-efficient are presented here. Complete equations can be found in Appendix J.

D-21

Table D-9

Decade of the Study

ADUL	TS	JUVEN	ILES
N	% of <u>Cases</u>	N	% of <u>Cases</u>
143	1.2	63	2.7
1,339	13.4	544	25.3
8,547	85.2	1,545	71.8
10,029		2,152	

Table D-10

he Impact of Decade in which the Data were Collected on Each Definition of Recidivism⁸

		DEF	INITION			
OND	RE- ARREST	RE- CONVIC.	RE-IMP./ TECH.	RE-IMP./ NEW CONV.	IMP./ EITHER	TOTAL
58	7.27	67	-1.01	-4.04	-7.57	-4.96
77	2.43	1.49	.56	.56	.88	.32
31*	8.98*	• .20	3.31	51.27*	73.83*	240.30*
14	18.09	-4.56	-6.71	- 96	- 53	_1 39
86	4.88	6.64	14.7	2.58	2.54	87
38	13.72*	.47	20.84*	.14	.04	2.49
	the second s	the second s	the second design of the secon	and the second	and the second se	

The interpretation of this pattern is unclear and could reflect an actual decline in recidivism, or patterns of resource allocations in the criminal justice system. However, the period in which the study was conducted needs to be taken into account regardless of interpretation in order to make comparisons between and among the intervention efforts that are the primary focus of this research.

()

	<u>B</u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)		G.		
Failure	26.59	.55	.43	2361.28*
Abscond	.45	.36	.01	1.54
Re-Arrest	18.85	.58	.29	1048.39*
Re-Conviction	10.07	.67	.13	225.44*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	6.47	.36	.18	331.48*
Imprisonment (either new convic-	14.64	.45	.31	1065.59*
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	10	<u>^</u>	10	E/(20+
(months)	.19	•UT	• 19	# 546.38*
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION			, <u></u>	
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	5.65	.89	.06	40.08*
Mid-Atlantic	-2.24	.65	04	11.73*
East-North Cential	77	.60	02	1.62
West-North Central	-2.62	.60	05	18.78*
South Atlantic	-3.48	.57	~.09	37.57*
East-South Central	-2.44	.72	03	11.57*
Mountain	.34	.66	.01	.26
Pacific	1.08	.52	.03	4.30*
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-4.96	.32	13	240.30*

*Significant at .05 level.

O

C

C

 \mathbf{C}

D-23

Table D-11

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of the Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism

ADULTS

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.37
Standard Error	11.89
(Constant = 74.0)	00)

E.

D-24

0

Table D-12

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of the Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism

JUVENILES

Multiple R		.49
R Square		.24
Adjusted R	Square	.24
Standard E	rror	16.94
(Consta	nt = 42.5	9)

		STD. ERROR	Ş	
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	35.89	2.15	.48	2//.69*
Abscond	13.34	1.98	.28	45.29*
Re-Arrest	30.12	2.08	•48	207.30*
Re-Conviction	5.34	2.76	.05	3.86*
Imprisonment (technical offense)	11.88	1.77	.25	44.81*
Imprisonment (either new convic-	12.24	2.00	.19	37.42*
tion or technical offense)	· · ·			
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	20	03	25	110 03*
(months)	.30	•03	• • • • •	117.05.
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-2.87	3.01	02	.91
Mid-Atlantic	-9.05	2.71	10	11.19*
East-North Central	-13.34	2.35	21	32.28*
West-North Central	-9.35	2.37	17	15.56*
South Atlantic	-10.16	2,64	18	14.83*
East-South Central	-12.75	6.20	04	4.22*
Mountain	-2.05	3.02	02	.46
Pacific	2.06	2.22	.05	.86
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960: 2=1960: s: 3=1970's)	-1.38	.87	.03	2.49

*Significant at ,05 level.

(

C

(]

S





Areas



(3

AVAILABILITY OF AGGREGATE BACKGROUND DATA

The reporting of background characteristics in the studies which comprise our data base is, for the most part, sporadic, unsystematic and arbitrary in nature. The background characteristics reported in the literature refer primarily to individual attributes such as age, race, education and criminal history. These characteristics often represent the information available to the researcher because they have been systematically reported in agency records, as opposed to an ideal selection of attributes based on theoretical premises. Clearly, there is no agreement among researchers on what attributes to report and in what form they should be reported; it is generally the case that where such characteristics are reported, they are part of a research program and have been used as "predictors" of recidivism.

There are two major types of background characteristics that are most frequently reported that might mediate the success or failure of a given intervention or technique in reducing recidivism. The first of these is criminal background characteristics. Offenders differ in their past involvement in crime and the criminal justice system, and it is believed that criminal background characteristics such as prior offender status and the nature of the offense committed may be important predictors of subsequent criminal activity. The second group of variables reported in the literature generally fall into the class called social indicators. These demographic data include characteristics such as age, sex, ethnicity, socio-economic status, family background and education.

Table E-1 shows the proportion of groups for which background characteristics are reported. For adults, sex was reported for 87% of the groups, but age was reported for only 26% of adult groups. We have information about race for 29% of the adult groups, but for other background characteristics such as education, broken families and socio-economic status information is only reported between 9% and 10% of the time.

E-2

()

E-3

Table E-1

Proportion of Juvenile and Adult Groups Reporting Background Characteristics

	JUVEN	ILES	ADUL	LTS		
ATTRIBUTE	% Known	N	<u>% Known</u>	<u>N</u>		
Property Offenders	32	687	68	6,779		
First Offenders	7	146	9	914		
One Prior Offense	10	220	18	1,797		
Narcotic History	8	181	42	4,179		
Sex	74	1,594	87	8,757		
Race	39	845	29	2,869		
Age	95	2,051	26	2,648		
Education (H.S. Grad.)	11	238	9	950		
Broken Family	. 12	251	9	906		
S.E.S.	13	282	10	99:		
(N)	(2,152)		(10,052)			

60

(

the groups.

of the studies for juveniles. able for 8% of these groups.

In terms of criminal history for adult groups, 68% of our studies contained information about the proportion of property offenders in the groups, and narcotic history was reported for 42% of the groups. The proportion of adults who are convicted of one or more prior offenses is reported for 18% of

For juvenile groups, the social characteristics reported most frequently are sex and age (74% and 95% respectively), followed by race which is reported for 39% of the juvenile groups. Other social background characteristics (education, broken families and socio-economic status) are reported in only 11-13%

The criminal history characteristic for juvenile groups most often reported is the proportion of offenders in the group, which is cited for 32% of juvenile groups. The proportion of juveniles convicted of at least one prior offense is reported for 10% of juvenile groups, and narcotics history is avail-

Individuals in adult groups tended to be male, white and possessed less than a high school education. The average age was twenty-five and older in 70% of the groups. They tended not to come from broken families; over 81% of the groups contained 50% or fewer individuals coming from broken homes.

E-4

In order to obtain a clearer picture of the "typical" adult and juvenile group, profile, were developed based on the available information concerning background characteristics. Tables F-1 through F-9 show the distributions of these characteristics for both juvenile and adult groups.

Adult Group Profile

D

have been convicted more than once.

Juvenile Group Profile

victed.

to have these characteristics.

()

APPENDIX F

C

PROFILE OF SELECTED GROUP CHARACTERISTICS

F-1

Analyzing criminal history for adults, we found a relatively equal distribution within the groups between property and non-property offenders, with approximately 60% of the groups reporting a constituency of 50% or less property offenders. Adult groups also tended to be composed of multiple offenders: in 72% of the adult groups on which we have information, a majority

Juvenile groups are primarily composed of non-property offenders: over 70% of juvenile groups report having less than 50% property offenders. There is a relatively equal distribution of juveniles convicted of first offenses and those with at least one prior offense, with approximately 61% of juvenile groups containing less than 50% of individuals who have been previously con-

The data on social characteristics of juvenile groups indicate that individuals in the groups tended to be male, white and under 17 years of age. They also tended to come from broken families and to have less than a high school education: the majority of juveniles in 70% of the groups were found

F-2

F-3		

Table F-1

()

C

Property Offenders (% of Group)

Ō

1		JUVENILES					ADULTS		
	<u> </u>	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.	N	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.	
Up to 25%	287	41.8	23.8	15.2	3,217	47.5	11.0	13.0	
25 - 50%	214	31.2	29.4	17.0	851	12.6	22.7	19.1	
50 - 75%	60	8.7	32.3	20.3	915	13.5	19.0	17.5	
75 - 100%	125	18.2	26.4	15.0	1,796	26.5	14.1	13.4	
	686				6,779				
		r* =	.09			r =	.11		

*r = relationship of this group characteristic with recidivism (Pearson's r).

Table F-2

One Prior Offense

		JUVEN	ILES			ADULTS			
	<u>N</u>		<u> </u>	<u>s.d.</u>	<u></u> N	_%	<u> </u>	<u>s.d.</u>	
Up to 25%	46	20.9	34.7	19.8	290	16.1	20.0	15.6	
25 - 50%	88	40.0	31.2	17.5	216	12.0	22.9	19.8	
50 - 75%	74	33.6	32.0	18.6	1,038	57.8	25.7	14.5	
75 - 100%	12	5.5	56.3	12.3	253	14.1	16.7	16.6	
	220				1,797				
		r =	• .11	a		r =	.01		

 \bigcirc

()

 \bigcirc

<u>ج</u>

O,

e gi e 0

Table F-3

Narcotics Offenders

JUVEN	VILES	ADU	LTS
Ň	<u>%</u>	N	_%
100	55.2	3,593	86.0
81	44.8	586	14.0
181		4,179	
r	= .22	r =	.19

Table F-4

Alcoholics

JUL	ENILE	S	ADU	JLTS
N		%	N	%
			3,938	ົ 98.0
			79	2.0
			4,017	
			r =	= .19

Čł.

F-4

67

No

Yes

No

Yes

F.	-5		

Table F-5

O

C

(_)

Sex of Group

		JUVENILES			ADULTS		
	N	_%	r	N	%	_ <u>r</u>	
Male	1,121	70.3	.07	7,257	82.9	.04	
Fenale	222	13.9	07	863	9.9	14	
Mixed	251	15.7	.09	637	。7.3	.06	
	1,594		2 	° 8,757			

	-	100 C	~	
'l'oh	10	H	n	
100	10	1	u.	
			-	

1

()

()

			Race (%	of Group White)	C			
		JUVEN	ILES			ADUL	TS	
	<u>N</u>	_%	<u> </u>	<u>s.d.</u>	<u>N</u>	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.
Up to 25%	79	9.3	47.1	29.0	187	6.5	23.4	14.6
25 - 50%	62	7.3	35.4	17.7	382	13.3	27.1	19.9
50 - 75%	552	65.3	22.6	18.4	1,252	43.6	22.1	18.2
75 - 100%	152	18.0	30.0	20.2	1,048	36.5	25.6	14.5
	845				2,869			
		r =	23			r =	• .02	

				Age of (Froup Mem	bers			
			JUVEN				ADUL	TS	
		<u>N</u>	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.	<u>N</u>	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.
	Up to 17	1,873	91.3	28.9	21.6	21	.8	57.3	21.0
0	17 - 24	178	8.7	29.4	19.1	821	31.0	23.9	17.9
	25 - 34		. .			1,676	63.3	23.4	15.7
	35 - 44		——			127	4.8	27.5	15.8
	45 +				anna anna anna anna anna anna anna ann	3	.1	26.1	12.0
		2,051				2,648			
			r =	.01		\$ 	r =	03	

۵. ۲			Tab	1e F-8				
			Broken	Families				
		JUVEN	ILES			ADUL	TS	
	<u> </u>	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.	<u>N</u>	_%	<u> </u>	<u>s.d.</u>
Up to 25%	31	12.4	23.0	19.3	376	41.5	21.9	18.2
25 - 50%	29	11.6	29.4	20.0	361	39.8	24.7	15.9
50 - 75%	182	72.5	40.0	24.5	138	15.2	23.3	14.5
75 - 100%	9	3.6	29.5	25.2	31	3.4	30.3	22.3
	251				906			
		r =	.21			r	= .08	

F-6

		,H	igh Sch	ool Grad	uates			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	JUVEN	ILES			ADUL	TS	<u></u>
	N	_%	<u> </u>	s.d.	N	<u>%</u>	<u> </u>	s.d.
Up to 25%	222	93.3	29.1	18.4	471	49.6	24.9	18.7
25 - 50%	8	3.4	27.2	16.9	361	38.0	20.6	16.2
50 - 75%			112	<u> </u>	107	11.3	23.2	17.8
75 - 100%	8	3.4	5.0	3.3	11	1.2	21.2	18.0
	236				950			
		r =	23			r =	08	

Ö

Table F-9

~1 C*

 \bigcirc

()

()



C

C

C

APPENDIX G

G-1

DIFFERENCES IN AGGREGATE BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS BETWEEN PROBATIONERS AND PAROLEES

Differential Assignment to Criminal Justice Location

Offenders are not assigned to the various segments of the correctional system in a random fashion. On the contrary, assignment is based on a number of criteria including the seriousness of the crime committed, the number of previous convictions and social characteristics that are believed to be related to the risk an offender poses to the community. In fact, the assessment of an offender's risk and the discretion involved in the differential processing of a case to a specific segment of the criminal justice system is a major function of the courts and corretions. Offenders who are sentenced to probation or one of its mandated alteratives not only have been convicted of a less serious crime than their incarcerated counterparts, but possess social and criminal backgrounds thought to be associated with low risk of further criminal behavior. Conversely, offenders who are imprisoned and subsequently placed on parole have not only been convicted of crimes of a more serious nature, but possess social or criminal histories believed to be associated with high risk of recidivating. It is commonly believed that this allocation process results in a much lower probability of recidivism for probationers and an inherently higher probability of recidivism for those sentenced to imprisonment, nullifying comparisons of these groups if the allocation process is successful in separating high from low risk offenders.

Unfortunately, the research literature does not contain complete data on all the groups in our sample.¹ However, sufficient data do exist to make a reasonable judgment about the types of offenders assigned to various locations in the correctional system. Background characteristics that are reported in the literature can be classified as either criminal or social in nature. The criminal history information includes a crude classification of type of crime (property offenses vs. other) and the degree to which the group is composed of multiple offenders. Social characteristics include educational level, family history and class.

among adult and ju significant differ to probation and Adults on parole adults assigned to proportion of mulonce compared to Social char role. Adult grout tion of individua a lower proportio on probation); a than those on pro age age (27.8 yea For juveni background charac

¹See Appendix E.

G-2

Table G-1 shows the differential distribution of these characteristics among adult and juvenile groups assigned to probation or parole. For adults, significant differences in criminal history exist between offenders assigned to probation and those who are incarcerated and subsequently placed on parole. Adults on parole tend to have a lower proportion of property offenders than adults assigned to probation (41.2% to 50.1% respectively), and a much higher proportion of multiple offenders, with 62.9% having been convicted more than once compared to only 18.6% for adults sentenced to probation.

Social characteristics also differ between adults on probation and parole. Adult groups assigned to parole tend to have a slightly higher proportion of individuals from broken homes (34.2%) than those on probation (30.9%); a lower proportion of high school graduates (25.5% compared to 32.2% for those on probation); a lower proportion of individuals with some narcotics history than those on probation (.13%, .21% respectively); and a slightly higher average age (27.8 years to 25.2 years for those on probation).

For juveniles, we found fewer stable differences than for adults in background characteristics between those on parole and those on probation. Only for the proportion of multiple offenders did some differences exist: groups who had been incarcerated and then paroled had a much higher proportion (48.9%) of multiple offenders than groups assigned to probation (27.2%).

G-3

Table G-1

Background Differences Between Juvenile and Adult Groups on Parole and Those on Probation (Average Proportion of the Groups with the Specified Characteristic)

			٨	DIILTS
	Parole	Probation	Parole	Probation
VARIABLE DESCRIPTION	Ialuie			
Criminal History:	<i>a</i>			
Proportion of Group	36.1	39.1	41.2	* 50.1
Property Offenders	(186)	(500)	(5975)	(804)
Proportion of Group	26.1	27.3	30.3	* 42.8
First Offenders	(33)	(113)	(495)	(419)
Proportion of Group	48.9	* 27.2	62.9	* 18.6
Multiple Offenders	(164)	(56)	(1475)	(322)
Social History;				
Proportion	59.9	22.9	64.9	65,5
White	(601)	(845)	(2130)	(739)
Average	17.5	* 17.1	27.8	* 25.2
Age	(1023)	(1028)	(1951)	(697)
Proportion of Group	56.9	* 50.7	34.2	* 30.9
from Broken Family	(145)	(106)	(473)	(433)
Proportion of Group	15.0	17.2	25.5	* 32.2
with H.S. Diploma	(148)	(90)	(528)	(422)
Class (Scale: 1=Lo;	1.75	1.62	2.12	2.21
2=Med.; 3=Hi),	(188)	(94)	(509)	(484)
Some Narcotic History	.68	,15	.13	* .21
(O=No: 1=Yes)	(101)	(80)	(4052)	(127)

*T-test significant at the .05 level.

The differences in social characteristics between the two groups are with respect to age, broken families and narcotics history. Juveniles sentenced to incarceration and subsequently paroled are slightly older than those assigned to probation (17.5 years to 17.2 respectively), have a higher proportion of individuals coming from broken families (56.9% to 50.7% for those on probation), and a higher percentage of individuals with some narcotics history (.68 for parolees to .15 for probationers).

It is clear that differences in group composition exist between probationers and parolees. This is not surprising in that the criminal justice system is designed to filter out the least dangerous offenders and supervise them in the community, while sending the more dangerous individuals to, prison. Although the crime an offender is convicted of is the primary factor taken into account during sentencing, the individual's social and criminal history is also evaluated. Individuals who have been previously convicted or come from broken families or lack a high school diploma are more likely to be imprisoned, all other things being equal, than person with more positive backgrounds. Does this then make parolees inherently more dangerous, more likely to recidivate than probations? The answer is not necessarily. If the characteristics which differentiate between the two groups are also related to recidivism then this would be true. But if these characteristics are not related to the probability of recidivism then no relevant differences between parolees and probationers can be thought to exist: one group is no more inherently prone to crime than the other.

The relationship between background characteristics and the rate of recidivism is presented in Table G-2. For adults, there is only a slight increase

G-4

Relationship of Background Characteristics and the Rate of Recidivism

G-5

()

Table G-2

G-6

Relationship Between Recidivism and Aggregate Background Characteristics Reported in the Literature

	JUV	ENILES	ADULTS	
PROPORTION OF GROUP	r	N	<u> </u>	<u>N</u>
Property Offender	.09	(686)	.11	(6,779)
One Prior Offense	.11	(220)	.01	(1,787)
% with Drug Use Histories	.08	<u>بہ</u> ے میں	.21	(980)
Race (% White)	23	(845)	•02	(2,869)
Age of Group Members	.01	(2,051)	03	(2,648)
% from Broken Families	.21	(251)	.08	(906)
% High School Graduate	23	(238)	08	(950)

in the recidivism rate as the proportion of property offenders in the group increases (r=.11). We found almost no relationship between the rate of recidivism and the proportion of the group having at least one previous offense.

As far as social background characteristics of adults are concerned, there is no relationship with the rate of recidivism for age, sex or race, and only a very slight relationship with broken family and education. The trend between the proportion of adults coming from broken homes and the rate of recidivism is positive (r=.08); for education, the trend is negative (r=-.08), indicating that as the proportion of high school graduates in the group increases, the rate of recidivism tends to decrease. But in both instances these tendencies are very slight.

For juveniles, we also found very little relationship between recidivism and criminal history. There is only a slight rise in the rate of recidivism coinciding with a rise of the proportion of property offenders in the group (r-.09). There is also only a small, positive correlation between the proportion of juvenile offenders with previous convictions and the recidivism rate (r=.11).

ALC: NO

The relationship between social background characteristics and the recidivism rate, however, is somewhat stronger for juveniles than their prior criminal records. With respect to the racial make-up of the group, we found a moderate relationship (r=-.23), indicating that as the proportion of whites in the groups increases, the rate of recidivism decreases. The proportion of the group coming from broken families also is slightly to moderately related to recidivism for juveniles (r=.21), suggesting a positive trend between the proportion of individuals coming from broken homes and the recidivism rate. The strongest relationship, however, is between education and recidivism, where there is a negative relationship of -.23. Juveniles who have high school diplomas are less likely than their less educated counterparts to recidivate. In a general sense, less of a relationship was found than might be expected between the background characteristics reported in the literature and criminal recidivism among adult and [venile groups. Although these characteristics may be important in understanding why people commit crime in the first place, the data suggest they are of little importance in understanding why people continue to do so after being convicted, imprisoned, or supervised. Common sense suggests that there are at least some differences in social, criminal and psychological histories which would account for why some offenders are more at risk to recidivate than others, but the evidence indicates that

these characteristics are not known at present.

G-7

While these characteristics that differentiate probationers and parolees are commonly thought to be associated with the risk of recidivism, we found little evidence in our data to support this contention: offenders from broken families with little education were only slightly more likely to recidivate than those from less impoverished backgrounds. The criminal histories of offenders were not related to the probability of recidivism either: groups tending to be comprised of individuals who have multiple offense records were no more likely to recidivate than those whose histories appeared less criminal. This suggests that despite the differences that exist in the backgrounds of persons on probation and parole, one group cannot be thought of as more inherently prone to crime than the other. Although an attempt is made by the criminal justice system to allocate the more dangerous offenders to prison, and the less dangerous to community supervision, the characteristics that are presently used in the evaluation process are not sufficiently predictive of recidivism to be effective and therefore do not weigh heavily in the interpretation of our findings.²

²Because of the slight relationship that does exist between background characteristics and recidivism, known background characteristics are provided within the text of the report to aid in interpretation. In no instance, however, do these characteristics account for all of the reported variation. Interestingly, although certain locations that were found to be associated with higher rates of recidivism appeared to have a higher proportion of offenders who might be thought of as more "at risk," equally often groups assigned to these locations were found to be comprised of offenders who have characteristics generally believed to be associated with lower risk of recidivism.

G-8

C

APPENDIX H

0

Ű.,

DIFFERENCES IN AGGREGATE BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS BETWEEN TREATED AND NON-TREATED GROUPS

1

Assessing the differences in background characteristics between treated and non-treated groups is critical in interpreting the data in Chapter 4. If clear, consistent differences were found between groups receiving treatment and those not receiving treatment, then differences in outcome could not be directly tied to the intervention programs. Instead the differences in outcome might be due to the differences between the groups themselves or some interaction between group characteristics and the intervention. It could be argued that differential assignment to various treatments, or the process of selfselection might confound the findings about the treatments. But we found little evidence in our study to support this contention. To the contrary, we found few relevant differences exist between treated and non-treated groups in terms of the background characteristics of the individuals who comprise them, and that no assumptions about higher risk for either treated or nontreated groups is warranted.

Adults

()

The data presented in Table H-1 shows the proportion of each background characteristic reported with some consistency in the literature for both treated and non-treated groups.1 For adults, there is a slight difference between treated and non-treated groups in terms of the proportion of the groups with property offense records, with the treated groups having a mean of 46.9, compared to 41.8 for the non-treated groups. There is also a slightly higher proportion of multiple offenders in the non-treated groups than in the treated groups (55.8 to 51.3 respectively). Although these differences are statistically reliable, they are not substantial.

¹For details about the proportion of cases on which background characteristics are reported see Appendix E.

VARIABLE DESCRIPTIO

Proportion of Group Property Offenders

Proportion of Group victed of First Off

Proportion of Group One Prior Offense

Ethnicity (% White)

Average Age

Proportion of Group Broken Family

Proportion of Group High School Diploma

Socio-Economic Stat (3 Categories)

*Significant at the .05 level. (2 tailed t-tests)

H-2

Table H-1

Differences in Aggregate Background Characteristics Between Treated and Non-Treated Groups

	JUVENILES			ADULTS			
<u>N</u>	No Treatment		Treatment Added	No Treatment		Treatment Added	
	38.7 (483)		37.4 (203)	41.8 (6140)	*	46.9 (639)	
Con- ense	31.7 (30)		24.6 (116)	35.6 (586)	- - - -	36.8 (328)	
) with	43.5 (116)		43.3 (104)	55.8 (1442)	*	51.3 (355)	
	60.9 (575)		59.6 (270)	65.8 (2141)	*	62.8 (728)	
	17.2 (1383)	*	17.5 (668)	27.7 (2004)	*	25.3 (644)	
o with	57.8 (122)	*	51.1 (129)	32.2 (617)		33.6 (289)	
) with	12.5 (101) \\	*	18.3 (137)	26.4 (565)	*	31.5 (385)	
us "	1.7 (182)		1.8 (100)	2.1 (609)		2.3 (384)	

H-3

In terms of social characteristics for adult groups we found a small difference in the ethnic composition of treated and non-treated groups: 65.8% of the offenders in non-treated groups are White, compared to 62.8% where innovative treatment was administered. Again, these differences cannot be viewed as substantial, despite their reliability. There is no difference between the average age of the treated vs. non-treated groups or between these groups with respect to the proportion of persons coming from broken homes. However, we found treated groups to be slightly better educated: 26.4% of the non-treated groups received a high school diploma, compared to an average of 31.5% of the treated groups.

Juveniles

()

The criminal backgrounds of treated and non-treated juvenile groups is very similar. Comparison of treated vs. non-treated groups of juveniles in terms of the proportion of the group with property offese records shows there is virtually no difference in the means. There is also no difference for treated and non-treated groups in terms of the proportion of the group with multiple offense records.

As far as social characteristics are concerned, we found almost no difference between treated and non-treated groups in terms of the percentage of white, or of average age. There is a slight difference, however, between groups in terms of the proportion of offenders coming from broken families: fewer persons assigned to treatment come from broken homes than non-treated persons (51.1% vs. 57.8%). This may indicate some differential assignment to treatment for juveniles based on their family background, or that juveniles who come from broken homes tend to opt for treatment less often. We also

()

found a difference in the proportion of non-treated groups who graduated from high school (12.5%) compared to 18.3% in the treated groups.

higher than non-treated groups. non-treated groups due to their composition.

In summary, only slight differences exist between treated and nontreated groups in terms of aggregate background characteristics. Where differences are found, they often indicate that the treated groups are comprised of fewer individuals who possess the background characteristics that are slightly associated with recidivism than non-treated groups. For example, treated adult groups have a slightly lower proportion of multiple offenders, and a somewhat higher proportion of high school graduates than the non-treated groups. In Appendix G we found that as the proportion of multiple offenders in a group increased, the rate of recidivism increased. Thus, for adults, one might expect that the recidivism rate for treated groups might be somewhat lower, before taking the impact of the treatment itself into account. We found, however, that the rate of recidivism for treated adult groups to be

For juveniles, the data indicate that treated groups had a lower proportion of individuals coming from broken families, and a higher proportion of high school graduates. Correlation data presented in Appendix G indicated that as the proportion of individuals coming from broken homes increases in juvenile groups, the recidivism rate also increases; and as the proportion of high school graduates increases, the rate declines. Again, if anything, we would expect the rate of recidivism to be somewhat lower for the treated vs.

We thus conclude that there are few important differences between treated and non-treated groups in terms of the background characteristics of the individuals who comprise the groups. Where differences do exist, the

H-5

treated groups tend to possess characteristics associated with lower rates of recidivism. The available data do no support the contention that treated groups have the social and criminal deficits associated with higher rates of recidivism.

In an overall sense, treated groups have higher rates of recidivism than their non-treated counterparts, and this is probably not due to differential assignment of higher risk persons to treatment. Nor is it due to differences in follow-up time. For juveniles, treated groups were followed for an average of 13.4 months; non-treated groups averaged 26.9 months in follow-up. Treated adult groups were followed an average of 15.3 months; non-treated groups, an average of 21.3 months.

()

C

1.1500000

O This Ap ceiving found of

This Appendix contains comparisons of group characteristics between groups receiving various forms of intervention. A list of the comparisons made can be found on the pages that follow. þa.

APPENDIX I

T-TESTS FOR AGGREGATE BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

I-1
LIST OF TABLES

A. Adults:

Table 1 -- Probation vs. Parole

Probation vs. Alternatives:

Table 2 -- Shock Probation 3 -- Group Home

Parole vs. Alternatives:

Table	4	 Work Study
	5	 Halfway House
	6	 Early Release
	7	 Special Parole
	8	 Max-Out

Treated Groups vs. All Other Cases:

Table 9 -- Financial Aid

10 -- Intensive Supervision

- 11 -- Specialized Supervision
- 12 -- Reduced Supervision
- 13 -- Residential Non-Permissive
- 14 -- Residential Permissive 15 -- Job Training
- 16 -- Job Placement
- 17 -- Practical Individual Assistance
- 18 -- Psychotherapeutic Individual Assistance
- 19 -- Education

- 20 -- Behavior Modification
- 21 -- Group Therapy 22 -- Non-Professional Group Counseling

- 23 -- Medical Methods 24 -- Special Prison 25 -- Contract Programming 26 -- Vocational Training

B. Juveniles:

0

()

()

Table	27		Probation vs. Parole
			·
Probat	ion	vs.	Alternatives:
Table	28 29		Shock Probation Group Home
Parole	vs.	Al	ternatives:
Table	30		Work Study
160.40	31		Halfway House
0	32	·	Early Release
	33		Special Parole
	34		Max-Out
			$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} + 1$
Treate	ed Gi	coup	s vs. All Other Cases:
Table	35		Financial Aid
	36		Intensive Supervision
	37		Specialized Supervision
	38	·	Reduced Supervision
	39		Residential Non-Permissive
	40		Residential Permissive
	41		Job Training
	42		Job Placement
	43		Practical Individual Assistance
	44		Psychotherapeutic Individual Assistance
	45		Education
	.46		Behavior Modification
	47		Group Therapy
	48		Non-Professional Group Counseling
	49		Medical Methods
	50	`	Special rilson
	DT.		Contract Programming
	52	-	vocational Training

Analysis of Differences Between Groups Assigned to Probation vs. Those Assigned to Parole

(Adults)

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense	<u></u>		<u>a kani perinta ini manjar manjar na sana</u>	
Parole	41.21	5975		0.00
Probation	50.06	804	-/.41	0.00
First Offense				
Parole	30,28	495		0.00
Probation	42.81	419	-/./1	0.00
One Prior Offense	2			
Parole	62.87	1475	10.00	0.00
Probation	18.63	322	48.28	0.00
Race				
Parole	64.89	2130	0 (0	0 50
Probation	65.48	739	-0.63	0.53
Age				
Parole	27.80	1951		0.00
Probation	25.16	697	12,13	0.00
Broken Family				
Parole	34.17	473		0.00
Probation	30.98	433	2.36	0.02
H.S. Graduate				
Parole	25.52	528		0.00
Probation	32.23	422	-5./6	0.00
Class				
Parole	2.13	509		0.00
Probation	2.22	484	-1./6	0.08
Tot. Trt.				
Parole	0.25	8593	10 10	0.00
Probation	0.47	1436	-10.12	0.00
Recid. (exact re	cidivism score	2)		
Parole	14.95	8593		0.00
Probation	19.93	1436	-11.15	0.00
Follow (number o	f months batch	followed up)		
Parole	20,69	8542	0.01	
Probation	18.96	1421	3.81	0.00
Tym. Trt.				
Parole	14.71	2441		0.00
Probation	20.96	1154	-13.62	0.00
Slam, Tym, (numb	er of months b	atch incarcerated)	
Parole	21.94	1263	FD 00	0.00
Probation	0.11	1305	00.90	0.00
Super. Tvm.		<u> </u>	Se	
Parole	0.71	8225		0.01
		10(0	1.13	0.26
Probation	0.58	1262		
Probation Narcotics Histor	0.58 v	1262		
Probation Narcotics Histor Parole	0.58 y 0.14	4052		0 Å2

(

1-0

VARIABLE Property Offense Standard Probation Shock Probation First Offense Standard Probation Shock Probation One Prior Offense Standard Probation Shock Probation Race Standard Probation Shock Probation Age Standard Probation Shock Probation Broken Family Standard Probation Shock Probation H.S. Graduate Standard Probation Shock Probation Class Standard Probation Shock Probation Tot. Trt. Standard Probation Shock Probation Recid. (exact recidiv Standard Probation Shock Probation Follow (number of mon Standard Probation Shock Probation Tym. Trt. Standard Probation Shock Probation Slam. Tym. (number of Standard Probation Shock Probation Super. Tym. Standard Probation Shock Probation Narcotics History Standard Probation Shock Probation

D

.(...)

I-4

Table I-2

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Probation vs. Shock Probation

NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
715 54	-4.55	0.00
329 56	-8.56	0.00
236 56	1.96	0.51
632 58	-5.74	0.00
597 54	0.40	0.69
352 54	2.65	0.01
346 57	3.31	0.00
413	13.21	0.00
1305 65	3.72	0.00
1305 65	1.53	0.13
d up) 1291 65	-15.22	0.00
1032 62	10.31	0.00
arcerated) 1179 62	0.23	0.82
1208 8	-11.68	0.00
110 3	0.91	0.37
	NUMBER OF CASES 715 54 329 56 236 56 632 58 597 54 352 54 346 57 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 413 59 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 4 1305 65 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 65 1305 165 1109 1109 1109 1109 1109 1109 1109 110	NUMBER OF CASEST VALUE715 54 -4.55 329 56 -4.55 329 56 -8.56 236 56 1.96 632 54 -5.74 597 54 0.40 352 54 2.65 346 57 3.31 413 59 13.21 1305 65 3.72 1305 65 1.53 d up) 1291 65 -15.22 1032 62 10.31 arcerated) 1179 62 0.23 1208 8 110 3 -11.68

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Probation vs. Group Home

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense	n an			
Standard Probation	49.04	715	~ = *	~ ~ ~
Group Home (PPC)	51.79	35	-0.74	0.46
First Offense			Nellintedes their products and an experimental	
Standard Probation	38.34	329		
Group Home (PPC)	56.62	34	-4.72	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Standard Probation	17.48	236		
Group Home (PPC)	36.67	30	-8.00	0.00
Race	50.07			<u>.</u>
Standard Probation	63 81	632		9
Crown Home (PPC)	75 26	49	-5.09	0.00
Age	/3.20			
Standard Brobation	25 37	597		
Crown Home (PPC)	22.57	46	2.77	0.01
Brokon Familut	22.05			
Broken ramity	20 20	352		
Standard Probation	JZ.JZ JE 16	552 97	1.78	0.08
Group Home (PPC)	23.40			
H.S. Graduate	22 66	21.6		
Standard Probation	32.00	540 10	-3.24	0.00
Group Home (PPC)	44.00	19		
UIASS	n no	410		
Standard Probation	2.30	413	1.00	0.32
Group Home (PPC)	2.1/	12		
Tot. Irt.				n faan ee s
Standard Probation	0.46	1305	-5.58	0.00
Group Home (PPC)	1.14	66		
Recid. (exact recidivism	score)			
Standard Probation	20.04	1305	-0.29	0.78
Group Home (PPC)	20.66	66		
Follow (number of months	batch followe	d up)		
Standard Probation	18.08	1291	4.86	0.00
<u>Group Home (PPC)</u>	9.51	65		
Tym. Trt.				a a
Standard Probation	23.00	1032	10,33	0.00
Group Home (PPC)	3.57	60		
Slam. Tym. (number of mon	nths batch inc	arcerated)		
Standard Probation	0.08	1179	-2 61	0.01
Group Home (PPC)	0.94	64		0.01
Super. Tym.				
Standard Probation	0.45	1208	-1 10	0.27
Group Home (PPC)	1.04	46		0.47
Narcotics History				
Standard Probation	0.22	110	0 "02	0 07
Group Home (PPC)	0.21	14	0.03	0.9/

VARIABLE

0

()

()

Property Offense Standard Parole Work Study First Offense Standard Parole Work Study One Prior Offense Standard Parole Work Study Race Standard Parole Work Study Age Standard Parole Work Study Broken Family Standard Parole Work Study H.S. Graduate Standard Parole Work Study Class Standard Parole Work Study Tot. Trt. Standard Parole Work Study Recid. (exact rec: Standard Parole Work Study Follow (number of Standard Parole Work Study Tym. Trt. Standard Parole Work Study Slam. Tym. (number Standard Parole Work Study Super. Tym. Standard Parole Work Study Narcotics History Standard Parole Work Study

Table I-4	
-----------	--

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Work Study

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	NIMBER	 Т	2-TATL
MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB
40 80	5591		
40.09	128	-0.69	0.49
42.51	120		
25.48	285		0.00
50.74	68	-7.52	0.00
63 34	1977		
60 83	75	-3.88	0.00
09.05	13	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
67.07	1674	. 0 F7	0 57
65.91	132	0.57	0.57
07 07	1 609		
27.97	1200	2.87	0.00
20.90	1.04		
32.36	253		0 01
23.91	46	2.50	0.01
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
19.43	249	-6.31	0.00
35.10	73	U. J.	
оо г	203		
T+00	203	-5.00	0.00
2.33	90	<u></u>	
0.14	7467	1/ 00	0.00
0.71	214	-14.23	0.00
idivism score)			·····
13.79	7467	-7 39	0.00
21.28	214	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
months batch followed	up)		
21.37	/425	1.54	0.12
19.69	213		
17 51	1612		
7,99	175	10.55	0.00
er of months batch inca	rcerated)		
21.98	1026	6 50	0.00
9.87	47	6.09	0.00
0,26	/313	-26.82	0.00
7.86	132		
7 	3873	and a start of the second s	
• 0.0	<u> </u>	2.38	0.02
0.0			

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Halfway House

		NUMBER	Т	2-TAIL
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
Property Offense				
Standard Parole	40.89	5581	1 01	0.01
Halfway House	35.90	47	1.01	0.31
First Offense				
Standard Parole	25.48	285	7 71	0.00
Halfway House	12.50	41	2.21	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Standard Parole	63.34	1277	E /0	0.00
Halfway House	52.17	46	5.40	. 0.00
Race				
Standard Parole	67.07	1674	5 00	0 00
Halfway House	52.67	89	7.02	0.00
Age				
Standard Parole	27.97	1508	0.95	0 /0
Halfway House	28.45	60	-0.05	0.40
Broken Family				
Standard Parole	32.36	253	_1 /5	0 15
Halfway House	36.69	62	-1.4)	0.17
H.S. Graduate				
Standard Parole	19.43	249	-10 52	0 00
Halfway House	48.00	50	-10:72	0.00
Class				
Standard Parole	1.88	203	-2 31	0.02
Halfway House	2.20	_41	-2.01	0.04
Tot. Trt.				
Standard Parole	0.14	7467	-52 02	0 00
Halfway House	2.08	263	56,02	0.00
Recid. (exact recidiv	ism score)			
Standard Parole	13.79	7467	-11 35	0.00
Halfway House	24.22	263	-17.07	0100
Follow (number of mon	ths batch foll	owed up)		
Standard Parole	21.37	7425	13 10	0.00
Halfway House	8.56	261	13.13	
Tym. Trt.				
Standard Parole	17.51	1612	18 31	0.00
Halfway House	, 3.52	226	TOIDT	
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch	incarcerated)		
Standard Parole	21.98	1026	-3.03	0.00
Halfway House	28.82	55	3,95	0.00
Super. Tym.				
Standard Parole	0.26	7313	-25 34	0.00
Halfway House	5.06	199		
Narcotics History		*	*	
Standard Parole	0.12	3823	_9 05	0.00
Halfway House	0.63	41	2.00	0.00

A

VARIABLE

 $\left(\right)$

()

Property Offense Standard Parole Early Release First Offense Standard Parole Early Release One Prior Offense Standard Parole Early Release Race Standard Parole Early Release Age Standard Parole Early Release Broken Family Standard Parole Early Release H.S. Graduate Standard Parole Early Release Class Standard Parole Early Release Tot. Trt. Standard Parole Early Release Recid. (exact recidi Standard Parole Early Release Follow (number of mo Standard Parole Early Release Tym. Trt. Standard Parole Early Release Slam. Tym. (number o Standard Parole Early Release Super. Tym. Standard Parole Early Release Narcotics History Standard Parole Early Release

Table I-6

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Early Release

·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
40.89	558L 35	-0.16	0.88
41.79			
25.48	285	ŭ.	o 07
12.50	12	1.79	0.07
60 0 /	1077		•
76.39	J.277	-2.86	0.00
10.33			
67.07	1674	5 35	0 00
44.76	31	2.35	0.00
	1 500		
27.97	1508	-1.96	0.05
29.50	31		
32.36	253		
48.86	22	-3.48	0.00
			<u></u>
19.43	249	1.25	0.21
14.77	22		
1 88	203		•
2.57	205	-3.77	0.00
0.14	7467	-0.02	0.00
0.14	49	-0.02	0.99
ivism score)			
13.79	7467	-1.89	0.06
17.69	<u>49</u>		
onths Datch Tollo 91 37	7425		
13.45	49	3.55	0.00
			
17.51	1612	1 12	0 00
10.20	49	4.74	0.00
of months batch in	ncarcerated)	\$	
21.98	1026	-5.73	0.00
30.38	20	<u>لاحمــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	
0.26	7313		
2.71	49	-6.61	0.00
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
0.12	3823	1.29	0.20
0.0	12		

Q.

C

)

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Special Parole

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Proporty Offence				
Standard Parolo	40.80	5501		
Special Parolo	53 23	1/3	-4.35	0.00
First Offense		742		
Chandard Davala	25 / 8	295		
Special Parolo	23.40 /0.91	20J , 67	-7.13	0.00
One Prior Offense	47.01			
Ctondord Borolo	62 21	1077		
Special Parole	50 22	57	6.87	0.00
	JU.22			
Chandond Donalo	67 07	1674	•	
Standard Parole	66 02	1/2	0.53	0.60
Special Parole	00.02	142		
Standard Parole	27 97	1508		
Special Parole	26.14	157	4.96	0.00
Broken Family	<u> </u>	·····		
Standard Parole	32 36	253		
Special Parole	36 15	74	-1.29	0.20
H S Graduate				
Standard Parole	10 /3	249		
Special Parole	26 20	107	-3.55	0.00
Class		T01		
Ctondard Dorolo	1 88	203		
Spacial Parola	2 27	1205	-4.25	0.00
Tot Trt	<u></u>			· · · · ·
Stondard Parala	0 1/	7/67		
Spacial Parola	0.14	/40/	-23.14	0.00
Pacid (avact recidivi		447		
Standard Darolo	13 70	7/67		
Special Parole	21 /5	407	-10.75	0.00
Follow (number of mont	the hatch follo	wed un)		
Condard Darala	91 27	7/25		
Chantal Parala	15 20	1425	7.75	0.00
Dectar ratore	77.37	447		
tym. IIL. Standard Darolo	17 51	1612		
Spanial Parala	12 0/	7017	6.67	0.00
Slam Tym (number of	months batch i	ncarcerated)		
Ctondard Darolo	21 02	1026		
Special Parela	41.70 75 q/	1020	-2.16	0.03
Cuper Tim	<i>4J</i> .04	JŪ		0
Standard Darala	0.24	7212		
Standard Parole	0.20	50C (-27.48	0.00
Decial rarole	4.00	000	t. 	
Nalcolics History	0 10	2622	đ	3
Standard Parole	0.12	3043	-13.56	0.00
Special Parole	0.55	<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>

VARIABLE Property Offense Standard Parole Max-Out First Offense Standard Parole Max-Out One Prior Offense Standard Parole Max-Out Race Standard Parole Max-Out Age Standard Parole <u>Max-Out</u> Broken Family Standard Parole Max-Out H.S. Graduate Standard Parole <u>Max-Out</u> Class Standard Parole Max-Out Tot. Trt. Standard Parole Max-Out Recid. (exact recid Standard Parole Max-Out Follow (number of m Standard Parole Max-Out Tym. Trt. Standard Parole Max-Out Slam. Tym. (number Standard Parole Max-Out Super. Tym. Standard Parole Max-Out Narcotics History Standard Barole Max-Out

 \bigcirc

I-10

Table I-8

Analysis	of]	Differences	Betwee	n Ac	lult	Groups
Assigne	d to	o Standard	Parole	vs.	Max-	-Out

	14	1. A.	
MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T Vatur	2-TAIL
······································	OI ORDED	VELUD	FROD.
/0 8 0	EE01		
40.09	5561	-0.28	0.78
42.30	41	······································	
25.48	285		
12.50	22	2.43	0.02
<u>من چور منظر با ما استار بر استار بر استان استار می استار</u>			. ·
63.34	1277	0.76	0 15
60.23	11	0.70	0.45
and a state of the			
67.07	1674	12.87	0 00
29.03	62		••••
70 70	1 500		
27.97	1306	-1.93	0.05
23.20	<u> </u>		
32.36	253		
53.13	16	-3.73	0.00
19.43	249	0.1/	0.00
19.91	27	-0.14	0.89
			· · · ·
1.88	203	-2.22	0.03
2.25		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	0.05
0.17	Ser 1		
0.14	/40/	-0.52	0.60
U.17	101		
13 70	7467		
27.16	151	-11.21	0.00
months batch follo	wed up)		······
21.37	7425		
27.26	151	-4.57	0.00
17.51	1612	1 20	0.22
. 15.28	39	1.20	V.23
of months batch i	Incarcerated)		
21.98	1026	4.40	0.00
14.75	59		
n nc	7010		
U.20	/313	1.21	0.23
0.0	1.40		
0.12	3873		
0.12	2025	-3.12	0.00
0.35			

C

(

C

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Financial Aid vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Financial Aid	62.50	21		
All Other Cases	42.19	6758	2.91	0.00
First Offense				
Financial Aid	12.50	1		
All Other Cases	36.05	913	-0.93	0.35
One Prior Offense				
Financial Aid	56.25	4		
All Other Cases	54.94	1793	0.12	0.91
Race				
Financial Aid	31.25	4		
All Other Cases	65.09	2865	-3.13	0.00
				
Financial Aid	29.09	22		
All Other Cases	27.09	2626	1.84	0.07
Broken Family		2020		
Financial Aid	87.50	1		
All Other Cases	32 58	905	2.70	0.01
U C Craduato	52,50	,00		
Financial Aid	12 50	4		
All Other Cases	28 57	0/6	-1.77	0.08
Class	20.57			
Viass Financial Aid	3 00	2		
All Other Cocce	2.00	000	1.83	0.07
ALL OLHER Cases	2.11	990		
TOL. III.	1.04	28		
Financial Ald	1.04	10001	5.26	0.00
All Utner Cases	0.20	10001		
Recid. (exact recidivi	SI SCOLE)	00		
Financial Ald	14.42	20	-0.42	0.68
All Other Cases	15.0/	TOODT		
Follow (number of mont	ins batch follow	vea up)		
Financial Aid	6.00	20	-4.82	0.00
All Other Cases	20.48	9935		
Tym. 1rt.		00		
Financial Aid	4.29	28	-5.03	0.00
All Other Cases	16.82	356/		
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch in	ncarcerated)	1	
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-38.22	0.00
All Other Cases	10.85	2568		
Super. Tym.	4			
Financial Aid	4.71	28	5.42	0.00
All Other Cases	0.68	9459		
Narcotics History				
Financial Aid	0.0	4 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	-0.81	0.42
All Other Cases	0.14	4175	0.01	0.74

Rece

0

Care

()

VARIABLE Property Offense Intensive Supervisi All Other Cases First Offense Intensive Supervisi All Other Cases One Prior Offense Intensive Supervis: All Other Cases Race Intensive Supervis: All Other Cases Age Intensive Supervis: All Other Cases Broken Family Intensive Supervisi All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Intensive Supervis: All Other Cases Class Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidi Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Follow (number of mo Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number Intensive Supervis All Other Cases Super. Tym. Intensive Supervi Ó All Other Cases Narcotics History Intensive Supervis All Other Cases

Table I-10

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Intensive Supervision vs. All Other Cases

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u>Í</u> l
		NUMBER	T ···	2-TAIL
	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
on	48.00	200	0 50	0.01
	42.08	6579	2.30	0.01
lon	36.92	86	0.35	0.73
	35.93	828	0.55	
ion	16.28	86	17 60	0.00
1011	56.89	1711	-17.62	0.00
ion	66.22	195	0.79	0 /3
	64.96	2674	0.78	0.45
ton	24.47	197	7 67	0.00
1011	27.32	2451	-/.0/	0.00
ion	32.17	122	6.97	0 78
1011	32.72	784	-0.27	0.70
ion	27.50	120	0.65	0 52
	28.64	830	-0.05	0.52
ion	2.47	142	1 00	0.00
	2.12	851	4.90	0.00
ion	1.83	283	27 08	0.00
1011	0.24	9746	37.00	0.00
vism s	core) 23.65	283	0.40	0.00
31011	15.43	9746	8.69	0.00
onths b	atch followed	up) 283		
sion	20.64	9680	-7.29	0.00
3. 2	7 7 7 E	281		
sion	16.85	3314	-2.08	0.04
of mont	hs batch incar	cerated)		
sion	1.22 11.30	2452	-7.46	0.00
		100		
sion	3.01 0.65	9297	8.20	0.00
<u></u>		10		
sion	0.89	18 4161	9.26	0.00
		and the second	الكالي المراجع المحادث المتحادث المتحادث المحادث والمحادث والمحادث والمحادث والمحادث	and the second se

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Specialized Supervision vs. All Other Cases

C

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense	<u> </u>			
Specialized Supervision	48.44	16	0.77	0.44
All Other Cases	42.24	6763	0.77	0.47
First Offense				
Specialized Supervision	31.25	8 8	-0.54	0 50
All Other Cases	36.07	906	-0.54	0.55
One Prior Offense			1	
Creatalized Supervision	55.00	10	0 01	0.00
All Other Cases	54.95	1787	0.01	0.99
All Other Cases				a see a
	42 05	11	an trappas	
Specialized Supervision	42.0J	9858	-3.54	0.00
All Other Cases	05.15			
Age	20 50	15		
Specialized Supervision	29.00	77	1.83	0.07
All Other Cases	27.09	2033		
Broken Family		4 , 1 ,		
Specialized Supervision	45.00	10	1.93	0.05
All Other Cases	32.51	896	<u> </u>	
H.S. Graduate				
Specialized Supervision	35.23	11	1.24	0.22
All Other Cases	28.42	939		
Class				
Specialized Supervision	1.73	11	-1 90	0.06
All Other Cases	2.18	982	1.70	0100
Tot. Trt.			e julia de	
Enotialized Supervision	1.14	115	10 0/	0 00
All Othor Cases	0.27	9914	12.24	0.00
All Other Cases	(<u>a</u>)			
Recid. (Exact recidivism scor	10 50	115		0.00
Specialized Supervision	15 79	9914	-3.48	0.00
All Other Cases	LJ.12			
Follow (number of months batc		112 112		
Specialized Supervision	12.71	113	-5.21	0.00
All Other Cases	20.53	9050		
Tym. Trt.		гъ		
Specialized Supervision	10.36	58	-3.71	0.00
All Other Cases	16.82	3537		
Slam. Tym. (number of months	batch incar	cerated)		
Specialized Supervision	17.00	6	1.05	0.29
All Other Cases	10.83	2562		
Super. Tym.				
Specialized Supervision	7.07	61	13 89	0.00
All Other Cases	0.65	9426	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	
Narcotics History				
Enogialized Supervision	0.0	6	0.00	0 20
obectatived onher a retou	A 4 1	4172	-0.33	0.54

Reco

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

VARIABLE	ME AN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB.
Property Offense				
Reduced Supervision	44.17	15		
All Other Cases	42.25	6764	0.23	0.82
First Offense				
Reduced Supervision	46.59	11		
All Other Cases	35.89	903	1.40	0.16
One Prior Offense			······	
Reduced Supervision	37.50	13		
All Other Cases	55.07	1784	-2.80	0.01
Race				
Reduced Supervision	62.50	Q		
All Other Cases	65.05	2860	-0.35	0.72
		2000		
Reduced Supervision	28 36	7		19 -
All Other Cases	27 10	2641	0.65	0.51
Brokon Family		~~~~~		······
Poducod Supervictor	71 7	6		
All Other Occor	29.1/ 20.27	000	-0.42	0.68
All Other Cases	52.07	900		
H.S. Graduate	1 1 1 1			
Reduced Supervision	41.0/	044	1.79	0.07
All Other Cases	20.42	944		·········
CLASS		•		
Reduced Supervision	2.00	8	-0.62	0.53
All Other Cases	2.17	985		
Tot. Trt.	·			
Reduced Supervision	0.98	101	9.31	0.00
All Other Cases	0.27	9928		
Recid. (exact recidivism	score)			
Reduced Supervision	17.11	101	0.93	0.35
All Other Cases	15.65	9928	0.00	0.55
Follow (number of months	oatch followe	d up)		
Reduced Supervision	17.84	101	-1 65	0 10
All Other Cases	20.47	9862	-1.07	0.10
Tym. Trt.				
Reduced Supervision	14.98	87	1 25	0.21
All Other Cases "	16.76	3508	-1.27	0.21
Slam. Tym. (number of mon	ths batch inc	arcerated)		······································
Reduced Supervision	10.80	15	0 01	0 00
All Other Cases	10.85	2553	-0.01	0.99
Super. Tym.				
Reduced Supervision	1.62	95	0 00	~ ~~
All Other Cases	0.69	9392	2.30	0.02
Narcotics History				
Reduced Supervision	0.0	4		· · · · ·
Wenneer onherston	0.0		-0.81	0.42

I-14

Table I-12

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Reduced Supervision vs. All Other Cases

, **1–15**

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Residential Non-Permissive vs. All Other Cases

C

		NUMBER	Т	2-TAII
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
Property Offense			•	
Residential Non-Permissive	37.50	10	0 47	0.6%
All Other Cases	42.26	6769	-0.47	0.04
First Offense				
Residential Non-Permissive	12.50	4	7 07	0.06
All Other Cases	36.13	910	-1.0/	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Residential Non-Permissive	0.0	0	102 16	0.00
All Other Cases	54.95	1797	-103.10	0.00
Race			······	
Residential Non-Permissive	62.50	10	0.27	0 71
All Other Cases	65.05	2859	-0.37	0.71
Age	· · ·			
Residential Non-Permissive	23.88	16	0 50	0.01
All Other Cases	27.13	2632	-2.50	0.01
Broken Family				· ·
Residential Non-Permissive	12.50	4		
All Other Cases	32.73	902	-1.98	0.05
H.S. Graduate	······			
Residential Non-Permissive	62.50	4		
All Other Cases	28.36	946	3.79	0.00
Class				
Residential Non-Permissive	0.0	0		
All Other Cases	2.17	993	-87.32	0.00
Tot Trt				÷
Residential Non-Permissive	2.84	61		
All Other Cases	0.26	8996	27.21	0.00
Recid (exact recidivism score)	0.20			
Reciu: (Exact reciuivism Score)	21 37	61		
All Other Cases	15 63	9968	2.84	0.01
Follow (number of months batch	followed up)	3300		
Posidontial Non-Pormissive	14 12	57	•	
All Other Cases	20 /8	2006	-3.01	0.00
All Ullier Cases	20.40	9900		
Tym. IIL. Readdontial Non-Rormicative	4 24	46		
All Other Gases	4.44	35/0	-6.50	0.00
All other cases	toh incorcor	otod)		
Siam. Iym. (number of months ba		11		
Residential Non-Permissive	10.91	11	-0.68	0.50
All Uther Cases	10.00	2557		
Super. Tym.	E 05	26		
Residential Non-Permissive	5.25	0/51	6.97	0.00
All Other Cases	0.68	9451		
Narcotics History		~~	· · · ·	
Residential Non-Permissive	1.00	20	11.27	0.00
All Other Cases	0.14	4159		

 $\left(\right)$

()

 \square

()

		NUMBER	<u>ም</u>	2-TATT
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
Property Offense				·····
Residential Permissive	38,93	35		
All Other Cases	42.27	6744	-0.62	0.54
First Offense				
Residential Permissive	14.73	56		
All Other Cases	37.41	858	-6.66	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Residential Permissive	25.83	15		
All Other Cases	55.19	1782	-5.05	0.00
Race				
Residential Permissive	64.58	72		
All Other Cases	65.06	2797	-0.18	0.86
Age				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Residential Permissive	26.25	36		[/]
All Other Cases	27.12	2612	-1.02	0.31
Broken Family				······································
Residential Permissive	42.97	64		
All Other Cases	31.86	842	4.24	0.00
H.S. Graduate				
Residential Permissive	43.75	28		
All Other Cases	28.04	922	4.57	0.00
Class				······································
Residential Permissive	2.05	. 38		2
All Other Cases	2.18	955	-0.96	0.34
Tot. Trt.		·····		n parti na secona da secona da secona de secona de Secona de secona de s
Residential Permissive	2.68	125		
All Other Cases	0.25	9904	37.85	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivism scor	:e)			
Residential Permissive	26.68	125		
All Other Cases	15.53	9904	7.90	0.00
Follow (number of months bate	h followed u	n)		
Residential Permissive	15.36	125	\$	
All Other Cases	20.51	9838	-3.60	0.00
Tvm. Trt.				
Residential Permissive	3,97	112		
All Other Cases	17.13	3483	-10.56	0.00
Slam, Tym, (number of months	hatch incarc	erated)		
Residential Permissive	21.05	41		1. 1.
All Other Cases	10.68	2527	4.60	0.00
Super, Tym.	TO + 00	<i>LJL1</i>		
Residential Permissive	4.47	70		
All Other Cases	0 67	0/17	8,08	0.00
Narcotics History	0.07	741/		······
Residential Pormiceiro	0 78	۵		
All Other Cases	0.70	6170	5.53	0.00
ALL ULHEL UASES	<u> </u>	41/0		

Table I-14

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Residential Permissive vs. All Other Cases

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Job Training vs. All Other Cases

Ć,

C

(___)

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Job Training	45.31	16	· · · · · ·	
All Other Cases	42.25	6763	0.38	0.70
First Offense			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Job Training	22.50	5	1 00	0.00
All Other Cases	36.10	909	-1.20	0.23
One Prior Offense		te in the second se		
Job Training	56.25	16	0.00	0.00
All Other Cases	54.93	1781	0.23	0.82
Race		······································		
Job Training	51.04	24	0 10	0.00
All Other Cases	65.16	2845	-3.19	0.00
Age				
Job Training	28.00	18	0 75	0 / 5
All Other Cases	27.10	2630	0.75	0.45
Broken Family				
Job Training	25.00	18	3 4 3	0.17
All Other Cases	32.80	888	-1.61	0.11
H.S. Graudate				
Job Training	24.40	21		
All Other Cases	28.59	929	-1.05	0.30
Class	, <u></u>			
Job Training	1.79	19	0 1 7	
All Other Cases	2.18	974	-2.15	0.03
Tot. Trt.				
Job Training	1.82	51		<u> </u>
All Other Cases	0.27	9978	14.64	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivi	.sm score)			
Job Training	14.95	51	0 00	0 7/
All Other Cases	15.67	9978	-0.33	0.74
Follow (number of mont	hs batch follow	wed up)		······································
Job Training	10.47	51		0.00
All Other Cases	20.49	9912	-4.50	0.00
Tym. Trt.			<u> </u>	······
Job Training	6.16	45	· • • •	
All Other Cases	16.85	3550	-5.44	0.00
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch in	ncarcerated)		
Job Training	15.79	19		· • • •
All Other Cases	10.81	2549	1.50	0.13
Super. Tym.				
Job Training	3.41	44		
All Other Cases	0.68	9443	4.59	0.00
Narcotics History				
Job Training	0.0	3		
All Other Cases	0.14	4176	-0.70	0.48

D

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

1. 10

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB.
Property Offense	/			
Job Placement	58.33	6		
All Other Cases	42.24	6773	1.23	0.22
First Offense				
Job Placement	39.77	11		
All Other Cases	35.98	903	0.49	0.62
One Prior Offense				
Job Placement	22.50	15		
All Other Cases	55.22	1782	-5.64	0.00
Race				N.
Job Placement	60.12	21		
All Other Cases	65.08	2848	-1.05	/〉 0.30
	05:00	2040		
Job Placement	21.03	• 17		
All Other Cases	27.15	2631	-4.98	0.00
Broken Family		2031		
Inh Placement	12 50	11		
All Other Cases	32 80	805	-3.31	0.00
HS Creduato	52.09	095		<u> </u>
Tob Placement	30.83	15		
All Other Cased	28.46	035	0.50	0.62
Class	20.40	935		
Jab Dlagomont	1 05	21		
All Other Cases	2 10	4 <u>1</u> 072	-1.30	0.19
All Uther Cases	2.10	912	· 	
Teh Diesement	2 00	27		
All Other Greec	2.00	J/ 0002	14.54	0.00
All Other Cases	0.27	9992	β	
Tet Discourt	sm score)	97		
JOD Placement	1/./2	57	0.80	0.43
All Other Cases	T2*00	9992		
Follow (number of mont	ns batch ioilow	ed up)		
JOD Placement	14.30	37	-2.36	0.02
All Other Cases	20.46	9926		
Tym. Irc.	10 17	0.0		
Job Placement	12.1/	29	-1.87	0.06
All Other Cases "	16.76	3566		
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch in	carcerated)		
Job Placement	12.94	18	0.62	0.54
All Other Cases	10.83	2550		
Super. Tym.				
Job Placement	8.06	35	11.15	0.00
All Other Cases	0.67	9452		
Narcotics History		· _ · · ·	$\langle \rangle$	
Job Placement	0.0	0	-26.10	0.00
	~ ~ ~ /	11 70		0.00

I-18

Table I-16

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Job Placement vs. All Other Cases

I-19

s۵.

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Practical Individual Assistance vs. All Other Cases

<u>_</u>

		NUMBER	T	2-TAIL
VARIABLE	MEAN	UF CASES	VALUE	1 100.
Property Offense				ф
Practical Individual Assistance	58.33	12	1.74	0.08
All Other Cases	42.23	6767		
First Offense			•	
Practical Individual Assistance	12.50	4	-1.87	0.06
All Other Cases	36.13	910		
One Prior Offense				
Practical Individual Assistance	54.55	22	-0.08	0.93
All Other Cases	54.95	1775		
Race				
Practical Individual Assistance	45.36	35	-5.44	0.00
All Other Cases	65.29	2834		
Age				
Practical Individual Assistance	27.65	34	0.62	0.53
All Other Cases	27.10	2614		
Broken Family				
Practical Individual Assistance	12.50	11	-3.31	0.00
All Other Cases	32.89	895		
E.S. Graduate				
Practical Individual Assistance	18.75	8	-1.53	0.13
All Other Cases	28.58	942		
Class				
Practical Individual Assistance	2.46	13	1.34	0.18
All Other Cases	2.17	980	±•••1	
Tot. Trt.				
Practical Individual Assistance	2.12	127	28.41	0.00
All Other Cases	0.26	9902	20.11	
Recid. (exact recidivism score)	· · · ·			
Practical Individual Assistance	21.69	127	4 35	0.00
All Other Cases	15.59	9902	-1+55	
Follow (number of months batch follo	owed up)			
Practical Individual Assistance	13.15	124	-5 15	0.00
All Other Cases	20.53	9839	S	
Tym. Trt.				
Practical Individual Assistance	4.36	88	-9 01	0.00
All Other Cases	17.03	3507	-7.01	
Slam, Tym, (number of months batch	incarcerated)			
Practical Individual Assistance	11.53	30	0.26	0.79
All Other Cases	10.84	2538	U++U	
Super. TVm.				
Practical Individual Assistance	6.18	120	15 56	0.00
All Other Cases	0.62	9367	20.JC	0.00
Narcotics History	and the second secon		÷	
Dractical Individual Assistance	0.64	14	. E <i>l. l.</i>	0 00
All Other Cace	0.14	4165	~ J.44	0.00
ALL VUICE VASCO		وموارية مصبوب بتغييب فتنتجره ومتعن فتتتبك ومراجع		

Receiving Psy

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

e l

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB.
Property Offense				······
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	72.50	5	0.10	
All Other Cases	42.24	6774	2.12	0.03
First Offense	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1 .		
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	12.50	3		
All Other Cases	. 36.10	911	-1.62	0.11
One Prior Offense				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	87.50	7	~ ~ ~	
All Other Cases	54.82	1790	3.84	0.00
Race				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	37.50	3		
All Other Cases	65.07	2866	-2.21	0.03
			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Psychotheraneutic Indiv. Assist.	31.50	5		
All Other Cases	27 10	2643	1.94	0.05
All Other Cases	27.40	2045		
Dividen raminy Developherapoutic Indiv Accist	37 50	3	4	
All Other Cases	32 63	903	0.41	0.68
All Utiler Gases	J2.05	200		
Bauchothorapoutia India Acciet	0.0	о н		
All Other Cases	28 50	950	-48.46	0.00
All Other Cases	20.00	950		
Daushathonopoutic Indiu Accist	2 00	3 '	0 .	
All Other Greece	2.00	000	-0.38	0.70
All Uther Cases	2.11	990		
101, 111. Develophersonatic India Appiet	1 70	22	•	
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	1.70	0006	10.75	0.00
All Other Cases	0.20	9990		
Recid. (exact recidivism score)	12 20	22		
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	45.20	33	10.12	0.00
All Other Cases	15.58	9996		
Follow (number of months batch follow	ea up)	07		
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	46.67	27	8.62	0.00
All Other Cases	20.37	9936		
Tym. Trt.				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	13.27	26	-1.34	0.18
All Other Cases	16.75	3569		
Slam. Tym. (number of months batch in	carcerated)			
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	13.43	7	0.48	0.63
All Other Cases	10.84	2561		
Super. Tym.				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	1	-0.18	0 86
All Other Cases	0.70	9486	-0.10	0.00
Narcotics History				
Psychotheraneutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	0	- 26 10	0.00
A Dy Glo				

1-20

ି

Table I-18

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Psychotherapeutic Individual Assistance vs. All Other Cases

:0

Q.

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Education vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Education	41 60	61		
All Other Cases	42.00	6718	-0.16	0.87
First Offense	72.20	0710	in the second	
Education	56.25	56	.4443 -	
All Other Cases	34.70	858	6.31	0.00
One Prior Offense	54.70			
Education	0 0	Ó Í A		
All Other Cases	54.95	1797	-103.16	0.00
Race	54155			······································
Fducation	71 25	60		
All Other Cases	64 01	2809	2.25	0.03
		2005	and the second	
Education	27 13	75		
All Other Cases	27.13	2574	0.03	0.97
Broken Family	<u> </u>	2515		
Education	0.0	0		
All Other Cases	32.64	906	-48.12	0.00
HE Craudate		300		
H.S. GLAUGALE	56 90	C7		
All Other Cases	26 60	803	13.22	0.00
Clase	20.03	<u></u>		
Fduantion	0 2 50	56		
All Other Cases	2.00	037	3.24	0.00
Tot Trt	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u></u>	
Education	1 00	77		
All Other Cases	1.00	0052	8.34	0.00
Pagid (ownet regiding		3932		
Reciu. (exact fectury)	LSM SCOLE)		a da ser	
Education	JZ.Z1 15.54	0052	9.30	0.00
Taller (number of month	13.J4	9952		
Pollow (number of mon	LNS DALCH IOIIOW	-u up)		
Education	1/.00	10 A	-1.52	0.13
All Other Cases	20.40	9007		،
lym. 1rt.	10 (0	10		
Education	10.63	49	-3.26	0.00
All Other Cases	10.80	3540		
Slam. lym. (number of	months batch ind			
Education	14.00	11	0.73	0.47
All Utner Cases	T0.83	2001		
Super. 1ym.	16 50	· · · · ·		
Education	16.50	16	16.29	0.00
All Other Cases	0.6/	94/1		
Narcotics History				
Education	0.0	56	-3.05	0.00
All Other Cases	0.14	4123		

)

())

 \bigcirc

VARIABLE Property Offense Behavior Modifica All Other Cases First Offense Behavior Modifica All Other Cases One Prior Offense Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Race Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Age Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Broken Family Behavior Modifica All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Behavior Modifica ()All Other Cases Class Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Recid. (exact recid Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Follow (number of m Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Tym Trt. Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Super. Tym. Behavior Modifica All Other Cases Narcotics History Behavior Modifica All Other Cases

Table I-20

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Behavior Modification vs. All Other Cases

	<u> </u>		
MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
0.0 42,26	0 6779	-108.90	0.00
0.0 36.02	0 914	-4.310	0.00
0.0 54.95	0 1797	-103.16	0.00
0.0 65.04	0 2869	-161.02	0.00
0.0 27.11	0 2648	-275.12	0.00
0.0 32.64	0 906	-48.12	0.00
0.0 28.50	0 950	-48.46	0.00
0.0 2.17	0 993	-87.32	0.00
0.0 0.28	0 10029	-36.83	0.00
ore) 0.0 15.67	0 10029	-99.69	0.00
tch followed 0.0 20.44	up) 0 9963	-128.43	0.00
0.0 16.72	0 3595	-76.10	0.00
s batch inca 0.0 10.85	rcerated) 0 2568	-38.22	0.00
0.0 0.70	0 9487	-17.20	0.00
0.0 0.14	0 4179	-26.10	0.00
	MEAN 0.0 42.26 0.0 36.02 0.0 54.95 0.0 65.04 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 27.11 0.0 28.50 0.0 28.50 0.0 15.67 tch followed 0.0 15.67 tch followed 0.0 16.72 s batch inca 0.0 0.70 0.0 0.14	NUMBER OF CASES 0.0 0 42.26 6779 0.0 0 36.02 914 0.0 0 36.02 914 0.0 0 54.95 1797 0.0 0 54.95 1797 0.0 0 65.04 2869 0.0 0 27.11 2648 0.0 0 32.64 906 0.0 0 28.50 950 0.0 0 2.17 993 0.0 0 15.67 10029 tch followed up) 0 0.0 0 16.72 3595 s batch incarcerated) 0 0.0 0 10.85 2568 0.0 0 0.14 4179	MEANNUMBER OF CASEST VALUE 0.0 0 -108.90 0.0 0 -108.90 0.0 0 -4.310 0.0 0 -4.310 0.0 0 -4.310 0.0 0 -4.310 0.0 0 -103.16 0.0 0 -103.16 0.0 0 -161.02 0.0 2869 -161.02 0.0 0 -275.12 0.0 0 -48.12 0.0 0 -48.46 0.0 0 -48.46 0.0 0 -87.32 0.0 0 -87.32 0.0 0 -99.69 tch followed up) 0.0 0 0.0 0 -128.43 0.0 0 0 16.72 3595 -76.10 s batch incarcerated) 0.0 0 0.0 0 -17.20 0.0 0 0 0.14 4179 -26.10

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Group Therapy vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Group Therapy	38.82	19	~ / -	~ ~ ~ ~
All Other Cases	42.27	6760	-0.4/	0.64
First Offense				
Group Therapy	29.17	18	7 16	0.95
All Other Cases	36.16	896	-1.10	0.25
One Prior Offense				
Group Therapy	87.50	4	0 60	0.00
All Other Cases	54.87	1793	2.09	0.00
Race				
Group Therapy	81.25	24	7 60	0.00
All Other Cases	64.91	2845	3.69	0.00
Age		*		
Group Therapy	28.42	12	0.00	0 0 0
All Other Cases	27.10	2636	0.90	0.37
Broken Family				· · · · · ·
Group Therapy	62.50	4		
All Other Cases	32.51	902	2.94	0.00
H.S. Graduate				
Group Therapy	12.50	9		· · · · ·
All Other Cases	28.65	941	-2.67	0.01
Class				
(Group Therapy	1.00	4		
All Other Cases	2.18	989	-3.01	0.00
Tot. Trt.				
Group Therapy	1.42	Ø 50 >		
All Other Cases	0.27	9979	10.65	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivi:	sm score)			
Group Therapy	34.74	50		
All Other Cases	15.57	9979	8.62	0.00
Follow (number of mont	hs batch follo	wed up)		
Group Therapy	23.13	45		
All Other Cases	20.42	9918	1.56	0.12
Tym Trt.				
Group Therapy	12.38	34		
All Other Cases	16.76	3561	-1.93	0.05
Slam, Tym. (number of	months batch	incarcerated)		
Group Therapy	23.20	5		
All Other Cases	10.82	2563	1.92	0.05
Super, Tym.			in an	
Group Therapy	18.96	25		·
All Other Cases	0.65	9462	23.91	0.00
Narcotics History				
Group Therapy	0.0	0	a star sa tan	
All Other Cases	0.14	4179	-26.10	0.00

(

VARIABLE Property Offense Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases First Offense Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases One Prior Offense Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Race Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Age Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Broken Family Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Class Non-Profe Group Coun All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidivism Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Follow (number of months Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of mo Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Super. Tym. Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases Narcotics History Non-Profes. Group Coun All Other Cases

I-24

n M.

Table I-22

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Non-Professional Group Counseling vs. All Other Cases

	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
nseling	62.50 42.15	36 6743	3.82	0.00
nseling	54.17 35.28	36 878	4.44	0.00
nseling	37.50 55.14	20 1777	-3.49	0.00
nseling	67.50 65.01	45 2824	0.77	0.44
nseling	21.28 27.16	23 2625	-5.57	0.00
nselikg	37.50 32.61	7 899	0.63	0.53
nseling	12.50 28.77	16 934	-3.58	0.00
nseling	0.0 2.17	0 993	-87.32	0.00
nseling	1.00 0.28	45 9984	6.36	0.00
n score) nseling	25.80 15.62	45 9984	4.33	0.00
s batch fo nseling	11owed up) 22.73 20.43	45 9918	0.97	0.33
nseling	9.33 16.80	40 3555	-3.58	0.00
nths batc seling	h incarcerated 1.90 10.92) 21 2547	-2.87	0.00
nseling	10.51 0.66	35 9452	14.95	0.00
nseling	0.75	8 4171	4,99	0.00

122

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Medical Methods vs. All Other Cases

MEAN	OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
		<u>e</u>)	************
15.44	34	۲0 A	0.00
42.39	6745	-4.91	0.00
33.33	18	_0 /6	0 65
36.08	896	-0.40	0.05
87.50	4	2 80	0.00
54.87	1793	2.09	0.00
26.56	16	-7 20	0.00
65.26	2853	-7.20	5.0U
27.76	41	0.93	0 / 1
27.10	2607	0.05	0.41
12.50	4 *	1 00	0.05
32.73	902	-1.90	0.05
12.50	6	0 17	0.03
28.60	944	-2.1/	0.05
2.03	29	0.06	0 3/
2.18	964	-0.90	0.34
2.14	105	26.00	0 00
0.26	9924	20.00	0.00
.sm score)			
36.12	105	19 E1	0.00
15.45	9924	13.31	0.00
hs batch follo	wed up)		
15.13	105	2 //	0.00
20.50	9858	-3.44	0.00
12.50	88	2 05	0.00
16.83	3507	-3.05	0.00
months batch i	ncarcerated)		
7.46	56	1 70	0.00
10.92	2512	, −⊥ ,/ð	0.08
4.49	96	0 50	0.00
0.66	9391	9.55	0.00
0.90	73	10.00	0.00
0.13	4106	19.83	0.00
	MEAN 15.44 42.39 33.33 36.08 87.50 54.87 26.56 65.26 27.76 27.76 27.10 12.50 32.73 12.50 28.60 2.03 2.18 2.14 0.26 sm score) 36.12 15.45 ths batch follo 15.13 20.50 12.50 12.50 15.45 ths batch follo 15.13 20.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.45 ths batch follo 15.13 20.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 12.50 1	MEAN OF CASES 15.44 34 42.39 6745 33.33 18 36.08 896 87.50 4 54.87 1793 26.56 16 65.26 2853 27.76 41 27.10 2607 12.50 4 32.73 902 12.50 6 28.60 944 2.03 29 2.18 964 2.12 105 15.45 9924 sm score) 36.12 105 36.12 105 15.45 9924 ths batch followed up) 15.13 105 15.05 9858 12.50 88 16.83 3507 months batch incarcerated) 7.46 7.46 56 10.92 2512 4.49 96 0.66 9391	MEANOF CASESVALUE 15.44 34 -4.91 42.39 6745 -4.91 33.33 18 -0.46 87.50 4 2.89 26.56 16 -7.20 27.76 2853 -7.20 27.76 241 0.83 27.10 2607 0.83 12.50 4 -1.98 12.50 6 -2.17 2.03 29 -0.96 2.14 105 26.00 2.14 105 26.00 36.12 105 13.51 15.45 9924 13.51 ths batch followed up) 15.13 105 12.50 88 -3.05 months batch incarcerated) 7.46 56 10.92 2512 -1.78 4.49 966 9.53 0.90 73 19.83

1

()

Ň,

I-26

 \mathcal{O}^{1}

Table I-24

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Special Prison vs. All Other Cases

******		NUMBER	Т	2-TAIL
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
Property Offense				
Special Prison	32.50	10	0.07	0.22
All Other Cases	42.27	6769	-0.97	0.33
First Offense				
Special Prison	35.23	11	0 11	0.02
All Other Cases	36.03	903	-0.11	0.92
One Prior Offense				
Special Prison	40.13	19	0.00	0.00
All Other Cases	55.10	1778	-2.88	0.00
Race				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Special Prison	83.33	60		
All Other Cases	64.65	2809	6.6/	0.00
Age				
Special Prison	22.14	66	0	
All Other Cases	27.23	2582	-8.1/	0.00
Broken Family				
Special Prison	41.45	19		
All Other Cases	32.45	887	1.90	0.06
H S. Graduate				
Special Pricon	13.36	58		
All Other Cases	29.48	892	-6.71	0.00
Clase	2.7.10			
Chaodal Dricon	2 38	24		
All Other Cases	2.30	969	1.28	0.20
Tot Trt	E. • 3. /			
Charles Pricon	2 41	91		
All Other Cases	0.26	0038	27.73	0.00
Poold (ownet readding	m score)			
Crossial Pricon	23 50	91		
All Other Cases	15 50	0038	4.78	0.00
All Other Cases	c hatch follo	un)		
Follow (number of month	12 /0	01		
Special Prison	20 51	0872	-4.25	0.00
All Uther Cases	20.31	9072		
lym lrt.	7 50	40		
Special Prison	16 95	25/6	-4.90	0.00
All Uther Cases	10.0J	(botecoreted)		
Slam. Tym. (number of n	ionths balch i	Incarcerateu/		
Special Prison	10.50	2500	4.07	0.00
All Other Cases	10.0/	2309	ана стана стана Стана стана стан	
Super. Tym.	0.00	00		
Special Prison	0.90	90	0.50	0.62
All Other Cases	0.69	9397		
Narcotics History	• •			
Special Prison	0.0	1	-0.40	0.69
All Other Cases	0.14	41/8		

2

I-27

-

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Contract Programming vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Contract Programming	45.00	30	0 /7	0.64
All Other Cases	42.25	6749	0.47	0.04
First Offense				
Contract Programming	0.0	0	-42 10	0 00
All Other Cases	36.02	914	-43.10	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Contract Programming	62,50	15	1 20	0 10
All Other Cases	54.88	1782	1.30	0.19
Race				
Contract Programming	62.50	30	_0 65	0.52
All Other Cases	65.07	2839	-0.05	0.52
Age				
Contract Programming	26.80	30	0.00	0.74
All Other Cases	27.11	2618	-0.33	0.74
Broken Family		· · · · ·		
Contract Programming	0.0	0	10 10	0 00
All Other Cases	32,64	906	-48.12	0.00
H S Graduate			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Contract Programming	62.50	15		0.00
All Other Cases	27.95	93.5	1.53	0.00
Class				-
Contract Programming	0.0	0		
All Other Cases	2.17	993	-87.32	0.00
Tot Trt				· · · ·
Contract Brooramming	1 00	30	· · · ·	
All Other Cages	0.28	9999	5.18	0.00
All Other Cases				
Rectu. (exact rectuivism s	15 29	30		
Contract Programming	15.67	0000	-0.13	0.89
All Other Cases	15.07	(au		
Follow (number of months b		30		
Contract Programming	2+0/	20	-5,11	0.00
All Other Cases	20.49	9933		
Tym. Trt.	0.07	20		
Contract Programming	3.8/	3U 2ECE	-5.39	0.00
All Other Cases	10.03	COCC		
SLam. Tym. (number of mont	ins paten inca	incerated)		
Contract Programming	18.80	30	3.05	0.00
All Other Cases	10.75	2538		
Super. Tym.				
Contract Programming	4.40	25	4.72	0.00
All Other Cases	0.69	9462		
Narcotics Programming				
Contract Programming	0.0	оны с ара О на же	-26.10	0.00
All Other Cases	0.14	4179		

0 VARIABLE Property Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases First Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases One Prior Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases Race Vocational Training All Other Cases Age Vocational Training All Other Cases Broken Family Vocational Training All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Vocational Training () All Other Cases Class Vocational Training All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Vocational Training All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidivis Vocational Training All Other Cases Follow (number of mont) Vocational Training All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Vocational Training All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of Vocational Training All Other Cases Super. Tym. Vocational Training All Other Cases Narcotics History Vocational Training All Other Cases

()

I-28

Table I-26

Analysis of Differences Between Adult Groups Receiving Vocational Training vs. All Other Cases

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		*
MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
53.27 42.07	111 6668	3.66	0.00
0.0	0	-43.10	0.00
85.36 53.06	105	15.10	0.00
51.95	109 2760	-6.49	0.00
22.85	23 2625	-4.06	0.00
17.50	5	-1.66	0.10
30.36	7 943	0.27	0.79
2.46	13	1.34	0.18
2.55	140	37.93	0.00
sm score) 20.83	140	3.91	0.00
15.39 hs batch follow 15.71 20 51	ed up) 139 9824	-3.54	0.00
13.09	113	-2.98	0.00
months batch in 12.25	carcerated) 107 2461	1.03	0.30
2.98	121	6.42	0.00
0.33	6	1.36	0.17

12

Analysis of Differences Between Groups Assigned to Probation vs. Those Assigned to Parole

(Juveniles)

C

		NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	
Property Offense				
Parole	36.16	186	-1.26	0.21
Probation	39.15	500		
First Offense				
Parole	21.59	33	-1.33	0.19
Probation	27.32	113		
One Prior Offens	e			
Parole	48.93	164	7 43	0.00
Probation	27.23	56	7.45	
Race			•	
Parole	59.92	601	_1 31	0.19
Probation	61.89	244	-1.JT	
Age				
Parole	17.47	1023	7 67	0.00
Probation	17.14	1028	1.01	0.00
Broken Familv				
Parole	56.98	1.45 .	0 70	0.01
Probation	50.71	106	2.70	0.01
H S Graduate				
Parole	15.03	148	1 16	0.25
Probation	17.22	90	-1.10	0.25
Class		<u></u>		
Darole	1.75	188	1 50	0 12
Probation	1.63	94	1.38	0.12
Tot Trt				
Derole	0.52	1041		0.00
Drebetion	0.32	1111	-5.68	0.00
Probation	oidiniem score			
Reciu. (exact ie	21 2/	1041		0.00
Parole	25 05	1111	5.80	0.00
Probation D-11	LJ.9J	h followed up)	<u>ئە يەمەر ئەمەر مەر مەر مەر مەر مەر مەر مەر مەر مەر</u>	
FOLLOW (number (1039		A 64
Parote	20 71	1094	-16.60	0.00
Probacion	20.17	1074		
Tym. Irt.	11 10	778	· · · · ·	· · · ·
Parole	,TT.TO	650	2.01	0.05
Probation	0.20	batch incorporated)	
SLam. Tym. (num)	Der or months	h79		
Parole	12.51	4/4	33.31	0.00
Probation	0.1/	TOOO		
Super. Tym.	1 (0	0/0		
Parole	1.68	940	-2.49	0.01
Probation	2.31	000		
Narcotics Histo:	ry	101		
Parole	0.68	101	8.42	0.00
Probation	0.15	80		

VARIABLE

()

()

0

	Property Offense
	Standard Probation
	_ Shock Probation
	First Offense
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	One Prior Offense
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Race
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Age
	Standard Probation
-	Shock Probation
	Broken Family
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	H.S. Graduate
~ \	Standard Probation
1	Shock Probation
	Class
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Tot. Trt.
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Recid. (exact recidiv
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Follow (number of mon
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Tym. Trt.
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Slam. Tym. (number of
	Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
jh-	Super. Tym.
5	N Standard Probation
	Shock Probation
	Narcotics History
	Standard Probation
1	Shock Probation
1	

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
38.50 58.93	423 7	-1.66	0.10
23.41 16.07	55 7	0.80	0.43
13.75 0.0	20 0	11.00	0.00
65.63 54.95	128 43	2.58	0.01
17.13 17.00	659 121	2.14	0.03
50.38 25.00	33 8	3.14	0.00
20.45 87.50	44 1	-3.75	0.00
1.77 1.25	53 4	1.87	0.07
0.42	742 121	2.85	0.00
ism score) 24.48 15.31	742	5.20	0.00
ths batch followed 40.36 8.43	1 up) 729 <u>121</u>	11.76	0.00
11.73 	310 113	7.35	0.00
months batch inca 0.01 0.17	rcerated) 736 89	-5.89	0.00
0.14	378 92	-19.31	0.00
0.0	55 13	0.0	1.00

Table I-28 Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Probation vs. Shock Probation



Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Probation vs. Group Home

VARTABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	O 2-TAIL PROB.
			-	
Stondard Brobation	29 50	1.00	N	
Standard Probation	30.JU 41.07	423	-0.65	0.52
Group Home (FPG)	41.07	/0	·	
Ctandard Drahatian	22 /1	55		1
Standard Probation	23.41	55	-2.23	0.03
Group Home (PPC)	33.09			
Une Prior Ullense	10 75	20		
Standard Probation	13.75	20	-10.41	0.00
Group Home (PPC)	34.72			
Kace	, (r ()	100		
Standard Probation	65.63	128	1.65	0.10
Group Home (PPC)	59.42	/3		
Age		450		
Standard Probation	17.13	659	-2.08	0.04
Group Home (PPC)	17.24	248		
Broken Family	· · · · · · · · ·			
Standard Probation	50.38	33	-0.80	0.43
Group Home (PPC)	54.04	65		
H.S. Graduate				
Standard Probation	20.45	44	3 02	0 00
Group Home (PPC)	12.50	45	J.02	0.00
Class				
Standard Probation	1.77	53	2 /0	0.02
Group Home (PPC)	1.46	37	2.49	0.02
Tot. Trt.				
Standard Probation	0.42	742	05 51	0.00
Group Home (PPC)	2.20	248	-25.51	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivism	score)			
Standard Probation	24.48	742		0.00
Group Home (PPC)	35.56	248	-7.93	0.00
Follow (number of months	batch follow	ved up)		
Standard Probation	40.36	729		• • •
Group Home (PPC)	12.93	244	13.49	0.00
Tvm. Trt.				- and a second secon :
Standard Probation	11.73	310		
Group Home (PPC)	4 60	236	12.19	0.00
Slam, Tym, (number of mo	nths batch in	carcerated)		
Standard Probation		736		
Group Home (DDC)	0.01	2/2	-9.70	0.00
Super Tim	0.00	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
Ctandard Drobation	0 1/	270		
	C+14	3/0 912	-13.86	0.00
Group nome (PPC)	5.29	210		
Narcotics Mistory	0.0	E E		
Standard Probation	0.0	22	0.0	1.00
Group Home (PPC)	1.0	12		

(

C

	VARIABLE
÷.	Property Offense
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	First Offense
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	One Prior Offense
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Race
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Age
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Broken Family
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	H.S. Graduate
	Standard Parote
	Class
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Tot. Trt.
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Recid. (exact recidi
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Follow (number of mc
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Tym. Trt.
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Slam. Tym. (number of
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Super. Tym.
	Standard Parole
	Work Study
	Narcotics History
	Standard Parole
	Work Study

I-32

Table I-30

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Work Study

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
37.93 32.50	115 10	0.85	0.40
24.04 0.0	26 0	5.71	0.00
48.52 62.50	127 19	-2.71	0.01
63.69 60.00	463 10	0.94	0.35
⁶ 17.33 17.67	814 26	-1.68	0.09
56.43 0.0	103 0	38.07	0.00
12.50 32.24	128 ⁰ 19	-6.72	0.00
1.68 2.74	139 19	-9.27	0.00
0.36 0.31	821 26	0.33	0.74
divism score) 30.67 14.77	821 26	3.62	0.00
months batch follow 14.25 10.12	wed up) 819 26	1.44	0.15
11.59 4.24	586 25	0.89	0.37
of months batch in 11.90 15.95	ncarcerated) 346 22	-1.62	0.11
1.15 7.32	751 22	-5.81	0.00
0.70 0.0	54 0	11.22	0.00

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Halfway House

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Standard Parole	37.93	115	0.00	0.50
Halfway House	35.00	20	0.68	0.50
First Offense				
Standard Parole	24.04	26	0 53	0.00
Halfway House	12.50	1	0.53	0.60
One Prior Offense				
Standard Parole	48.52	127	0 00	0.04
Halfway House	37.50	18	2.08	0.04
Race			17 X 19 1	
Standard Parole	63.69	463	0.00	0 70
Halfway House	63.16	38	0.20	0.79
Age		an a		
Standard Parole	17.33	814	7 0/	0.00
Halfway House	18.58	40	-1.24	0.00
Broken Family				
Standard Parole	56.43	103	1 07	• • • •
Halfway House	47.50	5	1.2/	0.21
H.S. Graduate		*****		·
Standard Parole	12.50	128		
Halfway House	12.50	1	0.0	1.00
Class				
Standard Parole	1.68	139		
Halfway House	1.29	21	3.46	0.00
Tot. Trt.		e	<u>(</u>	
Standard Parole	0.36	821		
Halfway House	1.51	41	-8.55	0.00
Recid. (exact recidiv	ism score)			ز مربع میں میں حالم میں حالم میں عالم م یں
Standard Parole	30.67	821		
Halfway House	28.33	41	0.66	0.51
Follow (number of mon	ths batch follo	wed up)		······
Standard Parole	14.25	819		
Halfway House	13 02	41	0.53	0.59
Tvm, Trt.		- 1 - 4		
Standard Parole	11.59	586		
Halfway House	2 07	200	1.13	0.26
Slam Tym, (number of	months hatch in	ncarcerated)		
Standard Parole	11.90	346	4	
Halfway House	1 18	17	4.07	0.00
Super Tym	<u>+ + + V</u>	<u> </u>		
Standard Darola	1 15	751		
Halfway House	5 50	22	-4.13	0.00
Narcotice History				
Standard Darole	0 70	54		
Blanuaru Falure	1 00	1/	-2.39	0.02
nallway nouse	T.00	<u></u>		

· Ô

Ċ

C

()

()

()

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB
Property Offense	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			
Standard Parole	37.93	115		
Early Release	0.0	0	21.39	0.00
First Offense			1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	
Standard Parole	24.04	26		
Early Release	0.0	0	5./1	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Standard Parole	48.52	127	1/ 20	0.00
Early Release	0.0	0	24.39	0.00
Race		*** <u>**********************************</u>		
Standard Parole	63.69	463	0.10	0.05
Early Release	62.50	4	0.19	0.85
Age		\$~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		
Standard Parole	17.33	814	0 70	0 4 2
Early Release	17.00	6	0.79	0.43
Broken Family	المحمد براه مكافحات ويساعه المعادي المعدد التوعيد والم			
Standard Parole	56.43	103	0 51	0.01
Early Release	37.50	4	2.51	0.01
H.S. Graduate				
Standard Parole	12.50	128	0.0	1 00
Early Release	0.0	0	0.0	1.00
Class				
Standard Parole	1.68	139	0.07	0.01
Early Release	1.00	4	2.8/	0.01
Tot. Trt.				
Standard Parole	0.36	821	0.00	0.05
Early Release	0.67	6	-0.93	0.35
Recid. (exact recidivi	sm score)			
Standard Parole	30.67	821	0.00	~ - /
Early Release	27.68	6	0.33	0.74
Follow (number of mont	hs batch follo	wed up)		
Standard Parole	14.25	819	• • • •	0.00
Early Release	11.67	6	0.44	0.66
Tym. Trt.				
Standard Parole	11.59	586	A 1A	
Early Release	8.33	6	0.19	0.85
Slam, Tym, (number of	months batch i	ncarcerated)		and a second
Standard Parole	11.90	346	0.10	0.01
Early Release	1.00	6	2.40	0.01
Super, Tym.				
Standard Parole	1.15	751	0 70	
Early Release	0.0	. 6	0.58	0.56
Narcotics History			na internet de la construction de	
Standard Parole	0.70	54	S 0 00	~ ~ ~
Farly Balance	0.0		3.03	0.00

Table I-32

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Early Release

I-35

 \bigcirc

E.

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Special Parole

VARIABLE	MEÁN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Standard Parole	37,93	115	7 60	0.11
Special Parole	32.62	41		
First Offense				
Standard Parole	24.04	26	1 30	0.20
Special Parole	12.50	66	T.00	0.20
One Prior Offense				
Standard Parole	48.52	127	2/ 20	0.00
Special Parole	0.0	0	24.39	0.00
Race				
Standard Parole	63.69	463	7 00	0.00
Special Parole	49.72	45	7.00	0.00
Age				
Standard Parole	17.33	814	0.07	0.00
Special Parole	18.30	102	-8.34	0.00
Broken Family				
Standard Parole	56.43	103	20 07	0.00
Special Parole	0.0	0	30.07	0.00
H.S. Graduate				
Standard Parole	12.50	1.28	0.0	7.00
Special Parole	0.0	0	0.0	1.00
Class				
Standard Parole	1.68	139		0.00
Special Parole	2.60	5	-4.30	0.00
Tot. Trt.				
Standard Parole	0.36	821	10.0/	0.00
Special Parole	1.52	106	-12.94	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivi	sm score)			
Standard Parole	30.67	821	o	0 51
Special Parole	29.19	106	0.66	0.51
Follow (number of mont	hs batch foll	owed up)		
Standard Parole	14.25	819		0 10
Special Parole	12.32	106	1.36	0.18
Tym. Trt.				
Standard Parole	11.59	586		
Special Parole	9.98	94	0.38	0.70
Slam, Tym, (number of	months batch	incarcerated)		
Standard Parole	11.90	346		A A4
Special Parole	24 37	54	-8.10	0.00
Super Tym				
Standard Parola	1 31	751		
Spontal Parole	4 25	100	-5.70	0.00
Narootice History				
Standard Darole	0.70	54		دی ادیک کاملان ایک سردهای ۲۰۰۶ از زیر
Crostal Parala	0.70	24	1.07	0.29
Special rarore	0.37	<u> </u>		

C

C

 \bigcirc

(.]

VARIABLE Property Offense Standard Parole Max-Out First Offense Standard Parole Max-Out One Prior Offense Standard Parole Max-Out Race Standard Parole <u>Max-Out</u> Age Standard Parole Max-Out Broken Family Standard Parole Max-Out H.S. Graduate Standard Parole Max-Out Class Standard Parole Max-Out Tot. Trt. Standard Parole Max-Out Recid. (exact recidivi Standard Parole Max-Out Follow (number of mont Standard Parole Max-Out Tym. Trt. Standard Parole Max-Out Slam. Tym. (number of Standard Parole Max-Out Super Tym. Standard Parole Max-Out Narcotics History Standard Parole Max-Out

I-36

Table I-34

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Assigned to Standard Parole vs. Max-Out

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
37.93 0.0	115 0	21.39	0.00
24.04 0.0	26 0	5.71	0.00
48.52 0.0	127 0	24.39	0.00
63.69 25.30	463 41	16.43	0.00
17.33 17.00	814 35	1,50	0.06
56.43 62.50	103 33	-2.31	0.02
12.50 0.0	128 0	0.0	1.00
1.68 0.0	139 0	42.08	0.00
0.36 0.32	821 41	0.34	0.73
Lsm score) 30.67 <u>61.90</u>	821 41	-8.71	0.00
ths batch fcllow 14.25 21.07	ved up) 819 41	-2.97	0.00
11.59 17.45	586 38	-0.88	0.38
months batch in 11.90 0.0	ncarcerated) 346 27	5.70	0.00
1.15 0.0	751 39	1.47	0.14
0.70	54 0	11.22	0.00

622

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Financial Aid vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-36.14	0.00
All Other Cases	38.34	686		
First Offense		and the second		
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-14.43	0.00
All Other Cases	26.02	146		
One Prior Offense				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-30.54	° 0. 00
All Other Cases	43.41	220		
Race				
Financial Aid	0.0	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	-89.22	0.00
All Other Cases	60.49	845		
Age				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-795.13	0.00
All Other Cases	17.30	2051		
Broken Family				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-46.82	0.00
All Other Cases	54.33	251		
H.S. Graduate				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-17.32	0.00
All Other Cases	15.86	238		
Class			0	
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-46.70	0.00
All Other Cases	1.71	282		
Tot. Trt.				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-27.91	0.00
All Other Cases	0.66	2152		
Recid. (exact recidivi	Lsm score)			tan ang sang sang sang sang sang sang san
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-62.10	0.00
All Other Cases	28.51	2152		
Follow (number of mont	ths batch follo	owed up)		
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-42.74	0.00
All Other Cases	22.64	2133	s	
Tym. Trt.				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	49.77	0.00
All Other Cases	9.11	1436		
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch :	incarcerated)		
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-17.66	0.00
All Other Cases	3.89	1540		
Super. Tym.		a		
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-15.34	0.00
All Other Cases	1.95	1626		
Narcotics History				
Financial Aid	0.0	0	-12.07	0.0
All Other Cases	0.45	181		

(_}

ĥ.

 (\cdot)

VARIABLE Property Offense Intensive Supervision All Other Cases First Offense Intensive Supervision All Other Cases One Prior Offense Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Race Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Broken Family Intensive Supervision All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Class Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidivis Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Follow (number of month Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of m Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Super. Tym. Intensive Supervision All Other Cases Narcotics History Intensive Supervision All Other Cases

Table I-36

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Intensive Supervision vs. All Other Cases

NUMBER MEAN T OF CASES YALUE 2 4 46.17 49 37.74 2.05 4 4 46.17 49 27.74 2.05 4 4 12.50 6 26.61 140 -1.56 4 0.0 0 -30.54 4 4 41.31 59 61.93 -8.03 -8.03 4 1.31 59 786 -8.03 -8.03 4 17.41 119 1932 1.23 -2.87 5 5.33 230 -2.87 -2.87 5 5.33 230 -0.76 -2.87 4 1.56 9 -0.76 -0.76 -1.71 1 1.56 9 -0.60 2033 11.64 5m score) 35.34 119 28.11 2033 3.61 15 batch followed up) 11.28 119 23.32 -5.25 -2.40				
4 46.17 49 2.05 1 12.50 6 -1.56 26.61 140 -1.56 1 0.0 0 -30.54 1 41.31 59 -8.03 1 17.41 119 1.23 1 17.41 119 1.23 1 17.30 1932 1.23 1 43.45 21 -2.87 1 43.45 21 -2.87 1 43.45 21 -2.87 1 1.56 9 -0.76 1 1.76 119 11.64 58.31 2033 10.77 1 1.76 119 11.64 58.31 2033 3.61 18 53.34 119 3.61 11.28 119 -5.25 10.61 10.69 103 2.40 103	T 2-TAIL VALUE PROB.	NUMBER OF CASES	MEAN	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2.05 0.04	49	46.17	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		<u> </u>	12.50	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-1.56 0.12	140	26.61	•
41.31 59 -8.03 17.41 119 1.23 17.30 1932 1.23 17.30 1932 1.23 17.30 1932 1.23 17.30 1932 1.23 17.30 1932 1.23 1.33 230 -2.87 $1.43.45$ 21 -2.87 $1.43.45$ 21 -2.87 14.95 235 10.77 14.95 235 10.77 1.71 273 -0.76 1.71 273 -0.76 1.71 273 11.64 0.60 2033 11.64 35.34 119 3.61 15.8411 2033 3.61 11.28 119 -5.25 23.32 2014 -5.25	30.54 0.00	0 220	0.0 43.41	۰ ۱
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-8.03 0.00	59 786	41.31 61.93	1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.23 0.22	119 1932	17.41 17.30	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-2.87 0.00	21 230	43.45 55.33	1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10.77 0.00	3 235	87.50 14.95	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-0.76 0.45	9 273	1.56 1.71	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	L1.64 0.00	119 2033	1.76 0.60	1
hs batch followed up) 1 11.28 119 -5.25 23.32 2014 -5.25 1 10.69 103 2.40	3.61 0.00	119 2033	score) 35.34 28.11	5m 1
10.69 103 2.40	-5.25 0.00	up) 119 2014	batch followed u 11.28 23.32	15
	2.40 0.02	103 1333	10.69 8.99	1
nonths batch incarcerated) 3.63 97 -0.31	-0.31 0.76	cerated) 97	nths batch incard 3.63	non 1
3.91 1443		1443	3.91	
1.72 116 -0.48 1.96 1510 -0.48	-0.48 0.63	116 1510	1.72 1.96	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-0.78 0.43	43 138	0.40	1

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Specialized Supervision vs. All Other Cases

VARTABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Proporty Offorgo				
Property offense	62 50	9		
All Other Cores	02.00	<u>ک</u> ۲۵۱	1.23	0.22
All Other Cases		004		
Charlense Charlense	1.2 50			
All Other Green	12.30	11	-2.17	0.03
All Uther Cases	27.13	135		
Une Prior Offense	0.0	r ,		
Specialized Supervision	0.0	0	-30.54	0.00
All Other Cases	43.41	220		
Race				
Specialized Supervision	75.00	2	1.04	0.30
All Other Cases	60.45	843		
Age		te e transference 🕺		
Specialized Supervision	19.33	15	8 13	0.00
All Other Cases	17.29	2036	0.15	0.00
Broken Family				
Specialized Supervision	37.50	1	0.02	0.26
All Other Cases	54.40	250	-0.92	0.30
H.S. Graduate				
Specialized Supervision	12.50	1	0.01	0.51
All Other Cases	15.88	237	-0.24	0.81
Class				
Specialized Supervision	1.00	1		1
All Other Cases	1.71	281	-1.16	0.25
Tot. Trt.				
Specialized Supervision	2 63	16		
All Other Cases	0.65	2136	7.27	0.00
Pooid (exact recidivism scor	<u>ده، و</u>	2130		
Cooriolized Supervision Stor	20 66	76		20
specialized Supervision	29.00	2126	2.10	0.04
All Uther Cases	20.45	2120		
Follow (number or months batt		(P)	2	
Specialized Supervision	13.25	10	-1.54	0.12
All Other Cases	22.72	2117	<u>0</u>	
Tym. Irt.				
Specialized Supervision	11.13	16	1.17	0.24
All Other Cases	9.09	1420		
Slam. Tym. (number of months	batch incard	cerated)		
Specialized Supervision	0.19	16	-1.72	0.09
All Other Cases	3.93	1524	بکلا / ۹ سلم	
Super. Tym.				
Specialized Supervision	0.55	11	_0 01	75 0
All Other Cases	1.95	1615	-0.71	0.20
Narcotics History				·
Specialized Supervision	0.0	0	10 07	0.00
All Other Cases	0.45	181	-12.0/	0.00

VARIABLE

Sec. 1

()

(S)

Property Offense Reduced Supervision All Other Cases First Offense Reduced Supervision All Other Cases One Prior Offense Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Race Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Age Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Broken Family Reduced Supervision All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Class Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidiv: Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Follow (number of mont Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Super. Tym. Reduced Supervision All Other Cases Narcotics History Reduced Supervision All Other Cases

Table I-38

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Reduced Supervision vs. All Other Cases

			•
MEAN	• NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	Contraction 2-TAIL PROB.
0.0 38.34	0 <u>686</u>	-36.14	0.00
0.0 26.03	0 146	-14.43	0.00
0.0 43.41	0 220	-30.54	0.00
0.0 60.49	0 845	089.22	0.00
0.0 17.30	0 2051	-795.13	0.00
0.0 54.33	0 251	-46.82	0.00
0.0 15.86	0 238	् -17.32	0.00
0.0 1.81	0 282	-46.70	0.00
0.0 0.66	0 2152	-27.91	0.00
1sm score) 0.0 28.51	0 2152	-62.10	0.00
ths batch followe 0.0 22.64	ed up) 0 2133	-42.74	0.00
0.0 9.11	0 1436	-49.77	0.00
months batch inc 0.0 3.89	arcerated) 0 1540	-17.66	0.00
0.0 1.95	0 1626	-15.34	0.00
0.0 0.45	0 181	-12.07	0.00

23

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Residential Non-Permissive vs. All Other Cases

à

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				·
Residential Non-Permissive	39.17	45	9 	0
All Other Cases	38.28	641	0.21	0.84
First Offense		5 y		
Residential Non-Permissive	29.17	18		
All Other Cases	25.59	128	0.65	0.52″
One Prior Offense		<u> </u>		
Residential Non-Permissive	54.61	19		11.00
All Other Cases	42.35	201	2.45	0.02
Race				
Recidential Non-Permissive	85 29	3/	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	
All Other Cases	50 / 5	811	7.75	0.00
Are Are		<u>011</u>		а 6., ,
Age Residential New Downfording	70 71	10		
All Other Cases	17.21	49	-1.67	0.10
All Other Cases	11.31	2002		
Broken Family	16 05			
Residential Non-Permissive	16.35	13	-8.72	0.00
All Other Cases	56.41	238		
H.S. Graduate				
Residential Non-Permissive	12,50	44	-1.76	0.08
All Other Cases	16.62	194		
Class			i tu	
Residential Non-Permissive	1.00	1		0 25
All Other Cases	1.71	281		
Tot. Trt.				
Residential Non-Permissive	2.20	49	זה מה	0.00
All Other Cases	0.62	2103	10.20	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivism scor	e)			
Residential Non-Permissive	36.19	49		0.01
All Other Cases	28.33	2103	2.30	0.0T
Follow (number of months batc	h followed up)		- <u></u>	
Residential Non-Permissive	14.67	49		
All Other Cases	22.83	2084	-2.31	0.02
Tvm. Trt.				
Residential Non-Permissive	7, 53	47		
All Other Cases	9.17	1389	-1.59	0.11
Slam Tum (number of months)	hatch incarcerat	(he	M	······
Bogidontial Non-Derminetus	7 50	/0		
All Other Cases	2.377	ማንፈ። 1/01	3.05	0.00
Cupor Tim	J.11		{	a
Duper. Lyma	10.00	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	<u>6</u>
All Other Orter	TO.02	1570	12.76	0.00
ALL UTRET GASES	7.00	* T24.8	105	
Narcotics History			. <i>U</i>	1
Residential Non-Permissive	T.00	. 12	4.15	0.00
All Other Cases	0.41,	169		· · · · · ·

I-42

VARIABLE Property Offense Residential Permissive All Other Cases First Offense Residential Permissive All Other Cases One Prior Offense Residential Permissive All Other Cases Race Residential Permissive All Other Cases Age Residential Permissive All Other Cases Broken Family Residential Permissive All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Residential Permissive All Other Cases Class Residential Permissive All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Residential Permissive All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidivism Residential Permissive All Other Cases Follow (number of months Residential Permissive All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Residential Permissive All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of mo Residential Permissive All Other Cases Super. Tym. Residential Permissive

0

(]

()

e de la

Residential Permissive All Other Cases

All Other Cases Narcotics History

Table I-40

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Residential Permissive vs. All Other Cases

		1		
······································	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB
			VALOD	1 KOD.
		2.0		
e .	33.33	30	-1.01	0.31
	38.5/	020		
6	40 50	25		
	23.04	121	3.81	0.00
	23104	ــله مک طب		
e	40.06	39		0 00
	44.13	181	-1.09	0.28
	•	•		· .
e	62.05	55	0 61	0 55
	60.38	790	0.01	
	на на селото на селот			
e	17.53	138	2.83	0.01
	17.29	1913		
	F7 F 0	. -	an An an an an An An An An	
2	57.50	35	1.10	0.27
	53.82	216		
_	19 50	τĊ		
E	12.00	13	-0.88	0.38
	10.00			
а. С	1.64	30		
	1.72	243	-0.75	0.46
			<u></u>	· .
e	1.91	139	1/ 50	0.00
	0.57	2013	14.50	0.00
m sco	re)			
e	39.37	139	6 27	0 00
s	27.76	2013	0.27	0.00
s bat	ch followed up)			· · · ·
e	20.76	137	-0.93	0.35
	22.77	1996	••••	
	· • •			
е "	8.04	111	-1.70	0.09
	9.20	1325		
onths	batch incarcer	ated)		
e	0.90	70 1// 2	3.57	0.00
	2.03	1442	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Δ .	7.07	74		
.	1.70	3 1552	9.04	0.00
	T • 1 A	مک کی لی ہے۔ 		
е	1.00	14	/	0 00
	0.40	167	4.55	0.00

00

\$

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Job Training vs. All Other Cases

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
	··· ····		
32.50	10	D 67	0 50
38.42	676	-0.07	0.30
			15
12.50	22	-3.26	» <u> </u>
28.43	124		
1	N		-
0.0	0	30, 54	0.00
43.41	220		
39.77	22	-5.07	0.00
61.04	823	5.67	
17.70	30	2.22	0.03
17.30	2021	4+ + 4, 4+	0.05
62.50	4	0.00	0 37
54.24	247	0.50	0.57
12.50	16	-0 00 ····	0 33
16.10	222	-0.99	0.00
			· .
0.0	0	-46 70	0.00
1.71	282	-40.70	0.00
2.37	30	0 77	0.00
0.64	2122	0.72	0.00
sm score)			,
22.18	30	7 6/	0.10
28.60	2122	-1.04	0.10
hs batch follo	wed up)		
7.96	28	2 20	0.00
22.84	2105	-3.20	0.00
4.35	a a a a 26	0 FF	0.00
9.20	1410	-3.55	0.00
months batch i	ncarcerated)		. Q.
1.83	24	1 70	
3.92	1516	-1.19	0.24
3.10	29		~ ~~
1.92	1597	1.23	0.22
0.0	0		
	MEAN 32.50 38.42 12.50 28.43 0.0 43.41 39.77 61.04 17.70 17.30 62.50 54.24 12.50 16.10 0.0 1.71 2.37 0.64 sm score) 22.18 28.60 hs batch follo 7.96 22.84 4.35 9.20 months batch 1 1.83 3.92 3.10 1.92 0.0	NUMBER OF CASES 32.50 10 38.42 676 12.50 22 28.43 124 0.6 0 43.41 220 39.77 22 61.04 823 17.70 30 17.30 2021 62.50 4 54.24 247 12.50 16 16.10 222 0.0 0 1.71 282 2.37 30 0.64 2122 sm score) 22.18 22.18 30 28.60 2122 hs batch followed up) 7.96 7.96 28 22.84 2105 4.35 26 9.20 1410 months batch incarcerated) 1.83 1.83 24 3.92 1516 3.10 29 1.92 1597 <	NUMBER MEAN T OF CASES T VALUE 32.50 10 -0.67 12.50 22 -3.26 28.43 124 -3.26 0.0 0 -30.54 39.77 22 -5.07 17.70 30 2.22 62.50 4 0.90 17.30 2021 2.22 62.50 4 0.90 12.50 16 -0.99 16.10 222 -0.99 0.64 2122 -46.70 2.37 30 8.72 Sm score) 22.18 30 22.18 30 -1.64 hs batch followed up) 7.96 28 7.96 28 -3.20 4.35 26 -3.55 9.20 1410 -3.55 9.20 1410 -3.55 9.20 1516 -1.18 3.92 1516 -1.18 3.

()

C

VARIABLE Property Offense Job Placement All Other Cases First Offense Job Placement All Other Cases One Prior Offense Job Placement All Other Cases Race Job Placement All Other Cases Age Job Placement All Other Cases Broken Family Job Placement All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Job Placement () All Other Cases Class Job Placement All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Job Placement All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidi Job Placement All Other Cases Follow (number of mo Job Placement All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Job Placement All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of Job Placement All Other Cases Super. Tym. Job Placement All Other Cases Narcotics History Job Placement All Other Cases

62

 \bigcirc

Table I-42

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Job Placement vs. All Other Cases

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
37.50 38.36	14 672	-0.11	0.91
0.0 26.03	0 146	-14.43	0.00
0.0 43.41	0 220	-30.54	0.00
0.0 60.49	0 845	-89.22	0.00
19.26 17.29	17 2034	8.38	0.00
62.50 53.85	14 237	1.72	0.09
12.50 16.07	14 224	-0.92	0.36
0.0 1.71	0 282	-46.70	0.00
2.82 0.64	17 2135	8.29	0.00
ivism score) 31.35 28.49	17 2135	0.55	0.58
onths batch follo 9.82 22.75	owed up) 17 2116	-2.17	0.03
1.67 9.19	15 1421	-4.20	0.00
of months batch : 0.0 3.93	incarcerated) 15 1525	-1.75	0.08
5.60 1.91	15 1611	2.79	0.01
0.0	0 181	-12.07	0.00

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Practical Individual Assistance vs. All Other Cases

0

(

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense	an a	······		
Practical Individual Assistance	17.50	5	1 (0	0.00
All Other Cases	38.49	681	-1.69	0.09
First Offense				
Practical Individual Assistance	17.50	5	0.00	
All Other Cases	26.33	141	-0.89	0.38
One Prior Offense				
Practical Individual Assistance	0.0	0	~ ~ ~ *	
All Other Cases	43.41	220	-30.54	0.00
Race				
Practical Individual Assistance	56.73	13		
All Other Cases	60.55	832	-0.69	0.49
Age				
Practical Individual Assistance	17.16	22		
All Other Cases	17.31	2029	-0.69	0.49
Broken Family				
Practical Individual Assistance	62.50	1		
All Other Cases	54.30	250	0.44	0.66
H.S. Graduate				
Practical Individual Assistance	12.50	4		
All Other Cases	15.92	234	-0.48	0.63
Class				i na sere e de la compositione ,
Practical Individual Assistance	2.00	4		
All Other Cases	1.71	278	0.95	0.34
Tot Trt	L 0 / ,L	2/0		
Practical Individual Assistance	1.23	22		
All Other Cases	0.65	2130	2.44	0.02
Recid (exact recidivism score)	0.05	2130		
Practical Individual Assistance	3/ 2/	22		
All Other Cross	29.45	2120	1.27	0.21
Follow (number of months batch follo	20.45	2130		
Practical Individual Assistance	19 55	22		
All Other Green	22.50	22	-0.79	0.43
Trm Tr+	22.09			
Tym. ILL. Dractical Individual Accietance	4 70	10		•
All Other Green	4.70	1/06	-2.02	0.04
All Uther Cases	9.14	1420		
Drastical Tridividual Accietance	ncarcerated)	71		
All Other Green	9.52	1510	3.01	0.00
	2.01	TOTA		
Super. lym.	0 53			
All Other Green	0.33	CT	-1.07	0.28
ALL UTNET GASES	T+A0	TOTT	متها و و و و و و و و و و و و و و و و و و و	
Narcotics History	0 0	a		
Fractical individual Assistance	0.0	Ŏ ŢŦŴ	-2.64	0.01
All Uther Cases	U. 4/	1/3		

 \bigcirc

()

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Psychotherapeutic Individual Assistance vs. All Other Cases

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	0	20 11	0.00
All Other Cases	38.34	686	-30.14	0.00
First Offense				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	0		
All Other Cases	26.03	146	-14.43	0.00
One Prior Offense				
Psychotheraneutic Indiv Assist	12.50	2		
All Other Cases	43.69	218	-2.10	0.04
Page	45.05		terre and the second	بہ نے جب میں میں پر
Develothorsecutie India Acciet	12 50	2		· · · _ ·
All Other Green	12.00	2 0/2	-3.47	0.00
All Uther Cases	00.00	043		
Age	17 50	0.1		
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	1/.50	21	0.92	0.36
All Other Cases	17.30	2030	·····	
Broken Family				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	0	-46.82	0.00
All Other Cases	54.33	251	+0.02	
H.S. Graduate				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.0	0	17 22	0.00
All Other Cases	15.86	238	-1/.52	0.00
Class			1	
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	1.00	1	1 10	0.05
All Other Cases	1.71	281	-1.10	0.25
Tot. Trt.				
Psychotheraneutic Indiv. Assist.	1.52	21		
All Other Cases	0.65	2131	3.63 -	0.00
Recid (evect recidivism score)			 	
Bauchathananoutia India Agaiat	30 21	21		
All Other Gazes	J9.21	21 01 21	2.32	0.02
Religional and a set of the batch failer	20.41	2131		
FOLLOW (number of months batch lollow		01		
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	12.60	17	-1,84	0.07
All Other Cases	22.74	2112		
Tym. Trt.				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	8.23	13	-0.46	0.65
All Other Cases	9.12	1423		
Slam. Tym. (number of months batch in	ncarcerated)			
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	0.60	5	-0.85	0 30
All Other Cases	3.90	1535	0.05	0.55
Super. Tym.				
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	7.31	13	0.01	0.00
All Other Cases	1.90	1613	2.9T	0.00
Narcotics History				
Psychotheraneutic Indiv. Assist	0.0	0		
All Athar Cocac	0.45	181	-12.07	0.00
All Other Cases	0.45	181		

I-46

Table I-44

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Education vs. All Other Cases

C

C

C

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAII PROB.
Property Offense		ni ganja Tama in dalaman ja dalam ik		
Education	28.75	20	1 27	0 10
All Other Cases	38.63	666	-1.5/	0.12
First Offense				D
Education	12.50	7	-1 60	0.00
All Other Cases	26.71	139	-1.09	0.09
One Prior Offense				
Education	31.73	13	-2 07	0.0%
All Other Cases	44.14	207	-2.07	0.04
Race				
Education	61.25	20	0 17	0.96
All Other Cases	60.47	825	0.17	0.00
Age				
Education	17.23	137	_0_01	(in 26
All Other Cases	17.31	1914	-0.91	0.30
Broken Family			<u></u>	
Education	69.32	11	0.00	0.07
All Other Cases	53.65	240	2.80	2 0.01
H.S. Graduate				
Education	41.25	20	10.00	0.00
All Other Cases	13.53	218	10.00	0.00
Class			ø	
Education	1.81	16	0.00	0 / 0
All Other Cases	1.70	266	0.69	0.49
Tot. Trt.				
Education	2.28	145	10 00	0.00
All Other Cases	0.54	2007	19.98	0.00
Recid. (exact recidivi	sm score)			
Education	34.60	145	0 57	0.00
All Other Cases	28.07	2007	3.5/	0.00
Follow (number of mont	hs batch follow	wed up)		
Education	9.59	145		0.00
All Other Cases	23.60	1988	-6.73	0.00
Tvm. Trt.				·
Education	4.30	139		
All Other Cases	9.63	1297	-8.84	0.00
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch in	ncarcerated)	Q.	
Education	0.74	144		
All Other Cases	4.22	1396	-4.62	0.00
Super. Tym.			2 ¹ 2	ß
Education	5.74	13 1		
All Other Cases	1.61	1495	9.08	0.00
Narcotics History				e
Education	0.0	° 0	.	
All Other Cases	0 45	181	-12.07	0.00

		NUMBER	Т
VARIABLE	MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE
Property Offense			
Behavior Modification	62.50	1	0.07
All Other Cases	38.30	685	0.07
First Offense			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Behavior Modification	0.0	0	1/ /0
All Other Cases	26.03	146	-14.43
One Prior Offense			
Behavior Modification	37.50	6	0 70
All Other Cases	43.57	214	-0./0
Race			
Behavior Modification	66.67	6	0.75
All Other Cases	60.40	839	0.77
Age		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Behavior Modification	17.00	9	.
All Other Cases	17.31	2042	-0.93
Broken Family			
Behavior Modification	62.50	1	
All Other Cases	54.30	250	0.44
H.S. Graduate			
Behavior Modification	0.0	0	
All Other Cases	15.86	238	-17.32
Class			
Behavior Modification	3.00	3	
All Other Cases	1.70	279	3.74
Tot. Trt.			
Behavior Modification	1.89	9	
All Other Cases	0.66	2143	3.37
Recid. (exact recidivism so	core)		
Behavior Modification	20.84	9	an a
All Other Cases	28.54	2143	-1.08
Follow (number of months ha	tch followed	up)	
Behavior Modification	15.33	9	6
All Other Cases	22.68	2124	-0.90
Tvm. Trt.	~	6e de 6e 'T	
Behavior Modification	3.50	6	
All Other Cases	0 1/	1430	-1.99
Slam, Tym, (number of month	s hatch ince	rcerated)	,
Behavior Modification	7.50		
All Other Cases	3 88	1524	1.02
Super, Tym.	J.00		
Behavior Modification	6 00	٢	
All Other Cases	1.02	1600	1.95
Narootice Wistowy	T•22	T020	
Pohenion Wolffantia	0.0	A	
Denavior Modification	.U.U	U	-12 07

I-48

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Group Therapy vs. All Other Cases

C

C

C

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Group Therapy	0.0	0		0.00
All Other Cases	38.34	686	-36.14	0.00
First Offense	50.34			and the second secon
Croup Therapy	87.50	an a		
All Other Cases	25 60	145	2.90	0.00
All Other Cases	23.00			
One Prior Offense	27 50	6		
Group Inerapy	37.50	21/	-0.70	0.49
All Other Cases	43.3/			
Race	10 50			
Group Therapy	46.59		-2.36	0.02
All Other Cases	60.67	834		
Age				
Group Therapy	17.00	15	-1.20	0.23
All Other Cases	17.31	2036		
Broken Family	ie e			
Group Therapy	62.50	3	0.77	0 44
All Other Cases	54.23	248	0.11	0.44
H.S. Graduate				
Group Therapy	0.0	0	17 00	0.00
All Other Cases	15.86	238	-17.52	0.00
Class				
Group Therapy	0.0	0		0.00
All Other Cases	1.71	282	-46./0	0.00
Tot Trt				
IUL. IIL.	2 /17	15		
Group Inerapy	0.65	2137	6.46	0.00
All Other Cases				
Recid. (exact recidivi	Sm SCOLE)	15		
Group Inerapy	21.33	2127	-0.21	0.83
All Other Cases	28.52	2137		
Follow (number of mont	hs batch Iollo	wea up)		
Group Therapy	12.6/	CT CT	-1.59	0.11
All Other Cases	22.71	2118		ويستعد والمتحدثين ويستانه
Tym. Trt.				
Group Therapy	5.29	14	-2.08	0.04
All Other Cases	9.15	1422		
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch 1	ncarcerated)		
Group Therapy	4.33	12	0.18	0.86
All Other Cases	3.89	1528	V•+V	
Super. Tym.				
Group Therapy	4.00	. 9	1 01	0.92
All Other Cases	1.93	1617	1.21	U.23
Narcotice History			•	} ÷a≓
Croup Thereby	0_0	0		A
All Other Cases	n 45	181	-12.07	0.00
ALL ULHEL GASES	V . TJ	للله که بلنه	and the second secon	

0

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
			• ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Non Drefer Group Counceling	12 50	7	and the second second	
All Other Cases	28.20	ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	-0.93	0.35
All Other Cases	30.30	600		
First Offense	07 50	-		
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	87.50	ц. 17 г.	2.90	0.00
All Other Cases	25.60	145		
One Prior Offense	40.00	- 6		
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	62.50	12	3,30	0.00
All Other Cases	42.31	208		
Race				
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	64.42	13	0 73	0 47
All Other Cases	60.43	832	0.75	0.47
Age				
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	20.23	13	11 07	0.00
All Other Cases	17.29	2038	TT.06	0.00
Broken Family				
Non-Profes Group Coupseling	0.0	0		
All Other Crees	54 33	251	-46.82	0.00
HI Other Cases	54.55			
n.S. Graduate	• •	Δ		:
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	15.00	U 10	-17.32	0.00
All Other Cases	10.00	230		
Class		n de la la companya de la companya d		
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	0.0	0	-46.70	0.00
All Other Cases	1.71	282		
Tot. Trt.				
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	1.92	13	4.18	0.00
All Other Cases	0.65	2139		0.00
Recid. (exact recidivism score)			59 	
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	42.44	13	0 97	0.02
All Other Cases	28.43	2139	2.31	0.02
Follow (number of months batch fo	pllowed up)			
Non-Profes, Group Counseling	10.50	12		• • •
All Other Cases	22.71	2121	-1./2	0.09
Tvm. Trt				
Non-Profes Group Counseling	4.50	4		
All Other Cases	0 13	1432	-1.33	0.18
All Other Cases	h incorcorat	2771 (bo		
Siam. lym. (number of months back		eu) 1		
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	0.0	1 500	-0.45	0.65
All Other Cases	3.89	1238		
Super. Tym.				
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	0.50	12	-0.98	0.33
All Other Cases	1.96	1614		
Narcotics History		ð		
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	1.00	12	/ 15	0.00
All Other Cases	0.41	169	4.17	0.00

Table I-48

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Non-Professional Group Counseling vs. All Other Cases

I-51

62

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Medical Methods vs. All Other Cases

C

 \bigcirc

C

WADTADTE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
VARIABLE		<u>.</u>		
Property Offense		•		
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-36.14	0.00
All Other Cases	38.34	686		
First Offense				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-14.43	0.00
All Other Cases	26.03	146		
One Prior Offense				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-30 54	0.00
All Other Cases	43.41	220	50.54	
Race				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	00 22	0 00
All Other Cases	60.49	845	-89.22	0.00
Ari Other Cases				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	705 10	0.00
All Other Cases	17 30	2051	-795.13	0.00
All Uther cases	17.50	2001		
Broken Family	0.0	0		
Medical Methods	U.U	251	-46,82	0.00
All Other Cases	54.33	251		
H.S. Graduate		~		
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-17.32	0.00
All Other Cases	15.86	238		
Class				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-46.70	0.00
All Other Cases	1.71	282		
Tot. Trt.				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-27.91	0.00
All Other Cases	0.66	2152		
Recid. (exact recidivi	sm score)			
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-62 10	0 00
All Other Cases	28.51	2152	-02.10	0.00
Follow (number of mont	hs hatch fol	lowed up)		
Modical Methods	0.0	0	10 71	0.00
All Other Cares	22.64	2133	-42.14	0.00
AII Utilei Cases	<u> </u>			
Tym. IIC.	0 0	0		
Medical Methods	0.0	1436	-49.77	0.00
All Other Cases	. Yoll	(pagerated)		
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch	THEALCELALEU		
Medical Methods	0.0	U 16/A	-17.66	0.00
All Other Cases	3.89	1040		
Super. Tym.		~		
Medical Methods	0.0	U	-15.34	0.00
All Other Cases	1.95	1626		خود منب جنب چند میشوند.
Narcotics History				
Medical Methods	0.0	0	-12.07	0.00
All Other Cases	0.45	181	→ ₩3∀*	

Do

()

0

łėd

VARIABLE	MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
Property Offense				
Special Prison	37.50	13	A 11	
All Other Cases	38.35	673	-0.11	0.91
First Offense			*-*- - *	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Special Prison	12,50	13		
All Other Cases	27.35	133	-2.38	0.02
One Prior Offense				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Special Prison	0.0	0		
All Other Cases	43.41	220	-30.54	0.00
Race				
Special Prison	50.00	2		
All Other Cases	60 51	843	-0.75	0.45
Ane			······································	
Special Prison	17 64	44		4
All Other Cases	17 30	2007	2.27	0.02
Prokon Family	17.50	2007		
Special Driver	62 50	10		
All Other Cases	52 00	000 T2	1.65	0.10
All Other Cases	33.09	230	·····	
H.S. Graduate	10 50	10		
Special Prison	12.50	13	-0.88	0.38
All Uther Cases	10.00	225		
Class	0 00	0		
Special Prison	2.00	13	1.75	0.08
All Other Cases	1.70	269		·
Tot. Trt.	a - a			
Special Prison	2./8	46	13.83	0.00
All Other Cases	0.61	2106		
Recid. (exact recidivi	.sm score)			•
Special Prison	30.41	46	0.61	0.54
All Other Cases	28.47	2106	~~ ~	0.54
Follow (number of mont	hs batch follow	wed up)		
Special Prison	12.70	46	-2 70	0 01
All Other Cases	22.86	2087	-2.19	0.01
Tym. Trt.				
Special Prison	7.73	45	_1 26	0 10
All Other Cases	9.16	1391	-1.30	0.10
Slam. Tym. (number of	months batch in	ncarcerated)		
Special Prison	7.39	36	5 16	0 01
All Other Cases	3.81	1504	2.40	0.01
Super. Tym.				
Special Prison	8.00	28		~ ~~
All Other Cases	1.84	1598	6.40	0.00
Narcotics History				
Condel Dates	0.0	0	G	
SDPCIAL Frison		and a 🗸 🗸 🗸 a she ta sh	30.07	
All Other Cases	0.45	181	-12.07	0.00

I-52

2

Table I-50

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Special Prison vs. All Other Cases

I-53

p2

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Contract Programming vs. All Other Cases

 \bigcirc

C

C

	NUMBER	T	2-TAIL
MEAN	OF CASES	VALUE	PROB.
0.0	0	-36.14	0.00
38.34	686		
0.0	0	-14.43	0.00
26.03	146		
0.0	0	-30.54	0.00
43.41	220		
87.50	6.	3.39	0.00
60.30	839		
			9 1
17.00	6	-0.76	0.45
17.30	2045		
0	a		
0.0	0	-46.82	0.00
54.33	251		
0.0	0	-17.32	0.00
15.86	238		
0.0	0	-46.70	0.00
1.71	282		
3.00	6	5.26	0.00
0.65	2146		
core)			
37.03	6	0.98	0.33
28.49	2146		
atch followed	d up)		
8.00	6	-1 47	0.14
22.69	2127	·····	
	W G		
4.00	6	_1 81	0 07
9.14	1430	-1.01	
hs batch inc	arcerated)		
0.0	6	_1 10	0.27
3.91	1534	-T•TA	0.47
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
0.0	0	_15 24	0 00
1.95	1626	-17.34	0.00
		¢	0
0.0	. 0 ⊂	-12 07	റഹ്
0.45		-1.2.0/	0.00
	MEAN 0.0 38.34 0.0 26.03 0.0 43.41 87.50 60.30 17.00 17.00 17.00 17.30 0.0 54.33 0.0 15.86 0.0 1.71 3.00 0.65 core) 37.03 28.49 atch followed 8.00 22.69 4.00 9.14 hs batch inc. 0.0 3.91 0.0 1.95 0.0	MEANNUMBER OF CASES 0.0 0 38.34 686 0.0 0 26.03 146 0.0 0 26.03 146 0.0 0 43.41 220 87.50 6 60.30 839 17.00 6 17.30 2045 0.0 0 54.33 251 0.0 0 15.86 238 0.0 0 1.71 282 3.00 6 28.49 2146 $atch followed up)$ 8.00 8.00 6 22.69 2127 4.00 6 9.14 1430 hs batch incarcerated) 0.0 0.0 6 3.91 1534 0.0 0 1.95 1626 0.0 0 0.45 181	NUMBER OF CASES T VALUE 0.0 0 -36.14 0.0 0 -14.43 0.0 0 -14.43 0.0 0 -30.54 87.50 6 3.39 60.30 839 3.39 17.00 6 -0.76 7.30 2045 -0.76 0.0 0 -46.82 0.0 0 -46.82 0.0 0 -46.70 17.10 282 -46.70 0.0 0 -17.32 0.0 0 -17.32 0.0 0 -17.32 0.0 0 -146.70 3.00 6 5.26 coreel 37.03 6 37.03 26 0.98 atch followed up) 8.00 6 9.14 1430 -1.81 9.14 1430 $-1.$

 \bigcirc

VARIABLE Property Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases First Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases One Prior Offense Vocational Training All Other Cases Race Vocational Training All Other Cases Age Vocational Training All Other Cases Broken Family Vocational Training All Other Cases H.S. Graduate Vocational Training All Other Cases Class Vocational Training All Other Cases Tot. Trt. Vocational Training All Other Cases Recid. (exact recidivism Vocational Training All Other Cases Follow (number of months Vocational Training All Other Cases Tym. Trt. Vocational Training All Other Cases Slam. Tym. (number of mo Vocational Training All Other Cases Super. Tym. Vocational Training All Other Cases Narcotics History Vocational Training All Other Cases

I-54

Table I-52

Analysis of Differences Between Juvenile Groups Receiving Vocational Training vs. All Other Cases

MEAN	NUMBER OF CASES	T VALUE	2-TAIL PROB.
41.07 38.31	7 679	0.26	0.79
44.64 25.09	7 139	2.35	0.02
37.50 43.46	2 218	-0.40	0.69
83.65 60.12	13 832	4.32	0.00
18.31 17.30	16 2035	4.13	0.00
37.50 55.03	10 241	-3.00	0.00
12.50 15.96	7 231	-0.64	0.52
1.64 1.71	11 271	-0.40	0.69
2.63 0.65	16 2136	7.27	0.00
n score) 27.03 28.52	16 2136	-0.28	0.78
s batch followed 16.13 22.69	up) 16 2117	-1.07	0.29
13.36 9.08	11 1425	2.04	0.04
onths batch inca 7.55 	rcerated) 11 1529	1.41	0.16
4.36 1.93	11 1615	1.57	0.12
0.0 0.45	0 181	-12.07	0.00



LIST OF TABLES

I. PROBATION AND PAROLE VS. THEIR ALTERNATIVES FOR EACH DEFINITION OF RECIDIVISM

Probation:

able	1	·	Failure
	2		Abscond
	3		Arrest
	4		Conviction
	5		Imprisonment-Technical
	6	-	Imprisonment-New Conviction
	7		Imprisonment-Ail

Parole:

ble	8		Failure
	9		Abscond
	10		Arrest
	11		Conviction
	12		Imprisonment-Technical
	13		Imprisonment-New Conviction
	14	-	Imprisonment-All

Probation:

ible	15		Failure
	16	····	Abscond
	17		Arrest
	18		Conviction
	19	-	Imprisonment-Technical
	20	· ·	Imprisonment-New Conviction
	21		Imprisonment-All

Parole:

ble	22	-	Failure
4	23	-	Abscond
	24		Arrest
•	25		Conviction
	26		Imprisonment-Technical
	27	-	Imprisonment-New Conviction
	28		Imprisonment-All

II. ANALYSIS OF OVERALL IMPACT OF INNOVATIVE TREATMENT

J-3

A. Adults:

C

Table 29 -- Overall Impact

- 30 -- Probation
- 31 -- Shock Probation
- 32 -- Partial Physical Custody 33 -- Parole
- 34 -- Work Study
- 35 -- Halfway House
- 36 -- Early Release
- 37 -- Parole Program
- 38 -- Maximum Sentence
- 39 -- Failure in Ji
- 40 -- Abscond
- 41 -- Arrest
- 41 -- Affest 42 -- Conviction 43 -- Imprisonment-Technical 44 -- Imprisonment-New Conviction 45 -- Imprisonment-All

8-1

B. Juveniles:

Table 46 -- Overall Impact

- 47 -- Probation
- 48 -- Shock Probation 49 -- Partial Physical Custody
- 50 -- Parole
- 51 -- Work Study
- 52 -- Halfway House
- 53 -- Early Release
- -- Parole Program 54
- 55 Maximum Sentence
- 56 Failure
- 57 -- Abscond 58 -- Arrest
- 59 -- Conviction
- 60 -- Imprisonment-Technical 61 -- Imprisonment-New Conviction 62 -- Imprisonment-All

III. ANALYSIS OF SPECIFIC TREATMENTS

A. Adults:

Table	63	-	Overall Impact
	64		Probation vs. Alternatives
	65	·	Parole vs. Alternatives
	66		Probation
	67		Shock Probation
	68		Partial Physical Custody
	69		Parole
	70		Work Study
	71		Halfway House
	72		Early Release
	73		Parole Program
	74	-	Maximum Sentence
	75		Failure
	76		Abscond
	77	-	Arrest
	78		Conviction
	79		Imprisonment-Technical
	80		Imprisonment-New Conviction
	81		Imprisonment-A11

B. Juveniles:

()

()

Table	82		Overall Impact	
	83		Probation vs Altornation	_
	84	<td>Parole vs Alternatives</td> <td>5</td>	Parole vs Alternatives	5
.1	85		Probation	
	86	-	Shock Probation	
	87		Partial Physical Custoder	
	88		Parole	
1	89		Work Study	
	.90		Halfway House	
	91		Early Release	
	92	-	Parole Program	
	93	-	Maximum Sentence	
**	94		Failure	
	95	-	Abscond	
19	96		Arrest	
	97		Conviction	
	98		Imprisonment-Technical	
	99		Imprisonment-New Conviction	_
÷	100	. المحد المحد	Imprisonment-All	ņ
	1	<i>8</i> .		

J-4



Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- FAILURE

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.32
Standard Error	19.81
(Constant = 73.	72)

	STD. ERROR			
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
N				
probation)				
	-12.19	20.35	05	.36
	12.98	9.54	.11	1.85
LOW-UP	-1.51	.25	48	36.29
S. & Canada)				
	8.40	20.49	.03	.17
	-39.56	10.82	29	13.36
	-34.13	5.84	53	34.11
	-34.37	15.41	18	4.97
	-21.57	20.41	08	1.12
	-13.78	4.53	29	9.27
=1970's				

 \bigcirc

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ABSCOND

Multiple R	.59
R Square	.35
Adjusted R Square	.32
Standard Error	7.36
(Constant = 13.)	73)

	······································	STD FRROR	·····	
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation				
Group Home, PPC	8.31	2.01	.27	17.10
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	10	01		
(months)	19	•04	45	20.72
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		μ. 		·····
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	10.83	5.34	.11	4.11
Mid-Atlantic	-1.21	2.42	03	.25
East-North Central	8.04	2.32	.26	12.02
West-North Central	.39	2.35	.01	.03
South Atlantic	-2.62	2.10	09	1.56
East-South Central				
Mountain	16.73	3.31	.32	25.54
Pacific	7.78	1.82	.43	18.19.
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	40	1.60	02	.06

J-7

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pro "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=19

 $\left(\right)$

4

()

Table J-3

Ē.

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ARREST

Multiple	R	.55
R Square		.30
Adjusted	R Square	.28
Standard	Error	12.97
(Const	tant = 503	.63)

	STD. ERROR		
B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
obation)			
-31.15 5.97	6.75 13.01	05 .06	21.32 2.
-UP .61	.09	.59	48.40
& Canada)			
4.43	4.25	.06	1.08
-5.03	4,44	10	1.28
34 7.50	14.21 2.20	00 .19	.00 11.63
23.27	13.05	•.10	3.18
70's) -40.60	7.55	29	28.89

J-8

¢2

C

C

ç

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- CONVICTION

Multiple	R	.46
R Square		.21
Adjusted	R Squar	e .17
Standard	Error	13.16
(Const	ant = 7	0.73)

영상 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 많이 많이 많이 많이 했다.		STD. ERROR		
$ \mathbf{r} = 1$, $ r$	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-8.68	4.53	21	3.67
Group Home, PPC	4.58	4.82	.09	.90
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	0.5			
(months)	.95	•10	.08	1.00
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-30.89	16.29	20	3.59
Mid-Atlantic	-17.37	14.44	19	1.45
East-North Central	-18.08	13.28	63	1.85
West-North Central	-35.27	- 13.95	76	6.40
South Atlantic	-8.57	14.23	11	.36
East-South Central	-9.93	18.82	04	.28
Mountain	4.19	18.78	.02	.05
Pacific	-17.69	13.54	55	1.71
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.54	2.42	12	1,11

J-9

	7	STD. ERROR		******
	D	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	8.03	11.40	04	50
Group Home, PPC	1.60	12.07	.04	• 50
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			.02	.02
(months)	15	•06	16	7.29
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
MIQ-ALIANTIC	-2.49	4.40	03	. 32
Nost North Central	5.60	2.59	.14	4.68
South Atlanti	-5.75	11.34	67	.26
South Atlantic	-7.91	2.72	19	8.47
Mountain				
Paoifia	20.23	11.38	• 09	3.16
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	13.23	2.07	.52	40.76
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-5.54	1.62	25	11.64

0

D

()

Table J-5

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL

Multiple R	.50
R Square	.25
Adjusted R Square	.23
Standard Error	11.18
(Constant = 76.	89)

J-10

2

(

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION

Multiple R		.60	
R Square		.36	
Adjusted R	Square	.31	
Standard Er	ror	12.34	
(Constar	nt = -73	.10)	

		STD. ERROR	an a	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				17e
"Shock" Probation	36.54	8.58	,55	18.12
Group Home, PPC	8.72	10.28	.07	.72
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	50	٦ /	E 0	10 (0
(months)	29	•14	03	18.03
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	······			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic	-11.71	9.55	12	1.50
East-North Central	-33.02	6.74	93	23.98
West-North Central	-40.95	11.89	34	11.85
South Atlantic		ц., Щ., С., С., С., С., С., С., С., С., С., С		<i>w</i>
East-South Central	-62.07	15.79	36	15.46
Mountain	2.72	9.28	.03	.09
Pacific	-26.24	6.01	88	19.06
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	9.98	5.76 、	.29	3.01



a l

 \cap

		STD. ERRO	R	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	.20	4.69	.00	0.0
Group Home, PPC	25.10	6.74	.29	13.86
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				10100
(months)	60	.08	06	.60
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic	-4.34	3.00	-,15	2.09
East-North Central	6.60	3.69	.16	3.29
West-North Central				
South Atlantic	-5.47	9.15	04	.36
East-South Central				
Mountain				
Pacific	12.53	4.67	.34	7.20
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-9.44	4.02	28	°5.52

Table J-7

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL

Multiple	R	.74
R Square		.55
Adjusted	R Square	.52
Standard	Error	10.38
(Const	:ant = 124.	90)

5

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- FAILURE

Multiple	R	.51
R Square		.26
Adjusted	R Square	.24
Standard	Error	17.05
(Const	ant = 152	.46)

		B	STD. ERROR	7) TOT 4	
	4		<u> </u>	BETA	F RATIC
INSTITUTI	ONAL LOCATION			· · · · ·	
(relative	to standard parole)				
Work Stud	у	-2.13	2.70	- 03	60
Halfway H	ouse	21.41	3,35	.05	•02
Early Rel	ease	-16.54	6 21	- 10	40.75
Parole Pr	ogram	-4.67	2 44	10	7.10
LENGTH OF	TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		2.444	08	3.6/
(months)	÷	.29	.06	.18	21.82
GEOGRAPHI	C LOCATION				
(compared	to other U.S. & Canada)			- -	-
New Engla	nd	2.97	3 76	00	
Mid-Atlan	tic	4 63	2.70	.03	•63
East-Nort	n Central	-1 / 2	5.29	.06	1.98
West-Nort	Central	-1.42	2.84	02	.25
South Atl	antic	10./0	4.12	.19	20.80
East-Sout	Central	5.29	6.49	.03	.66
Mountain	. General	2.68	2.76	.04	.94
Pacific	•	1.52	3.66	.02	.17
DECADE DA		9.92	2.17	.24	20.99
<u>(1=<1960;</u>	<u>2=1960's;</u> 3=1970's)	-10.76	2,01	23	28.55

	ан, на страната и стран			
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	.12	1.45	00	01
Halfway House	17.09	1.13	.00	220 06
Early Release	14.22	2.28	.12	39.00
Parole Program	3.90	1.27	.06	99.00 0 / 5
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	0.5			2.45
(months)	.95	.02	.01	• .24
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	2.06	1.87	.03	1,21
Mid-Atlantic	-6.04	1.47	18	16.82
East-North Central	-6.93	1.44	25	23.28
West-North Central	-9.35	1.43	38	42.94
South Atlantic	-9.35	1.40	46	44.90
East-South Central	-6.69	1.49	19	20.13
Mountain	-6.05	1.44	22	17.69
Pacific	-2.73	1.38	10	3.94
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-6.91	.89	16	60.10

0

 \bigcirc

Table J-9

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ABSCOND

	1.2
R	.51
	.26
R Square	.26
Error	7.81
tant = 95.	91)
	R R Square Error tant = 95.

J-14

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ARREST

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.35
Standard Error	15.96
(Constant =-134.	50)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL DOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	11.00	3.56	.14	9.57
Halfway House	4.68	2.66	.08	3.09
Early Release	35.77	9.76	.16	13.45
Parole Program	16.72	2.62	.35	40.72
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1.5	•		
(months)	.05	.06	•53	107.89
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		n an an ann an an ann an ann an ann an a		
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-15.96	12.04	06	1.76
Mid-Atlantic	-20.50	4.08	39	25,20
East-North Central	-31.22	6.22	26	25.21
West-North Central	-10.37	6.98	07	2.21
South Atlantic	-15.35	3.65	38	17.66
East-South Central	-33.22	16.50	09	4.05
Mountain	-5.30	5.12	06	1.07
Pacific	-21.76	3.84	49	32.11
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	13.90	2.85	.27	23.87

C

 \bigcirc

()

()

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	а. 1			
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)	16			
Work Study	-8.34	3.99	12	4.36
Halfway House	-4.30	3.70	09	1.35
Early Release	.16	3.86	.00	.00
Parole Program	.44	2.52	.01	.03
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	EO	0.4	67	147 44
(months)	• 50	•04	.07	141.44
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	• •			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	2.89	3.93	.05	.54
Mid-Atlantic	-1.61	3.95	03	.17
East-North Central	2.60	5.09	.04	.26
West-North Central	4.25	4.01	.08	1.12
South Atlantic	-2.28	3.27	05	. 48
East-South Central	54.09	11.98	.23	20.38
Mountain	12.49	12.00	.05	1.08
Pacific	2.66	3.17	.08	.71
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	2.34	1.98	.07	1.40

Table J-11

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- CONVICTION

Multiple	R	.74
R Square		. 54
Adjusted	R Square	.51
Standard	Error	11.68
(Const	tant = -19	18)

J**-16**
Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL

Multiple R	.44
R Square	.19
Adjusted R Square	.19
Standard Error	10.78
(Constant = 10.	17)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	STD. ERROR	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			Эл у	
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-3.25	1.76	04	3 44
Halfway House	8.26	1.62	.11	25 81
Early Release	-15.21	4.11	07	13 60
Parole Program	-1.78	1.18	03	2.29
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	0.7	<u> </u>		
(months)	• 21	.02	.27	183.75
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	· · · · ·			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	.98	1.90	.01	. 27
Mid-Atlantic	27	1.44	00	- 00
East-North Central	-3.92	1.38	08	8.02
West-North Central	-1.45	1.18	05	1.51
South Atlantic	-4.66	1.16	16	16.03
East-South Central	-1.56	1.40	03	1.24
Mountain	1.74	e 1.29	.04	1.83
Pacific	5.61	1.14	.20	24.35
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	0.05	· · · · ·		0
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-2.05	.03	07	10.44

C

್

()

 \bigcirc

5

<u>حت</u>

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pa Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=197

J-17

Table J-13

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION

Maltiple R	.47
R Square	.22
Adjusted R So	uare .22
Standard Erro	or 7.15
(Constant	= 37.85)

		STD. ERROR	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
		na dhaonna dha Alain		
arole)			e de la companya de l	
	27	1.65	00	.03
	.72	1.94	.01	.14
	2.07	2.75	.02	. 57
	2.26	.88	.05	6.67
∛–UP	.18	.01	.31	226.02
& Canada)				
· · · · · · · ·	4.92	1.55	08	10 12
	-6.18	.88	18	49.02
	-5.02	.87	15	34.41
	-5.66	.72	26	62.35
	-7.74	.69	40	124 78
	-8.24	.84	27	95.63
	-5.14	.78	19	43.04
	-5.14	.70	26	53.83
970's)	-2.40	•54	.09	19.47

< C

C

C

Æ.

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL

Multi	ple R	.56
R Squ	are	.31
Adjus	ted R Square	.31
Stand	ard Error	12.52
(C	onstant = 98	3.32)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-15.46	2 72	TE	20 01
Halfway House	-8.81	2.72	12	32.21
Early Release	11 12	2.09	08	9.30
Parole Program	7.80	±4.J7 2 ∩3	.02	./8
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		2.03	•10	14.80
(months)	.28	.02	.43	270.90
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canad	a)			
New England	13.29	2.25	24	31. 71.
Mid-Atlantic	4.26	2.44	06	2 0/
East-North Central	2.97	2.25	.00	J.U4 1 75
West-North Central	-10.75	5.46	- 05	1.73
South Atlantic	-3.25	2.71	- 04	J.0/
East-South Central	.21	6.57	00	1.44 00
Mountain	13	4.58	- 00	•00
Pacific	-1.38	1.81	~.04	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	A 111 m		• • •	•
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-6.77	1.02	24	44.05

Th

the part of the pa

()

()

ä.

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	20.92	9.23	26	5 1 /
Group Home, PPC	5.75	6.24	•20	2.14
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			• 4.5	.05
(months)	1.50	•58	.27	6.60
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				and a second
Mid-Atlantic				
East-North Central	-33.48	7.64	- 71	10 22
West-North Central	-17.71	12.78	71	1 02
South Atlantic	-18.01	9.17	- 30	1.74
East-South Central	-86.29	25.38	- 34	11 56
Mountain	4.91	20.47	02	11.00
Pacific	-26.81	10.33	- 34	6 74
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-43.59	14.24	38	9.37

J-19

Table J-15

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- FAILURE

Multiple R	.60
R Square	.36
Adjusted R Square	.30
Standard Error	19.29
(Constant = 546)	.04)

J-20

0

C

(

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ABSCOND

Multiple	R	.31
R Square		.10
Adjusted	R Square	.07
Standard	Error	14.62
(Const	tant = 34.	34)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				*
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	8.29	15.14	.03	. 30
Group Home, PPC	10.73	4.40	.14	5.96
(months)	.71	.07	.12	.92
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				44
Mid-Atlantic	-19.07	5,10	- 28	12 00
East-North Central	-9.64	6.95	- 08	1 02
West-North Central	-3.08	4.23	- 06	1.92
South Atlantic	-3.52	5.99	- 10	
East-South Central			•10	• • • • •
Mountain	-20.34	15.57	- 06	1 71
Pacific	1.23	5.40	.02	1./I 05
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1 00			.05
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-1.00	2.03	03	.24

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLC (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1

 \bigcirc

5.

J-21

Table J-17

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ARREST

Multiple	R	
D G		•70
R Square		.50
X	D C	
Adjusted	R Square	.47
Standard	Frron	16 00
beandard	DITOL	T0.90
(Consta	nt = -228.	29)

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
probation)				
AVV. 110	-20.85 23.03	3.94 3.39	36	27.98
OM-OD	.89	.22	.33	16.56
. & Canada)				
	-7.97	5.39	09	2.19
	-10.36	6.04	14	2.94
	-32.72	5.73	34	36.61
	-3.03	5.81	03	. 27
	.73	4.61	•01	.03
.970's)	21.61	6.59	.32	10.76

EX.

C

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- CONVICTION

R Square .74 Adjusted R Square 67
Adjusted R Square 67
Jupped K oquare .07
Standard Error 9.13
(Constant = 103.89)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation				
Group Home, PPC	23.86	4.21	73	32 00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	·····		•••	
(months)	•21	.17	1.32	8.89
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	د			•
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-84.06	41.95	-1.12	4.02
Mid-Atlantic	-13.21	12.30	24	1.15
East-North Central	-19.00	5.81	31	10.70
West-North Central	-2.72	8.29	04	.11
South Atlantic	-5.90	5.87	09	1.01
East-South Central	-3.28	6.94	04	.22
Mountain				
Pacific				
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	9 66	0 (5		
(1=<1690; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-0.00	7.0J	28	.81

 \bigcirc

ų J

14

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pro "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=19

J-23

Table J-19

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.44
Adjusted R Square	.41
Standard Error	10.32
(Constant = 16 .	92)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
obation)				
	-14.75 14	2.15 2.08	53 00	46.98
'-UP	.52	.16	.22	11.09
& Canada)				
	24.37	9.08	.44	7.21
	-8.06	8.70	11	.86
	15.66	8.07	.40	3.77
	11.15	9.00	.12	1.54
	9.54	12.72	.05	.56
	6.45	7.39	.21	.76
70's)	67	2,52	03	.07
		the second se		

2.

 \bigcirc

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION

Multiple R	.66
R Square	.44
Adjusted R Square	.33
Standard Error	6.49
(Constant = 27 .	33)

	Ő	STD. ERROR	·····	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-8.60	10.12	- /3	79
Group Home, PPC	1.07	8.33	03	•72
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			.05	•02
(months)	.22	•84	.09	.07
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	() () ()			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic				
East-North Central	-22.35	12.08	-1.24	3 /.7
West-North Central	-19.01	19.60	-1.00	0,42 Q/
South Atlantic		\bigcirc		• • • •
East-South Central				
Mountain				Second and an arrival Second and arrival arrival
Pacific				
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>				

	B	STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	2.20			
Group Home, PPC	-3.22	10,90	04	• 09
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		7.04	.60	10.07
(months)	.18	.26	.11	. 51
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				•
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-12 78	0 /7		
Mid-Atlantic	-1 52	0.4/	19	2.27
East-North Central	-2.25	9.80	02	• 02
West-North Central	4.42	7.89	05	•08
South Atlantic	1 9/	-	(-1) = (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) + (-1) +	
East-South Central	1.54	7.13	.03	.04
Mountain	11 80	C 00		
Pacific	77.02	0.03	.21	3.89
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	40	7.15	01	.00

 \bigcirc

()

J-25

Table J-21

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Probation on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES --- IMPRISONMENT-ALL

Multiple	R	.61
R Square		.37
Adjusted	R Square	.30
Standard	Error	12.01
(Const	ant = 15.	13)

J-26

622

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- FAILURE

Multiple	R	.66
R Square		.44
Adjusted	R Square	.35
Standard	Error	16.80
(Const	ant = 231.	28)

ϕ		STD. ERROR	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
and the second	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-7 15	25 0/	~ 7	
Halfway House	-28 02	20,04	07	.08
Early Release	_11 33	10.20	10	2.35
Parole Program	-36 18	LL.09	11	.94
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		44.10	58	.67
(months)	.36	.80	.31	.20
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	17 10	10 71		
Mid-Atlantic	-40 00	40./1	.31	.12
East-North Central	-40.90	33.49	33	1.33
West-North Central	04 60 16	1.41	02	• •01
South Atlantic	42.10	48,73	• 55	1.02
East-South Central			e i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
Mountain				
Pacific				
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-16.19	8.57	36	3.57

()

0

		STD. ERROR	λ	
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-28.21	7,25	41	15 14
Halfway House	-7,52	6.27	- 11	1.44
Early Release	-20.95	19.09	09	1.21
Parole Program	-4.23	4.43	10	. 91
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				• 2 ±
(months)	.57	. 22	.23	6.67
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		```,		
(compared to other U.S. & Canada	a)			
New England	-8.52	20.66	04	.17
Mid-Atlantic	-36.66	14.22	27	6.64
East-North Central	-8.27	10.03	15	.68
West-North Central	-16.37	10.85	23	2.28
South Atlantic				2120
East-South Central				
Mountain		• *		•
Pacific	-3.97	8.90	09	.20
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	2 /0			
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	2.49	4.75	• 06	.27

Table J-23

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ABSCOND

Multiple	R	.49
R Square		.24
Adjusted	R Square	.18
Standard	Error	18.14
(Cons	stant = 8 .	31)

J-28

6-2

()

(__)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ARREST

Multiple R	.85
R Square	.72
Adjusted R Square	.68
Standard Error	15.37
(Constant = 73.	15)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard parole)				
Work Study	-42.35	6 61	- 13	/1 01
Halfway House	-13.86	15 66	45	41.01
Early Release		10.00	10	.78
Parole Program	11.69	17.32	.06	1.6
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 0.0			• 40
(months)	1.23	.20	.52	38.87
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-7.64	4 41	- 19	2 00
Mid-Atlantic	-63.24	13.42	- 54	3.00
East-North Central	-21.65	5 57		22.20
West-North Central	-16.28	16 07	29	12.11
South Atlantic	-17 31	16 26	18	1.03
East-South Central	11131	10.30	06	1.12
Mountain	-3/ 00	15 01	10	29 · · · ·
Pacific	J))	TO.0T	12	4.90
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				······································
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.21	7.32	03	.09

INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard par Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-(months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)

()

line

0

J-29

Table J-25

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- CONVICTION

Multiple	R	.90
R Square		.81
Adjusted	R Square	.69
Standard	Error	11.37
(Const	tant = 4.7	/9)

	· · ·	STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
role)				
	31.17	12.64	.49	6.08
	4.90 33	16.08 11.50	.05 00	.09
-UP	.52	.34	.27	2.39
& Canada)				
	-2.75	11.39	05	.06
	-7.06	14.07 19.20	09 24	.25 .92
	33.53 -8.18	11.29 10.65	.65 14	8.81
	.27	9.23	.01	.00
701-				

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL

Multiple	R	.81
R Square		.66
Adjusted	R Square	.66
Standard	Error	12.10
(Const	tant = 83.	23)

	<u>B</u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION					
(relative to standard parole)					
Work Study					
Halfway House	-5.58	4.40	- 04	1 60	
Early Release	-9.83	12.35	02	1.00	.0
Parole Program	7.35	2.51	. 09	8 57	
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 1/	~*		0.57	
(months)	1.10	.05	.63	394.81	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)		•		1.4 -	
New England	3.33	8.14	. 02	.17	
Mid-Atlantic	19.85	6.81	.16	8 / 9	
East-North Central	1.89	5.77	.03	11	
West-North Central	10.95	5.69	.26	3.70	
South Atlantic				5.70	
East-South Central					9
Mountain	33.46	13.27	.08	6 36	
Pacific	26.57	5.50	.63	23.30	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-7.50	1.69	19	19.65	

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

0

()

	STD. ERROR				
e	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
TNSTITUTIONAL LOCATION					
(relative to standard parole)					
Work Study					
Halfway House	16.29	6.73	.17	5.85	
Early Release				13	
Parole Program	-54.73	6.36	80	73.97	
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	00	17	. 01	.00	
(months)	• > >	• 1	• V I	••••	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)					
New England	10.83	5.83	.19	3.45	
Mid-Atlantic	53.86	6.43	1.10	70.21	
East-North Central	4.01	5.02	.14	.64	
West-North Central	1.15	5.53	.05	.04	
South Atlantic					
East-South Central					
Mountain			· · · · · ·		
Pacific	12.69	8.29	.13	2.34	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED $(1=\le1960: 2=1960: 3=1970:)$	19	2.48	01	.01	

Table J-27

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION

Multiple	R	.81
R Square		.66
Adjusted	R Square	,62
Standard	Error	6.34
(Cons	tant = 5.6	1)

(

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Alternatives to Parole on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL

Multiple	R	.45
R Square		.20
Adjusted	R Square	.14
Standard	Error	17.62
(Const	tant = 47.	86)

	STD. ERROR			······································
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
TNETTTITTONAL TOCATTON				
(molection to standard a second				
(relative to standard parole)				
work Study	-31.55	19.45	12	2.63
Halfway House	71	17.99	01	.00
Early Release				
Parole Program	-19.44	5.18	30	14.08
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	7/	0.7		
(months)	• 14	.0/	.15	3.49
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	20.17	11.84	.19	2.91
Mid-Atlantic	2.14	9.86	.04	.05
East-North Central	4.64	9.61	.08	.23
West-North Central	11.09	9.33	.23	1.42
South Atlantic	23,88	11.54	.24	4.28
East-South Central	25.33	23.61	.14	1.15
Mountain	8.73	9.28	.19	.88
Pacific	21.23	9.46	.49	5.04
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.38	3.02	06	.62

()

()



0

J-34

ANALYSIS OF OVERALL IMPACT OF INNOVATIVE TREATMENT

enat v skal taraszone s

C

 C°

C

General Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS - ANY TREATMENT

	В	STD. ERROR		
DEFINITION			BETA	F RATIO
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)		•		
Failure	26 ED	0 - 1		
Abscond	20.39	0.54	0.42	2361.28
Re-Arrest	10 0/	0.35	0.01	1.54
Re-Conviction	10.04	0.58	0.29	1048.39
Imprisonment (technical offense)	10.07	0.6/	0.13	225.44
Imprisonment (either new convic-	0.4/	0.35	0.17	331.48
tion or technical offense)	14.04	0.44	0.31	1065.58
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to no supervision)				
Probation	-10 16	1.04		
"Shock" Probation	-17 52	1.04	-0.21	94.91
Group Home, PPC	-4 27	1.81	-0.08	92.84
Parole	-4.27	10.1	-0.02	5.58
Work Study	-10.38	1.00	-0.28	6106.21
Halfway House	-10.73	1.29	-0.09	68.71
Early Release	-4.04	1.28	-0.04	14.23
Parole Program	-10.59	1.97	-0.05	32.65
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-HP	-10.30	1.10	-0.13	82.76
(months)	0.18	0.0	0.19	546.38
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	5.64	0.80	0.05	10.07
Mid-Atlantic	-2.23	0.05	0.03	40.07
East-North Central	-0.76	0.60	-0.03	11./3
West-North Central	-2.61	0.60	-0.01	1.62
South Atlantic	-3.47	0.56	-0.05	18.78
East-South Central	-2.44	0.50	-0.08	37.57
Mountain	0.33	0.66	-0.03	11.57
Pacific	1.07	0.52	0.02	0.26
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		V. 52	0.03	4.30
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-4.95	0.31	-0.12	240.29
ANY TREATMENT	0.00			
(Added=1; Else=0)	2.29	0.40	0.05	32.47

()

	В	STD. ERROR		
DEFINITION			BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
(relative to imprisonment for a new conviction)	B			
Failure	24" 10	1 05		
Abscond	-5 50	1.85	.41	169.64
Re-Arrest	12.40	1.69	12	10.66
Re-Conviction	11 50	1.66	.28	56.50
Imprisonment (technical offense)	TT•20	1,/8	.24	42.23
Imprisonment (either new convic-	3.20	1.56	.08	4.21
tion or technical offense)	3.92	2.06	.07	B.63
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	50	.03	04	י ד ר
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	1 1.9			
Mid-Atlantic	-6 08	6.54	• 02	.47
East-North Central	-7 67	2.0/	12	11.34
West-North Central	-2.02	1.62	06	2.59
South Atlantic	-0.47	3.41	05	3.60
East-South Central	-1.0/	1.88	03	.99
Mountain	0.1/	14.42	.01	.32
Pacific	1 0/	4.13	•09	12.60
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1.04	1.47	.03	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-4.27	.99	.14	18.74
(Added=1; Else=2)	2.96	1.08	.07	7.57

Table J-30

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PROBATION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	. 55
R Square	1N	. 30
Adjusted	R Square	29
Standard	Error	14.28
(Const	tant = 64	45)

J-36

(6) S

		Table J-31			
The Controlling for Geog	Regre Independent I on the Rate Definition of raphic Locatio	ession Equation impact of Add of Criminal 1 Recidivism, 1 on and Decade	on: ed Intervent Recidivism Length of Ti Data Collec	ion me in Follow ted	√-Up,
ADU	LTS "SHOCK"	PROBATION	- ANY TREATM	ENT	
	Multipl R Squar Adjuste Standar (Con	e R e d R Square d Error stant = 14.04	.22 .05 .11 10.95 4)		
		<u>B</u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	<u>F</u> 1
LION ive to imprisonme new conviction)	nt 👋				

C

C

C

	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment		G		
for a new conviction)		19 19		
Failure	14.70	15.49	.18	.90
Abscond		43		
Re-Arrest	2.17	5.24	.09	.17
Re-Conviction	3.14	5.13	.15	.37
Imprisonment (technical offense)	9.70	15.49	.12	.39
Imprisonment (either new convic-	1.61	7.09	.05	. 05
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	00	10	00	
(months)	•90	° • TO	•02	•01
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic			n an Arran a' Arrainn An Arrainn an Arrainn	
East-North Central				
West-North Central				
South Atlantic	-6.27	12.17	07	.27
East-South Central	-9.80	12.21	20	.64
Mountain				
Pacific	7.36	9.46	.12	.61
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				ø
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>				
ANY TREATMENT	00	00	ho	00
(Added=1; Else=0)	•00	•00	• 00	•00



	<u></u>	STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)		$\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) \left(\frac{1}{2}$		
Failure	27.48	10.00	.43	7.55
Abscond	3.00	8.70	.08	.12
Re-Arrest	13.73	10.08	.23	1.86
Re-Conviction	56	9.08	02	•00
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-8.73	10.23	15	.73
Imprisonment (either new convic-	26.89	11.30	.38	5.66
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	<u>.</u>	20	12	1 38
(months)	• 24	.20	ے بر ہو۔ 	1.50
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic				
East-North Central	10.96	6.07	.20	3.26
West-North Central				
South Atlantic				
East-South Central				
Mountain				
Pacific	10.36	4.77	.26	4.72
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)				
ANY TREATMENT	35	3,90	.01	.01
(Added=1; Else=0)	<i>ی</i> د ه			

()

J-37

Table J-32

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PARTIAL PHYSICAL CUSTODY -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.79
R Square	1. A.	.62
Adjusted	R Square	.55
Standard	Error	11.53
(Const	tant = 9.40))

J-38

52

Û

C

2

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PAROLE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.71
R Square	.50
Adjusted R Square	.50
Standard Error	10.12
(Constant = 65.4)	4)

	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	25.37	.60	.39	1794.20
Abscond	.29	,33	.01	.14
Re-Arrest	15.93	.85	•16	350.34
Re-Conviction	8.40	1.14	•06	54.53
Imprisonment (technical offense)	6.55	.33	.20	390.78
Imprisonment (either new convic-	14.99	.44	.37	1178.88
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	10	.01	.21	564.77
(months)		•••		
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	10.74	.99	.10	116.93
Mid-Atlantic	.78	.69	.01	1.26
East-North Central	.57	.64	•00	.00
West-North Central	-1.11	.61	•03	3.33
South Atlantic	-3.08	.58	.09	26.68
East-South Central	-1.20	.69	~ .02	3.01
Mountain	1.61	.65	.03	6.05
Pacific	3.08	.56	.09	29.97
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	E 22	2%	13	237.20
(1=<1960: 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-3.23	• J 4	• 1 .7	
ANY TREATMENT (Added=1: Else=0)	3.52	.50	.06	49.75

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

	STD. ERROR				
	В	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
DEFINITION					
(relative to imprisonment					
for a new conviction)					
Failure	22.28	4.48	.47	24.72	
Abscond	1.86	4.61	•03	.16	
Re-Arrest	30.60	5.55	.48	30.36	
Re-Conviction	-2.10	6.14	02	.12	
Imprisonment (technical offense)					
Imprisonment (either new convic-	2.70	4.76	.04	.32	
tion or technical offense)					
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	20	07	20	20.04	
(months)	.32	.07	• 30	20.04	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)					
New England	-3.12	4.85	.05	.41	
Mid-Atlantic	-9.23	5.37	.14	2.95	
East-North Central	13.68	9.41	• 08	2.12	
West-North Central	6.95	6.55	.07	1.12	
South Atlantic					
East-South Central					
Mountain			4		
Pacific			1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -		
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	10 11	6 50		2 04	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-13.11	6.39	15	3.90	
ANY TREATMENT	37	2 01	01	02	
(Added=1; Else=0)		4 • 7 ±	· • UL	.02	

()

)

J-39

Table J-34

ADULTS -- WORK STUDY -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.72
R Square		.52
Adjusted	R Square	.48
Standard	Error	14.95
(Const	tant = 167.	55)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- HALFWAY HOUSE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R Square	R R Square	.68 .46 .42
Standard	Error	15.35
(Const	tant = 319	.41)

		STD. ERROR			
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
DEFINITION					
(relative to imprisonment					
for a new conviction)					
Failure	39.25	4.96	.66	62.65	
Abscond	19.55	4.69	.39	17.37	
Re-Arrest	16.52	4.73	.33	12.18	
Re-Conviction	6.50	5.50	.10	1.40	
Imprisonment (technical offense)	13.41	4.59	.27	8.53	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	8.66	5.14	.12	2.83	
tion or technical offense)					
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	20	1 5	00	7 75	
(months)	• 20	•10	•00	1.13	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)					
New England	21.99	12.68	.45	3.01	
Mid-Atlantic	10.34	12.71	. 20	.66	
East-North Central	19.73	12.79	.40	2.38	
West-North Central	14.20	12.95	.17	1.20	
South Atlantic	20.23	12.80	.38	2.50	
East-South Central	7.14	15.09	• 04	.22	
Mountain	4.93	13.28	.06	.14	
Pacific	20.99	13.15	.26	2.55	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-27 03	7 46	- 22	13 12	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-27.03	/ • TV	-• 66	TT • TT	
ANY TREATMENT	-8.53	4.13	17	4.26	
(Added=1: Else=0)			· · · · · ·	-	

C

C

()

 $\langle \rangle$

(]

Ē

	STD. ERROR				
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
DEFINITION					
(relative to imprisonment					
for a new conviction)					
Failure	15.92	4.35	.46	13.37	
Abscond	12.66	4.21	.43	9.05	
Re-Arrest	30.61	5.08	.58	36.33	
Re-Conviction	4.37	3.91	.14	1.25	
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-5.94	3.91	16	2.31	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	17.68	8.39	.20	4.44	
tion or technical offense)					
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	05	20	67	23.06	
(months)	• 95	.20	.07	23.00	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)					
New England	-9.45	9.74	15	.04	
Mid-Atlantic					
East-North Central					
West-North Central					
South Atlantic	-14.19	7.09	48	4.01	
East-South Central					
Mountain					
Pacific	-10.57	6.09	39	3.02	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-5.07	2 22	- 28	5 23	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.07	£ • £ £	20	J•25	
ANY TREATMENT	- 54	3, 58	02	. 02	
		0.00	• • • -	• • • •	

Table J-36

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- EARLY RELEASE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	•88
R Square		•77
Adjusted	R Square	•69
Standard	Error	7.14
(Const	tant = 66.	31)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PAROLE PROGRAM -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.67
R Square		.45
Adjusted	R Square	.43
Standard	Error	14.09
(Const	tant = 57.	86)

	<u>مر من المراجع من المراجع المراج</u>	STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	19.53	2.85	.37	46.88
Abscond	4.63	2.86	.07	2.61
Re-Arrest	19.08	2.41	.39	62.41
Re-Conviction	5.89	2.84	.10	4.30
Imprisonment (technical offense)	3.26	2.22	.07	2.16
Imprisonment (either new convic-	20.84	2.83	.33	54.08
tion or technical offense)		0		
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		0/	01	CI 77
(months)	• 32	• 04	• 21	04.//
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)	0			
New England	-9.00	4.26	.11	4.48
Mid-Atlantic	-11.56	4.05	.17	8.17
East-North Central	-19.49	4.06	• 26	23.02
West-North Central	-3.86	4.35	.05	.79
South Atlantic	-6.81	4.24	• 09	2.58
East-South Central	-6.84	5.29	.06	1.67
Mountain	-24.87	5.89	.19	17.84
Pacific	-12.47	3.20	.33	15.14
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		1 40	00	1 00
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-3.1/	1.43	.09	4.93
ANY TREATMENT	1. 96	1 49	12	0 20
$(0=aeII \cdot I=babbA)$	4.00	7.00	12	0.39

C

C

0

Ð

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment for a new conviction)				
Failure	-2.70	15.96	01	.03
Abscond	9.02	8.09	.05	1.24
Re-Arrest	25.17	3.50	.60	51.80
Re-Conviction	15.85	2.62	.31	36.48
Imprisonment (technical offense)				
Imprisonment (either new convic-	33.62	6.99	.31	23.13
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	37	06	35	43 69
(months)	• 57	.00	• • • •	43.09
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	<u> </u>		-	
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-8.91	7.20	07	1.53
Mid-Atlantic	70	4.10	01	•03
East-North Central	-8.87	8.84	-,05	1.01
West-North Central	-14.55	5.34	18	7.44
South Atlantic	-15.11	3.51	32	18.57
East-South Central	30.77	11.38	.18	7.32
Mountain				
Pacific	-19.21	4.05	50	22.52
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-23.57	11.03	10	4.57
ANY TREATMENT (added=1; Else=0)	-6.22	5.11	08	1.48

Table J-38

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- MAXIMUM SENTENCE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	•85
R Square		.73
Adjusted	R Square	.70
Standard	Error	10.55
(Cons	tant = 301.	51)

J-44

0

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- FAILURE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.47			
R Square	.22			
Adjusted R Square	.20			
Standard Error	18.34			
(Constant = 195.64)				

		STD. ERROR		/L
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-14 80	18 62	·	
Group Home, PPC	8.79	10.02	03	•63
Parole	-3.24	1 02	• 04	1.09
Work Study	-6.27	2.30	.08	2.67
Halfway House	14.95	3.00	.08	3.69
Early Release	-17.74	5.90	10	14.69
Parole Program	-6.21	0.79	09	6.83
Maximum Sentence	8.46	18 65	09	4,18
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	0.40	10.03	.02	.21
(months)	.15	.06	.09	5.56
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)			•	
New England	1.80	3.07	02	0.7
Mid-Atlantic	-1.71	3 30	.02	• 21
East-North Central	-5.22	2.69	.02	•25
West-North Central	14.90	1 23	.00	3.//
South Atlantic	5.78	6.55	+ 14	12.43
East-South Central	1.12	2.94	•03	./8
Mountain	88	3.88	•02	•14
Pacific	6.81	2.01	16	.05
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1		• 10	11.42
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-13,21	1.84	.27	51.60
ANY TREATMENT	1.05			
(Added=1; Else=0)	4.96	1.64	.12	9.12

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

B OF B BETA F RA INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard probation) "Shock" Probation 12.73 1.85 .13 47.4 Shock" Probation 2.45 .66 .10 13.4 Parole 2.45 .66 .10 13.4 Work Study .88 1.49 .01 .1 Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78.2 Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .0 .0 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 .0 West-North Central 32 1.15 .00 .0 West-North Central 25 1.24 .01 .0 So		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	STD. ERROR		
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard probation) 1 "Shock" Probation 12.73 1.85 13 47.4 Group Home, PPC 12.73 1.85 .13 47.4 Parole 2.45 .66 .10 13.4 Work Study .88 1.49 .01 .1 Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78.5 Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .0 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 West-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.55 1.00 14 7.1 <		B	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
(relative to standard probation) "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC 12.73 1.85 .13 47. Parole 2.45 .66 .10 13. Work Study .88 1.49 .01 . Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78. Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .0 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 West-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 .01 .0 <td>INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION	0			
"Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC 12.73 1.85 .13 47.4 Parole 2.45 .66 .10 13.4 Work Study .88 1.49 .01 .13 Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78.5 Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .0 .0 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 .01 .0 Mountain	(relative to standard probation)				
Group Home, PPC 12.73 1.85 .13 47.7 Parole 2.45 .66 .10 13.7 Work Study .88 1.49 .01 .13 Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78.7 Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .28 1.18 .01 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 .0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.55 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25	"Shock" Probation				
Parole 2.45 1.65 1.13 47. Work Study 2.45 .66 .10 13. Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78. Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .28 1.18 .01 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 .0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 .01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25	Group Home, PPC	12 73	1 05	10	•- •-
Work Study .88 1.49 .01 .10 13. Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78. Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .01 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Parole	2 / 5	T•0)	•13	47.48
Halfway House 12.26 1.39 .20 78. Early Release 16.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Parole Program .64 1.46 .10 .1 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .28 1.18 .01 .0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 West-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Work Study	2.43	00	.10	13.92
Early Release 12.20 1.39 $.20$ 78.1 Parole Program 16.91 2.36 $.13$ 51.4 Parole Program $.64$ 1.46 $.10$ Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 $.05$ 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 $.02$ 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION(compared to other U.S. & Canada) 7.65 1.63 $.11$ 22.0 New England 7.65 1.63 $.11$ 22.0 Mid-Atlantic $.28$ 1.18 $.01$ $.0$ East-North Central 32 1.15 00 $.0$ West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 $.0$ Mountain $.86$ 1.17 $.03$ $.5$ Pacific 3.25 1.04 $.13$ 9.8	Halfway House	12 26	1.49	.01	.35
Parole Program 10.91 2.36 .13 51.4 Maximum Sentence .64 1.46 .10 .11 .11 Maximum Sentence 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .11 22.0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Early Release	16 01	1.39	.20	78.12
Maximum Sentence 1.46 .10 .10 LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 15.48 5.58 .05 7.6 (months) 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) .11 22.0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Parole Program	10.91	2.30	.13	51.48
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP 10.48 5.58 .05 7.6 (months) 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .00 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Maximum Sentence	•04 15 / p	1.40 5.50	.10	.19
(months) 47 .02 06 8.5 GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	13.40	2.36	.05	7.68
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. & Canada) New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	(months)	47	•02	06	8.56
(compared to other U.S. & Canada) New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
New England 7.65 1.63 .11 22.0 Mid-Atlantic .28 1.18 .01 .0 East-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	(compared to other U.S. & Canada)			
Mid-Atlantic .103 .11 22.0 East-North Central .28 1.18 .01 .0 West-North Central 32 1.15 00 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	New England	7.65	1 62		00.04
East-North Central 32 1.15 .01 .0 West-North Central -2.50 1.15 00 .0 South Atlantic -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 East-South Central 25 1.24 01 .0 Mountain .86 1.17 .03 .5 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	Mid-Atlantic	28	1 10	• 11	22.04
West-North Central -2.50 1.15 00 .0 South Atlantic -2.50 1.15 10 4.7 East-South Central -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 Mountain 25 1.24 01 .0 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	East-North Central	- 32	1 15	.01	.06
South Atlantic -2.95 1.15 10 4.7 East-South Central -2.95 1.10 14 7.1 Mountain 25 1.24 01 .0 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	West-North Central	-2 50	1,15	00	.00
East-South Central 25 1.10 14 7.1 Mountain 25 1.24 01 .0 Pacific 3.25 1.04 .13 9.8	South Atlantic	-2.50	1 10	10	4.76
Mountain	East-South Central	-2.90	1.10	14	7.17
Pacific	Mountain	96	1.24	01	• 04
<u>3.25</u> 1.04 .13 9.8	Pacific	+00	1.1/	.03	• 55
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	DECADE DATA COLLECTED	5.25	1.04	.13	9.85
<u>(1=<1960: 2=1960's: 3=1970's)</u> -4.58 .7714 35.3	(1=<1960: 2=1960's: 3=1970's)	-4.58	.77	14	35.31
ANY TREATMENT (Added=1: Else=0) 7.79 .81 .23 92.8	ANY TREATMENT (Added=1: Else=0)	7.79	.81	.23	92.87

()

J-45

Table J-40

ADULTS -- ABSCOND -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.51			
R Square	.26			
Adjusted R So	quare .26			
Standard Erro	or 7.83			
(Constant = 75.56)				

εÀ

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS ARREST ANY	TREATMENT
M-144-1 D	
MULTIPLE R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.35
Standard Error	14.58
(Constant = -48.	38)

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				- 101110
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-30 66	5 50		
Group Home, PPC	-4 04	J.JU 7 50	27	31.03
Parole	-10.08	1.52	02	.29
Work Study	5 08	1./1	24	34.61
Halfway House	J.00	3.33	.06	2.33
Early Release	05	2.47	01	.07
Parole Program	22.20	8.82	.08	6.33
Maximum Sentence	1.5/	2.29	.14	10.93
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW_UP	8.55	2.89	.12	8.72
(months)	.63	.05	.54	163.50
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				205150
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-2 44	11 10		
Mid-Atlantic	-2.44	11.10	01	.05
East-North Central	-12.04	3.80	22	11.08
West-North Central	-20.54	4.83	26	18.07
South Atlantic	39	6.34	00	.01
East-South Central	-5./1	3.60	15	2.52
Mountain	-23.61	15.13	05	2.43
Pacific	7.30	5.04	.07	2.09
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-11.90	3.70	.33	10.36
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	7.27	2.43	.13	8.98
ANY TREATMENT				
(Added=1; Else=0)	-2.19	1.28	06	2.92

C



()

0

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

		STD. ERROR	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-16.59	3.32	28	24.97
Group Home, PPC	-2.95	3.71	04	.63
Parole	-7.58	2,36	19	10.31
Work Study	-13.74	4.33	15	10.08
Halfway House	-6.14	3.25	09	3.56
Early Release	-7.67	4.40	08	3.05
Parole Program	-4.45	2.55	09	3.06
Maximum Sentence	1.77	3.05	.03	.34
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	30	0%	<i>1.1</i> :	00.96
(months)		•04	• 44	90.26
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		0		
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)		in the second		
New England	1.09	4.25	.01	• 07
Mid-Atlantic	-5.22	4.15	08	1.58
East-North Central	-2.42	4.15	07	.34
West-North Central	-7.66	3.96	15	3.74
South Atlantic	-3.16	3.76	06	.71
East-South Central	24.31	10.00	.10	5.91
Mountain	14.03	9.82	.06	2.04
Pacific	-2.63	3.55	.08	.55
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	- 67	1 /0	02	
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	07	1.47	05	• 20
ANY TREATMENT	-1.21	1.83	- 04	44
	and a state of the	T100	· • • • •	• • • • •
(Added 1, hise 0)				

J-47

Table J-42

ADULTS -- CONVICTION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.57
R Square		.33
Adjusted	R Square	.30
Standard	Error	13.07
(Const	ant = 29.	66)

0

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.45
R Square	.20
Adjusted R Square	.20
Standard Error	10.85
(Constant = 24.	85)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	59	10.91	00	.00
Group Home, PPC	-3.35	4.59	01	.53
Parole	-1.00	.73	03	1.89
Work Study	-3.05	1.89	03	2.60
Halfway House	11.25	1.90	1.35	34.89
Early Release	-15.27	4.17	07	13.39
Parole Program	.84	1.45	.01	.34
Maximum Sentence	.00	.00	.00	.00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	10	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		1/6 7/
(months)	•10	۰UT	.23	140.74
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		• • •		
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	.83	1.85	.01	.20
Mid-Atlantic	.50	1.34	.01	.14
East-North Central	-3.43	1.23	07	7.81
West-North Central	-1.91	1.09	06	3.06
South Atlantic	-5.24	1.05	17	24.76
East-South Central	-2.03	1.33	04	2.33
Mountain	1.15	1.22	.03	.89
Pacific	6.41	.97	.24	43.23
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1 01	F /	<u></u>	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-T•OT	• 20	04	3.31
ANY TREATMENT	-5 78	1 00	_ 14	22 50
(Added=1: Else=0)	-7+10	1.00	14	22.22

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

Ū2

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-4.56	3 06	0.2	0.00
Group Home, PPC	4.21	5 47	03	2.22
Parole	-5.69	76	• UI	.59
Work Study	-5.33	1 80	23	56.09
Halfway House	-7.89	2 25	00	7.93
Early Release	-4.86	3 01	08	12.34
Parole Program	-6.20	1 92	03	2.62
Maximum Sentence	.38	1 20	13	25.85
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		<u></u>	.00	.00
(months)	.16	.01	.25	156.95
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	4.42	1.64	06	7 07
Mid-Atlantic	-5.45	.94	- 15	1.4/
East-North Central	-5.30	89	- 16	33.30
West-North Central	-5.16	.05	- 21	33.42
South Atlantic	-7.09	.75	- 33	43.92
East-South Central	-7.48	.92	- 22	00.50
Mountain	-4.26	85	22	00./0
Pacific	-5.93	.05	13	25.33
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-4.04	• 56	15	51.27
ANY TREATMENT	1		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
(Added=1; Else=0)	4.1b	•73	.14	32.17

()

()

0

J-49

Table J-44

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.50
R Square		.25
Adjusted	R Square	.25
Standard	Error	7.65
(Const	tant = 62.	80)

5

Î.

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	. 62
R Square		.39
Adjusted	R Square	.38
Standard	Error	12.30
(Const	tant = 141	.11)

		STD. ERROR	4	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION	•			
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	1.72	4 64	01	14
Group Home, PPC	37.97	6.44	14	•14 3/ 75
Parole	9.39	1 42	•14	19 70
Work Study	-6.39	3.02	- 06	43.72
Halfway House	.74	3,15	.00	4.40
Early Release	19.52	12.41	.01	.00
Parole Program	16.65	2.43	.05	47 19
Maximum Sentence	43.22	5.69	.17	47.13
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			• 1 /	57.07
(months)	.27	.02	.40	275.54
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	12.56	2.12	.21	3/ 05
Mid-Atlantic	-1.50	1.96	03	50
East-North Central	2.68	1.95	.06	1 88
West-North Central	-10.53	5.32	- 05	3 02
South Atlantic	-3.73	2.51	04	2 21
East-South Central	.78	6.42	.00	2.21 02
Mountain	.28	4.44	.00	.02
Pacific	33	1.63	.01	.00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED			• 01	• 04
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-7.57	•88	25	73.83
ANY TREATMENT				
(Added=1: Else=0)	2.02	1.18	.05	2.93

General Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Interfection on the Rate of Criminal Recidivists Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonme for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technica) Imprisonment (either ne tion or technical off INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to no superv: Probation "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLL (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3= ANY TREATMENT (Added=1; Else=0)

 \bigcirc

h)

Table J-46

JUVENILES - ANY TREATMENT

	<u>B</u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
ent				
l offense) ew convic- fense)	35.88 13.33 30.01 5.42 11.87 12.24	2.15 1.98 2.08 2.76 1.77 2.00	0.48 0.28 0.47 0.04 0.25 0.18	277.68 45.28 207.30 3.85 44.81 37.42
ision)				
OLI-IID	-24.54 -31.81 -15.11 -8.91 -36.39 -16.19 -21.25 -17.02	2.97 3.21 3.11 3.01 4.52 3.90 7.61 3.39	-0.54 -0.34 -0.22 -0.20 -0.18 -0.10 -0.05 -0.17	68.07 97.83 23.48 8.73 64.64 17.19 7.79 25.11
	0.30	0.02	0.34	119.02
. & Canada)				
	-2.87 -9.05 -13.33 -9.34 -10.16 -12.75 -2.04	3.01 2.70 2.34 2.36 2.63 6.20 3.02	-0.02 -0.09 -0.20 -0.17 -0.18 -0.03 -0.01	0.90 11.19 32.28 15.56 14.82 4.22 0.45
	2.05	2.22	0.04	0.85
1970's)	-1.37	0.87	-0.03	2.48
	4.71	1.01	0.10	21.67

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PROBATION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.55
R Square	.30
Adjusted R Square	.28
Standard Error	15.30
(Constant = 75.2)	B)

	В	STD. ERROR	RETA	E DAMTO
DEFINITION			DEIA	F RAILO
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	20 01	/ 71	10	
Abscond	22.01	4./L / 70	•42	37.92
Re-Arrest	18 55	4.12	.00	.00
Re-Conviction	-8 96	4.71	.31	14.26
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2 3 2	0.23	.07	2.07
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-5 20	4.12	.04	.24
tion or technical offense)	5.20	4.04	08	1.26
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	.24	.07	.39	10.28
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-7.54	8 01	02	
Mid-Atlantic	-9.82	4 14	•03	. 89
East-North Central	-12 40	4.14	<u>11</u>	5.61
West-North Central	-7.34	3 70	10	9.09
South Atlantic	-10.67	5 42	12	3.94
East-South Central	-5.50	12 00	-,29	3.88
Mountain	- 15	12.03	02	.21
Pacific	-2 30	3 51	00	.00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		J.JI	04	.43
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-1.71	1.77	05	.93
ANY TREATMENT (Added=1: Else=0)	3.38	2.00	.07	2 85



()

[

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
DEFINITION		······································		1 11110
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	67 66	0.02	1 05	
Abscond	33 0/	9.02	1.05	48.24
Re-Arrest	20 03	9.90	.18	11.56
Re-Conviction	29.95	4.10	.80	51.69
Imprisonment (technical offense)	15 20	דר נ	, ,	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	26.88	J./1	.44	16.81
	20.00	9.74	.24	7.61
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-HP				
(months)	.62	.17	.17	14.05
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic				
East-North Central				Z
West-North Central				
South Atlantic	30.01	6 60	10	
East-South Central	30.71	0.02	•42	21.79
Mountain				
Pacific	- 59	4 03	0.0	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		4.33	02	.01
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-12.94	4.86	34	7.10
ANY TREATMENT				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
(Added=1; Else=0)	-14.57	7.33	. 29	3.95

J-53

Table J-48

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- "SHOCK" PROBATION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.89
R Square	.80
Adjusted R Square	.78
Standard Error	8.02
(Constant = 13)	8.52)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PARTIAL PHYSICAL CUSTODY -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.71
R Square	.50
Adjusted R Square	.46
Standard Error	15.82
(Constant = 245.	.78)

	STD. ERROR			
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment			a tatan di sana di sa	
for a new conviction)				 Provide the second secon
Failure	32.38	11.63	63	7 75
Abscond	15.58	11 83	10	/•/5
Re-Arrest	36.47	11.80	• 1 9	1.73
Re-Conviction	8.62	17 06	•//	9.55
Imprisonment (technical offense)	- 39	11.90	•12	• 52
Imprisonment (either new convic-	16 34	19 6/	01	•00
tion or technical offense)	TO•24	12.04	• 70	7.01
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				•
(months)	.32	.07	•03	.20
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)			<i>a</i>	
New England	11.82	12 /6	# * 10	00
Mid-Atlantic	-12.76	13.16	•13	•90
East-North Central	-6.24	11 79	•19	•94
West-North Central	22 36	12.06	• 1 4	• 28
South Atlantic	11.42	11 99	• 24	3.44
East-South Central	-33 07	20 40	.10	.92
Mountain	10.74	20.40	.10	2.62
Pacific	10.74 91 57	14.52	.05	• 55
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	<u> </u>	11.00	.49	3.48
$(1 \le 1960; 2 = 1960's; 3 = 1970's)$	-20.08	4.85	.43	17.14
ANY TREATMENT				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
(Added=1; Else=0)	-2.45	5.94	۰03	.17

 \bigcirc

()

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonme) for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either ne tion or technical of LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLO (months) GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (compared to other U.S. New England Mid-Atlantic East-North Central West-North Central South Atlantic East-South Central Mountain Pacific DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1 ANY TREATMENT (Added=1; Else=0)

Table J-50

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES --- PAROLE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R R Square Adjusted R Square Standard Error (Constant =

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
ent				Э
	33.17	3.13	.37	112.14
a da serie de serie. A constante de serie	20.65	2.91	.26	50.41
	30.72	3.64	.33	71.32
	12.40	6.07	.07	4.18
offense)	15.24	2.05	.34	55.16
ew convic-	19.46	2.63	.35	54.62
fense)				
W-UP	.50	.05	•33	123.52
& Canada)	<u></u>	i)en de la literature de la constante de la con		
u ounduy	18,95	5.75	.20	10.88
	7.60	5.69	.07	1.78
	5.06	5.13	.09	.98
	4.84	5.08	.10	.91
	18.85	7.21	.10	6.84
	-8.98	10.64	.03	.71
	10.22	5.70	.10	3.22
	23.15	5.00	. 47	21.45
.970's)	-3.16	1.38	.08	5.25
	.45	1.69	.01	.07

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- WORK STUDY -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.91
R Square	.83
Adjusted R Square	.78
Standard Error	6.49
(Constant = 3.1)	1)

	STD. ERROR			
ϕ_{ij} ,	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	9.71	13.94	23	48
Abscond	9.83	7.02	37	1 06
Re-Arrest	.59	6.89	.02	1.90
Re-Conviction		0.00	• • • •	•01
Imprisonment (technical offense)				
Imprisonment (either new convic-				
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	1.33	.41	1.00	10.79
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION	·····			
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic				a .
East-North Central				
West-North Central				
South Atlantic	-17.99	7.37	- 48	5 96
East-South Central				5.50
Mountain			o	
Pacific	-19.66	3.96	65	24 67
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				24107
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)				
ANY TREATMENT				
(Added=1; Else=0)	.00	•00	.00	• 00

		STD. ERROR	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				a da ser a ser
for a new conviction)				
Failure	8.64	24.41	.07	.13
Abscond	4.86	19.86	.13	.06
Re-Arrest	17.46	21.87	.45	. 64
Re-Conviction	.94	21.17	.01	.00
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-4.44	18.87	10	.06
Imprisonment (either new convic-	22.83	24.51	.34	.87
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 2/			
(months)	1.54	.40	.81	14,47
GECGRAPHIC LOCATION				S
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				· · ·
New England				
Mid-Atlantic		1		
East-North Central	9.92	11.29	.17	.77
West-North Central				· · · ·
South Atlantic				
East-South Central	1.27	20.70	.02	.00
Mountain				
Pacific	24.73	11.36	.67	4.74
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		· · ·		
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)				
ANY TREATMENT	_10.24	12 04	20	
(Added=1; Else=0)	-10+34	12.04	• 29	• 14
		فسيبت بالمراجع والمعاول الأرباب المحاجب والمراكب	يودي مشير وفيونيون يتعون منفعت	

()

()

Table J-52

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- HALFWAY HOUSE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.70
R Square		.49
Adjusted	R Square	.29
Standard	Error	15.14
(Const	tant = 3.4	5)

6.22

6. 1

10

ŧ.

 \bigcirc

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- EARLY RELEASE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	1.0
R Square		1.0
Adjusted	R Square	0.0
Standard	Error	0.0
(Consta	ant = 27.8	33)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
DEFINITION	4			
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	55.50	0.00	1.31	99999.99
Abscond	6.60	0.00	.12	99999.99
Re-Arrest				
Re-Conviction	2.20	0.00	.04	99999.99
Imprisonment (technical offense)				
Imprisonment (either new convic-				
tion or technical offense)		<u> </u>		
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	-4 17	0.00	35	99999.99
(months)				
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		с		•
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England				
Mid-Atlantic				
East-North Central	28.87	0.00	.64	99999.99
West-North Central				
South Atlantic		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
East-South Central				
Mountain				
Pacific				
DECADE DATA COLLECTED		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
<u>(1=<1960: 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>			-	
ANY TREATMENT	. 00	.00	.00	.00
(Added=1; E1se=0)		····		

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		STD. ERROR	1	1
	<u> </u>	OF B	<u>ÈETA</u>	<u>F RATIO</u>
DEFINITION			N	
(relative to imprisonment		4		
for a new conviction)				
Failure	29.27	13.75	.49	4.53
Abscond	6.07	11.54	.18	.28
Re-Arrest	10.90	13.77	.09	.63
Re-Conviction	6.95	13.77	.06	,26
Imprisonment (technical offense)	8.48	11.75	.23	.52
Imprisonment (either new convic-	-3.55	11.59	.08	.09
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	<u> </u>			2.05
(months)	• 00	.33	• 20	3.95
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-1.16	14.48	.01	.01
Mid-Atlantic	4.75	11.95	.09	.16
East-North Central			10 A	
West-North Central	°31.39	11.37	.77	7.63
South Atlantic				
East-South Central			ř	
Mountain				
Pacific	27.51	11.04	.80	6.21
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	6 3/	5 00	0.1	1 16
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-0.34	5.90	. 19	1.10
ANY TREATMENT	_/ 05	3 38	1/	2 15
(Added=1; Else=0)	-4.95	5.50	•	2.13

J-59

Table J-54

JUVENILES -- PAROLE PROGRAM -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	, 64
R Square		.41
Adjusted	R Square	.33
Standard	Error	13.77
(Const	tant = 66	.66) .

(

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- MAXIMUM SENTENCE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.89
R Square		.79
Adjusted	R Square	.77
Standard	Error	12.22
(Const	tant = -7	.30)
- A		

		STD. ERROR	D DOM A	
	<u></u>	OF B	BETA	F RAIIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure				
Abscond		F (0	82	106 06
Re-Arrest	58.45	2.00	.02	100.00
Re-Conviction				
Imprisonment (technical offense)				
Imprisonment (either new convic-				
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH DF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1.10	.17	.52	42.13
(months)				
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	20.26	0 70	34	16.16
Mid-Atlantic	+39.30	3.17	••••	
East-North Central				
West-North Central				
South Atlantic			1. A. S.	
East-South Central		<i>6</i> [°]		
Mountain				
		and the second secon		
DECADE DATA COLLECTED			9	
(1=<1900; 2=1900 S; 3-1970 S)		and the second	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
ANY TREATHENT	-5.89	4.51	11	4.51
(Added=1; LISE=0)	-		ا هم ها ^بارتباع الما منه من المعامل ما اليستخور بيسي و	فالتأويل بالأستان الرابي يتشهيه الجربي بارعتهم

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	9.44	9.09	.10	.108
Group Home, PPC	-4.83	6.56	10	.54
Parole	9.04	5.27	.18	2.95
Work Study	-31.99	13.70	18	5.45
Halfway House	-40.02	20.29	13	3.89
Early Release	-13.33	12.65	07	1.11
Parole Program	8.14	13.56	.08	.36
Maximum Sensence	.00	.00	.00	.00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 17	27	65	18.89
(months)	· · · · ·	• • • •	• • • •	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION			· · · · ·	
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)		. *		
New England	-47.99	16.76	. 53	8.20
Mid-Atlantic	-14.32	23.48	.53	23.70
East-North Central	-22.97	6.37	.51	13.01
West-North Central	-12.68	12.12	.11	1.09
South Atlantic	-5.99	8.31	.09	•52
East-South Central	-57.14	21.50	.19	7.07
Mountain	11.99	19.71	.04	.37
Pacific	-18.48	7.73	.28	5.71
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-24 86	7 71	. 37	10.40
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-24,00	/ • / 土		20110
ANY TREATMENT	6.52	4.69	.15	1.93
(Added=1; Else=0)				
	ويوكيه بركوه ويوكه ويهدونه بينافيه بيكافين والعديد		. v-	

Table J-56

JUVENILES -- FAILURE -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.61
R Square		.37
Adjusted	R Square	.30
Standard	Error	18.56
(Consta	ant = 345.	28)

je

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

GOVENILES -- ABSCOND -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.44
R Square	.19
Adjusted R Square	.17
Standard Ergor	15.50
(Constant = 42.8)	30)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				**************************************
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	11.18	15.82	. 03	50
Group Home, PPC	8.92	4.41	.09	4 10
Parole	17.36	3.19	.33	29.70
Work Study	-11.32	5.07	10	4,99
Halfway House	6.97	4.83	.06	2.08
Early Release	8-59	16.19	02	28
Parole Program	8,26	3.43	.13	5.81
Maximum Sentence	.00	.00	.00	.00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	٩ /			
(months)	•14	.07	.24	3.81
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-6.10	.02	16.13	.19
Mid-Atlantic	-16.41	4.89	24	15.73
East-North Central	-5.01	5.09	07	.97
West-North Central	-5.44	4.04	.10	1.82
South Atlantic	-6.89	5.63	20	1.50
East-South Central	Ľ.			
Mountain	-20.37	16.33	05	1.56
Pacific	68	4.11	02	.03
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1 1/	1.0/		
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-1.14	T.90	04	.38
ANY TREATMENT (Added=1: E1se=0)	3.26	2.41	.08	1.82



 \hat{D}

° ()

 (\mathbf{i})

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention On the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	E RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				1 10110
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-25 16	2 00		
Group Home, PPC	25.10	3.92	34	41.27
Parole	20.74	3.63	•46	54.11
Work Study	20.00	4.41	.31	21.95
Halfway House	-20.73	6.48	.20	19.66
Early Release	-9.52	6.66	08	2.04
Parole Program	-15 22			
Maximum Sentence	-13.33	12.91	.05	1.41
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-HP	19.74	4.08	.26	23.40
(months)	.98	.15	.39	45.02
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	-8.14	4 10	· •	
Mid-Atlantic	-16 09	4.10	11	3.04
East-North Central	-20 12	5.30	18	9.01
West-North Central	-4 60	4.37	35	44.51
South Atlantic	-4.00	5.38	05	.73
East-South Central	-13.72	17.48	04	.81
Mountain	20			
Pacific	• 20	4.44	•00	•00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
(1=-1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	18.09	4.88	.25	13 72
ANY TREATMENT				13.12
(Added=1; Else=0)	-8.38	2.68	17	9,80
	and the second			2.00

Table J-58

JUVENILES -- ARREST -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.77
R Square	. 59
Adjusted R Square	.56
Standard Error	16.46
(Constant = 163)	02)

J-64

6-2

C

()

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- CONVICTION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.83
R Square		.69
Adjusted	R Square	.60
Standard	Error	11.18
(Const	tant = 51.	91)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			2	
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation				
Group Home, PPC	31.31	9,75	.87	10.32
Parole	17.52	6.11	.41	8.23
Work Study				0.23
Halfway House	36.74	12.20	.42	9.06
Early Release	25.67	17.25	.17	2.22
Parole Program	18.12	11.76	.17	2.37
Maximum Sentence	5.17	5.45	.08	.90
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	71	1 Ĕ		00 55
(months)	•/1	•12	•32	22.55
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)	9 g. 11 h. 1			
New England	-17.79	32.70	-1.02	10.87
Mid-Atlantic	-7.13	11.49	13	.38
East-North Central	-13.78	12.03	.20	1.31
West-North Central	-5.53	13.41	07	.17
South Atlantic	14.59	11.64	.26	1.57
East-South Central	-6.93	9.56	11	.52
Mountain				
Pacific	4.93	10.82	.14	.21
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	. 56	6 61	11	/7
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's</u>)	-4.00	0.04	-•11	•47
ANY TREATMENT	7 08	0 1 2	 	01
(Added=1; Else=0)	-/.90	0.13	23	• 96

J

 \bigcirc

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

	В	STD. ERROR OF B	ВЕТА	F RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1 101110
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-6.18	2 37	- 10	6 90
Group Home, PPC	95	2.57	10	0.00
Parole	11.08	1.90	27	3/ 0/
Work Study	11.00	1.70	• 2 1	54.04
Halfway House	4.64	4.65	03	1 00
Early Release	-1.45	12.57	00	
Parole Program	16.40	2.87	18	32 73
Maximum Sentence			• • • •	52.15
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			······	
(months)	1.13	•06	.59	417.28
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION			******	
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				•
New England	38	7.74	00	.00
Mid-Atlantic	22.60	5.80	.22	5.19
East-North Central	-1.71	5.05	02	.11
West-North Central	8.97	4.94	. 22	3.30
South Atlantic	25.32	7.86	.10	10.39
East-South Central				
Mountain	28.08	9.86	. 08	8,11
Pacific	19.96	4.71	.51	17.94
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-6./1	1.47	19	20.84
ANY TREATMENT			~~	
(Added=1: Else=0)	3.15	1.5/	.07	4.03

Table J-60

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.34
R Square		.12
Adjusted	R Square	.11
Standard	Error	18.43
(Const	tant = 30.	36)

C

C

C

-7)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R	.79
R Square	.62
Adjusted R Squa	are .57
Standard Error	6.31
(Constant =	-36.19)

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-5.94	3.97	13	2.24
Group Home, PPC	9.53	6.50	.13	2.15
Parole	-2.64	2.84	12	.86
Work Study				
Halfway House	21.37	7.51	.20	8.09
Early Release		•		
Parole Program	-57.78	7.03	77	67.48
Maximum Sentence				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	15	.15	. 09	.91
(months)	•10			
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION		•		
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)				
New England	3.65	7.05	.06	.27
Mid-Atlantic	51.37	6.67	.96	59.30
East-North Central	-3.71	6.41	18	.34
West-North Central	-4.80	7.20	24	.44
South Atlantic				
East-South Central		<u>C</u>		
Mountain				
Pacifíc	12.67	8.10	.17	2.45
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	- 96	2.58	05	.14
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	• 20			
ANY TREATMENT	-6.63	4.00	18	2.75
(Added=1: Else=2)				

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Added Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional and Geographic Location and Decade Data Collected

0

 \bigcirc

	STD. ERROR			······································	
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION					
(relative to standard probation)	•				
"Shock" Probation	-6.22	10.58	03	.35	
Group Home, PPC	17.59	6.04	.21	8.47	
Parole	23.40	3.11	.61	56.65	
Work Study	.36	17.84	.00	.00	
Halfway House	28,96	16.69	.16	3.01	
Early Release					
Parole Program	8.32	4.76	.11	3.06	
Maximum Sentence					
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	17			6 1.6	
(months)	•10	.15	•15	0.40	
GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION					
(compared to other U.S. & Canada)					
New England	14.97	10.15	.15	2.18	
Mid-Atlantic	4.73	9.13	•07	.27	
East-North Central	7.78	8.74	.14	.79	
West-North Central	11.99	9.12	.21	1.73	
South Atlantic	21.92	9.82	.26	4.98	
East-South Central	19.72	21.90	•09	.81	
Mountain	11.67	8.59	.23	1.84	
Pacific	17.95	8.75	.46	4.21	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	F.0	0 E/	10	04	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	23	2.04	01	•04	
ANY TREATMENT		2 82	_ 02		
(Added=1; Else=0)	95	2.02	02	***	
			·····		

. 62

Table J-62

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL -- ANY TREATMENT

Multiple R '	. 55
R Square	.30
Adjusted R	Square .26
Standard Er	ror 16.38
(Constan	t = 10.15)

-68

1

 $\langle \rangle$

General Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected ADULTS -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonme for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (tech. offe Imprisonment (either new viction or tech. offer INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to no supervis Probation "Shock" Probation Group Home - PPC Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=19) TREATMENT Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Drug/Medical Special Prison Reduced Supervision Residential - Non-Permiss Group Therapy Residential - Permissive Intensive Supervision Education Non-Profess. Group Counse Vocational Training Job Training Practical Individual Assi Specialized Supervision Financial Aid Job Placement Contract Programming

PART III

k.

ANALYSIS OF SPECIFIC TREATMENTS

J-69

Table J-63

Multiple	R	.65
R Square		.43
Adjusted	R Square	.42
Standard	Error	11.92
(Const	ant = 75	28)

		<u>B</u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	Γ ΒΑ ΤΤΟ
ent		с			
		27 33	Fr		
		27.00	• 56	• 44	2341.10
		•22 10 97	•36	.01	.37
		10.37	• 59	. 28	966.74
ADSA)		10.07	• 68	.13	221.23
Chae)		6.67	•36	.18	350.66
nse)		16.02	.43	.34	1362.62
sion)					
		-10 27	1.05		
		-17 02	1.05	22	95.02
		-576	1./9	09	100.53
		-2,70	1.92	03	9.03
		-11.23	1.01	31	124.24
		-10.19	1.31	09	60.75
		-3.42	1.35	03	6.39
		-11.03	1.98	05	30 07
I. IID		-8.67	1.22	11	50.31
V-UP		.19	.01	.20	575.57
)70's)		-5.12	.32	- 13	261 /1
	(NI)	······································		• 1.0	201.41
Assist.	33	18 05	0 00		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	105	10.37	2.33	•06	66.16
	100	6.00	1.21	.06	49.22
	101	0.23	1.28	.04	23.84
sivo	70T	5.25	1.21	•03	18.76
OTAC.	DT DT	4.90	1.69	.02	8.43
	100	4.64	1.80	.02	6.65
•	125	4.26	1,24	.03	11 85
	283	3.92	.79	.04	24 43
	77	1.89	1.47	.01	1 66
eling	45	1.84	1.93	.01	T.00
	140	.76	1.03	01	.90
· · · ·	51	.40	1.77	00	• 54
istance	127	-0.28	1.15	- 00	.00
	115	-1.89	1.33	- 01	•06
	28	-6.56	2 37	UT	2.01
	37	-7.71	2.07	02	7.63
	30	-11.52	2.02	03	14.52
		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	4.23	04	26.36

A

Adults Probation vs. Its Alternatives Specific Treatment

Multiple	R	• 53
R Square		.28
Adjusted	R Square	.27
Standard	Error	14.34
(Const	tant = 63.	10)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				•
Failure	23.75	1.82	.40	170.57
Abscond	-6.34	1.61	14	15.61
Re-Arrest	11.71	1.56	.27	56.26
Re-Conviction	9.04	1.62	.20	31.33
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.65	1.51	.06	3.09
Imprisonment (either new convic-	.71	1.78	.01	.16
tion or technical offense)				
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			-11 -	
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-3.64	2.15	05	2.85
Group Home, PPC	2.56	2.76	.03	.86
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	40	.03	00	.02
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	2 61	0.4	10	00.00
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-4.21	.07	13	23.23
TREATMENT		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Residential Non-Permissive	18.80	6.06	,08	9.64
Practical Assistance	12.44	4.04	.07	9.46
Residential Permissive	10.53	4.04	.07	6.78
Intensive Supervision	4.65	1.16	.10	15.98
Job Placement	2.38	4.60	.01	.27
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	.42	2.34	.00	.03
Reduced Supervision	-4.46	4.59	.02	.95
Non-Professional Group Therapy	-8.82	4.08	.06	4.68
Job Training	-10.86	10.19	02	1.14

 \bigcirc

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonment for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical off Imprisonment (either new co tion or technical offense INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard parol) Maximum Sentence Work Study Parole Program Early Release Halfway House LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UF (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970' TREATMENT Individual Psythotherapy Medical Intervention(usually Non-Professional Group Ther Special Prison Reduced Supervision Group Therapy Residential Permissive Education Residential Non-Permissive Vocational Training Practical Assistance Special Supervision Intensive Supervision Financial Aid Job Placement Contract Programming

()

ALL A

ŧ

J-71

Table J-65

Adults Parole vs. Its Alternatives Specific Treatment

R Square .4	9
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7
Adjusted R Square .4	7
Standard Error 11.1	9
(Constant = 83.96)	

	В	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	an a
	26.76	. 58	.43	2098.43
	.96	.35	.03	7.38
	18.90	. 68	.25	764.91
· · ·	7.75	.86	.08	80.63
Eense	6.79	.35	.19	375.05
onvic-	17.14	.43	.38	1586.87
se)			•	
Le)				
	11.80	•96	.10	150.91
	1.71	.85	.02	3.99
	4.26	.75	.06	32.32
	2.13	1.63	.01	
	10.05	.97	.11	108.20
	.22	.01	.22	715.57
's)	-5.87	.34	.14	290.60
	17.06			
	17.06	2.19	.06	60.53
Ly drugs)	11.80	1.49	.07	63.02
capy	8.51	2.30	.03	13.66
	6.69	1.21	•04	30.75
	6.06	1.20	.04	25.34
	4.00	1.69	.02	5.57
	2.20	1.26	. 02	3.05
	2.20	1.39	.01	2,52
	1.95	1.69	.01	1.33
	1.11	.97	.01	1.31
	-2.84	1.16	02	5,98
	-3.06	1.28	02	5.72
	-5.17	1.52	03	11.58
	-7.60	。 2.24	03	11.48
	-11.98	2.25	04	28.36
	-10 01	2 1 2	- 04	26 43

J-72

627



Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PROBATION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.53
R Square		.29
Adjusted	R Square	.28
Standard	Error	14.43
(Cons	tant = 60.	89)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION		9		
(relative to imprisonment		ý.		
for a new conviction)				
Failure	23.95	1.88	.41	161.86
Abscond	-6.90	1.68	15	16.80
Re-Arrest	11.83	1.64	.27	52.32
Re-Conviction	10.15	1.73	.21	34.27
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.93	1.55	.07	3.56
Imprisonment (either new convic-	21	1.87	00	.01
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 /	02	00	00
(months)	14	•03	00	•00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-4.03	.89	.13	20.38
TREATMENT				
Non-Professional Group Therapy	15.77	14.66	.03	1.16
Practical Assistance	13.71	4.24	.08	10.45
Residential Permissive	11.69	7.30	.04	2.57
Intensive Supervision	4.56	1.18	.10	15.02
Job Placement	2.29	4.63	.01	.25
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	10	2.36	00	• 00
Reduced Supervision	-4.67	4.62	02	1.03
Job Training	-10.44	10.26	02	1.04

C

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonm for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technica Imprisonment (either tion or technical of LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLI (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED <u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=</u> TREATMENT Practical Assistance

Table J-67

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- "SHOCK" PROBATION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.17			
R Square	.03			
Adjusted R Squa	are09			
Standard Error	10.89			
(Constant = 12.61)				

	<u></u> B	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	<u>F RATIO</u>
ment				
	6.32	11.89	.08	.28
	3.56	4.95 4.67	.15	.52
al offense) new convic-	1.32 5.14	11.89 6.36	.02	.01
offense) LOW-UP	97	00	02	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•••	•••	• 02	. UI
=1970's)				
	-8.36	11.71	.10	. 51

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism " Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PARTIAL PHYSICAL CUSTODY -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.76
R Square		.58
Adjusted	R Square	.50
Standard	Error	12.13
(Const	tant = 10.	89)

	B	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)			9	
Failure	30.37	10.38	.47	8.56
Abscond	3.99	9.21	.11	.10
Re-Arrest	11.20	10.79	.19	1.08
Re-Conviction	-3.19	9.86	09	.11
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-13.47	10.97	23	1.51
Imprisonment (either new convic-	29.46	10.73 °	.41	7.53
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	30	91	16	2 22
(months)	•	• 41	. 10	2.33
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	Ø			
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)				
TREATMENT				
Residential Non-Permissive	7.61	5.78	.14	1.74
Residential Permissive	4.36	4.81	.10	.82
Non-Professional Group Therapy	2.41	4.74	.07	.26

P

(

C

)

()

DEFINITION (relative to imprison for a new conviction Failure Abscond **Re-Arrest** Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technica Imprisonment (either tion or technical of LENGTH OF TIME IN FOL (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3 TREATMENT Individual Psychothera Intensive Supervision Medical Intervention(Non-Professional Group Special Prison Reduced Supervision Job Training Group Therapy Residential Permissive Vocational Training Education Residential Non-Permis Special Supervision Practical Assistance Contract Programming

in.

Table J-69

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PAROLE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.70
R Square	.49
Adjusted R	Square .49
Standard E	rror 10.29
(Consta	nt = 73.83)

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
ment)				
	26.81	.63	.42	1836.31
	. 27	.34	.01	.66
	15.20	.88	.16	298.48
· 4	9.67	1.16	.07	69.97
al offense)	6.92	.33	.21	423.58
new convic- offense)	17.31	.42	.42	1737.10
LOW-UP	.20	.01	• 22	629.25
=1970's)	-5.98	•34	.15	307.81
apv	17.17	2 02	07	72 35
	14.13	3.44	.03	16.92
usually drugs)	13.76	1.91	.05	51 80
p Therapy	8.53	2.27	.03	14 17
FFJ	7.42	1.15	.06	41.41
	5.55	1.35	.68-	16.82
	4.45	3.64	.01	1.49
	4.08	1.66	.02	6.06
e	3.15	2.37	.01	1.76
	1.45	.92	.01	2.49
	.64	1.64	.00	,15
ssive	18	3.10	00	.00
	24	10.29	00	.00
and a second	-2.89	1.85	.01	2.45
0	-12.75	2.72	.04	21.95

Table J-70 /

C

C

1

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- WORK STUDY -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.71
R Square		.50
Adjusted	R Square	.46
Standard	Error	15.30
(Const	tant = 13	3.77)

10	STD. ERROR			
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	17.18	4.98	.36	11.92
Abscond	2.99	4.71	.05	.40
Re-Arrest	33.99	4.88	.53	48.43
Re-Conviction	2.61	5.78	.03	.20
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-2.90	4.35	.05	.44
Imprisonment (either new convic-	3.75	4.98	.06	.57
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	38	00	36	19 26
(months)	•50	•••	•	10.30
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-10.93	6 38	11	2 03
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>			بلد شد •	2.35
TREATMENT			*	
Vocational Training	18.16	15.67	.06	1.34
Special Prison	12.41	15.80	•04	.62
Education	12.19	4.42	.22	7.60
Job Training	4.69	.10	.07	1.31
Practical Assistance	•66	5.20	.01	.02
Residential Permissive	-6.51	5.44	08	1.43
Reduced Supervision	-8.61	8.39	07	1.05
<u>Residential Non-Permissive</u>	-12.51	8.70	08	2.06

57

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

DEFINITION (relative to imprison for a new conviction Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technic Imprisonment (either tion or technical LENGTH OF TIME IN FOI (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; : TREATMENT Special Prison Medical Intervention(Residential Permissiv Residential Non-Permi Practical Assistance Vocational Training Contract Programming Job Training Special Supervision Job Placement

Table J-71

ADULTS -- HALFWAY HOUSE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.70
R Square		.48
Adjusted	R Square	.45
Standard	Error	15.01
(Const	tant = 272	.85)

		STD, ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
n m on t				
nillett.				
•••	37.06	4 87	60	59.00
	14.61	4.53	•03	58.02
	20.22	4.58	• 2 9	10.42
	8.06	5.58	.41	2 00
cal offense)	10.32	4.53	20	5 10
new convic-	11.21	5.11	.16	4 82
offense) -				7.02
LLOW-UP	21	.14	•08	2.47
D 3=1970's)	-21.60	11.43	.17	3.57
6	50.07	20.05	×	
(usually drugs)	2 38	20.00	.15	6.24
7e	16	2 80	.01	.03
issive	-2.76	3.68	•00	.00
	-5.70	3.06	•04	• 20
	-5.94	9.88	- 03	3.47
*	-9.13	5.06	- 11	
	-10.49	4.49	- 13	5.25
	-16.07	15.74	05	1 0/
	>-30.18	5.03	- 33	36 00

(1)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- EARLY RELEASE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

.86 Multiple R .74 R Square Adjusted R Square .69 Standard Error 7.19 (Constant = 45.39)

	B	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	13.67	3.89	.40	12.32
Abscond	8.88	3.72	.30	5.70
Re-Arrest	28.59	4.96	, 54	32.75
Re-Conviction	1.15	3.57	.04	.11
Imprisonment (technical offense)	-6.48	3.87	.18	2.80
Imprisonment (either new convic-	17.72	7.92	.20	5.01
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	84	14	59	35,93
(months)	• • •	• = 7		
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	_3 00	1 86	22	4.37
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-3.70	T,00	• Au 4	
TREATMENT				

)

()

		STD. ERROR	<u> </u>	
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	18.01	2.94	.35	37.62
Abscond	2.21	3.01	•03	.54
Re-Arrest	18.07	2.63	.37	47.08
Re-Conviction	5.30	3.07	.09	2.98
Imprisonment (technical offense)	3.08	2.27	.07	1.84
Imprisonment (either new convic-	17.16	3.23	.27	28.30
tion or technical offense)	10 A 1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	22	0%	30	68 30
(months)	• 3.3	• 04	• 52	00.00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	_1 06	1 68	- 06	1 36
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-1,30	1.00	00	1.50
TREATMENT	1			
Residential Non-Permissive	16.08	8.48	.07	3.59
Non-Professional Group Therapy	8.24	8.52	.04	.93
Medical Intervention (usually drugs)	3.29	3.27	• 04	1.01
Reduced Supervision	64	3.46	01	• 03
Job Placement	92	4.17	•92	.05
Group Therapy	-1.96	6.71	.01	.09
Practical Assistance	-6.54	4.19	.06	2.43
Special Supervision	-7.54	2.37	17	10.15
Intensive Supervision	-8.31	2.55	14	10.63
Financial Aid	-9.12	3.11	12	8.60
0 B	e de la compañía de l	· *.		

Table J-73

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- PAROLE PROGRAM -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.6 6
R Square		.43
Adjusted	R Square	.41
Standard	Error	14.37
(Const	:ant = 33.	65)

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- MAXIMUM SENTENCE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.79
R Square		.62
Adjusted	R Square	.59
Standard	Error	12.34
(Cons	tant = 280.	.42)

0		STD. ERROR		······································
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	39.31	12.52	.17	9.86
Abscond	11.36	8.97	.07	1.60
Re-Arrest	35.39	2.72	.84	169.24
Re-Conviction	17.95	2.93	.35	37.60
Imprisonment (technical offense)			<i>a</i>	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	49.93	7.71	.47	41.90
tion or technical offense)	e e e e			6
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	20	 D6		27 16
(months)	. 39	.00	• 37	21.10
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	02.20	10 61	10	3 / 1
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-23.29	32.01	10	3.4 1
TREATMENT		\$2. 	8.	*******
Special Supervision	8.82	8.95	•05	97
Residential Permissive	-2.88	12.51	01	.05
Special Prison	-3.87	12.44	02	.10
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	-5.53	11.63	03	.23
Practical Assistance	-6.37	7.75	05	.67

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

INSTITUTIONAL LOCAT (relative to standar "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC Parole Work Study Halfway House Early Release Parole Program Maximum Sentence LENGTH OF TIME IN F (months) DECADE DATA COLLECT (1=<1960; 2=1960's; TREATMENT Job Placement Non-Professional Gr Job Training Residential Permiss Practical Assistanc Intensive Supervisi Medical Interventio Residential Non-Per Vocational Training Financial Aid Education Special Prison Group Therapy Contract Programmin Special Supervision

()

Table J-75

ADULTS -- FAILURE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R		~	.48
R Square			· ·	23
Adjusted	R	Squa	are	.20
Standard	E	ror		18.29
(Const	tar	nt =	199	.76)

		STD. ERROR		······································
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
NOT				÷
rd probation)				
ra hronnenn	-15.32	18.34	03	. 69
	10.13	8.99	.04	1.27
	-1.72	2.17	04	. 63
	-1.29	3.80	02	.12
	8.24	4.84	. 09	2.89
	-11.16	6.75	06	2.73
	-1.85	3.13	03	.35
	4.91	20.87	.01	.06
FOLLOW-UP	.25	•08	.14	10.69
TED ; 3=1970's)	-13.94	1.88	29	55.07
	2016	10 //	07	4 34
	30.40		.07	10 30
coup Therapy	30.29	9.40	• • • •	1 57
	10.29	12.99	•04	6 60
sive	14.31	· 5.53	.12	6 10
ce	13.31	2.39	•10	7 08
ion	11.66	4 • ± 3 0 7 f	• # #	1.30
on(usually drugs)	11.43	2.75	• 7 7	1/-32
rmissive	9.51	9.85	.04	.93
S a solution	6.36	3.34	••07	5.02
	4.21	0.39	.02	
	3.05	3.28	.04	0/
	-2.78	6.57	UI	* LO 1 E7
	-6.34	5.00	05	T•3/
ng	-9.91	4.90	0/	3.99
n te e	-42.00	12.41	17	1.43

 $^{\circ}_{\circ}(\mathcal{Y})$

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location' and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- ABSCOND -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.48
R Square		.23
Adjusted	R Square	.23
Standard	Error	8.00
(Const	tant = 90.	86)

		STD. ERROR		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	В	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			- Ge	
(relative to standard probation)		2		
"Shock" Probation		"	12	
Group Home, PPC	10.32	1.05	1 1	00 10
Parole	53	71	•11	20.10
Work Study	-55	1 70	.02	• 25
Halfway House	9 53	1.66	- UL 16	55 60 TT
Early Release	15.94	2 41	•10	12.00
Parole Program	8.59	2.41	•10	43.00
Maximum Sentence	11.37	5 70	• 12	3.09
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		2.10	•04	<u>J.90</u>
(months)	56	.02	07	11.96
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-6.10	.72	19	71.15 🦄
TREATMENT	·····			
Education	28,54	4.67	. 11	37.27
Vocational Training	18.21	4.65	.07	15.32
Residential Permissive	14.17	1.79	.18	62.76
Special Prison	14.06	2.15	.12	42.69
Practical Assistance	11.09	1.70	.13	42.35
Group Therapy	10.04	8.03	.02	1.57
Individual Psychotherapy	8.47	8.04	.02	1.11
Job Training	7.54	2,25	.08	11.20
Residential Non-Permissive	5.12	2.06	.05	6.20
Non-Professional Group Therapy	5.04	4.06	.02	1.54
Intensive Supervision	3.34	1.69	.04	3.90
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	2.51	3.10	.02	.65
Special Supervision	-2.24	3.13	02	.51
Reduced Supervision	-3.15	4.67	01	.46
Job Placement	-7.17	6.12	02	1.37
Financial Aid	-10.04	3.83	06	6.86

J-83

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

		STD. ERROR		·····
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				·····
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-42.15	4 45		80.70
Group Home, PPC	16.73	7 11	57	09./0 E E/
Parole	-2.94	1.86	.03	2.24
Work Study	11.79	3 34	13	2.40 20 /7
Halfway House	9,93	2 9/	•15	12.4/
Early Release	24.25	8 75	.10	11.57
Parole Program	11.74	2.50	.09	22.06
Maximum Sentence	15.21	2.48	• 21	22.00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	30		• <i>4- 6</i> .	
(months)	•70	.05	.60	188.20
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	0.00			
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	9.92	2.51	• • 17	15.63
TREATMENT	· ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	6.86	4.76	.05	2.08
Special Prison	3.79	2.96	.05	1.64
Intensive Supervision	2,12	1.77	.04	1.44
Special Supervision	-3.34	5.15	02 A	.42
Contract Programming	-6.19	8.75	02 ⁽⁵⁾	.50
Residential Permissive	-7.23	4.83	05	2.23
Practical Assistance	-11.64	3.31	12	12.37
Vocational Training	-11.67	3.33	12	12.28
Non-Professional Group Therapy	-16.83	5.53	12	9.24
Reduced Supervision	-17.01	4.85	12	12.32
Job Placement	-18.61	3.90	17	22.72
Financial Aid	-21.99	5.91	13	13.86
Job Training	-22.33	10.54	07	4.49
Group Therapy	-23.32	··· 14.61	05	2.55
Individual Psychotherapy	-30.96	15.31	07	4.09

Table J-77

ADULTS -- ARREST -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R . 0	.63			
R Square		.39			
Adjusted	R Square	.37			
Standard	Error	14.38			
(Constant = -86.73)					

Ô

0

)

 \bigcirc

 $\langle Q_{ij}^{(\ell)} \rangle$

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- CONVICTION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.59
R Square	.35
Adjusted R Square	.31
Standard Error	12.94
(Constant = 24.2)	6)

		STD. ERROR	. o 	
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				· · ·
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-18.14	2.85	- 30	40.55
Group Home, PPC	-14.31	4.73	- 19	0 15
Parole	-9.62	1.91	24	25 48
Work Study	-16.71	4.41	- 18	1/ 3/
Halfway House	-18.42	6.32	28	8 51
Early Release	-8.84	4.04	09	4 78
Parole Program	-5.72	2.29	11	6.22
Maximum Sentence	1.29	2.91	.02	20
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP				
(months)	.41	.04	.47	105.96
DECADE DATA COLLECTED			· · ·	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	41	1.18	02	.12
TREATMENT			بر بر ب	
Vocational Training	14.85	9.71	.08	2 34
Special Prison	11.79	4.41	.11	7,15
Contract Programming	10.90	7.55	.10	2.08
Job Training	7.57	7.89	.06	2.00
Non-Professional Group Therapy	7.40	5.51	.08	1 80
Residential Permissive	6.01	5.51	.06	1 10
Job Placement	3.11	5.55	.02	. 31
Intensive Supervision	-0.62	2.41	01	• 07
Reduced Supervision	-7.40	6.59	04	1 26
Special Supervision	-7.88	9.78	03	1.20
Practical Assistance	-8.70	5.02	07	3,00
Medical Intervention(usually drugs)	-11.31	3 22	- 15	12 20

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

	STD. ERROR		
<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······································	
-4 34	11 55	01	- 4
-10 /3	TT+22	01	.14
-3 12	0.10	04	2.92
-4 75	2 00	10	1/.11
12 40	2.00	05	5.64
-1/ 82	4.40 1.1.1	.15	24.92
1 59	4.44	07	11.15
00	T.00	.02	•66
	.00	.00	.00
.19	.02	.24	145.77
-1.92	.58	07	10.93
-			
10.42	6.76	03	0 90
2.13	2 02	.03	2,30
.89	5 58	.02	T.T.
- 38	2 00	- 00	•.03
- 99	2.05	00	•03
-5.74	8.21	- 01	, .23
-5.76	3.08	- 04	-49
-6.60	2.54	- 07	5.30
-8.23	6.66	07	0.75
-9.43	5.27	- 04	2 21
-10.04	3 01	- 07	J. 41
-10.87	3.30	07	10 95
-12.18	8.18	- 03	TO.03
-14.05	5.46	- 05	6 61
-26.42	7.07	08	13 08
	$\begin{array}{r} \\ -4.34 \\ -10.43 \\ -3.12 \\ -4.75 \\ 12.40 \\ -14.82 \\ 1.52 \\ .00 \\ .19 \\ \hline \\ -1.92 \\ \hline \\ 10.42 \\ 2.13 \\ .89 \\38 \\99 \\ -5.74 \\ -5.76 \\ -6.60 \\ -8.23 \\ -9.43 \\ -10.04 \\ -10.87 \\ -12.18 \\ -14.05 \\ -26.42 \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	BOF BBETA -4.34 11.55 01 -10.43 6.10 04 -3.12 $.76$ 10 -4.75 2.00 05 12.40 2.48 $.15$ -14.82 4.44 07 1.52 1.86 $.02$ $.00$ $.00$ $.00$ $.19$ $.02$ $.24$ -1.92 $.58$ 07 10.42 6.76 $.03$ 2.13 2.02 $.02$ $.89$ 5.58 $.00$ 38 2.09 00 574 8.21 01 -5.76 3.08 04 -6.60 2.54 07 -8.23 6.66 02 -9.43 5.27 04 -10.04 3.01 07 -10.87 3.30 08 -12.18 8.18 03 -14.05 5.46 05 -26.42 7.07 08

J-85

Table J-7%

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.32
R Square 🤉	.10
Adjusted R Square	.09
Standard Error	11.52
(Constant = 37.1)	B1)
()

C

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

0

Multiple R	.48
R Square	.23
Adjusted R Square	.22
Standard Error	7.78
(Constant = 69.)	B7)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-5.50	3.09	04	3.17
Group Home, PPC	2.76	5,93	.01	.22
Parole	-6.58	.79	27	69.77
Work Study	-1.78	1.90	02	88
Halfway House	2.61	2.92	.03	.00
Early Release	-5.61	3.04	04	3.40
Parole Program	-4.00	1.67	08	5.75
Maximum Sentence	72	1.23	01	.35
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		-	·	
(months)	•1/	.01	•26	158.58
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	F 10	г)	10	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.10	•54	19	88.73
TREATMENT				
Special Prison	13.24	1.96	.13	45.55
Reduced Supervision	9.82	1.20	.17	66.57
Non-Professional Group Therapy	8.58	5.53	.03	2.41
Residential Non-Permissive	6.39	4.16	.03	2.36
Intensive Supervision	5.33	1.37	.08	15.13
Vocational Training	4.74	1.57	.06	9.12
Group Therapy	3.87	4.61	.02	.70
Job Training	-1.22	3.69	01	.11
Special Supervision	-1.80	1.97	03	.83
Residential Permissive	-3.93	3.56	03	1.22
Practical Assistance	-4.52	2.68	04	2.86
Education	-6.63	4.57	03	2.11

 \bigcirc

()

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			•	- 101110
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	2 24			
Group Home, PPC	3.34	4.56	•02	•54
Parole	10 10	7.22	.13	25.76
Work Study	10.10	1.23	• 25	67.50
Halfway House	3.81	3.17	.03	1.44
Early Release	7.09	3.42	•06	4.30
Parole Program	19.07	12.51	• 03	2.32
Maximum Sentence	16.21	2.62	.19	38.33
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW IT	38.02	6.03	.15	39.78
(months)	.26	.02	.38	265 40
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				205140
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-8.29	.70	28	140.83
TREATMENT				
Non-Professional Group Therapy	19 37	5 50	00	
Individual Psychotherapy	15.58	2.23	.08	11.99
Medical Intervention (usually drugs)	12 25	4.31	•14	36.70
Residential Non-Permissive	10 01	4.04	.07	6.98
Education	0.16	2.62	.05	3.51
Group Therapy	7 26	3.03	.06	6.31
Vocational Training	2 20	2.68	.06	7.52
Practical Assistance	3.29	2.83	•03	1.35
Special Supervision	2.0/	3.05	•02	.89
Job Training	T.09	12.68	•00	.02
Intensive Supervision	.22	4.33	• 00	•00
Special Prison	-1.92	5.76	01	.11
Job Placement	-2.27	4.20	01	.29
Residential Dormicature	-3.46	4.30	02	.65
ACOLUCIAL FEIMISSIVE	-4.06	2.85	04	2.03

Table J-81

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

ADULTS -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.61
R Square		.37
Adjusted	R Square	.36
Standard	Error	12.44
(Const	ant = 144.	26)

J-88

General Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected JUVENILES - SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	•58
R Square	.34
Adjusted R Square	.33
Standard Error	17.44
(Constant = 24.	83)

			STD. ERROR		
	de la factoria	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION					
(relative to imprisonment					
for a new conviction)					
Failure	-31. **	37.01	2.16	.50	293.71
Abscond		15.37	2.00	.32	59.22
Re-Arrest		36.02	2.07	. 58	303.42
Re-Conviction		7.77	2.90	.07	7.17
Imprisonment (tech. offense)		17.34	1.77	.37	95.55
Imprisonment (either new con-		17.35	1.98	.27	76.77
viction or tech. offense)	$(1-1)^{2}$			in the second	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION					
(relative to no supervision)		in water			
Probation		-28.08	3.04	63	85.41
"Shock" Probation		-34.48	3.35	37	105.75
Group Home - PPC		-19.20	3.45	29	31.07
Parole		-14.49	3.09	33	22.00
Work Study		-35.32	4.54	18	60.42
Halfway House		-23.63	4.14	15	32.61
Early Release		-28.49	7.78	07	13.42
Parole Program	9 9 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	-18.55	3.52	19	27.84
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		۵۸ ۲	02	20	120 00
(months)		• 2 4	• 02	• 20	120.00
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	0	- 20	91	- 00	06
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)		20	•01	00	.00
TREATMENT	(N)				
Specialized Supervision	16	17.33	4.48	.07	14.97
Non-Profes. Group Counseling	13	16.02	5.12	.06	9.78
Job Placement	17	15.63	4.84	.07	10.43
Psychotherapeutic Indiv. Assist.	21	14.79	3.89	.07	14.45
Contract Programming	<u>⊾</u> 6. e	14.14	7.50	.04	3.55
Practical Individual Assistance	22	12.41	3.81	.06	10.59
Residential - Permissive	139	8.90	1.82	.10	23.81
Special Prison	46	8.71	2.80	.06	9.71
Intensive Supervision	119	8.21	1.93	.09	18.12
Vocational Training	6	5.58	4.44	.02	1.58
Residential - Non-Permissive	49	5.55	2.67	.04	4.25
Group Therapy	° 1 5	.11	4.59	.00	.00
Education	145	.61	2.20	.01	.08
Behavior Modification	9	-8.35	5.90	03	2.01
Job Training	30	-9.51	3.47	05	7.50

 \bigcirc

C

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonment for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either new INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION (relative to standard pro "Shock" Probation Group Home, PPC LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-(months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=19) TREATMENT Practical Assistance Individual Psychotherapy Special Supervision Job Placement Vocational Training Residential Non-Permission Intensive Supervision Special Prison Contract Programming Residential Permissive Education Group Therapy Behavior Modification

Job Training

0

Ì

 \bigcirc

J-89

Table J-83

Juveniles Probation vs. Its Alternatives Specific Treatment

Multiple	R	.60
R Square		.36
Adjusted	R Square	.35
Standard	Error	15.90
(Cons	tant = 46.	23)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
t				
	28.86	3.32	.46	75.79
	4.88	3.18	.12	2.35
	30.02	3.15	.56	90.78
	.93	4.17	.01	.05
offense)	7.48	3.19	.14	5.51
convic-	3.19	3.39	.04	.88
ense)	· · ·	·		
		•		
obation)				
	-10.18	1.96	16	26.94
	10.18	2.63	.21	14.95
I-UP	.19	.03	.28	44.32
7010)	-3.38	1.10	08	9.49
/0 \$/				
	20.06	3.98	.13	25.41
	19.27	6.14	.08	9.86
	15.13	4.14	.09	13.34
	12.08	5.53	.07	4.78
	11.57	8.08	.04	2.05
ve	9.07	5.23	.05	3.01
	9.00	2.38	.11	14.33
	8.94	3.66	.06	5.98
	5.43	7.42	.02	.54
	33	3.27	00	.01
	-3.01	2.94	05	1.05
	-3.63	7.67	01	.22
	-3.81	16.18	01	.06
	-13.11	4.07	08	10.39

C

J--90

C

C

Ô

	Jı	iveni	lles		
Parole	Vs.	Its	Alter	nati	ives
S	pecif	fic 1	freat	nent	

	· · · · · ·
Multiple R	.65
R Square	.42
Adjusted R Square	.40
Standard Error	17.39
(Constant = 4.0)	8)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION	•			
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	34.14	2.94	.38	134.88
Abscond	27.72	2.63	.42	111.25
Re-Arrest	34.29	2.95	.46	135.23
Re-Conviction	7.39	4.28	.06	2.98
Imprisonment (technical offense)	2.03	2.09	.44	92.29
Imprisonment (either new convic-	20.60	2.39	.35	74.49
tion or technical offense)			1 0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to no supervision)				
Maximum Sentence	17.80	3.53	.15	25.47
Work Study	-21.68	3.79	15	32.77
Halfway House	-11.71	3.10	10	14.23
Early Release	-4.69	7.56	02	.39
Parole Program	-3.02	2.56	04	1.40
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	C1	<u>م</u>	27	210 70
(months)	.01	• 04	• 57 *	210.70
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1 07	1 17	03	1 17
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	1.21	/ــــ	.03	1.1/
TREATMENT				
Non-Professional Group Therapy	11.12	5.16	.05	4.64
Residential Permissive	10.04	2.24	.12	20.02
Individual Psychotherapy	7.98	4.87	.04	2.69
Special Prison	6.93	4.03	.05	2.95
Vocational Training	2.61	5.15	.01	.26
Intensive Supervision	1.78	3.28	.02	.30
Group Therapy	-2.42	5.57	01	.19
Education	-8.19	5.32	04	2.37
Job Training	-11.27	5.82	05	3.75
Behavior Modification	-12.56	6.27	05	4.02
Practical Assistance	-18.08	8.36	06	4.67

0

 \bigcirc

()

		STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	36.62	3.89	.53	88.80
Abscond	4.08	3.58	.11	1.30
Re-Arrest	28.42	3.75	.47	57.51
Re-Conviction	.75	4.87	.01	.02
Imprisonment (technical offense)	7.88	3.83	.12	4.24
Imprisonment (either new convic-	1.31	3.74	.02	.12
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	<u>э</u> то	0.3	Ċ T	01 / 0
(months)	•19	-03	.51	51.42
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	_2 ///	1 2/	10	7 70
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-3,44	T•24	• 10	/./0
TREATMENT				
Job Placement	43.75	15.18	.09	8.30
Individual Psychotherapy	19.99	8.98	.07	4.96
Special Supervision	15.55	4.01	.13	15.06
Vocational Training	12.83	7.66	.05	2.80
Special Prison	8.95	3.55	.08	6.35
Intensive Supervision	5.78	2.47	.09	5.50
Practical Assistance	3.16	5.13	.02	.38
Education	2,09	5.07	.01	.17
Job Training	-16.82	4.86	12	11.94

J-91

Table J-85

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PROBATION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R			.57
R Square				.32
Adjusted	R	Squa	re	.31
Standard	Er	ror		15.03
(Const	an	t = -	47.0	42)

5

.

(

0

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- "SHOCK" PROBATION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.89
R Square	.80
Adjusted R Sc	uare .78
Standard Erro	or 8.01
Constant =	= 144.17)

·····		STD FRROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				a
Failure	51.19	7.43	.86	47.48
Abscond	33.34	8.67	.18	14.81
Re-Arrest	29.85	4.12	.80	52.58
Re-Conviction				
Imprisonment (technical offense)	15.13	3.66	.44	17.10
Imprisonment (either new convic-	14.62	7.52	.13	3.78
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	62	17	17	12 00
(months)	.02	•#/	•1/	12.90
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-13 45	2 15	- 36	30 21
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-12.42	2.1.2	50	0
TREATMENT				
Practical Assistance	28.44	6.74	.39	17.80
Residential Permissive	-4.13	6.90	05	.36
Intensive Supervision	-15.09	5.88	11	6.59

0

 \bigcirc

	-	STD. ERROR		
	<u>B</u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment				
for a new conviction)				
Failure	25.91	13 58	. 50	3.64
Abscond	17.35	13.76	.22	1.59
Re-Arrest	45.67	13.52	.96	11.42
Re-Conviction	13.47	14.34	.20	.88
Imprisonment (technical offense)	13.08	13.60	.25	.93
Imprisonment (either new convic-	23.61	15.44	.26	2.34
tion or technical offense)			۰.	
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	35	<u>^</u>		17 6/
(months)		• 00	• 31	17.54
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	0 33	/. 77	20	ົ່າ ດາ
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	3.33	4.//	• 20	3.82
TREATMENT				
Contract Programming	39.18	14.31	.28	7.50
Practical Assistance	22.28	19.14	.07	1.36
Individual Psychotherapy	21.92	13.58	• 09	2.61
Residential Non-Permissive	17.37	8.34	.18	4.33
Group Therapy	14.82	11.30	.10	1.72
Job Placement	11.13	10.02	.12	1.23
Job Training	7.69	10.08	.06	. 58
Education	4.04	6.68	.09	.37
Residential Permissive "	2.73	7.23	.05/	.14

Table J-87

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PARTIAL PHYSICAL CUSTORY -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.60
R Square		.37
Adjusted	R Square	.31
Standard	Error	17.86
(Consta	ant = -111	.29)

J-94

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PAROLE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.61
R Square	.37
Adjusted R Square	.36
Standard Error	17.77
(Constant = -13)	.81)

		STD. ERROR		
(A, A, A	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment		9 		
for a new conviction)			Service and the service of the servi	
Failure	34.30	3.22	.39	113.74
Abscond	27.55	3.07	.34	80.28
Re-Arrest	32.88	3.50	.35	88.34
Re-Conviction	16.08	.10	7.92	7.92
Imprisonment (technical offense)	19.69	2.18	.44	81.53
Imprisonment (either new convic-	20.11	2.66	.36	51.19
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	50	.04	. 39	173.34
(months)				
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	1 30	1.31	.03	.99
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	1.50			
TREATMENT	Ø .			<i>.</i>
Non-Professional Group Therapy	11.22	5.31	.06	4.46
Residential Permissive	10.43	2.59	.12	16.26
Individual Psychotherapy	8.22	5.07	.04	2.62
Job Training	°3.09	9.31	.01	11
Residential Non-Permissive	2.36	3.41	•02	.48
Special Prison	-1.52	9.05	00	.03
Behavior Modification	-2.72	8.04	01	.12
Vocational Training	-2.89	5.78	01	.25
Group Therapy	-3.05	5.71	02	.29
Education	-6.43	7.37	02	.76
Practical Assistance	-24.76	9.02	09	7,53

C

(5)

0

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonme for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technical Imprisonment (either ne tion or technical of LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLC (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1 TREATMENT Education

Table J-89

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- WORK STUDY -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R	.83
R Square	. 69
Adjusted R Square	.61
Standard Error	8.53
(Constant = 7.1)	.8)

		STD. ERROR	······································	6
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
ent				n an The sa
	12.08 5.19 -1.26	17.42 9.05 8.99	.29 .19 .04	.48 0.33 .02
l offense) ew convic- ffense)				
DWUP	.65	• 48	.49	1.87
1970's)	ic -			
	-13 41	5.07	. 30	£ 00

િ

C

Q

)

()

 \bigcirc

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- HALFWAY HOUSE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.63
R Square	. a	.40
Adjusted	R Square	• 23
Standard	Error	15.80
(Const	tant = 57	.63)

	R	STD. ERROR	Bፑጥለ	ፑ ይልሞፐብ
	D	UP D	DAIA	I MILO
DEFINITION				
(relative to imprisonment			·	
for a new conviction)			· · · · ·	
Failure	4.86	23.48	.04	.04
Abscond	12.52	16.65	.33	· 57
Re [#] Arrest	22.67	17.81	.58	1.62
Re-Conviction	4.35	18.56	.06	.06
Imprisonment (technical offense)	5.30	16.95	.12	.10
Imprisonment (either new convic-	26.42	20.92	.39	1.60
tion or technical offense)				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 02	2/	E1	0.01
(months)	1.02	.34	• 54	9.31
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	F 10	01 OF	O/	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-2.13	21.95	04	
TREATMENT				
Residential Permissive	9.19	7.30	.26	1.59

20

DEFINITION (relative to imprisonm for a new conviction) Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (technica Imprisonment (either n tion or technical o LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLL (months) DECADE DATA COLLECTED <u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=</u> TREATMENT Intensive Supervision

Table J-91

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- EARLY RELEASE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	1.00
R Square		1.00
Adjusted	R Square	.00
Standard	Error	.00
(Const	tant = 27	.83)

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	F RATIO
nent	4. 4. 			
	55.50	.00	1.31	99999.99
	6.60	.00	.12	99999.99
al offense) new convic-	2.20	•00	•04	99999.99
offense)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
LOW-UP	-4.16	.00	35	99999.99
=1970's)		9		
	28.87	.00	. 64	99999.99

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- PAROLE PROGRAM -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	. 59
R Square		.35
Adjusted	R Square	.25
Standard	Error	14.55
(Const	tant = 197.	62)

	STD, ERROR O				
	В	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
DEFINITION					
(relative to imprisonment					
for a new conviction)					
Failure	28.65	12.30	.48	5.43	
Abscond	15.54	11.65	.45	1.78	
Re-Arrest	10.90	14.55	• 09	. 56	
Re-Conviction	6.95	14.55	.06	. 23	
Imprisonment (technical ^o offense)	21.40	11.23	• 58	3.63	
Imprisonment (either new convic-	5.89	12.10	.13	.24	
tion or technical offense)					
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	75	30	Ø 23	5 32	
(months)	•15	•52	• 4.3	J, J2	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	-16 61	5 80	- 40	8 10	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-10.01		47	0.19	
TREATMENT					
Special Prison	9.80	4.46	.23	4.84	
Job Placement	3.95	11.39	.03	.12	
Intensive Supervision	-7.97	4.20	.23	3.60	
Job Training	-13.82	7.36	.19	3.53	
Behavior Modification	-17.10	10.85	.17	2.48	

देव)

.

6

DEFINITION (relative to impris for a new convicti Failure Abscond Re-Arrest Re-Conviction Imprisonment (tech Imprisonment (eith tion or technica LENGTH OF TIME IN I (months) DECADE DATA COLLECT (1=<1960: 2=1960's TREATMENT Intensive Supervis

Table J-93

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forma of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- MAXIMUM SENTENCE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.89
R Square	Ť	.79
Adjusted	R Square	.77
Standard	Error	12.22
(Consta	ant = -550	.27)

	<u></u>	STD. ERROR OF B	BETA	· <u>F RATIO</u>
sonment ion)				•
	58.45	5.68	.82	106.06
nical offense) er new convic- al offense)	2 		÷. 10	
FOLLOW-UP	1.10	.17	.52	42.13
TED ; 3=1970's)	45.25	9.44	.39	22.99
ion	-5.89	4.51	.10	1.70

ن م

J-100

C

(

(

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of fime in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- FAILURE -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R		.56
R Square			.32
Adjusted	R	Square	.25
Standard	E	ror	19.27
(Const	tar	nt = 101	.26)

	STD. ERROR				
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO	
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION					
(relative to standard probation)			y the second		
"Shock" Probation	6.42	18.70 ⁽⁾	.07	.12	
Group Home, PPC	6.01	8.34	.12	.52	
Parole	.39	4.72	.01	.01	
Work Study	-12.58	12.19	07	1.07	
Halfway House	-12.88	21.14	04	.37	
Early Release	-7.93	12.42	04	.41	
Parole Program	-29.19	8.64	28	11.42	
Maximum Sentence	.00	.00	.00	.00	
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	20	10	20	00.40	
(months)	• 28	•13	•32	20.49	
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	7 00	C 1C	ъ	2 1 1	
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-7.99	2.12	• 12	Z•\\ \ 1	
TREATMENT					
Special Prison	36.53	11.63	.26	9.87	
Practical Assistance	25.94	19.86	.20	1.71	
Intensive Supervision	13.62	5.15	.23	6.99	
Residential Non-Permissive	10.36	10.87	.07	.91	
Job Training	-10.73	15.96 ·	.05	.45	
Residential Permissive	-14.68	15.35	.12	.92	
Education	-15.33	7.78	.29	3.88	
Individual Psychotherapy	-15.89	•26.44	.05	.36	
Group Therapy	-16.82	20.63	.05	. 67	

Э

 \bigcirc

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	18,99	15.73	05	1 / 4
Group Home, PPC	9.12	6 30	.05	2 10
Parole	22.61	2.92	× •09	50 78
Work Study	1.88	5.19	.43	13
Halfway House	10.47	6.08	.02	•13
Early Release	-5.26	16.04	- 01	2.9/
Parole Program	14.49	3.67	22	15 58
Maximum Sentence	.00	.00	.00	00
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP			• • • •	••••
(months)	.20	•04	.34	25.90
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	2 (2			
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	-3.03	1.39	11	6.82
TREATMENT				
Special Supervision	24.63	6.73	.14	13.40
Non-Professional Group Therapy	18.50	6.71	.11	7.59
Practical Assistance	16.91	8.01	.08	4.47
Residential Non-Permissive	11.63	10.76	.05	1.17
Residential Permissive	9.44	5.91	.10	2.55
Individual Psychotherapy	8.77	5.99	.06	2.14
Special Prison	8.50	4.17	.09	4.15
Group Therapy	5.50	11.48	.02	.23
Intensive Supervision	3.06	3.99	.04	. 59
Job Training	1.43	11.58	.00	.01
Education	-2.34	5.28	02	.20

Table J-95

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- ABSCOND -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.44
R Square		.19
Adjusted	R Square	.16
Standard	Error	15.56
(Const	tant = 67	.56)

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

C

C

JUVENILES -- ARREST -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.74
R Square		.55
Adjusted	R Square	.51
Standard	Error	17.41
(Consta	ant = -213	.38)

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-21,11	3.92	28	29.04
Group Home, PPC	19.37	4.63	.33	17.53
Parole	11.54	3.53	.17	10.66
Work Study	-25.84	6.39	18	16.36
Halfway House	-9.22	5.66	07	2.66
Early Release				
Parole Program	-25.93	12.66	09	4.20
Maximum Sentence	20.76	4.44	.27	21.82
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	1 16	1.6	1.6	56 97
(months)	1.10	• 10	•40	50.27
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	21 20	1 10	30	23 70
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	21.03	, 4.45	• 30	23.79
TREATMENT				
Job Placement	39.01	17.61	.09	4.90
Special Prison	11.26	17.61	.03	.41
Special Supervision	2.71	7.12	.02	.15
Education	-1.12	4.87	02	.05
Practical Assistance	-2.04	12.71	01	.03
Intensive Supervision	-5.69	5.25	05	1.18
Behavior Modification	-11.74	18.04	03	.42
Residential Permissive	-11.80	4.42	16	7.13
Job Training	-13.24	4.72	13	7.87
Residential Non-Permissive	-17.68	11.35	07	2.43
Vocational Training	-46.72	18.10	11	6.66

C

 $\left(\right)$

65.

Regression Equation: Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

	В	STD. ERROR OF B	<u> </u> в г т л	E DAUTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION			DLIA	F RAIIO
(relative to standard probation) "Shock" Probation				
Group Home, PPC Parole	20.66	5.03	• 58	16.88
Work Study	24. JJ	5.89	• 57	17.35
Halfway House Early Release	29.61	10.83	.34	7.48
Parole Program	1.75	15.4/	.05	.21
Maximum Sentence	6.70	£.52	.02	.01
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP (months)	.31	.08	•57	16.48
DECADE DATA COLLECTED (1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	6.73	6.46	.17	1.09
TREATMENT Job Training	-3,50	19.20		
Residential Permissive	-4.70	6 51	02	•03
Residential Non-Permissive	-6.91	8.65	11	•52
Group Therapy	-15.61	14.41	10	•04 1 17
Vocational Training	-20.79	10.75	20	3.74
FIACLICAL ASSISTANCE	-26.37	8.36	35	9.94

J-103

•

Table J-97

JUVENILES -- CONVICTION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.73
R Square		.53
Adjusted	R Square	.41
Standard	Error	13.58
(Const	tant = -69	.06)

(___}

()

C

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-TECHNICAL -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.74
R Square		.55
Adjusted	R Square	.53
Standard	Error	13.40
(Const	tant = 77.	.67)

		STD. ERROR		
	B	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-9.64	2.90	15	11.04
Group Home, PPC	-13.13	5.37	19	5.97
Parole	2.90	2.57	.07	1.27
Work Study			and the	
Halfway House	-12.49	5.86	07	4.54
Early Release	-16.30	13.66	03	1.42
Parole Program	10.96	3.62	.12	9.19
Maximum Sentence				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	9 1 9	~ ~ ~	<i>(</i>)	000 45
(months)	1,1/	•00	•01	388.65
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	5 00	7 1 0	1/	10 05
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	-5.02	1.18	14	18.05
TREATMENT				
Residential Non-Permissive	33.11	7.64	.14	18.80
Contract Programming	24.26	7.49	.12	10.51
Education	16.87	5.31	.20	10.09
Residential Permissive	15.92	2.79	.19	32.54
Individual Psychotherapy	12.79	8.11	.05	2.49
Non-Professional Group Therapy	11.32	5.57	.06	4.12
Group Therapy	9.25	4.79	.06	3.73
Special Supervision	8.52	8.11	.02	.31
Special Prison	3.48	4.50	.03	.60
Behavior Modification	2.40	6.08	.01	.16
Intensive Supervision	-2.57	3.27	03	.62
Job Training	-8.14	9.91	02	. 68
Vocational Training	-12.90	9.53	04	1.83
Practical Assistance	-25.26	9.82	07	6.62

 \mathbf{O}

 \bigcirc

9

TRADE CANADA STRATEGY

		STD. ERROR		
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATTO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	-2 25	11 02	07	
Group Home, PPC	16.41	11.02	01	•04
Parole	17.05	2.22	.20	9.8/
Work Study	- 46	2.90	•40	36.75
Halfway House	22 47	10.00	00	.00
Early Release	££• 7/	TA•01	•13	4.27
Parole Program	14 82	6 20	10	F F0
Maximum Sentence	17.02	0.30	•19	5.53
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP	······································			
(months)	.18	.06	.17	9.23
DECADE DATA COLLECTED				
<u>(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)</u>	1.86	2.51	•05	.55
TREATMENT				0
Vocational Training	10.64	6.58	10	2 61
Special Prison	9.07	6.56	08	1 01
Individual Psychotherapy	5.41	6.02	.00	1.71 01
Residential Permissive	3.83	4.14	.05	•01 86
Residential Non-Permissive	.36	3.45	.05	•00
Job Placement	-1.28	13,13	- 01	.01
Intensive Supervision	-6.12	11.25	01	.0T
Education	-15.91	8.40	05	3 50
Practical Assistance	-16.84	10.19	- 00	2.29
Group Therapy	-17.08	11.76	- 08	2.73
Job Training	-23.76	17.64	- 08	2.11 7 01
Behavior Modification	-26.45	11.47	00	1.01 5.00

Table J-100

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-ALL -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple	R	.55
R Square		.31
Adjusted	R Square	.25
Standard	Error	16.44
(Const	ant = 4.8	0)

J-107

.

Regression Equation: The Independent Impact of Various Forms of Intervention on the Rate of Criminal Recidivism Controlling for Definition of Recidivism, Length of Time in Follow-Up, Institutional Location and Decade Data Collected

JUVENILES -- IMPRISONMENT-NEW CONVICTION -- SPECIFIC TREATMENT

Multiple R .40 R Square .16 Adjusted R Square .06 Standard Error 9.37 (Constant = -88.30)

		STD. ERROR		······································
	<u> </u>	OF B	BETA	F RATIO
INSTITUTIONAL LOCATION				
(relative to standard probation)				
"Shock" Probation	.25	5.25	.00	.00
Group Home, PPC	4.60	16.35	.06	.08
Parole	3.89	3.45	.18	1.27
Work Study				
Halfway House	18.40	21.04	.17	.76
Early Release				
Parole Program	-5.43	9.58	07	.32
Maximum Sentence				
LENGTH OF TIME IN FOLLOW-UP		10	01	01
(months)	~•10	•19	01	.01
DECADE DATA COLLECTED	7 67	o /.1	17	5 06
(1=<1960; 2=1960's; 3=1970's)	7.07	3.41	•4,1	5.06
TREATMENT				
Special Prison	8.89	11.13	.08	.64
Vocational Training	5.59	6.00	.09	.87
Job Training	-1.80	13.25	02	.02
Residential Permissive	-3.47	18.78	05	.03
Practical Assistance	-7.68	9.57	07	.64_

APPENDIX K

)

 \bigcirc

STUDY BIBLIOGRAPHY

Acquilano, John N. 1972. "Monroe County (N.Y.) Probation Program--Follow-Up Report." Probation and Parole 4(Summer):55-62.

K-2

- Adams, Reed. 1970. Differential Association and Learning Principles Revisited." Social Problems 20:458-70.
- Akman, D.D.; Normandeau, A.; and Turner, S. 1967. "The Measurement of Delinquency in Canada." The Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 58:330-37.
- Allen, John. 1977. Assault with a Deadly Weapon: The Autobiography of a Street Criminal, edited by Dianne Kelly and Phillip Heymann. New York: Pantheon Books.

American Law Institute. 1962. Model Penal Code. New York.

(×

Br.

- Atkinson, Maxwell. 1974. "Versions of Deviance: Extended Review." Sociological Review 22:616-24.
- Avio, Kenneth L. 1975. "Recidivism and the Economic Model of Crime." Economic Inquiry 13:450-56.
- Axelrod, S. 1952. "Negro and White Institutionalized Delinquents." American Journal of Sociology 57:569-74.
- Babst, D.V. 1976. "Assessing Length of Institutionalization in Relation to Parole in the U.S. in 1968 and 1969." Criminology 14:41-54
- Bailey, Walter C. 1966. "Correctional Outcome: An Evaluation of 100 Reports." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 57:153-60.

. 1971. "Correctional Outcome: An Evaluation of 100 Report." In Criminal Justice, edited by Leon Radzinowicz and Marvin Wolfgang, 3 vols. New York: Basic Books. Vol. 3: The Criminal in Confinement.

Bailey, William C.; Martin, J. David; and Gray, Louis N. 1974. "Crime and Deterrence: A Correctional Analysis." Journal of Research on Crime and Delinquency 11:124-43.

- Baker, Duane, et al. 1976. Oregon--Corrections Impact Program--Client Resources and Services Project--Evaluation Report. Sacramento, Calif .: American Justice Institute.
- Bandura, A., and Walters, R.H. 1963. Social Learning and Personality. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Baum, M., and Wheeler, S. 1968. "Becoming an Inmate." In Controlling Delinquents, edited by S. Wheeler. New York: Wiley.
- Becker, Gary. 1974. "Crime and Punishment: An Economic Approach." Journal of Political Economy 42:89-109.

Becker, Howard S. 1973. "Labeling Theory Reconsidered." In Outsiders: Studies in the Sociology of Deviance, edited by Howard S. Becker. New York: The Free Press.

Beless, Donald W.; Rest, Edward R.; and Pilcher, William S. 1973. Probation Officer Case Aide Project (POCA) -- Final Report -- Phase I. Chicago, Ill .: University of Chicago Center for Studies in Criminal Justice.

Berk, R. 1966. "Organizational Goals and Inmate Organization." American Journal of Sociology 71:522-34.

Bergin, A.E. 1971. "An Evaluation of Therapeutic Outcomes." In Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change, edited by A.E. Bergin and G.L. Garfield. New York: John Wiley.

7:130-69.

Books.

Blumer, Herbert. 1951. "Collective Behavior." In Principles of Sociology, edited by Alfred M. Lee. New York: Barnes and Noble.

Bordua, David J. 1961. "Delinquent Sub-Cultures: Sociological Interpretations of Gang Delinquency." The Annals 338:252-55.

. 1962. "Some Comments on Theories of Group Delinquency." Sociological Inquiry 32:224-32.

Review 19:31-32.

dom House.

Breener, Harvey M. 1971. Time Series Analysis of Relationships Between Selected Economic and Social Indicators. Springfield, Va.: National Technical Information Service.

Brenner, H. 1976. Estimating the Social Costs of National Economic Policy: Implications for Mental and Physical Health, and Criminal Aggression. Paper #5 prepared for the use of the Joint Economic Committee, U.S. Congress. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

tionery Office.

Becker, Howard S. 1963. Outsiders: Studies in the Sociology of Deviance. New York: The Free Press.

1967. "Whose Side Are We On?" Social Problems 14:239-47.

Blacklerm, C. 1968. "Primary Recidivism in Adult Men: Differences Between Men on First and Second Sentences." The British Journal of Criminology

Blumberg, Abraham S. 1967. Criminal Justice. Chicago: Chicago Quadrangle

Blumstein, A. 1974. "Seriousness Weights in an Index of Crime." American Sociological Review 39:854-64.

Box, Steven, and Ford, J. 1974. "Crime and Criminals. The Facts Don't Fit: On the Relationship Between Social Class and Criminal Behavior." Socio-

Brashler, William. 1977. The Life and Death of Sam Giancana. New York: Ran-

Brody, S.R. 1976. The Effectiveness of Sentencing--A Review of the Literature. Home Office Research Report #35. London: Her Majesty's Sta-

- Brown, Barry S. 1970. "The Impact of Imprisonment on Selected Attitudes of Recidivists and First Offenders." Journal of Clinical Psychology 26:435-38.
- Buckner, H. Taylor. 1971. Deviance, Reality and Change. New York: Random House.
- Buikhuisen, W., and Hoekstra, H.A. 1974. "Factors Related to Recidivism." British Journal of Criminology 14:63-69.
- California Youth Authority. 1974. Increased Parole Effectiveness Program--Final Report. Sacramento, Calif.: California Council on Criminal Justice.
 - . 1974. Reading and Recidivism. Sacramento, Calif.: California Council on Criminal Justice.
- Cannon, Tom. 1975. Evaluation of the Norfolk Fellowship. Boston, Mass.: Department of Corrections.
- Carney, Francis J. 1967. "Predicting Recidivism in a Medium Security Correctional Institution." The Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 58:338-48.

_. 1971. "Evaluation of Psychotherapy in a Maximum Security Prison." Seminars in Psychiatry 3:363-75.

- Carter, R.M.; Glaser, D.; and Wilkins, L., eds. 1971. Correctional Institutions. New York: Lippincott.
- Cason, Hulsey, and Prescer, M.J. 1946-47. "A Comparative Study of Recidivists and Non-Recidivists Among Psychopathic Offenders." The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 37:236-38.

Cervantes, L.F. 1965. The Drop Out. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

- Chambliss, W.J., ed. 1969. Crime and the Legal Process. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Chatwin, M.R., and Dunham, H.W. 1970. "The Juvenile Court and Its Relationship to Adult Criminality." In Crime and Delinquency: A Reader, edited by C.E. Bersani. Toronto: Collier-MacMillan.
- Chilton, Roland, and DeAmicis, Jan. 1975. "Overcriminalization and the Measurement of Consensus." Sociology and Social Research 59:318-29.
- Chilton, Roland J., and Markle, G.E. 1972. "Family Disruption and Delinquent Conduct: Multiple Measures and Effect of Sub-Classification." American Sociological Review 37:93-99.

Clemmer, Donald. 1958 (1940). The Prison Community. New York: Rinehart.

. 1959. "Observations on Imprisonment as a Source of Criminality." Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 41:311-19.

Paul.

Cohen, Albert K. 1955. Delinquent Boys: The Culture of the Gang. New York: The Free Press.

Books.

Creesey, D.R., ed. 1961. The Prison: Studies in Institutional Organization. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Dahrendorf, R. 1958. "Toward a Theory of Social Conflict." Journal of Conflict Resolution 11:417-32.

Danziger, Sheldon, and Wheeler, David. [1978]. "The Economic of Crime: Punishment or Income Redistribution." Reivew of Social Economy (forthcoming).

Dubin, Robert. 1959. "Deviant Behavior and Social Structure: Continuities in Social Theory." American Sociological Review 24:147-64.

Dunham, H. Warren, and Knauer, Mary E. 1959. "The Juvenile Court in Its Relationship to Adult Criminality." Social Forces 32:290-96.

_. 1951. Suicide, translated by John N. Spaulding and George Simpson. New York: The Free Press.

Empey, L.T., and Lubeck, S.G. 1971. Explaining Delinquency: Construction, Test, and Reformulation of a Sociological Theory. Lexington, Mass.: Heath-Lexington Books.

390-97.

Cloward, Richard A. 1959. "Illegitimate Means, Anomie, and Deviant Behavior." American Sociologcal Review 24:164-76.

Cloward, Richard A., and Ohlin, Lloyd E. 1960. Delinquency and Opportunity: A Theory of Delinquent Gangs. New York: The Free Press.

. 1961. Delinquency and Opportunity. London: Routledge and Kegan

_. 1959. "The Study of Social Disorganization and Deviant Behavior." In Sociology Today, edited by Robert K. Merton, et al. New York: Basic

Cohen, H.L., and Filipczak, J. 1971. A New Learning Environment. San Francisco, Calif.: Josey Bass.

Durkheim, Emile. 1947. The Division of Labor in Society, translated by George Simpson. New York: The Free Press.

Erickson, Maynard L., and Empey, L.T. 1963. "Court Records, Undetected Delinquency and Decision Making." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 54:456-69.

Erickson, Maynard L., and Gibbs, Jack. 1975. "Specific Versus General Properties of Legal Punishments and Deterrence." Social Science Quarterly,

Erskine, Hazel. 1974. "Polls: Causes of Crime." Public Opinion Quarterly 38:288-98.

К-б

1974. "Polls: Fear of Violence and Crime." Public Opinion Quarterly 38:131-45.

- Eysenck, Sybil B.G., and Eysenck, Hans J.E. 1974. "Personality and Recidivism in Borstal Boys." British Journal of Criminology 14:385-87.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Department of Justice. 1976. Uniform Crime Report for the United States, 1975. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Fishman, R. 1977. Criminal Recidivism in New York City: An Evaluation of the Impact of Rehabilitation and Diversion Services. New York: Praeger Publishers.
- Fleisher, Belton M. 1963. "The Effect of Unemployment on Juvenile Delinquency." Journal of Political Economy 71:543-53.
- "Garabedian, P.C. 1963. "Social Roles and Processes in the Prison Community." Social Problems 11:139-52.
- Garrett, M., and Short, James F. 1975. "Social Class and Delinquency: Aredictions and Outcomes of Police-Juvenile Encounters." Social Problems 22:368-83.
- Gibbons, D.C. 1971. "Observations on the Study of Crime Causation." American Journal of Sociology 77:262-78.
- Gibbs, J.P. 1966. "Conceptions of Deviant Behavior: The Old and the New." Pacific Sociological Review 9:9-14.
- Glaser, Daniel. 1959. "Crime, Age and Employment." American Sociological Review 24:679-86.
 - 1956. "Criminality Theories and Behavior Images." American Journal of Sociology 56:433-44.
 - , 1964. The Effectiveness of a Prison and Parole System. New York: Bobbs-Merrill.
 - 1974. "Remedies for the Key Deficiency in Criminal Justice Evaluation Research." Journal of Research on Crime and Delinquency 11:144-54.
- Claser, Daniel, and Rice, Kent. 1959. "Crime, Age and Unemployment." American Sociological Review 24:679-86.
- Glaser, Daniel; Semans, Eugene; and Dean, Charles. 1961. Money Against Crime: A Survey of Economic Assistance to Released Prisoners. Chicago: John Howard Associates.
- Glueck, S., and Glueck, E. 1959. Predicting Delinguency and Crime. Cambridge: Mass.: Harvard University Press.

(____

Gorecki, J. 1974. "Crime Causation Theories: Failures and Perspectives." British Journal of Sociology 24:461-77.

Gove, Walter C. 1975. The Labeling of Deviance: Evaluating a Perspective. New York: Wiley.

3.

Greenberg, David F. 1975. "The Incapacitiative Effect of Imprisonment: Some Estimates." Law and Sociological Review 9:541-80.

Greenberg, P.F. 1977. "The Correctional Effects of Corrections: A Survey of Evaluations." In Corrections and Punishment, edited by P.F. Greenberg. Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage Publications.

Grenough, John L. 1974. "Crime Prevention: A New Approach--Environmental Psychology and Criminal Behavior." Journal of Political Science Administration 2:339-41.

Griffiths, A.W., and Rundle, A.T. 1976. "Survey of Male Prisoners: Some Aspects of Family Background." British Journal of Criminology 16:352-66.

Gunn, John, and Robertson, Graham. 1976. "Drawing a Criminal Profile." British Journal of Criminology 16:156-60.

Hannerz, Ulf. 1968. Soulside: Inquiries into Ghetto Culture and Community. New York: Columbia University Press.

Harris, Anthony R. 1975. "Imprisonment and the Expected Value of Criminal Choice: A Specification and Test of Aspects of the Labeling Perspective." American Sociological Review 40:71-87.

Henderson, Harold, and Steiner, N.J. 1974. "Internal vs. External Control of Defendants Studied in Probation Setting." Journal of Research on Crime and Delinquency 11:117-23.

Hennessy, Michael, et al. 1978. "Broken Homes and Middle Class Delinquency." Criminology 15:505-25.

Control.

()

"Government Ignores Underground Economy." 1978. The Socioeconomic Newsletter

Griffen, P.J. 1965. "Rates of Crime and Delinquency." In Crime and Its Treatment in Canada, edited by W.T. McGrath. Toronto: MacMillan.

Higgins, Paul. 1974. Minnesota Youth Advocacy Corps--An Evaluation. St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota Governor's commission on Crime Prevention and

Hindeland, Michael J. 1978. "Race and Involvement in Crimes." American Sociological Review 43:93-109.

1977. Sourcebook of Criminal Justice Statistics. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Law Enforcement Assistance Administration.

- Hirschi, T. 1969. Causes of Delinquency. Berkeley, Calif.: University of California Press.
- Hogan, R. 1973. "Moral Conduct and Moral Character: A Psychological Perspective." Psychological Bulletin 79:217-32.
- Hood, Robert. 1971. "Research on the Effectiveness of Punishments and Treatments." In Criminal Justice, edited by Leon Radzinowicz and Marvin Wolfgang, 3 vols. New York: Basic Books. Vol. 3: The Criminal in Confinement.
- Hopkins, Andrew. 1976. "Imprisonment and Recidivism: A Quasi-Experimental Study." Journal of Research on Crime and Delinquency 13:13-32.
- Horn, J.C. 1978. "Prisons--We Pay Too Much For Too Little." Psychology Today 11:14-18.
- Ianni, Francis A. 1974. Black Mafia: Ethnic Succession in Organized Crime. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Jaffe, E. 1969. "Family Anomie and Delinquency." British Journal of Criminology 9:376-88.
- Jeffrey, Clarence R. 1965. "Criminal Behavior and Learning Theory." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 56:294-300.
- Jessness, Carl F., and Derisi, W.J. 1972. Youth Center Research Project. . Rockville, Md.: National Institute of Mental Health.
- Jew, Charles, and Clannon, T. Laurence. 1972. "Effectiveness of Group Psychotherapy in a Correctional Institution." American Journal of Psychiatry 129:602-05.
- Jew, Charles C.; Kim, Luke I.; and Mattocks, Arthur L. 1975. Effectiveness of Group Psychotherapy with Character Disordered Prisoners, Research Report 56. Sacramento, Calif.: California Department of Corrections.
- Jordan, Frank R., and Sasfy, Joseph H. 1974. Review of Selected Issues and Research Findings Related to Probation and Parole--National Impact Program Evaluation. McLean, Va.: Metre Corporation.
- Kassebaum, Gene G.; Ward, David A.; and Wilner, Donald M. 1971. Prison Treatment and Parole Survival--An Empirical Assessment. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Kauraceus, W.C. 1945. Juvenile Delinguency and the School. New York: World Book Co.

Kennedy, Robert. 1960. The Enemy Within. New York: Harper.

Killinger, George A., and Archer, Glen A. 1974. Employment Assistance and Support for the Ex-Offender (Project E.A.S.E.)--An Evaluation. Huntsville, Texas: Sam Houston State University, Institute of Contemporary Corrections and Behavioral Sciences.

Kitsuse, John I., and Dietrich, David C. 1959. "Delinquent Boys: A Critique." American Sociological Review 24:208-15.

Kohlberg, L. 1964. "Development of Moral Character and Moral Ideology." In Review of Child Development Research, Vol. I, edited by M.S. Hoffman and L.W. Hoffman. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Kraus, J. 1974. "Comparison of Corrective Effects of Probation and Detention on Male Juvenile Offenders." British Journal of Criminology 14:49-62.

Krohn, Marvin D. 1976. "Inequality, Unemployment and Crime: A Cross National Analysis." Sociological Quarterly 17:303-13.

Ku, Richard; Moore, Richard; and Griffiths, Keith. 1975. Volunteer Probation Counselor Program--An Exemplary Project. Washington, D.C.: NILECJ.

Land, Kenneth C., and Felson, Marcus. 1976. "General Framework for Building Dynamic Macro Social Indicator Models: Including an Analysis of Changes in Crime Rates and Police Expenditures." American Journal of Sociology 82:565-604.

Lemert, Edwin M. 1971. "The Concept of Secondary Deviation." In Human Social Problems and Social Control, edited by Edwin M. Lemert.

. 1973. "Beyond Mead: The Societal Reactions to Deviance." Social Problems 21:457-68.

1951. Social Pathology. New York: McGraw-Hill.

ed. 1967. Human Deviance, Social Problems and Social Control. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.

Lenihan, Kenneth J. 1976. When Money Counts: An Experimental Study of Providing Financial Aid and Job Placement Services to Released Prisoners. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Social Research, Inc.

. 1977. Financial Assistance in Reducing Recidivism. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Labor.

Press.

Lesieur, Henry R., and Lehman, Peter. 1975. 'Remeasuring Delinquency: A Replication and Critique." British Journal of Criminology 15:69-80.

Liebow, Elliot. 1967. Tally's Corner. Boston: Little, Brown.

Lipton, Douglas; Martinson, Robert; and Wilkes, Judith. 1975. The Effectiveness of Correctional Treatment. New York: Praeger.

Lerman, P. 1975. Community Treatment and Social Control: A Critical Analysis of Juverile Correctional Policy. Chicago, Ill.: University of Chicago

Lewis, Morgan V., et al. 1974. Community Sponsors and Support Teams in Corrections -- An Experiment and Its Evaluation. College Park, Pa.: Pennsylvania State University.

Long, Larry H. 1974. "Poverty Status and Receipt of Welfare Among Migrants and Nonmigrants in Large Cities." American Sociological Review 39:46-56.

- Loomis, Charles P., and Loomis, Lana K. 1961. "Talcott Parsons' Social Theory." In Modern Social Theories. Princeton, N.J.: D. Van Norstrand Co.
- Mallar, Charles. "A Comparative Evaluation of the Benefits and Costs from the LIFE Program." Unpublished manuscript prepared for the American Bar Association Transitional Aid Project for Ex-Offenders under Grant No. 21-11-75-19 from the Employment and Training Administration of the U.S. Department of Labor.
- Maltz, M.D., and McCleary, R. 1977. "The Mathematics of Behavioral Change: Recidivism and Construct Validity." Evaluation Quarterly 1:421-38.
- Mandel, Nathan, et al. 1965. "Recidivism Studied and Defined." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 56:59-66.
- Martinson, Robert. 1974. "What Works?--Questions and Answers About Prison Reform." The Public Interest.
- Martinson, Robert, and Wilkes, Judith. 1976. "Knowledge in the Criminal Justice System: A Preliminary Report." New York: Center for Knowledge in Criminal Justice Planning.
- Marx, Karl. 1956. Selected Writings in Sociology and Philosophy, edited by T.B. Bottomore and M. Rubel. London: Watts.
- Maryland Division of Correction. 1973. Forty-Fifth Report, Fiscal 1973. Baltimore.

(

- Masters, Stanley H. 1975. Black-White Income Differentials. New York: Academic Press.
- Matthews, Merlyn. 1970. "Methodology and Findings in the Federal Offenders Rehabilitations Programs." In Proceedings of the Third National Symposium on Law Enforcement Science and Technology, edited by Stanley J. Cohn and William B. McMahon. Chicago, Ill.: ITT Research Institute.
- McCarthy, J.D., et al. 1975. "Population Density, Social Structure and Interpersonal Violence: An Intermetropolitan Test of Competing Models." American Behavioral Science 18:771-91.
- McCord, Joan. 1973. Correctional Group Counseling Evaluation Report. Philadelphia, Pa .: Philadelphia Family Court.
- McDonnell, John. 1971. Evaluation of the Training Provided in Correctional Institutions Under the Manpower Development and Training Act--Section 251--Final Report--Impact of Training Program on Trainees. Cambridge, Mass.: Abts. Associates.
- McMichael, P. 1974. "After-Care, Family Relationships and Reconviction in a Scottish Approved School." British Journal of Criminology 14:236-47.

)

Mead, Anthony C. 1974. "Labeling Approach to Delinquency: State of the Theory as a Function of Method." Social Forces 53:83-91.

cago Press.

Chicago Press.

Press.

Merton, Robert K. 1937. "Social Structure and Anomie." American Sociological Review 3:672-82.

Press.

Merton, Robert K., and Nisbet, Robert A. 1961. Contemporary Social Problems. New York: Harcourt, Brace and World.

Metzner, Ralph, and Weil, Gunther. 1963. "Predicting Recidivism: Base Rates for the Massachusetts Correctional Institution Concord." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 54:307-16.

Miller, Donald, and Waldorf, Dan. 1973. Direct Financial Assistance to Parolees Project--Research Evaluation. Sacramento, Calif.: California Council on Criminal Justice.

Mohavedi, Siamek, and Ogles, Richard H. 1976. "Predictions and Inference in Criminology." Criminology 14:177-88.

35:250-58.

Ronald Press Co.

National Council on Crime and Delinquency. 1972. Effect of Vocational Upgrading Upon Probationer Recidivism, One-Year Evaluation of the Singer/ Graflex Monroe County, New York Pilot Probation Project. Hackensack, N.J.

1974. "Comprehensive Criminal Justice Planning: A Policy Statement." Crime and Delinquency 20:10-14.

McPheters, Lee R. 1976. "Criminal Behavior and the Gains from Crime." Criminology 14:137-52.

Mead, G.H. 1934. Mind, Self and Society. Chicago, Ill.: University of Chi-

Mead, George. 1962. Mind, Self and Society. Chicago, Ill.: University of

. 1964. On Social Psychology. Chicago, Ill.: University of Chicago

. 1968. Social Theory and Social Structure. New York: The Free

Monahan, T. 1957. "Family Status and the Delinquent Child." Social Forces

Mowrer, O.H. 1960. Learning Theory and Personality Dynamics. New York:

1968. Guides for Sentencing. New York.

Newman, Donald. 1966. Conviction: The Determination of Guilt or Innocence Without Trial. Boston: Little, Brown.

- Normandeau, A. 1966. "The Measurement of Delinquency in Montreal." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 57:172-77.
- Nunnally, Jum C. 1967. Psychometric Theory. New York: McGraw-Hill,

- 1

.

- Nye, F.I. 1957. Family Relationships and Delinquent Behavior. New York: Wiley.
- Nye, F.I., and Short, James. 1957. "Scaling Delinquent Behavior." American Sociological Review 22:326-31.
- O'Brien, John J., and Cavanagh, Frederick J. 1974, "Study of Individual and Family Recidivism, and a Police Response." Journal of Police Science Administration 2:322-29.
- Odell, Brian Nea. 1974. "Accelerating Entry into the Opportunity Structure: A Sociologically-Based Treatment for Delinquent Youths." Sociology and Social Research 58:312-17.
- Ogden, R.W. 1973. "The Ineffectiveness of the Criminal Sanction in Fraud and Corruption Cases: Losing the Battle Against White-Collar Crime." American Criminal Law Review 11:959-88.
- Ohlin, Lloyd E.; Miller, A.D.; and Coates, R.B. 1977. Juvenile Correctional Reform in Massachusetts. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University.
- Palmer, Jan S. "1974. An Economic Analysis of Sentencing and Recidivism in the Michigan Criminal Justice System. Ph.D. thesis, Michigan State University.

Parsons, Talcott. 1951. The Social System. New York: The Free Press.

- Parsons, Talcott, and Shils, Edward A., eds. 1951. Toward a General Theory of Action. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Pease, Kenneth; Ireson, Judith; and Thorpe, Jennifer. 1974. "Additivity Assumptions in the Measurement of Delinquency." British Journal of Criminology 14:256.
 - . 1975. "Modified Crime Indices for Eight Countries." Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 66:209-14.
- Phillips, Llad. 1972. "Crime, Youth and the Labor Market." Journal of Political Economy 80:491-504.
- Pepinsky, Harold E. 1976. "The Growth of Crime in the United States." Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 423:22-30.
 - _. 1976. "Police Patrolmen's Offense-Reporting Behavior." Journal of Research on Crime and Delinquency 13:33-47.
- Perlman. 1972. Deferred Prosecution and Criminal Justice--A Case Study of the Geneses County (MI) Citizens Probation Authority. Lansing, Mich.: Michigan Office of Criminal Justice Programs.



4

Pownall, George. 1969. Employment Problems of Released Prisoners. Washington, D.C.: Manpower Administration, U.S. Department of Labor.

President's Commission on Law Enforcement and the Administration of Justice. 1967. Task Force Report: Corrections. Washington, D.C.

Quinney, Richard. 1974. Crime and Justice in Society. Boston: Little Brown.

. 1973. "Crime Control in Capitalist Societies: A Critical Philosophy of Legal Order." Issues in Criminology 8:75-99.

Radzinowicz, Leon, and Wolfgang, Marvin, eds. 1971. Criminal Justice, 3 vols. New York: Basic Books. Vol. 3: The Criminal in Confinement.

Reckless, W.C. 1967. The Crime Problem. New York: Appleton Century.

Reid, S.T. 1976. Crime and Criminology. Hinsdale, Ill.: The Dryden Press.

Reinerman, Craig, and Miller, Donald. 1973. Direct Financial Assistance to Parolees Project--Research Evaluation. San Francisco, Calif .: Scientific Analysis Corporation.

. 1975. Direct Financial Assistance to Parolees: A Promising Alternative in Correctional Programming, Research Report 55. Sacramento, Calif .: California Department of Corrections, Research Division.

Rice, Willy. 1975. Recidivism: A Multivariate Explanation. Ph.D. thesis, University of North Carolina.

Roberts, Alan; Erickson, Robert; Riddle, Mary; and Bacon, Jane G. 1974. "Demographic Variables, Base Rates, and Personality Characteristics Associated with Recidivism in Male Delinquents." Journal of Consulting Clinical Psychology 42:833-41.

Robertson, M.H. 1974. "Recent Trends in the Criminal Law." Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 65:87-90.

Robins, L., and Hill, S. 1966. "Assessing the Contributions of Family Structure, Class, and Peer Groups to Juvenile Delinquency." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 57:325-34.

Robinson, J.C., and Smith, G. 1971. "The Effectiveness of Correctional Programs." Crime and Delinquency 17:67-80.

Rose, G.N. 1966. "Concerning the Measurement of Delinquency." British Journal of Criminology 6:414-18.

Ross, H.L. 1967. "Law, Science and Accidents: The British Road Safety Act of 1967." The Journal of Legal Studies 2:1-78.

Rossi, Peter H.; Waite, Emily; Rose, Christine; and Berk, Richard. 1974. "The Seriousness of Crimes: Normative Structure and Individual Differences." American Sociological Review 39:224-37.

- Sampson, Allan. 1974. "Post-Prison Success Prediction: A Preliminary Florida Study." Criminology 12:155-73.
- Sasfy, Joseph H. 1975. Assumptions Research in Probation and Parole--Initial Description of Client, Worker, and Project Variables--National Impact Program Evaluation, McLean, Va.: Mitre Corporation.
- Savitz, Leonard. 1962. Delinquency and Migration. Philadelphia: Commission on Human Relations.
- Schwartz, R.D., and Skolnick, J.H. 1967. "Two Studies of Legal Stigma." Social Problems 10:133-42.
- Scott, Joseph E. 1975. Ex-Offenders as Parole Officers--An Evaluation of the Parole Aide Program in Ohio. Lexington, Mass.: D.C. Heath & Co.
- Scott, Joseph E., and Bennett, P.A. 1973. Ex-Offenders as Parole Officers--An Evaluation of the Parole Officer Aide Program in Ohio. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Unversity Press.
- Seidman, David, and Couzens, Michael. 1974. "Getting the Crime Rate Down: Political Pressure and Crime Reporting." Law and Sociology Review 8:457-93.
- Sellin, T. 1938. Culture, Conflict and Crime. New York: Social Science Research Council, Bulletin 41.
- Sellin, T., and Wolfgang, M.E. 1964. The Measurement of Delinquency. New York: Wiley.
- Sepsi, Victor J., Jr. 1974. "Girl Recidivists." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 11:70-79.
- Shmarov, I.V. 1974. "Prevention of Crime Among Released Convicts." Soviet Review 15:60-73.
- Short, James, and Strodbeck, F. 1965. Group Processes and Gang Delinquency. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Shrag, C. 1954. "Leadership Among Prison Inmates." American Sociological Review 19:37-42.

Skinner, B.F. 1971. Beyond Freedom and Dignity. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.

- Skogan, Wesley G. 1974. "Validity of Official Crime Statistics: An Empirical Investigation." Social Science Quarterly 55:25-38.
- Skolnick, Jerome J. 1966. Justice Without Trial: Law Enforcement in Democratic Society. New York: Wiley.

Smith, Patricia M., and Austin, Harvey R. 1974. "Socialization as Related to Delinquency Classification." Psychological Report 34:677-78.



100

١)

Spencer, Paul E. 1975. "Population Density and Unemployment: The Effects of the Incidence of Crime in the American City." Criminology 13:399-330.

Lippincott.

Sutherland, Edwin H., and Creesey, Donald. 1974. Criminology, 9th edition. New York: Lippincott.

Swimmer, G. 1974. "Relationship of Police and Crime: Some Methodological and Empirical Results." Criminology 12:293-314.

Sykes, G.M. 1958. The Society of Captives. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.

Terry, R.M. 1967. "The Screening of Juvenile Offenders." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 58:173-81.

Thomas, Charles W. 1976. "Prisonization and Its Consequences: An Examination of Socialization in a Coercive Setting." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association, August 1976.

Tinklenberg, J. 1973. "Drugs and Crime: Literature Review." In Drug Use in America: Problems in Perspective, National Commission on Marijuana and Drug Use. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office. Vol. 1: Patterns and Consequences of Drug Use.

Tuft, N.S. 1976. "Recommitals of Juvenile Offenders." British Journal of Criminology 16:385-88.

Turk, A. 1969. Criminality and the Legal Order. Chicagg: Rand-McNally.

Twentieth Century Fund's Task Force on Criminal Sentencing 1976. Fair and Certain Punishment. New York: McGraw-Hill.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1974. Census Population: Inmates of Institutions, 1970. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

. 1976. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 1976 (97th Edition. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Criminal Justice Information and Statistics Service. 1976. Survey of Inmates of State Correctional Facilities in 1974. Washington, D.C.: 0.253 U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 1974. Estimating Unemployment in State and Local Areas--Report 432. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Velez-Diaz, A., and Megargee, E.I. 1970. "An Investigation of Differences in Value Judgments Between Youthful Offenders and Non-White Offenders in Puerto Rico." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science 61:549-53.

 $\mathcal{T}(2,\mathcal{D})$. By the disc original metric we assure that

Sutherland, Edwin H. 1947. Principles of Criminology, 4th edition. New York:

Tittle, Charles R. 1975. "Deterrence or Labeling?" Social Forces 53:399-410.

Virkkunen, M. 1976. "Parental Derivation and Recidivism in Juvenile Delinquents." British Journal of Criminology 16:378-84.

C

Warren, M.Q. 1969. "The Case for Differential Treatment of Delinquents." Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 38:47-59.

Weicher, Hohn C. 1970. "The Effect of Income on Delinquency." American Sociological Review 35:249-56.

Weinburg, S.K. 1964. "Juvenile Delinquency in Ghana: A Comparative Analysis of Delinquents and Non-Delinquents." Journal of Law, Criminology and Police Science 55:471-81.

Wellford, Charles F., and Niatrowski, Michael. 1975. "Symposium on the Measurement of Delinquency." Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 66:173-221.

Wheeler, S. 1961. "Socialization in Correctional Communities." <u>American</u> Sociological Review 26:697-712.

Whyte, William. 1955. <u>Street Corner Society</u>, 2nd edition. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Wilkins, Leslie T. 1960. <u>The Evaluation of Penal Measures</u>. New York: Random House.

Wolfgang, M., and Cohen, B. 1970. <u>Crime and Race: Conceptions and Misconcep-</u> <u>tions.</u> New York: Institute of Human Relations Press, American Jewish Committee.

APPENDIX L

CRITIQUE OF TECI

Methodology of Treatment Evaluation Assessment

by

David F. Greenberg Sociology Department New York University

I. THE STUDY AND ITS FINDINGS

L-2

A. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE STUDY

<u>Trends in the Effectiveness of Correctional Intervention</u> (to be denoted TECI) is an attempt to determine the effects on recidivism of a large number of correctional measures involving some form of supervision or treatment. The study is a secondary analysis of published and unpublished evaluations of correctional measures. Based on information about 12,146 groups of released offenders, representing more than 2 million individuals, the study is unprecedented in its scope. No previous assessment of correctional intervention has worked with such a vast data base.

Unlike other reviews of correctional treatment evaluations, TECI pools information from different studies in such a way as to yield an unequivocal yes-or-no answer to the question of whether a given form of intervention reduces or increases recidivism. The methodological issues raised by the study are reviewed here to help determine the degree of confidence that can be placed in its findings, and to aid in the planning of future assessments of correctional measure effectiveness.

II. APPRAISAL OF THE METHODOLOGY

A. DESCRIPTION OF THE RESEARCH METHODS

TECI evaluates the effects of correctional measures by estimating multiple regression equations in which a recidivism rate (the proportion of a group's members that recidivate) is treated as a dependent variable. The various forms of intervention studied are treated as predictors through the use of dummy variables. Relevant control variables, such as length of time in follow-up, are handled as covariates in the regression.

the regression equations. difficult to interpret. of the TECI study will be reviewed.

1. 3

The studies on which TECI draws have information about the recidivism and background traits of each individual in the study; thus in those studies the individual offender is the unit of analysis. Information of this sort is not available to the researcher conducting a secondary analysis. Thus a pooling of raw data from disparate studies is not possible. What can be done, however, is to make the group a unit of analysis. The recidivism rates and aggregate characteristics of the group thus become the data used to estimate the regression equations.

When more than one indicator of recidivism is available, TECI reports separate estimates for each indicator. The sensitivity of findings to the choice of indicator is discussed for each intervention. When the findings for different indicators are seriously discrepant, the treatment is reported as inconsistent in its effects. Consistent findings are interpreted whether or not they are significant at the conventional .05 level.

The authors report that alternative methods of analysis such as logistic regression (logits) were considered but rejected on the grounds that readers who lack statistical sophistication would find logit analyses too difficult to interpret.

Numerous methodological issues arise in connection with the procedures employed in the TECI analysis. The next section will review those problems that arise generally in the evaluation of correctional interventions. Those problems are not unique to this study, but arise in every evaluation of correctional intervention. Though they have been discussed previously in the evaluation literature, they are of sufficient importance to warrant a brief review here. Then problems that are associated with the unique methodology of the TECI study will be reviewed.

B. PROBLEMS IN EVALUATING CORRECTIONAL INTERVENTIONS

Of the many considerations that arise in evaluating correctional effectiveness, only a few especially important concerns will be noted. They involve (1) the use of official definitions of recidivism, (2) the nature of recidivist offenses, and (3) the treatment of recidivism as a dichotomous variable. For a useful review of other methodological issues that bear on treatment evaluation the reader is referred to Rezmovic (1979).

1. The Use of Official Definitions of Recidivism

 \bigcirc

Almost all program evaluations are based on official definitions of recidivism; that is, they define recidivism in terms of the actions that government officials take with regard to offenders. These actions may be arrests, convictions, reimprisonments with a new conviction, or reimprisonments occasioned by "technical" violations of administrative regulations (e.g. parole conditions). Someone who simply disappears from the jurisdiction may be labeled an absconder and considered a recidivist.

There can be little doubt that the relationship between official recidivism-defining actions and violations of the law on the part of offenders is imperfect. Some infractions escape official notice. If noticed, they may elicit no official action. For example, parole agents sometimes overlook violations of parole conditions or even minor illegalities because they consider the violations trivial. Some rearrests and reimprisonments may be wrongful because the ex-offender was not responsible for the infraction charged. In some jurisdictions, parole is revoked for reasons unrelated to violation of the law (Greenberg, 1975); in others, technical violations are made the basis for parole revocation primarily to avoid the expense and trouble of a new trial for someone who has actually broken the law. Absconders may be trying

to get away with something illegal, or they may simply be trying to get a fresh start by relocating somewhere else. In itself, error in official responses to offender behavior does not vitiate the conclusions drawn from official indicators of recidivism about the relative effects of different programs. If the errors affect all programs being evaluated to the same extent (apart from random fluctuations), then no bias in inference is introduced. Their only effect is to make it harder to be certain that observed differences in recidivism are not due to random errors. However this uncertainty will be small when sample sizes are large. Little is known about differences between programs in the ways officials define subjects as recidivists or non-recidivists, but there are several reasons for being concerned about possible biases. The first concerns studies in which information about recidivism is derived from self-reports. These self-reports can be compared with official indicators of recidivism. Information of this sort is available for two studies of juvenile recidivism, Klein (1975) and Davidson et. al. (n.d.). Klein's work, it should be noted, is among those included in the TECI sample, and the problems it raises for the interpretation of official recidivism figures have been noted in the text. Both studies found evidence for discrepancies between official and self-reported recidivism. These discrepaticies were large enough to lead to very different conclusions about program effectiveness. Klein (1975), for example, comments:

()

First, released youngsters report committing as many illegal behaviors as those in the other conditions yet report being arrested less than all the others. Second. petitioned youngsters report committing as many illegal behaviors as those in other conditions yet report being arrested more than all the others. Therefore these higher and lower recidivism rates cannot be attributed to offense behavior ... Among offenders sufficiently delinquent to warrant arrest, (a) their own delinquent

L-4

behavior contributes less to their different rearrest rates than does their visibility to their "treaters" and the police. (b) Released youngsters do not commit fewer offenses yet are rearrested less often. Adults -- treaters and police -- pay less attention to them. (c) Petitioned youngsters do not differ in levels of offense behavior, yet are rearrested at higher rates. Adults -- treaters and police -- pay more attention to them.

(

It may be noted that Klein implicitly assumes the veractiy of youths to be the same regardless of which program they experienced, so that their self-reports can be taken as the standard against which rearrests are compared. That assumption may or may not be correct, but it is probably more reasonable than the assumption that arrest policy was uninfluenced by program participation. However, for present purposes this is irrelevant. What is relevant is that official recidivism figures are called into question as a means of distinguishing the effects of one program from another.

Whether similar effects were present in other studies is something we will never know, because investigators did not look for them. As a practical matter, self-report data about recidivism are hardly ever available; thus there is little choice but to use official rates, as was done here. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that enforcement policies can have a powerful effect on official recidivism rates. John Conrad recalls that in the Special Intensive Parole Unit (SIPU) which California maintained, there were major differences between the agents in methods of dealing with parolees:

> In Oakland, for example, the SIPU agent was an irrepressible enthusiast who kept his office open until late hours at night to dispense advice to, and to conduct bull sessions with any parolee who cared to happen in, as most of his caseload seemed to enjoy doing. His violation rate was extraordinarily low, and I never saw any reason to believe that there was a special ambience in Oakland which favored parole success. Across the bay in San Francisco the SIPU agent was an enthusiast of a different stripe. He liked to rise in the small hours of the morning so that he could descend on unemployed

parolees and remind them that early birds get the available worms and slug-a-beds do not. How he managed to conduct these sunrise raids on his charges without dismemberment of his person I have never understood, but his parole violation rate was high, even after he was convinced of the unwisdom of the strenuous counseling technique he had adopted. (Quoted in Maltz, 1980.)

Differences such as tions.

 $\langle \rangle$

 (\cdot)

ষ্ট্ৰ

That this is not an isolated example is suggested by a number of studies which provide evidence that treatment agents and/or criminal justice authorities respond differently to those exposed to different dispositions or programs (see, for example, Lerman, 1968, 1975; Robison and Smith, 1971; Davis, 1974). This ought to make us cautious about interpreting findings based on official measures of recidivism, especially when these measures are produced proactively by authorities.

Differential response to individuals in different programs can arise in a number of ways. Officials who are convinced that a given program should work may fail to take action against violators in the program, believing that continued program participation will minimize the risk of future violations. Some officials may be eager to demonstrate that a particular program really works, and they may deliberately try to keep the official recidivism rate low by igno ing violations.

Some programs -- halfway houses, group homes, low caseload probation and parole -- entail greater exposure of the offender to officials and thus provide greater possibilities for surveillance than normally exist. Under these circumstances, a high recidivism rate may reflect only the greater risk of apprehension faced by subjects in such programs. Several investigators (e.g. Hudson, 1973; Vasoli and Fahey, 1970) have suggested that surveillance effects may account for higher rates of recidivism associated with the

tin

L-6

Differences such as these can utterly confound the comparison of interven-

programs they evaluated. These suggestions are quite reasonable, and lead one to wonder whether the high rates of recidivism found for halfway houses in the present study might have been at least in part (and perhaps totally) the product of surveillance within the programs.¹

Although at times such considerations will undercut or render ambiguous the findings of the regressions reported here, there will also be times when they will strengthen the interpretation. Thus if official data show that prisoners released unconditionally at the end of their sentences recidivate more often than those released on parole, we should feel especially confident of this finding, since parolees presumably receive greater surveillance than those released without supervision, and are thus at a lower risk of being caught when they do violate the law.

2. The Nature of Recidivist Offenses

Almost all studies ignore the seriousness of recidivist offenses. They measure recidivism entirely by the action (arrest, conviction, imprisonment) taken in response to these offenses. Thus an arrest for shoplifting is equated with an arrest for homicide; a new imprisonment for burglary with a new imprisonment for forcible rape.

Qualitative evidence that criminal justice intervention can change the character of offenses even when it does not eliminate the fact of recidivism is given by Petersilia, Greenwood and Lavin (1977), who quote an offender as saying:

> One time I was arrested on an assault charge and the police called my parole officer. When he showed up,

¹Many halfway houses routinely conduct urine tests on residents to determine whether they are using narcotic drugs. Although this may deter drug use, it also increases the chances of detection for users far above what they would be for someone on conventional parole or probation.

anyone.

How frequently intervention channels crime rather than reduces it is not known because no one has tried to find out. On the whole researchers have simply counted arrests or reimprisonments, probably because any other procedure would entail weighting some recidivist offenses more than others, requiring the use of a subjective and somewhat arbitrary scale.² Yet it certainly makes a difference to us what the seriousness of a recidivist offense is. We ordinarily consider a program that reduces recidivism to be a good thing, but we might change our minds if we knew that it greatly increased the seriousness of the recidivist offenses.

Most follow-up studies, including almost all those analyzed here, take the proportion of the sample that has recidiviated after a given amount of time at risk as the measure of recidivism. Some studies report this proportion at several different times, e.g. 1 year, 2 years and 3 years.

all offenses as equal.

L-8

he told me to stay away from personal crime or he would violate me. So I started doing burglaries -- I thought it was kind of strange, but it was like he didn't mind knowing I was doing burglaries as long as I didn't hurt

One attempt to deal with this problem has been made by Witte and Schmidt (1977; see also Schmidt and Witte, 1979), who use the length of new prison sentence as an indicator of the seriousness of the new offense. However, this indicator can itself be influenced by a judge's knowledge that an offender has been subjected to a particular intervention in the past, and consequently it is potentially contaminated by the independent variable.

3. Treatment of Recidivism as a Dichotomous Variable

²A few researchers have dealt with this problem by classifying recidi-" vist offenses into a few broad categories such as violence, property offenses and drug use, or by scaling the seriousness of charges, but most have treated Leaving aside the question of offense severity, this crude approach is vulnerable to criticism on two counts. First, two recidivating offenders may have quite different levels of involvement in illegal activity. One may resume stealing on a regular and frequent basis, while another does so only on rare occasions. As a matter of policy there is presumably some gain in reducing the frequency of offender violations even if they cannot be eliminated altogether. Yet the casual offender who happens to be arrested for an isolated offense is counted as no less a recidivist than the frequent offender. In the absence of self-report or third party observation of the level of criminal activity (something that is almost never available), there is no alternative to this procedure. Yet it is a potential source of bias.

Imagine, for example, that imprisonment turns amateur thieves into semi-professional ones by exposing them to more accomplished thieves. When released they turn to theft to support themselves, and their new sophistication protects them from apprehension most of the time. Probationers do not come into contact with professional thieves, do not gain new expertise, and consequently are caught more frequently on those occasions when they do steal. Even if probationers steal less often than parolees, they may appear in recidivism statistics as equally or even more recidivist. Taken at face value, however, these recidivist figures would be quite misleading.

(-)

1

The usual approach can also be criticized for failing to utilize full information in studying recidivism. In this approach, anyone who recidivates between the time of release and one year later (say) is counted as a recidivist in the first year follow-up, regardless of when the recidivist offense occurs. A very fast recidivism is counted equally with a very slow one.

In most cases the exact date of rearrest is known to the researcher, or is potentially knowable. Stollmack and Harris (1974) have shown that this information can be used to estimate failure-rate models for recidivism similar to those used routinely in studying equipment breakdown. This approach yields statisical tests for the difference in patterns of recidivism for two groups that, because they rely on more complete information, are more powerful than the tests conventionally employed. Indeed, Harris and Moitra (1976) were able to show that the differences in outcome between different halfway houses in Washington, D.C., which were not statistically significant according to the conventional approach, became so when analyzed using failure-rate models. It follows that a finding of "no significant differences" between groups in the present analysis might actually mean that there are small differences between the groups which would become significant when analyzed on the basis of fuller information about recidivism. However, since the present analysis does not place much emphasis on significance tests, this observation carries no serious implication for the present study. The failure-rate approach, however, has other implications besides its

The failure-rate approach, however, has other implications besides its greater statistical power, for it permits the parametrization of the time dependence of recidivism. Programs can then be compared through a comparison of these parameters, rather than by comparing their recidivism rates (Maltz and McCleary, 1977; Maltz, 1980; Lloyd and Joe, 1978). One advantage of this approach is that programs with follow-up periods of different duration can be easily compared. The present study manages this comparison by introducing length of follow-up as a control variable in the regression equations. However, recidivism does not increase linearly with time in follow-up studies, as this approach assumes; as is clear from the graph on page D-11, it increases curvilinearly. Failure to take adequate account of differences in the length of follow-up is potentially problematic, because in many instances

L-10

initial differences between experimental and control groups disappear when the follow-up period is extended (Greenberg, 1977).

C. PROBLEMS OF THE METHODOLOGY EMPLOYED

1. Use of Additive Models in the Regressions

The dummy variable regression models used in the TECI analysis assume that the various variables which influence outcomes do so additively and linearly. Significance testing in these models is based on the assumption that error terms are distributed normally. Since the distribution of error terms must be truncated when the dependent variable is a recidivism rate (because these rates cannot be negative or larger than 1), some violation of normality must be present. In principle such violations produce bias in significance testing, but in the present study such bias is unlikely to be large. Moreover, the findings of the present study do not rest heavily on significance tests. This is appropriate, for in an exploratory study, the use of the conventional but arbitrary .05 level can lead to a frequent failure to reject the null hypothesis when it is false. In other words, observed differences between measures may be ignored even when they reflect genuine intervention effects simply because they fail to achieve significance at a level that is too demanding for the purpose of the study. This is known as a "type 2" error (Rezmovic, 1979).

When the dependent variable is restricted to the range (0, 1), it is unlikely that the independent variables contribute linearly. A logit or probit analysis, which takes this restricted range into account, and which is nonlinear in its dependence on predictors, would, technically speaking, have been more appropriate. However, such analyses are extremely expensive when data sets are large.

tion we estimate.

()

Because the two models make different assumptions about error terms, significance tests for the regression analysis will not necessarily yield exactly the same results as the logit analysis. However, this poses no great problem; it simply tells us not to take significance tests too seriously. In the present case the sample of studies analyzed was not randomly drawn from a larger universe, so there is no reason for taking the significance tests as more than a rough indicator of what effects are present. That is precisely the procedure adopted in TECI.

The qualitative equivalence between logits and regression estimates does not necessarily hold when there is more than one independent variable and these variables are correlated. In that circumstance the signs of a logit coefficient and a multiple regression coefficient can conceivably differ. Simulations of the magnitude of bias potentially introduced when this happens have yet to be carried out; intuitively, one suspects that biases are unlikely to be large, but the matter warrants further investigation.

L-12

It can be shown rigorously that when the predictor is a dummy variable, the same qualitative conclusions will be reached in a simple regression analysis and in a logit. Suppose y is the dependent variable, and x a dummy variable that can take on the values 0 or 1. Whether we use conventional regression techniques to estimate the equation y = a + bx + error term, or logistic regression to estimate the equation [y/(1-y)] = a + bx + error term, we will obtain the same sign for the estimate of b. In general the magnitudes of the two coefficients will differ, but conclusions as to whether a specific type of intervention raises or lowers recidivism will be the same whichever equa-

2. The Use of Aggregated Data

The authors allude to the possibility that the use of grouped or aggregated data could pose a problem of inference. Evaluations of individual interventions take the individual subject as unit of analysis, but here the unit of analysis is a group. The regression equations are estimated with information about the overall performance of groups. Information about individual responses is not available, and therefore not utilized. In general, regressions with the individual as unit of analysis will not yield the same parameter estimates when the individuals are grouped, and the analysis carried out using aggregated variables.

We can assess the likelihood of such a discrepancy arising in the present study by considering two possible causes of a discrepancy. One is contextual effects. Suppose that an individual's tendency to recidivate depends on his income in relation to that of his peers. If x_i represents the income of the i'th individual, the contextual effect can be represented by introducing a term $b(x_{i}-x)$, where x is the mean income of the group, into the individual-level equation. In a single group, \overline{x} is a constant, and consequently an unbiased estimate of b is obtained even when xi alone is used as the predictor. Aggregation to the level of the group is accomplished by summing on i over all members of the group. When this is done the term vanished identically. Although this precludes the estimation of b from the grouped data, no bias is introduced insofar as the estimation of the contribution of an intervention is concerned, for at the individual level, $x_1 - \overline{x}$ will be uncorrelated with treatment provided all members of a group receive the same treatment. This is usually the case, but when it is not, the grouping will lead to bias in the estimation of treatment effects provided that income is related

an impossible one. sort of grouping should not arise.

L-14

to type of treatment. This is probably an unusual case, but not necessarily

L-15

Aggregation bias can arise even in the absence of contextual effects on the basis of assignment to groups. When individuals are grouped at random or according to levels of the independent variable, grouped data yield unbiased estimates of individual-level parameters. However, when grouping is according to levels of the dependent variable, or according to a variable that is causally related to both independent and dependent variables, bias can occur as a result of the grouping (Langbein and Lichtman, 1978: 13-25). In the present context, grouping according to levels of the independent variable means grouping according to type of intervention. It is a common type of grouping, and poses no problems for the group-level estimation. Grouping according to the dependent variable means grouping according to recidivism. Since recidivism occurs after assignment to an intervention, this sort of grouping should not arise.

Grouping according to a variable that is causally related to recidivism and to treatment does pose a problem. For example, if offenders with prior convictions are more prone to recidivate than those with none, and if assignments to different dispositions take prior record into account, then aggregation bias can occur. This sort of grouping is quite likely to occur in practice. For example, in deciding whether to send an offender to prison or to place her on probation, a judge may decide on the basis of prior record, reasoning that someone with no priors is unlikely to recidivate, while someone with many is likely to do so. Even under this circumstance, unbiased estimates are obtained if the aggregated grouping variable is included in the regression. Omission of this variable from the equation will in general lead to biased estimates. Thus the problem of grouped data is largely identical with the problem of background variables and the way they are handled in the $_{\odot}$ analysis. This is a topic we will take up below.

3. Inattention to Quality of Studies

In evaluating the effects of an intervention it is important to be confident of treatment integrity (was the promised treatment actually delivered?) and to distinguish the effect of the intervention from numerous other possible influences on outcomes. The better an evaluation does these things, the more rigorous it is said to be.

Previous overviews of correctional treatment evaluations have attempted to form a general assessment of a study's rigor, and have accorded greater credibility to the findings of studies judged to be more rigorous (Lipton, Martinson and Wilks, 1975; Greenberg, 1977). For example, Martinson (1976) reports that the Lipton, Martinson and Wilks survey had seven studies that evaluated "group methods." Six of them, all by Harrison and Mueller, used what Martinson describes as "weak ex post facto" designs, while the seventh, by Kassebaum, Ward and Wilner, used an experimental design involving random assignments of subjects to different conditions. The findings of this last study were considered much more believable than those of the earlier six on the grounds that the experimental design was better able to eliminate the effects of non-intervention.

This is not the approach taken in the present study. Although the evaluations included in the analysis were rated for their rigor, all were weighted equally in the regressions. If a study met the basic criteria for inclusion in the sample, it was used in the computation regardless of its rigor.

Since the procedure adopted in TECI runs contrary to the conventional wisdom, it is worth reviewing the reasons previous investigators have attached

influences of the interventions.

L-16

so much importance to rigor. Since these reasons have recently received extensive discussion (Panel on Research, 1979; Rezmovic, 1979; Farrington, 1982), it will suffice to point out that more rigorous designs are better able to exclude possible contributions to differences in outcome between groups assigned to different interventions from such effects as differences in the backgrounds of individual subjects (whether due to self-selection or to assignment by others to different interventions), maturation effects, regression to the mean, and sample attrition.

It is widely accepted that the classical experimental design, in which subjects are randomly assigned to different interventions, is an especially superior method for achieving rigor. This method can guarantee to within known probabilities that the different groups do not differ substantially from one another. The larger the number of individuals randomly assigned, the greater our confidence that the groups are alike. Although the groups may indeed experience maturation, regression to the mean, sample attrition, etc., they should all do so to the same extent, except for the differential influences of the interventions.

Despite the wide consensus on the superiority of experimental designs for determining the effects of interventions, such designs are encountered only infrequently in correctional evaluations. Legal, ethical and political considerations often preclude random assignment to different dispositions. In operation, randomization can be difficult to maintain. For this reason, evaluators often fall back on other evaluation methods, such as matching, the use of base expectancy or salient factor scores, controls for offender background variables, regression-discontinuity designs, etc.

Depending on how systematically these methods have been pursued, they can be more or less persuasive in any given evaluation. Nevertheless, they

are generally considered second-best alternatives to randomization procedures because they require stronger assumptions on the part of the investigator. Evidently the authors of TECI do not find these considerations decisive, for they argue that research energies should be redirected away from experimental research toward the use of alternative procedures involving "the application of multivariate statistical techniques to survey or longitudinal data for the purpose of identifying relevant factors in predicting recidivism" (p. 126).

The reasoning behind this recommendation is this: in the absence of strong theory, experimentation involves putting a great deal of time and energy into the assessment of programs without a great deal of a priori reason to think that they will work. Under these circumstances, many of the evaluations will yield null findings. These findings, laboriously obtained, do nothing to tell us what to study next. In other words, they do not lead to a research program that will zero in on successful interventions within a short period of time. Their recommended strategy, they argue, will do so, because the identification of factors associated with recidivism will contribute to theory development and will yield hypotheses about the effects of intervention that will have greater chances of being proved correct through experimentation.

Ê

This is a thoughtful line of reasoning. The history of correctional evaluations to date does suggest that simply trying out many poorly theorized treatment programs is not a very efficient way to proceed. Yet it must also be recalled that investigators have been using multivariate methods to determine the variables that predict recidivism in non-experimental follow-up studies (which are, after all, longitudinal) for some decades. Quite a few stable predictors of recidivism have already been identified in just this manner (Pritchard, 1979). The theoretical fruits of these efforts have not

been terribly impressive. Moreover, some of the interventions were in fact based on as closely reasoned theoretical arguments as we are likely to see in corrections. Arguably, the choice of variables to explore in follow-up studies is not likely to be optimal unless the choice is itself guided by theory.

formula

1)

where var(X) denotes the variance of X. The second term represents bias in the estimation. This term will not vanish as long as both b3 and r_{Z_2T,Z_1} differ from zero. Now, by represents the partial coefficient for the effect of Z_2 on R, and it will differ from zero as long a Z_2 has some direct effect on R; and r_{Z_2T,Z_1} is the correlation between the omitted variable and treatment

L-18

Whether one concurs with the view that less emphasis should be placed on experimental methods, or thinks that such methods should be used more often, the consequences of not using these methods in program evaluation are not a matter of controversy. Consider a study in which regression methods are used to assess the impact of an intervention T (a dummy variable) on recidivism R. Z1 and Z2 denote two offender background characteristics (such as age, prior use of drugs, previous criminal record, etc.) that have an effect on recidivism. Assume the true relationship among these variables to be $R = a + b_1T + b_2Z_1 + b_3Z_2 + u$, where u is a disturbance term, and imagine that the investigator has not collected data for the variable Z2. For this reason she attempts to determine the effect of T on R by estimating the regression equation $R = A + B_1T + B_2Z_1 + U$, omitting Z_2 (intentionally or inadvertently) from the equation. It can be readily shown (Hanushek and Jackson, 1977: 81-83) that the estimate B_1 is related to the true value by the

$$\hat{B}_1 = b_1 + b_3 r_{Z_2 T.Z_1} \sqrt{var(Z_2)/var(T)}$$

when Z₁, the included background variable, is held constant. It follows that omitted variable bias will not be a problem when the omitted variable does not have any direct effect on recidivism, or when it is unrelated to the included predictor variable. When more than one background variable is included in the estimated regression, the omitted variable must be unrelated to each of the included variables.

In practice, it is not always easy to know whether omitted variable bias is present. When we do not know all the variables that influence R, it can be difficult to say whether some have been omitted from the equation despite their influence on R. The particular attraction of a randomized experimental design is that we do not need to know this. The random allocation of subjects to the different interventions guarantees that such omitted variables will be uncorrelated with T, the treatment variable, within the limts of random fluctuation. Thus the effects of T can be determined without bias due to omitted variables.

Other procedures, such as controlling for background variables known to influence recidivism, do not provide the same reassurance, for their success depends on knowing and being able to measure accurately all the relevant background variables. When our knowledge of the relevant variables is imperfect, and our ability to obtain accurate measurements is not very good, as is the case in much criminal justice research, then these procedures yield findings whose validity is very much subject to question.

By including in the analysis large numbers of studies that fail to use randomized procedures, but instead use statistical controls for background variables, or no controls at all, TECI bases its analysis on many findings that are likely to be flawed. TECI defends the inclusion of studies lacking in rigor by noting that in their sample, rigor was unrelated to the level of recidivism (p. 2.5). But this is irrelevant. In studying the difference in recidivism rates, what matters is whether rigor is related to the differences. Consider, for example, two studies of group counseling. Study A, which lacks rigor, finds that at the end of a one-year follow-up, 15% of the treatment group and 25% of the control group have recidivated. It concludes that treatment was somewhat successful. Study B, which is more rigorous, finds that after a one-year follow-up, the recidivism rate for treatment and control groups is the same, 20%. If treatment and control groups have the same numbers of individuals in both studies, rigor is unrelated to recidivism in these data. A regression equation that attempted to predict the effects of treatment and rigor of study through the use of a linear model would find that rigor had no effect on recidivism. But it is clear that rigor does have an effect on the difference in recidivism rates between treatment and control groups.

Another problem also arises from the inclusion in the TECI analysis of studies that are highly variable in quality. Those studies that do use control variables do not necessarily control for prior record, and vice versa. If all these studies are included in a regression equation that includes aggregate-level controls for background variables, there will be a great deal of missing data. To circumvent this problem, <u>no</u> control variables were included in the regressions. Essentially the <u>only</u> predictor variables in the regressions are the dummy variables for the different forms of intervention, length of follow-up, decade in which the study occured, and region of the country.

We have seen in our earlier discussion of grouped data (II.C.2) that the omission of background variables related to dependent and independent variables is a potential source of bias, just as it is when working with

individual-level data. This would again be true as long as these background variables are causally related to recidivism and to the intervention variables. One might, of course, hope that there are many independent omitted variables, some having small positive effects on recidivism, others have small negative effects, each having roughly the same magnitude, with as many positive as negative contributions. If that is the case, all these omitted variables taken together will have a net effect similar to that of a normally distributed random error term, and parameter estimates for intervention effects will be unbiased. But there is no reason to expect such a happy accident to occur in this analysis.

The authors defend their omission of all background variables by noting that in their data, a number of background characteristics had quite small correlations with recidivism. Table G-2 (p. G-6) reports such correlations separately for juveniles and adults, for seven background characteristics: property offender, one prior offense, % with drug use histories, race (% white), age of group members, % from broken families, and % high school graduates. A few of the correlations are modest in magnitude (for juveniles, the correlations involving race and % high school graduates are each -.23. and the correlation involving % from broken homes is .21; for adults, the correlation with % with drug use histories is .21), but most are quite small. in some cases surprisingly so.

The smallness of these correlations is especially surprising because individual-level correlations in carefully done studies have often been larger. For example, the relationship between race and recidivism in Kassebaum, Ward and Wilner's (1971) study of recidivism among California male parolees released from CMC-East is substantially stronger (at pp. 254, 256). However, other studies find race to be weakly related, or unrelated to

recidivism; and evidently when all studies are taken together, recidivism is not strongly related to race, or to a number of other background variables. at least insofar as zero-order correlations are concerned. Nevertheless, this is not a terribly persuasive argument for the TECI

procedure. For juveniles, being white, being a high school graduate, and coming from an unbroken home each imply having a modestly lower likelihood of recidivism. Being all three of those means having chances that are more than modestly lower than those of a juvenile who is nonwhite, a high school dropout, and from a broken home (the precise amount cannot be determined because the correlations among these three variables are not given).

In addition, there are many variables that have been shown to predict 16 points for 5 or more years without an arrest or for being a

recidivism in individual studies, but that are not listed in Table G-2. Some examples will illustrate. A follow-up study of California adult male prison parolees in 1956 found that parole outcome could be predicted by a base expectancy score computed by given each parolee 21 points plus

offender.

a i

13 points for no known history of opiate drug use, 8 points if family members had no criminal record, 13 points if the offense was not forgery, bad checks, or bur-

glary.

-3 points for each alias shown on the arrest record, -5 points for each pervious incarceration.

Base expectancy scores were related to the favorable adjustment of Vacaville parolees as follows (O'Leary and Glaser, 1972, quoting D. Gottfred-

son):

L-22

L-2	.4

Base Expectancy Score	% of Cases in Each Group Ad- justing Favorably on Parole	Cases in Each Grou
0 to 9	33	3
10 to 19	0	5
20 to 29	17	12
30 to 39	32	38
40 to 49	33	54
50 to 59	44	50
60 to 69	58	41
70 to 79	77	26
80 to 89	89	36
90 or higher	94	18
TOTAL IN SAMPLE	52	0 283

Although the relationship between score and outcome is not perfect (the lower scores do not differentiate between groups very well, but there are few cases in those groups), it is strong. Comparison of the variables used in the construction of the score with those considered in the TECI analysis shows that some were used in both studies, and that others used in the base expectancy score construction were omitted from the TECI analysis. This is also true of later versions of the California Base Expectancy Score. For example, a later version, BE61A, is computed as follows (Greenberg, 1975):

C

C

tive years 9 points for no history of opiate use 8 points for not more than two jail commitments 7 points if not committed for burglary, forgery or checks 6 points for no family criminal record 6 points for no alcohol involvement 5 points if not first arrested for auto theft 5 points if subject has worked for six or more consecutive months for one employer 5 points if no aliases 5 points if first imprisonment under this serial number 4 points if living arrangement is favorable 4 points if no more than two prior arrests. These scales were, of course, created for a particular population at a particular moment in time, and it is unclear how stable they would be if applied to other correctional populations. As we noted earlier, however, Pritchard (1979) has identified a considerable number of fairly stable predictors that influence recidivism positively or negatively. Most of them are not considered in the TECI analysis. Consequently the omission of background variables in TECI makes it not at all unlikely that the findings for the effects of different interventions are contaminated by omitted variable bias.

12 points for an arrest-free period of five or more consecu-

L-25

0

a)

 $\langle \rangle$

Pritchard (1979) has identified a considerable number of fairly stable predictors that influence recidivism positively or negatively. Most of them are not considered in the TECI analysis. Consequently the omission of background variables in TECI makes it not at all unlikely that the findings for the effects of different interventions are contaminated by omitted variable bias. This is so because many of the variables in question are likely to be related to the choice of disposition or intervention in the non-experimental studies. For example, prisoners released at the end of their sentences may have been denied parole precisely because they were considered worse risks than prisoners who were paroled. In the individual case these predictions may not

necessarily be very accurate (Wenk and Emrich, 1972; Greenberg, 1975), but in the aggregate, they can contribute to differences in group rates enough to throw off a comparison between recidivism rates of parolees with those of prisoners who serve their full terms.³ If one of the factors influencing placement in halfway houses upon release from prison is lack of any place else to go, and lack of a job, both factors that would tend to raise the chances of ricidivism, then some of the high rates of recidivism associated with halfway house placement mentioned in TECI could reflect the high risk background of the residents, not the criminogenic effects of the houses themselves.

Although the analytical procedure adopted here did not permit quantitative adjustments to be made for the effect of background variables, on a number of occasions the authors do discuss the possible contributions of background variables in a qualitative way. In many instances, they suggest that these differences are unlikely to explain differences in outcomes.

The qualitative judgments of researchers who have worked closely with a body of data are certainly not to be dismissed out of hand. Yet if these judgments are based only on the few background variables considered in Table G-2, then they may not be a reliable guide to the effects of the many omitted variables not included in the Table. Moreover, a number of the intervention effects are modest in magnitude. The authors never tell us how large the correlations between omitted and included variables would have to be to account for an intervention effect of given magnitude (change in recidivism rates by a given percentage). Consequently these comments must be treated with some skepticism.

³This is not to say that the differences are entirely due to differences in risk: Sacks and Logan (1979) introduce evidence that risk differences did not account for the lower rates of recidivism they observed among parolees in Connecticut.

The treatment of region of the country in which the study took place as a background variable merits particular attention in this discussion. Because there are variations from one part of the country to another in statutory criminal law, in the social and economic conditions that influence crime, and in the recidivism-defining practices of enforcement agencies, recidivism rates of interventions located in different jurisdictions may differ for reasons unrelated to the effects of the interventions. This possibility is recognized in TECI, and evidence is presented (Tables D-4, D-5) that there are, in fact, such differences. They are taken into account in the regression analysis.

In conventional forms of evaluation, no account of these differences needs to be taken, because the different interventions are located in the same jurisdiction.⁴ The present procedure, however, compares groups that may be located in different jurisdictions. Unless this is taken into account, bias will appear in the analysis. Since region is controlled in the regressions, one might think there is nothing to worry about. However, enforcement practices and crime-related social conditions can vary a great deal within a region, even between urban and rural sections of a single state. Indeed, there may well be greater variation in these conditions between sections of a region than there is between large regions. Controlling for region of the country is not an adequate procedure for controlling these jurisdictional effects; the measure is simply too gross and does not pick up all the relevant variation. The authors themselves acknowledge this possibility when they



4

of recidivism.

L-26

⁴This is not entirely true. For example, probationers and parolees may be required to abide by different sets of administrative regulations, and may be processed by different agencies using different procedures when suspected

C

comment (p. D-19, n. 7) that a more refined measure of location might have been desirable.

Interestingly, some information about omitted variables can be extracted from the present data set, although the authors have not attempted to do so. Suppose we take interventions of a given type in a given region of the country, and restrict our analysis to studies in which the sample size is fairly large. If background variables are irrelevant, then rates of recidivism among all evaluations of a given intervention should be quite similar for a given definition of recidivism, once length of follow-up has been controlled statistically. Analysis of covariance procedures make such a control possible, and permit a formal statistical test of the hypothesis that these rates are all the same. The test makes use of the sample sizes of the different groups, and if the samples are large, one will be able to be confident that modest differences in rates do not reflect statistical fluctuation. If they exist and prove to be statistically significant, they signal the existence of omitted variables.

4. Washing Out of Information

By analyzing data in such a highly aggregated manner, TECI loses a good deal of the information reported in individual studies. There has been much discussion in the correctional literature of the possibility that treatments interact with offender groups; in other words, that some categories of offenders respond differently than others to a given intervention.

A number of studies that carry out subgroup analyses do report such effects (Palmer, 1974, 1975; Sacks and Logan, 1979). In most cases this simply amounts to a finding that an intervention reduces recidivism for some groups but not others. Adams (1961) discovered an interaction effect of

particular interest in his evaluation of individual psychotherapy for institutionalized juveniles, for he discovered that boys judged to be amenable to treatment and who received that treatment had lower rates of recidivism than controls, while those judged to be unamenable to treatment had higher rates. Overall, treatment and control groups had essentially the same rate of recidivism in this study, but this was not necessarily true for some subgroups, at least in individual studies. TECI does not report how it handled the coding of studies that report different recidivism rates for subgroups; one supposes that the separate rates were recorded as separate findings, or that only the overall rate was recorded and analyzed. Either way, important information about treatment was lost. The TECI approach also obscures important information when well-designed studies of a particular type of intervention have divergent outcomes. To take a hypothetical example, suppose 3 separate studies of group counseling are done in 3 separate prisons. Each uses the same follow-up period, employs the same definition of recidivism, and uses a rigorous experimental design by allocating subjects to treatment and control (no treatment) through a random procedure. Imagine also that the recidivism rates obtained in this way are as follows:

Treat

Recidivism Rate

of simplicity.

Stud	y 1	Study	Study 2		y 3
atment	<u>Control</u>	Treatment	<u>Control</u>	Treatment	<u>Contro</u>
25%	25%	35%	25%	15%	25%

Although the example would work as well if the control groups did not all have the same recidivism rate, e.g. if the control rates for the studies were, respectively, 25%, 30%, and 20%, I have taken them all to be equal for the sake

An evaluation of these studies discloses that in the first there are no differences between treatment and control groups; in the second, treated inmates recidivate at higher rates than untreated; and in the third, at lower rates. If sample sizes are large, the differences found in studies 2 and 3 will be statistically significant.

The TECI approach assumes that all 6 recidivism rates are directly comparable, and therefore compares the recidivism rate for treatment in group 2 not only with the recidivism rate for the control group in study 2, but with all 5 of the other rates, by means of a regression analysis that accepts all six rates as input data. For the hypothetical data given, such a procedure will yield a regression coefficient for the effect of treatment that is exactly zero. One would conclude that group counseling has no effect on recidivism.

This conclusion would be reached despite the fact that statistically significant differences are present in two out of the three studies. Moreover these effects are genuine. Since I have specified that sample sizes are large, I can be quite confident that they are not due to statistical fluctuations in the randomizing procedure.

This being so, the differences in outcome between studies properly becomes the focus of investigation. Why does group counseling lead to such different results in different places? Perhaps the treatment labeled "group counseling" is not thé same everywhere. If so, one would want to search for the differences that influence counseling effectiveness. Perhaps the populations of the different studies are not identical. Randomization will eliminate population differences between treatment and control groups in a single study, but not those between the populations of different studies. If

treatment interacts with offender backgrounds, different studies could yield different conclusions about treatment effectiveness. This, too, is important to know.

While the example used to illustrate these possibilities is hypotheti-.cal, there are examples of this kind in the literature that are not hypothetical; evaluations of work release in different states, for example, have come to conflicting conclusions about its effect on recidivism. To be sure. an assessment of correctional treatments of the conventional sort, such as Lipton, Martinson and Wilks (1975) carried out, would in all probability be unable to determine for sure why such studies disagree, but it might stimulate an investigation of the sources of disagreement by calling attention to it. The present approach obscures these disagreements; it yields an overall effect, but does not tell us about the consistency of findings between studies. When TECI comments about inconsistency of findings for a type of intervention it is concerned with consistency between different definitions of recidivism, not with consistency between studies.

When combining information from different studies, a decision must be made about how this is to be done statistically. The TECI analysis combines information by treating the groups reported with studies as unit of analysis. This means that each group is weighted equally in the regressions, even though the individual rates are derived from samples of widely varying size (10 was the minimum). The appropriateness of this procedure depends on details of the experimental design. Imagine that a given treatment is evaluated by means of a treatment and control group on a number of occasions. Steps have been taken to insure that all the groups -- treatment and control -- have subjects that are

5. Statistical Method of Pooling Data from Different Studies

identical with respect to every variable that influences outcome. This might be arranged through a matching procedure, for example. We suppose that treatment always has the same effect whenever it is administered. Thus if the same treatment is administered to several groups, all will have exactly identical recidivism rates. However, administration of the treatment is not strictly controlled. Consequently the different treatment groups receive treatments that vary in random fashion. This variation produces group recidivism rates that also vary randomly. In this circumstance each administration of treatment is an independent trial, and thus each outcome should be counted equally in the statistical analysis, just as was done in the TECI analysis.

Now consider a second experimental design. Administration of treatment is rigorously controlled, so that all treatment groups receive exactly the same treatment. Subjects are assigned to treatment or control groups by means of random procedure; and for any given subject, recidivism has a random element not determined by that subject's traits. Environmental contingencies outside an individual's control might produce such a randomizing effect. In this circumstance the TECI procedure is questionable.

This can be seen intuitively by considering coin-flipping. If you flip a coin 10 times and obtain 6 heads instead of 5, you will probably be reluctant to conclude that the coin is unbalanced. Even without computing any odds you will probably recognize that the chances are substantial that a balanced coin could yield 6 heads instead of 5 in 10 flips simply by chance. If you flip the coin 100 times and find 60 heads, you will probably suspect the coin of being unbalanced; and if you flip it 1000 times and obtain 600 heads, you will be sure of it.

A study of recidivism can be compared with a series of coin-flips. Assignment of a subject to a treatment or control group by a random procedure is analogous to flipping a coin, and can even be done in that way. The randomizing effects of environment on recidivism can likewise be compared to the myriad of unknown and uncontrollable influences that influence the outcome of a single coin-flip. Each outcome, then -- recidivism or no recidivism -is like the result of a flip, which can yield heads or tails. If we are told that a study involving many subjects found a difference in recidivism rates between treatment and control group, we can feel confident that this difference is due to the treatment, not to the random assignment of individuals or to chance contingencies in the environment. But if the same difference was found in a study with few subjects, we would not feel so certain. If we pool information from a number of studies by weighting each finding equally in a regression analysis, we are implicitly allowing studies in which we have little confidence to contribute just as much to our overall finding as studies in which we have much greater confidence. This intuitive reasoning can be made more precise by considering the simple regression equation for individual i in group j, where there are n_i individuals in group j:

We make the usual assumptions about the error terms e_{ij} . They are statistically independent, uncorrelated with x_{ij} , and have an expected variance that is independent of i and j. Now let us aggregate by summing on i from 1 to n_j , and then divide by n_j . Using a dot to denote an index summed over, and a bar to designate a mean, we have:

L-32

 $y_{ij} = a + bx_{ij} + e_{ij}$.

 $\overline{y}_{ij} = a + b\overline{x}_{ij} + \overline{e}_{ij}$

(2)

(1)

If the expected value of $var(e_{ij}) = s^2$, it is easily shown that the expected value of $var(\overline{e}_j) = s^2/n_j$. This quantity depends explicitly on n_j : the variance of the error terms is smaller in the larger groups.

Conventional regression analysis, estimated through ordinary least squares (OLS) procedures, implicitly assumes that the variance of error terms is constant, i.e. that the error terms are homoskedastistic. Violations of this assumption do not lead to bias in the estimation of a or b, but they do bias the significance tests. A weighting procedure can be used to avoid this bias when estimating regression equations where hederoskedasticity of error terms of known form is expected. This procedure, known as weighted least squares or generalized least squares, transforms variables in such a way that error terms become homoskedastistic. In the present instance, observations are weighted by the factor $n^{\frac{1}{2}}$. This counts those grouped rates that come from groups with more members heavily in the analysis, in conformity with our intuition that greater credibility should be accorded to rates derived from larger samples.

Seemingly the analysis reported in TECI is just the sort that would call for the use of weighted least squares, since individuals are grouped into aggregates of radically different sizes in the various studies. This procedure was not utilized for two reasons. First, it yields many more statistically significant findings, many of them small in magnitude. The choice not to weight, then, was a conservative one. Given the many other problems inherent in the study, the authors thought it best to be conservative in claiming treatment effects. Second, recidivism was unrelated to group size. and thus it was concluded that the use of unweighted least squares entailed no risk of bias.

That this reasoning is misleading can be seen from the following hypothetical example. There are two studies of recidivism, each involving a treatment and control group; and the studies are done using the second of the two experimental designs described above. In the first study treatment and control group each have 100 subjects and have respective recidivism rates of 10 and 20%. In the second study treatment and control groups each have 400 subjects and respective recidivism rates of 20 and 10%. At the individual level treatment and recidivism are negatively related, but at the aggregate level unrelated. This is so even though aggregated recidivism is unrelated to group size. At first sight this is puzzling, for the use of unweighted least squares without corrections for heteroskedasticity should not bias estimates of regression parameters. The puzzle is resolved when it is realized that the aggregated error terms are correlated with the aggregated treatment variable, and this leads to biased estimation of regression parameters. The experimental designs of the studies included in the TECI analysis varied a great deal, but on the whole they probably resemble the second design more than the first, indicating that weighted least squares would have been appropriate. However, preliminary analyses indicated that estimates were not materially altered when weighted least squares regressions were done, and so the use of unweighted procedures evidently did not produce misleading results in this instance. Future analyses that pool information from different studies cannot count on being so lucky, and thus should use a weighting procedure where called for by the study design.

The authors of TECI are cautious about their findings. They do not advertise them as definitive, but only claim that they suggest some patterns

L-34

III. CONCLUSIONS AND REFLECTIONS
that bear close scrutiny. This caution is entirely appropriate in light of the various methodological problems noted in the text and highlighted in this review.

It is worth emphasizing that the existence of methodological problems in a piece of research does not necessarily mean that the findings are wrong. We have identified possible problems, but we have not demonstrated that they are all present, or that they are large enough to produce misleading results. Sometimes large sources of error fortuitously cancel. Whether that is the case here cannot easily be determined. Our review does indicate that skepticism is in order. In my judgment, too much uncertainty surrounds the findings for them to be made the basis for social policy unless they are supported by additional research and analysis.

Procedures and findings aside, this study suggests that renewed consideration might be given to the way assessments of treatment evaluations are carried out. This study, like its predecessor by Lipton, Martinson and Wilks, was carried out by private scholars with government funding. Each study was mandated to collect information about a wide variety of correctional interventions carried out over a long period of time.

The time and effort required by studies that are so wide in scope are large. Evaluations must be located, and this is no small task. Many are unpublished or have appeared in obscure journals. The information in each study must be coded and recorded in machine-readable form. Only then can statistical analyses be done. All these tasks must be carried out from scratch every decade or so, when a new study begins. Since the relevant literature is growing, the problem is getting worse.

Apart from the inefficiency of beginning each study anew, these gargantuan efforts take a long time to complete. By the time they are published,



numerous additional evaluations have appeared,⁵ and interest may have shifted to new forms of treatment (see, for example, the discussion of family therapy for juvenile delinquency in Gendreau and Ross, 1979). Moreover, the long delay until the study is published makes it impossible for program administrators to modify their programs on an ongoing basis as the result of the evaluation.

In light of these problems, it may be that more could be learned by establishing a small, ongoing in-house unit in the National Institute of Justice whose function it would be to monitor and assess correctional efforts. This unit would collect reports, assess them, and say something about the effectiveness of different types of programs. As an ongoing operation, it would not face the start-up problems of work done in the private sector once every decade or so.

A unit of this kind could select an intervention of current interest, such as work release, comment about the methodological strengths and limitations of evaluations done to date, suggest reasons for discrepant outcomes, and propose new lines of worthwhile research. In doing this, it might want to request additional information not in the literature from program administrators or evaluators, and perhaps even to make site visits. The unit could carry out reanalyses of data where it seemed appropriate to do so. It could store data and make it available to private researchers. It could conceivably provide technical assistance to state and local evaluation efforts, and in particular, serve as a resource for the evaluation of programs funded by NIJ. A relatively modest investment along these lines might yield substantial improvements in the quality of evaluations of these programs. And it



`C)

 $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$

⁵Thus the most recent study included in TECI was published in 1976, almost a decade before TECI's publication.

L-37

would also provide a signal that the federal government has not altogether abandoned treatment as a correctional goal worth pursuing.

Treatment has, in fact, been given reduced attention in the past decade, and it is worth recalling why this has been so. Part of the reason is that evaluations of correctional treatments such as those of Bailey (1966), Robison and Smith (1971), Lipton, Martinson and Wilks (1975) showed few signs that treatment was highly successful in reducing crime. In the face of earlier inflated claims about treatment, pessimism inevitably set in. Yet in the intervening years, the literature has turned up some evidence for treatment success. No "magic bullet" has yet been devised, but neither does it seem true that nothing can be done to reduce recidivism. Moreover, lack of evidence for treatment success does not mean treatment is failing. It only means that we do not know it is working.

The second reason for reduced interest in treatment was that it seemed linked to objectionable penal practices, such as delaying parole release on the basis of alleged treatment needs. Critics denounced some treatments, such as lobotomies and the administration of drugs in aversion therapy as inhumane. Yet not even the most vociferous critics advocated an end to treatment; rather they demanded that it be made voluntary, separated from punishment. There is nothing in such a demand that could be interpreted as a call for ending of treatment programs, or for not evaluating them. Quite the contrary. Critics hoped to make treatment programs more effective by putting them on a voluntary basis. This ongoing evaluation is fully consistent with the position that treatment considerations should not influence decisions about the kind or length of punishment someone who has been convicted of a crime should receive.

Adams, Stuart. 1961. "Interaction between Individual Interview Therapy and Treatment Amenability in Older Youth Authority Wards." Inquiries Concerning Kinds of Treatment for Kinds of Delinquents. Sacramento: California Board of Corrections, pp. 27-44. Reprinted under the title "The PICO Project" in Norman Johnston, Leonard Savitz and Marvin E. Wolfgang (eds.), The Sociology of Punishment and Correction, Second Edition, New York: Wiley, pp. 548-61.

Bailey, W.C. 1966. "Correctional Outcome: An Evaluation of 100 Reports." Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology, and Police Science 50: 226-32.

Davidson, W.S., J. Rappaport, E. Seidman, P.L. Berck and J. Herring. n.d. "The Diversion of Adolescents in Legal Jeopardy: An Experimental Examination." Unpublished paper.

Davis, C. 1974. "The Parole Research Project." In K.S. Griffiths and G.S. Ferdun (eds.), A Review of Accumulated Research in the California Youth Authority. Sacramento: California Youth Authority, pp. 49-53.

Farrington, David P. 1982. "Randomized Experiments on Crime and Justice." In Norval Morris and Michael Tonry (eds.), Crime and Justice, Vol. 4. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Gendreau, Faul and Bob Ross. 1979. "Effective Correctional Treatment: Bibliotherapy for Cynics." Crime and Delinquency 25: 463-89.

Greenberg, David F. 1975. "The Incapacitative Effect of Imprisonment: Some Estimates." Law and Society Review 9: 541-80.

. 1977. "The Correctional Effects of Corrections." In David F. Greenberg (ed.), Corrections and Punishment. Beverly Hills: Sage, pp. 111-48.

Hanushek, Eric A. and John E. Jackson. 1977. Statistical Methods for Social Scientists. New York: Academic.

Harris, Carl M. and Soumyo Moitra. 1978. "Improved Statistical Techniques for the Measurement of Recidivism." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 15: 194-213.

0

0

Johnson, B. 1962. "Parole Performance of the First Year's Releases, Parole Research Project: Evaluation of Reduced Caseloads." Research Report No. 27. Sacramento: Sacramento Youth Authority.

REFERENCES

Hudson, C.H. 1973. "An Experimental Study of the Differential Effects of Parole Supervision for a Group of Adolescent Boys and Girls." Washington, D.C.: Law Enforcement Assistance Administration.

Kassebaum, Gene, David A. Ward and Daniel M. Wilner. 1971. Prison Treatment and Parole Survival: An Empirical Assessment. New York: Wiley.

Klein, Malcolm. 1975. "Alternative Dispositions for Juvenile Offenders: An Assessment of the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department's 'Juvenile Referral and Resource Development Program.'" Unpublished paper.

L-40

Langbein, Laura Irwin and Allan J. Lichtman. 1978. Ecological Inference. Beverly Hills: Sage.

Lerman, Paul. 1968. "Evaluative Studies of Institutions for Delinquents: Implications for Research and Social Policy." Social Work 25: 55.

1975. Community Treatment and Social Control: A Critical Analysis of Juvenile Correctional Policy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Lipton, Douglas, Robert Martinson and Judith Wilks. 1975. The Effectiveness of Correctional Treatment: A Survey of Treatment Evaluation Studies. New York: Praeger.

- Lloyd, Michael R. and George Joe. 1978. "Recidivism Comparisons Across Groups: Methods of Estimation and Tests of Significance for Recidivism Rate and Asymptotes." Evaluation Quarterly.
- Maltz, Michael D. 1980. Recidivism: Explorations into its Definition and Properties. Chicago: Center for Research on Criminal Justice.

O'Leary, Vincent and Daniel Glaser. 1972. "The Assessment of Risk in Parole Decision Making." In Donald J. West (ed.), The Future of Parole. London: Gerald Duckworth, pp. 135-208.

Palmer, Ted B. 1974. "The Youth Authority's Community Treatment Project." Federal Probation 38: 3.

. 1975. "Martinson Revisited." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency (July 133-52.

Panel on Research on Rehabilitative Techniques: 1979. "Report." In Lee Sechrest, Susan O. White and Elizabeth D. Brown (eds.), The Rehabilitation of Criminal Offenders: Problems and Prospects. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences, pp. 3-147.

Petersilia, Joan, Peter Greenwood and Martin Lavin. 1977. Criminal Careers of Habitual Felons. Santa Monica, Ca.: Rand.

Pritchard, David A. 1979. "Stable Predictors of Recidivism: A Summary." Criminology 17: 15-21.

Rezmovic, Eva Lantos. 1979. "Methodological Considerations in Evaluating Correctional Effectiveness." In Lee Sechrest, Susan White and Elizabeth Brown (eds.), The Rehabilitation of Criminal Offenders: Problems and Prospects. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences, pp. 163-209.

Robison, James O. and Gerald Smith. 1971. "The Effectiveness of Correctional Programs." Crime and Delinquency 17: 68-80.

Schmidt, Peter and Ann D. Witte. 1979. "Models of Criminal Recidivism and an Illustration of their Use in Evaluating Correctional Programs." In Lee Sechrest, Susan White and Elizabeth Brown (eds.), The Rehabilitation of Criminal Offenders: Problems and Prospects. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences.

Stollmack, Stephen and Carol M. Harris. 1974. "Failure-Rate Analysis Applied to Recidivism Data." Operations Research 22: 1192-1205.

Vasoli, R. and F. Fahey. 1970. "Halfway Houses for Reformatory Releases." Crime and Delinquency 16: 292.

Wenk, Ernest A. and Robert L. Emrich. 1972. "Assaultive Youth: An Exploratory Study of the Assaultive Experience and Assaultive Potential of California Youth Authority Wards." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 9: 171.

Witte, Anne D. and Peter Schmidt. 1977. "An Analysis of Recidivism Using the Truncated Lognormal Distribution." Applied Statistics 26: 302-11.

Sacks, Howard R. and Charles H. Logan. 1979. Does Parole Make a Difference? Storrs: University of Connecticut Law School.

